Safe Polymeric Nucleic Acid Delivery Systems for Cancer Therapy:

Focus on Breast Cancer and Chronic Myeloid Leukemia

by

Daniel Nisakar Meenakshi Sundaram

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Pharmaceutical Sciences

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences

University of Alberta

© Daniel Nisakar Meenakshi Sundaram, 2021

ABSTRACT

RNA interference (RNAi) is a promising technology to specifically target the upregulated genes that provide uncontrolled proliferation and survival of cancers. The target specific silencing is accomplished by the delivery of small interfering RNA (siRNA), which require safe delivery systems to protect against serum nuclease degradation and cellular uptake. Lipid-substituted low molecular weight (LMW) polyethylenimine (PEI) polymers are excellent non-viral gene delivery systems which have the potential to establish safe delivery of the therapeutic gene in any cell type. This thesis investigates the potential of lipid-modified PEI delivery systems in the treatment of two different cancer types: breast cancer and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) representing adherent and nonadherent cancers, respectively. The current challenge in the treatment of breast cancer is their metastatic ability to establish tumors in distant organs which necessitates the need to develop alternate therapeutic options. In this process of metastasis, cell adhesion molecules such as integrins are known to play a major role, especially the upregulation of integrin- β 1 has strong correlation with breast cancer progression and metastasis. Hence, we hypothesized that the silencing of such overexpressed molecule would help to decrease breast cancer metastasis. Among the lipid substituted PEIs explored for breast cancer treatment, the linoleic acid (1.2PEI-LA6) substituent provided strong silencing of the overexpressed cell adhesion molecule integrin-β1 at the cell surface and mRNA transcript level. Silencing of integrin- β 1 significantly decreased the attachment of breast cancer cells to fibronectin and human bone marrow stromal cells. High cytoplasmic localization of the siRNA achieved by the 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer helped to accomplish strong migration inhibition, reflecting the ability to decrease breast cancer metastasis. Using the same delivery system, we screened a siRNA library of 496 genes targeting various cell adhesion and cytoskeleton molecules, to identify therapeutic targets for breast cancer treatment. We identified the endoplasmic reticulum heat shock protein 90B1 (HSP90B1) as a potential therapeutic target to decrease the growth and migration of breast cancer cells. Furthermore, the inclusion of hyaluronic acid as additives and the combinational silencing of integrinβ1 and HSP90B1 provided significant decrease in the migration of breast cancer cells. Whereas in CML, the treatment against drug resistance developed by the attachment of leukemic cells through integrin- β 1 to the bone marrow stromal environment, activates signaling pathways independent of BCR-ABL whose treatment is a challenging task. Silencing of integrin- β 1 in CML cells was achieved by thioester linked α -linoleic acid (t α -LA) substituted PEI polymers. Integrin-\beta1 silencing decreased its binding and increased its detachment from bone marrow stromal cells. A combinational silencing of integrin- β 1 and BCR-ABL helped to overcome resistance mediated by fibronectin binding. Exploring the safety of these lipid-modified PEI delivery system revealed the wide dependence on the ratio of PEI and nucleic acid, through toxicity studies in T-lymphocyte and red blood cells. However, differences in the PEI and nucleic acid ratio and the concentration of nucleic acid does not alter the secretion of TNF-a, IL-6 and IFN-y cytokines from pulmonary blood mononuclear cells. In addition, variations in the lipid type and the number of lipid substitution does not alter the cytokine secretion in comparison to the positive controls. Overall, we successfully established the therapeutic potential of PEI delivery systems among two different cancer types, in addressing breast cancer metastasis and CML drug resistance by siRNA delivery. In addition, we provided the safety information of these

PEI delivery systems which are vital during their clinical exploration and for further application in other cancer types.

PREFACE

Versions of the literature review and the research work presented in this thesis have been previously published as described below. All the chapters presented here were conceptualized, researched, and written with the supervision of Dr. Hasan Uludağ. Individual contributions and acknowledgments for each chapter are outlined below. Studies with human cells was performed under the approval of the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Modification of Human Cell Lines and Primary Cells", No. Pro00081596. The ethics approval for animal research was obtained from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Gene Medicines for Cancer Treatment, No. AUP00000423 and the biosafety approval was obtained under UA file # RES0012356.

Chapter 1 provides a literature review on the various RNAi technology and highlights the success of siRNA therapy, the potential of low molecular PEI as non-viral gene delivery systems and the current knowledge on its safety. The role of cell adhesion molecules and specific intracellular molecules in breast cancer metastasis and the importance of BCR-ABL independent resistance observed in CML by its binding to bone marrow stromal environment are also reviewed in this chapter. Portions of this chapter are from a previously published review article Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Jiang X, Brandwein JM, Valencia-Serna J, Remant KC, Uludağ H, "Current outlook on drug resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and potential therapeutic options" in *Drug Discovery Today*, vol. 24, pp. 1355-1369, July 2019. As the primary author, I was responsible for conducting literature review, analysis, and composition of the manuscript. Dr. Xiaoyan Jiang and Dr. Joseph M. Brandwein through their expertise in leukemia helped in

manuscript revision and ensured the accuracy of the paper. Dr. Juliana Valencia-Serna contributed by preparation of tables in the manuscript. Dr. Remant KC provided the information for BCR-ABL siRNA silencing as a figure. Dr. Hasan Uludağ was the supervisory author who was involved in revision of the manuscript.

Chapter 2 is a version of previously published research paper Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Kucharski C, Parmar MB, Remant Bahadur KC, Uludağ H, "Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin- β 1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells" in *Macromolecular Biosciences*, vol. 17, 1600430, June 2017. This chapter focuses on the successful silencing of integrin- β 1 by lipid-substituted polyethylenimine polymers as siRNA delivery systems and the therapeutic benefit of integrin- β 1 silencing for breast cancer migration and attachment. As the primary author, I was responsible for concept formation, execution of experiments and writing of manuscript. Dr. Manoj Parmar helped in standardization of migration assays and Mr. Cezary Kucharski helped with RT-qPCR experiments, while Dr. Remant Bahadur KC synthesized the polymers for siRNA delivery and Dr. Hasan Uludağ assisted in interpreting the results and manuscript revisions.

Chapter 3 is a research article that will be submitted for publication as Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Remant Bahadur KC, Uludağ H, "Lipid Modified Polyethyleneimine is an Effective System for HSP90B1 Silencing to Treat Breast Cancer". This paper focuses on the identification of HSP90B1 as a potential target for breast cancer treatment. As the first author, I was responsible for concept formation, execution of experiments and manuscript writing. Dr. Bindu Thapa, Cezary Kucharski and Dr. Joaquin Lopez-Orozco assisted during siRNA library screening. As the supervisory author, Dr. Hasan Uludağ helped in data interpretation and revision of manuscript.

Chapter 4 is a research paper that explored the therapeutic benefit of silencing integrin- β 1 by lipid-substituted polyethylenimine polymers as siRNA delivery systems in CML. This research work will be submitted for publication as Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Kucharski C, Remant Bahadur KC, Ibrahim Oğuzhan T, Uludağ H, "Therapeutic Potential of Integrin- β 1 Silencing to Address Drug Resistance in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Implemented by Polymeric siRNA Delivery". As the first author I was responsible in conducting experiments, data collection and analysis and writing of manuscript. Cezary Kucharski assisted in the culturing and maintenance of human bone marrow stromal cells. Dr. Remant Bahadur KC synthesized the polymers used for siRNA delivery while Ibrahim Oğuzhan Tarman was responsible in conducting colony formation assay. Dr. Hasan Uludağ was the supervisory author who contributed by checking the accuracy of results and manuscript revision.

Chapter 5 contains the safety evaluation of the PEI delivery systems which will be submitted for publication as Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Plianwong S, Remant Bahadur KC, Uludağ H, "*In vitro* Safety Studies of Lipid-Substituted Low Molecular Weight PEIs Used in Gene Delivery Systems". As the lead author, I designed, performed, and analyzed the results, and wrote the manuscript. Dr. Samarwadee Plianwong conducted the isolation and maintenance of red blood cells and pulmonary blood mononuclear cells from whole blood samples. Dr. Remant Bahadur KC synthesized the polymers used in this study while Dr. Hasan Uludağ helped in data interpretation, checked the accuracy of results and manuscript revision.

Chapter 6 consists of the overall conclusion, discussion, and future directions. This chapter was primarily derived from the discussion and conclusions of previous chapters and provides the knowledge gained through the work presented in this PhD thesis.

DEDICATION

To my mom (Kalanithi), dad (Meenakshi Sundaram) and sister (Arul Jothi)

for their unconditional love, prayer, and support.

"Now faith is being sure of what we hope for and certain of what we do not see" (Hebrews 11:1)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Hasan Uludağ for guiding me throughout my PhD program with his expertise and support during challenging times. Your constant and valuable input has trained me to become an independent researcher and you have inspired me with your dedication for science. I am grateful to my committee members, Dr. Ayman El-Kadi, Dr. Lynne Postovit and Dr. Hanne Ostergaard for their invaluable input and guidance. I would also like to thank my examiners Dr. Emmanuel Ho and Dr. Afsaneh Lavasanifar for the insightful comments and their time.

I have had the privilege to work with wonderful members of Uludag Lab and I would like to thank Cezy for helping in various aspects of research, Dr. Remant for helping with polymer synthesis, Manoj, Bindu, Juliana, Aysha, Mahsa, Amp, Anyeld, Eleni, Amarnath and Teo for their insightful discussions, constant encouragement and for being wonderful lab mates.

I also would like to thank Dr. Munia Ganguli from IGIB for her guidance during the early stages of my research life. Special thanks to Dr. Rajpal Sharma for laying down the foundations of scientific research and sharing his technological, philosophical, and friendly words of wisdom.

The following people have been a great inspiration and played key roles in helping me to pursue research and set an example with their dedicated work: former President of India Dr. A.P.J. Abdul Kalam, Dr. Luke Elizabeth Hanna, Dr. Devapragasam, Jacob Sir, Jayashree Miss, Mr. & Mrs. Xavier Poonolly and Bupesh Anna. A special thanks to Thangaraj-Kalai family for their constant support, motivation, and love. Thanks to all my uncles, aunts, cousins and grandma for their love, support, and prayers. Thanks to my spiritual mentor and friend James Siebert and to all my IFG friends at the University of Alberta, who provided the much-needed break with lots of fun during the tough times. Thanks to my friends, Cyril, Abu, Chitra, and Praveen for their motivational and emotional support. Special thanks to Camila for her love, support, and constant encouragement.

Finally, this would not have been possible without the love, prayers and blessings of my mom, dad and sister who believed in me.

SCOPE	1
1. MODIFIED POLYETHYLENIMINE AS NON-VIRAL DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR CANCER THERAPY	4
1.1 INTRODUCTION	5
1.2 POTENTIAL OF RNAI FOR CANCER THERAPY	6
1.2.1 miRNAs	8
1.2.2 shRNAs	9
1.2.3 siRNAs	10
1.2.3.1 Clinical success of siRNA therapy	10
1.2.3.2 Current status of siRNA cancer therapy	11
1.2.3.3 Combinatorial therapeutic approaches with siRNA deliver	v12
1.2.3.4 Challenges associated with siRNA-based therapy	13
1.3 POLYETHYLENIMINE NON-VIRAL DELIVERY SYSTEMS	14
1.3.1 Lipid substitutions in PEI	16
1.3.1.1 Thioester linked lipid substitution in PEI	19
1.3.1.2 Disulfide linked PEI	20
1.3.2 Inclusion of additives with PEI	21
1.3.2.1 Hyaluronic acid	21
1.3.2.2 Polyacrylic acid	22
1.3.2.3 Dextran sulfate	23
1.4 SAFETY OF PEI DELIVERY SYSTEMS	23
1.4.1 Toxicity	23
1.4.2 Hemolytic ability	24
1.4.3 Immune response	25
1.5 BREAST CANCER METASTASIS AND TREATMENT OPTIONS	29
1.5.1 Cell adhesion molecules	31
1.5.1.1 Cadherins	31
1.5.1.2 Integrins	33
1.5.2 Essential intracellular molecules	36
1.5.2.1 Heat shock proteins	36
1.5.2.2 Apoptosis and cell cycle regulatory proteins	38
1.5.3 Treatment options for breast cancer	39
1.5.3.1 Targeting cell adhesion molecules	40
1.5.3.2 Targeting essential intracellular molecules	42
1.6 CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA DRUG RESISTANCE AND	
TREATMENT OPTIONS	43
1.6.1 Drug resistance in CML	44
1.6.1.1 BCR-ABL dependent resistance	45

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.6.1.2 BCR-ABL independent resistance	47
1.6.2 Therapeutic approaches against resistance	56
1.6.2.1 Targeting BCR-ABL independent resistance	57
1.7 RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS	62
1.7.1 Rationale	62
1.7.2 Hypothesis	64
1.8 REFERENCES	65
2. POLYMERIC DELIVERY OF siRNA AGAINST INTEGRIN-β1 (CD29))
TO REDUCE ATTACHMENT AND MIGRATION OF BREAST CANCE	2R 104
2 1 INTRODUCTION	105
2 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	108
2.2 Materials	108
2.2.2 Cell models	108
2.2.3 Polymer synthesis and siRNA-polymer complex preparation	100
2.2.4 Flow cytometry for integrin-B1 analysis	110
2.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)	110
2.2.6 Scratch assay	111
2.2.7 Transwell migration assay	112
2.2.8 Fibronectin binding assay	112
2.2.9 hBMSC adhesion assay	113
2.2.10 siRNA uptake	113
2.2.11 Caspase activity	114
2.2.12 Statistical analysis	115
2.3 RESULTS	115
2.3.1 Low concentration of siRNA is sufficient to reduce integrin- β 1 levels	<i>els</i> .115
2.3.2 Polymer mediated siRNA delivery sustains the silencing effect	120
2.3.3 Polymer mediated siRNA delivery provides strong knockdown of	
integrin- β 1mRNA	121
2.3.4 Integrin- β 1 silencing reduces binding of breast cancer cells to	
fibronectin and hBMSCs	123
2.3.5 Integrin- β 1 silencing inhibits migration of breast cancer cells	124
2.4 DISCUSSION	127
2.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	134
2.6 REFERENCES	135
3. LIPID MODIFIED POLYETHYLENEIMINE IS AN EFFECTIVE	
SYSTEM FOR HSP90B1 SILENCING TO TREAT BREAST CANCER	141
3.1 INTRODUCTION	142
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	145

3.2.1 Materials	145
3.2.2 Cell models	145
3.2.3 Polymer/siRNA complex preparation	146
3.2.4 Human cell adhesion and cytoskeleton siRNA library screeni	ng146
3.2.5 Validation of targets	
3.2.6 Quantification of mRNA levels	148
3.2.7 Combination therapy	149
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	150
3.3 RESULTS	150
3.3.1 siRNA library screening to identify targets for breast cancer	
treatment	150
3.3.2 Validation of targets for inhibition of cell growth	152
3.3.3 Validation of targets for inhibition of migration	154
3.3.4 Validation at the mRNA transcript level by RT-qPCR	155
3.3.5 Combinational treatment	156
3.4 DISCUSSION	
3.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
3.6 REFERENCES	
4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY	N DRUG BY 175
4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY	N DRUG BY 175
4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY	N DRUG BY 175 176
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY	N DRUG BY 175 176 179
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 180 180 180
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 180 180 182
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180 182) 183 184
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake. 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin β1 analysis by flow extemation 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 180 180 182) 183 183 184 185
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180 182) 183 184 185 185
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180 182) 182) 183 183 184 185 185 185
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake. 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry. 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay. 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay. 4.2 10 Cell wighility analyzed by MTT and trange blue arelyzion at 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180 180 182) 183 184 185 185 185 186
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials. 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake. 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry. 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay. 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay. 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as a 2 11 Mathylaphylasa colomy formation unit (CEU) assay. 	N DRUG BY 175 176 176 179 179 180 180 180 182 183 184 185 185 185 185 185 187 187
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake. 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry. 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay. 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay. 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as 4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay. 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 179 180 180 180 182) 183 183 185 185 185 185 185 187 187
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry. 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay. 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay. 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as 4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay 4.3 RESULTS 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 179 180 180 180 182) 183 184 185 185 185 185 185 185 187 187 188 188
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as 4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay 4.2.12 Statistical analysis 4.3 L K562 cells can effectively bind to fibronectin at relatively sho 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 180 180 180 180 182) 183 183 185 185 185 185 185 187 187 188 188
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.2.1 Materials 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR, analysis 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as 4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay 4.2.12 Statistical analysis 4.3 RESULTS 4.3 I K562 cells can effectively bind to fibronectin at relatively sho duration 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 179 180 180 180 182) 183 184 185 185 185 185 185 185 187 188 ort 188
 4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED POLYMERIC SIRNA DELIVERY 4.1 INTRODUCTION 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.2.1 Materials. 4.2.2 Cell models and culture 4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes 4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay. 4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis 4.2.6 siRNA uptake. 4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry. 4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay. 4.2.9 K562 detachment assay. 4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion as 4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay. 4.3 RESULTS 4.3 I K562 cells can effectively bind to fibronectin at relatively sho duration. 4.3 2 Integrin-β1 (ITGB1) is highly expressed in K562 cells 	N DRUG BY 175 176 179 179 180 180 180 182 183 185 187 187 188 188 188 188

4.3.3 Successful delivery of siRNA into K562 Cells	190
4.3.4 Significant knockdown of cell surface integrin-β1	192
4.3.5 Knockdown of integrin- β 1 reduces binding and helps in detachmen	t
of K562 cells	194
4.3.6 Combinational knockdown of integrin- β 1 and BCR-ABL to reverse	
resistance acquired by fibronectin binding	196
4.4 DISCUSSION	198
4.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	204
4.6 REFERENCES	205
5. In vitro SAFETY STUDIES OF LIPID-SUBSTITUTED LOW	
MOLECULAR WEIGHT PEIS USED IN GENE DELIVERY SYSTEMS	211
5.1 INTRODUCTION	212
5.2 MATERIALS & METHODS	217
5.2.1 Materials	217
5.2.2 Polymer synthesis & complex preparation	217
5.2.3 Cell models	219
5.2.4 Cellular toxicity by MTT assay	220
5.2.5 Hemolysis assay	220
5.2.6 Cytokine quantification by reverse transcription-quantitative	
polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)	221
5.2.7 Cytokine quantification by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	
(ELISA)	222
5.2.8 Statistical analysis	222
5.3 RESULTS	223
5.3.1 Effect of LMW PEI complexes on cytotoxicity	223
5.3.2 Effect of PEI complexes on RBC hemolysis	226
5.3.3 Comparison of TNF- α , IL-6, and IFN- γ mRNA levels in complex	
treated Jurkat and PBMC	231
5.3.4 Impact of pDNA concentration, ratio (polymer to pDNA) and the	
additive on cytokine secretion	234
5.3.5 Impact of different PEI carriers on cytokine secretion	237
5.3.6 Impact of different lipid substituents on cytokine transcript levels	239
5.4 DISCUSSION	242
5.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	254
5.6 REFERENCES	255

FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
6.1 OVERALL CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	
6.2 LIMITATIONS	271

6.3 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	273
6.3.1 Future directions to address breast cancer metastasis	
6.3.2 Future directions to address CML drug resistance	
6.3.3 Future directions to better understand and engineer safe	
PEI gene delivery systems	
6.4 REFERENCES	277
REFERENCES	
A. REFERENCES CHAPTER 1	
B. REFERENCES CHAPTER 2	
C. REFERENCES CHAPTER 3	
D. REFERENCES CHAPTER 4	
E. REFERENCES CHAPTER 5	
F. REFERENCES CHAPTER 6	
APPENDIX	
A. APPENDIX CHAPTER 2	
B. APPENDIX CHAPTER 3	
C. APPENDIX CHAPTER 4	
D. APPENDIX CHAPTER 5	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Recently identified miRNAs that are dysregulated	
(down- or upregulated) in CML leading to drug resistance	51
Table 5.1: A summary of the well-studied lipid-modified PEI delivery systems	
used in the study	219
Table 5.2: Summary of previous reports on the secretion of TNF-α, IL-6, and	
IFN-γ by <i>in vitro</i> or <i>in vivo</i> evaluation	252

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: The RNAi silencing mechanism	7
Figure 1.2: Schematic representation of PEI lipid modification	19
Figure 1.3: Schematic of breast cancer metastasis	30
Figure 1.4: Resistance mechanisms in CML	45
Figure 1.5: Resistance mechanisms in the Bone marrow microenvironment	55
Figure 2.1: Uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA analyzed by flow cytometry	116
Figure 2.2: Cellular uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA in MDA-MB-231 cells	118
Figure 2.3: Integrin-β1 silencing with siRNA delivery	119
Figure 2.4: Effect of integrin-β1 silencing on cell number	120
Figure 2.5: Integrin-β1 silencing with siRNA delivery at longer durations	121
Figure 2.6: Integrin-β1 mRNA levels after siRNA treatment	122
Figure 2.7: Effect of integrin-β1 silencing on cell adhesion	124
Figure 2.8: Effect of integrin-\beta1 silencing on cell migration by scratch assay	125
Figure 2.9: Percentage of migration at different siRNA concentrations	126
Figure 2.10: Effect of integrin-β1 silencing on cell migration by Transwell	
migration assay	127
Figure 3.1: Cell adhesion and cytoskeleton siRNA library screening in	
MDA-MB-231 cells	151
Figure 3.2: Validation of targets by the MTT assay	153
Figure 3.3: Validation of targets by scratch assay	155
Figure 3.4: Knockdown efficacy at the mRNA level by RT-qPCR	156
Figure 3.5: Combinational siRNA delivery against ITGB1 and HSP90B1	157
Figure 3.6: Microscopic images of migration inhibition determined using	
scratch assay	158
Figure 4.1: Schematic representation of polymer synthesis	181
Figure 4.2: Fibronectin binding ability of K562 cells at different time points	189
Figure 4.3: Relative quantity of integrin expression in K562 cells	190
Figure 4.4: The uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA after 24 hours of treatment	191
Figure 4.5: Cell surface integrin-β1 levels	193
Figure 4.6: Integrin-β1 mRNA levels after siRNA treatment	194
Figure 4.7: Effect of integrin-\beta1 silencing on the binding ability of K562 cells	195
Figure 4.8: Amount of K562 cells remained attached on hBMSC	196
Figure 4.9: Combinational siRNA treatment and its effect on the number of	
colony forming K562 cells	197
Figure 5.1: Cell viability of Jurkat cells	224
Figure 5.2: Cell viability of complexes at different weight/weight (w/w) ratios o	f
polymer to pDNA	225
Figure 5.3: Hemolysis by polymer/pDNA complexes	228
Figure 5.4: Hemolysis by LA substituted polymers having different levels of	

substitution	.230
Figure 5.5: Relative quantity of cytokine mRNA levels	.232
Figure 5.6: Cytokine levels assessed after 24 hours of treatment in PBMC-3	.233
Figure 5.7: Cytokine mRNA levels assessed by RT-qPCR after 24 hours of	
treatment in three different PBMCs (4-6)	.235
Figure 5.8: Cytokine protein levels in culture supernatants assessed by	
ELISA after 24 hours of treatment in three different PBMCs (4-6)	.236
Figure 5.9: Cytokine protein levels assessed by ELISA after 24 hours of	
treatment in two different PBMCs (7 and 8)	.238
Figure 5.10: The mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ assessed after 24 hours	
of treatment in Jurkat cell line using PEIs substituted with different lipids.	.242
Figure 5.11: Heat map showing the stimulation of three cytokines	.249
Figure 2.S1: Polymer screening	.353
Figure 2.S2: Scratch assay microscopic images	.353
Figure 2.S3: Caspase-3 activity	.354
Figure 2.S4: Floating cell number	.354
Figure 3.S1: Representative images of NT, CsiRNA and HSP90B1 treatment	
groups	.355
Figure 3.S2: Microscopic images of scratch assay for 1:5:0.15 weight ratio	.355
Figure 4.S1: Integrin-β1 cell surface levels with Lipofectamine 2000/ITGB1	
siRNA	.356
Figure 4.S2: Survivin silencing with 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss polymer	.356
Figure 4.S3: Treatment studies with TKIs, Dasatinib and Imatinib	.357
Figure 5.S1: Cytokine mRNA levels with polymer/siRNA complexes at R:6 and	
50nM of CsiRNA and blimp siRNA	.358
Figure 5.S2: The correlation between different lipids and the batches of	
lipid substitution	.358
Figure 5.S3: Cytokine protein levels assessed by ELISA after 24 hours of treatment	nt
in PBMC-9	.359
Figure 5.S4: Average cytokine protein stimulation by NT-no treatment and 2 μ g	
of pDNA alone	.359

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

17-AAG	17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ADR	Adriamycin resistant
ADM	Adriamycin
AGO2	Argonaute 2
AGP	α1-acid glycoprotein
AHI-1	Abelson helper integration site-1
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
AP	Accelerated phase
APC	Advanced pancreatic cancer
ApoB	Apolipoprotein B
b-PEI	Branched Polyethylenimine
BCL	B-cell lymphoma
BCL-xL	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
BCL2L12	Bcl2-like 12
BCR-ABL	Breakpoint cluster region-abelson murine leukemia virus
	oncogene homolog 1
BMM	Bone marrow microenvironment
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BMSC	Bone marrow stromal cells
BM-MSC	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells
BO	Bosutinib
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
B4GALT1	Beta-1;4-Galactosyltransferase 1
CA	Caprylic acid
CAA	Caproic acid
CAM	Cell adhesion molecules
CBA	Cystamine bisacrylamide
Cbl-b	Casitas-B-lineage lymphoma protein-b
CDC20	Cell division cycle protein 20
CDH	Cadherins
CFU	Colony-formation unit
Chol	Cholesterol
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
Col	Collagen
СР	Chronic phase
CRS	Cytokine release syndrome
CSF	Colony-stimulating factors
CsiRNA	Control scrambled siRNA

DA	Dasatinib
DGCR8	DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNMT3A	DNA methyltransferases 3 alpha
DOPC	1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine
DOTAP	1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium-propane
DS	Dextran sulfate
DsiRNA	Dicer-substrate siRNA
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
EphA2	Eph receptor A2
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERa36	Estrogen receptor alpha 36
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FAM	6-carboxyfluorescein
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and drug administration
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
FN	Fibronectin
GAL-3	Galectin-3
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
Grp94	Glucose-regulated protein 94
GSH	Glutathione
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3β
HA	Hyaluronic acid
НАТ	Histone acetyl transferases
hATTR	Hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis
hBMSC	Human bone marrow stromal cells
HBSS	Hank's Balanced Salt Solution
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HeFH	Heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HMW	High molecular weight

HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
hOCT1	Human organic cation transporter 1
HSC	Hepatic stellate cells
HSP	Heat shock proteins
IAP	Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins
IFN	Interferon
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukin
ILK	Integrin-linked kinase
IM	Imatinib mesylate
ΙΟ	Ionomycin
ITGA	Integrin-α
ITGB	Integrin-β
JNK	c-JUN N-terminal kinase
LA	Linoleic acid
Lau	Lauric acid
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LMW	Low molecular weight
LN	Laminin
L-PEI	Linear Polyethylenimine
LSC	Leukemic Stem Cells
MA	Myristic acid
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
Mcl-1	Myeloid cell leukemia 1
miRNAs	microRNAs
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MPA	Mercaptopropionic acid
MRD	Minimal residual disease
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium
	bromide
NI	Nilotinib
NK	Natural killer
nt	Nucleotide
OA	Oleic acid
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
PA	Palmitic acid
PAA	Polyacrylic acid
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCDH	Protocadherin
PCSK9	Proprotein convertase subtilisin-kexin type 9

PDK-1	Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1
pDNA	Plasmid DNA
PE	Phycoerythrin
PEG	Polyethyleneglycol
PEI	Polyethylenimine
PGF	Placental growth factor
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PH1	Primary hyperoxaluria type 1
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PKN3	Protein kinase N3
PLGA	Polylactic-co-glycolic acid
PLK1	Polo-like kinase 1
РМА	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
РО	Ponatinib
PrA	Propionic acid
Pre-miRNA	Precursor-miRNA
Pri-miRNA	Primary miRNAs
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
P8Am	Poly(N-(8-aminooctyl)-acrylamide)
RBC	Red blood cell
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNAi	RNA interference
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
RT-PCR	Real time-polymerase chain reaction
SATB1	Special AT-rich binding protein
SDF-1	Stromal derived factor-1
shRNA	Short-hairpin RNAs
siRNAs	Small interfering RNAs
SOCS3	Suppressor of cytokine signaling
SOD1	Superoxide dismutase 1
St	Stearic acid
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
ST8SIA4	Sialyltransferase 8 (alpha-2; 8-polysialytransferase)
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
TKI	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
TNBC	Triple-negative breast cancer
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein
Transient receptor potential cation channel
subfamily V member 1
Human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells
Vascular cell adhesion molecule
Vitronectin
X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein
α-Linoleic acid

SCOPE

The key objectives of my thesis were to investigate the safe use of PEI-based gene delivery systems for the identification and therapeutic targeting for two different types of cancers, breast cancer and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) representing adherent and nonadherent forms, respectively. The target selections were based on the specific need of the cancer type, as the major hurdle in breast cancer is their metastatic ability whereas in CML it is their drug resistance. Here, we examined the use of RNAi technology to silence the upregulated target genes by siRNA delivery. However, siRNA is highly susceptible to serum nuclease, hence lipid-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (PEI) nonviral systems were employed for safe intracellular siRNA delivery. The other main objective was to evaluate the safety of these PEI delivery system with respect to their toxicity to blood components and the ability to induce cytokine stimulation. In **Chapter 1**, a literature review on the practice of RNAi technology was provided, followed by the potential of PEI non-viral delivery systems, the success of lipid substitutions and the benefits of additives in complex preparation. Furthermore, the current knowledge on the safety of PEI delivery systems to the blood components and their ability to cause immune response were summarized. We then focused on key cell adhesion and intracellular molecules overexpressed in breast cancer and their role in its metastasis. Additionally, we explained the various resistance mechanisms observed in CML, particularly the BCR-ABL independent resistance which rely on cell adhesion to bone marrow niche.

In **Chapter 2**, we explored the therapeutic potential of integrin- β 1 silencing in breast cancer metastasis by siRNA-based PEI delivery systems. The 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer emerged as the most successful delivery agent in decreasing integrin- β 1 expression, and the functional outcome was reflected with decreased binding to ECM protein and bone marrow stromal cells which is one of the common metastatic sites in breast cancer. Furthermore, strong inhibition in migration was observed following integrin- β 1 silencing iterating the therapeutic benefit achieved by linoleic acid substituted PEI siRNA delivery (1.2PEI-LA6).

To further control breast cancer metastasis, **Chapter 3** aimed at identifying other potential targets using a siRNA library against various cell adhesion and cytoskeleton genes with 1.2PEI-LA6 as delivery agent. Following the siRNA library screening, and further validation of the identified targets, HSP90B1 emerged as a potential intracellular protein involved in breast cancer metastasis and survival. To further enhance the silencing outcomes, the inclusion of hyaluronic acid as additives improved the siRNA delivery efficiency. Finally, we optimized the combinational silencing of HSP90B1 and integrin- β 1 to better address breast cancer metastasis.

The objective of **Chapter 4** was to address CML resistance, more specifically the BCR-ABL independent mechanism which rely on the binding of leukemic cells to the bone marrow niche through cell adhesion molecules. We demonstrated the high expression of integrin- β 1 in CML cells and their binding to the ECM protein, fibronectin (FN). Successful reduction of integrin- β 1 was achieved helping to decrease the binding and increase the detachment of leukemic cells from human bone marrow stromal cells. The detached leukemic cells can be easily targeted by tyrosine kinase inhibitors which are the first line of treatment for CML. Moreover, the resistance to BCR-ABL siRNA treatment provided by FN binding was overcome with a combination of integrin- β 1 and BCR-ABL

silencing reflected by the significant reduction in leukemic cell proliferation. This study provides an alternative treatment option to address CML drug resistance.

With the successful establishment of PEI delivery agents for the treatment of two different cancer types, we evaluated the safety of these systems in **Chapter 5.** For a better understanding on the impact of lipid type and amount of lipid substitution, various other promising PEI polymers were also included in this study. This study revealed that the ratio of polymer and the nucleic acid is a critical driver for the toxicity experienced with T-lymphocytes and red blood cell (RBC). The additive, polyacrylic acid could be a promising compound to reduce any RBC lysis observed. Minimal differences were observed with variation in PEI to nucleic acid ratio and the concentration of nucleic acid in cytokine secretion with pulmonary blood mononuclear cells. No major cytokine upregulation was observed except for 0.6PEI with lauric acid substitution, however the levels were much lower in comparison to the positive controls. Furthermore, variations in the type and number of lipid substitution did not alter the cytokine production in any major way.

Finally, in **Chapter 6**, we render the overall conclusion of this thesis work and provide a promising and an alternate treatment option for cancer. To address breast cancer metastasis by targeting a cell adhesion molecule, integrin- β 1 and an intracellular molecule, HSP90B1 and in CML drug resistance by the targeting of integrin- β 1. We established the therapeutic efficiency of lipid modified PEI delivery systems which are safe at physiologically relevant formulations without eliciting any major toxicity and immune response. We also discuss and provide the future directions that would help to improve the cancer treatment as well as for the development of much safer PEI gene delivery systems.

1. MODIFIED POLYETHYLENIMINES AS NON-VIRAL DELIVERY SYSTEMS

FOR CANCER THERAPY¹

¹A version of this chapter was published in: Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Jiang X, Brandwein JM, Valencia-Serna J, Remant KC, Uludağ H. Current outlook on drug resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and potential therapeutic options. Drug Discov Today. 2019 Jul;24(7):1355-1369. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2019.05.007. Epub 2019 May 15. PMID: 31102734.

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the uncontrolled proliferation of abnormal cells which can originate from any part of the body or tissue and has the property of invading the neighbouring organs making its treatment more challenging. At the cellular level, cancer is a multistep process which starts with mutations in the cell leading to enhanced proliferation, survival, invasion, and metastasis [1]. In Canada, it is the number one cause of death and according to the Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019 one in two Canadian will develop cancer in their lifetime with an estimated 1 in 4 cancer related deaths [2]. Globally, cancer is the second leading cause of death with 1 in 6 deaths due to cancer as reported by World Health Organization (Geneva, Switzerland) along with an estimated 9.9 million deaths worldwide in 2020. Though there are a wide range of options available for cancer treatment based on their origin, consequently improving the overall survival of cancer patients, the mortality rate remains high which necessitates the identification and development of new therapies. In addition, due to the high cost and evidence of several drawbacks attached with the common types of cancer treatment such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgery, alternate therapies are always being explored for cancer treatment. Moreover, the two major hurdles in cancer treatment are the emergence of drug resistance which develops following repeated exposure to conventional therapy and the targeting of metastatic sites which requires treatment methods with high specificity [3]. This highlights the need to develop new therapies with high feasibility in improving the lives of cancer patients

In this chapter, I will discuss on one such alternate therapy, RNA interference (RNAi), its discovery and their successful use in targeting the cancer-causing proteins while improving the overall survival of cancer patients. The mechanism of RNAi and

various categories of silencing the protein such as microRNAs (miRNAs), and shorthairpin RNAs (shRNA), with a special focus on the success of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) for cancer treatment will be discussed. Since, the success of siRNA therapy is also dependent on the efficacy of the delivery system, the potential of polyethylenimine (PEI) derived non-viral systems for siRNA delivery will be discussed. The different PEI modifications, the employment of small anionic polymers as additives and their overall safety will be reviewed in detail with regards to its toxicity and immune response.

Finally, the current status and the various cell adhesion targets explored for arresting migration, initiating apoptosis and cell death as a measure to address metastasis of breast cancer as a model for solid cancer will be summarized. The present position of drug resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), as a model for liquid cancer and the various targets explored for the resistance, in particular the resistance mediated by bone marrow niche, for their successful eradication will also be reviewed.

1.2 POTENTIAL OF RNA INTERFERENCE (RNAI) FOR CANCER THERAPY

RNAi is a natural process that occurs in numerous organisms where silencing of a particular gene can be observed, however this mechanism was first identified in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* when a double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) was injected by Andrew Fire and Craig Mello in 1998, leading to the mRNA degradation of the same sequences due to the dsRNA acting as triggers [4]. Later, this was also identified in protozoa along with higher eukaryotic organisms where the introduction of a small dsRNA of ~21 nucleotide (nt) in mammalian cells was able to trigger the RNAi response resulting in gene silencing [5] (**Fig 1.1**). Since its inception, RNAi has been rapidly explored to

harness this silencing machinery for the therapeutic intervention of a wide range of human diseases which requires the silencing of a specific protein to initiate a variety of responses depending on the target function [6].





RNAi is a multistep process and in mammals it involves the cytoplasmic ribonuclease III (RNase III)-like enzyme also called as Dicer that cleaves the dsRNA when introduced artificially or by any infectious pathogen into short dsRNA of ~21 nt, which in turn interacts with RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), a multi-subunit ribonucleoprotein. The endonuclease argonaute 2 (AGO2) cleaves one of the strands, the passenger strand also known as sense strand and this AGO2 is a key component of the RISC. Whereas the other strand, the antisense strand remains attached to RISC guiding it to the target mRNA consequently resulting in its cleavage by the AGO2, causing posttranscriptional target gene silencing [7]. There are different types of small RNAs that perform gene silencing by RNAi machinery such as miRNA, shRNA, and siRNA which have been identified as natural and artificially induced mechanisms (**Fig 1.1**).

1.2.1 miRNAs

The microRNAs or miRNA are endogenous RNAs where the RNA polymerase II enzyme transcribes the miRNA gene to long primary miRNAs (pri-miRNA) of 60-70 base pairs containing hairpin loop structures which gets recognized by RNase III enzyme Drosha along with dsRNA-binding protein of DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 (DGCR8) in the nucleus. The precursor-miRNA (pre-miRNA) formed from pri-miRNA is transported to the cytoplasm which gets cleaved by Dicer into small RNA duplexes of 19-25 base pairs [7]. This double stranded miRNA gets incorporated into the RISC initiating the RNAi silencing machinery and has the property to bind to hundreds of mRNA sequence leading to the degradation of different mRNA sequences (**Fig 1.1**). Imperfect matching and binding of miRNA can also result in the inhibition of mRNA expression in addition to

mRNA degradation by AGO2 splicing protein [8]. Recent developments on miRNA research has revealed the wide spectrum of its roles in cancer, for example, miR-200 family can act as an inhibitor for epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), proliferation, cell division, differentiation of cancer stem cells, apoptosis induction and are also involved in prognosis of different cancer types [9]. In general, miRNAs as cancer therapeutics can be variable due to their dual role of being an oncogene or a tumor suppressor depending on varying situations, in addition to being diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers. Hence, in depth studies on miRNA expression is necessary for different cancer types combined with target validation as they also carry the disadvantage of eliciting off-target effects [10].

1.2.2 shRNAs

The shRNAs are artificial insertion of a RNA molecule targeting a particular gene sequence into a plasmid DNA (pDNA) vector, which are then delivered into the cells using viral or non-viral delivery systems and transcribed into a hairpin-like stem-loop structure in the nucleus. This structure containing the pre-shRNA is processed by the RNase III enzyme Drosha and DGCR8 like miRNA processing and gets transported to the cytoplasm which further undergoes cleavage by Dicer into double stranded siRNA. Following this, they are loaded into the RISC to initiate the degradation of target sequence [11] (**Fig 1.1**). shRNA has been successfully used for the silencing of various overexpressed genes such as special AT-rich binding protein (SATB1) in inhibiting the tumor growth for gastric cancer, silencing of survivin for ovarian cancer treatment, targeted reduction of B-cell lymphoma-extra large (Bcl-xL) for prostate cancer and even for effective gene silencing in brain [12–15]. Some of the challenges associated with pDNA delivery for shRNA

transcription would be their localization in the nucleus rather than in the cytoplasm [16]. Moreover, unregulated expression of shRNA could compete with the endogenous miRNAs and result in fatalities *in vivo* and on the other hand, due to cell division the shRNA expression can also be lost in the daughter cells [17]. Since the expressed shRNA carry similarities to miRNA, they also posses the potential to cause numerous off-target effects [18].

1.2.3 siRNAs

1.2.3.1 Clinical success of siRNA therapy

In the above-mentioned RNAi mechanisms mediated by miRNA and shRNA, the final product that performs silencing is a short, ~20nt double stranded siRNA which is inserted into the RISC and targets the specific mRNA based on the siRNA sequence for degradation (**Fig 1.1**). The direct use of these double stranded siRNAs as a therapeutic has been well explored since its discovery and its success is of broad spectrum. ONPATTRO (patisiran) is the first siRNA-based therapy approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of peripheral nerve disease (polyneuropathy) caused by hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis (hATTR) where the abnormal amyloid proteins accumulate in peripheral nerves, heart and other organs causing death in most cases. 80% reduction in the serum levels of transthyretin protein was achieved, which was also evident at the gene and protein levels in the organs with an overall decrease in the disease progression, consequently improving the quality of life, daily living, and ambulation of the patients [19]. SYL1001 is another siRNA-based therapy for the treatment of Dry Eye Disease in Phase 3 clinical trials which has been successful in the targeted reduction of

transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1 (TRPV1) levels. This ophthalmic solution was shown to reduce ocular pain as well as conjunctival hyperemia associated with patients having dry eye [20]. The application of siRNA-based therapy can also be found in decreasing the levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) using Inclisiran in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia (HeFH) and since elevated LDL-C is also a major risk factor for cardiovascular failure, Inclisiran is also being tested for this purpose. Inclisiran has been successful in lowering the levels of proprotein convertase subtilisin-kexin type 9 (PCSK9) along with LDL-C in patients at high cardiovascular risk and is currently in Phase 3 clinical trails [21]. Another drug, Lumasiran (ALN-GO1) in Phase 3 clinical trials successfully depleted glycolate oxidase levels for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria type 1 (PH1), an inherited rare disease of glyoxylate metabolism which leads to calcium oxalate crystal formation in the kidney and end-stage renal disease (kidney failure) being the outcome [22].

1.2.3.2 Current status of siRNA cancer therapy

For the treatment of advanced pancreatic cancer (APC), Atu027 was shown to inhibit the cancer progression and metastasis regression by silencing protein kinase N3 (PKN3) in the vascular endothelium, which is in a Phase 2 clinical trails [23,24]. siG12D-LODER is another siRNA-based system which targets KRAS gene (G12D) expression in pancreatic cancer as mutated KRAS gene is being linked with pancreatic cancer progression and advancement. Following its success in Phase 1 clinical trails, it is currently in their Phase 2 studies to evaluate their efficacy, safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics [25]. There are various siRNA-based systems in Phase 1 clinical trials like EPHARNA for targeting Eph receptor A2 (EphA2) which are overexpressed in various cancers like breast, prostate, lung, ovarian, endometrial and pancreatic are responsible for various functions such as proliferation, survival, invasion, migration and angiogenesis of the cancer cells [26]. APN401 is being tested for the treatment of recurrent or metastatic pancreatic cancer, colorectal cancer, or other solid tumors in which peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) transfected with casitas-B-lineage lymphoma protein-b (Cbl-b) silencing by siRNA are infused into the cancer patients [27]. TKM 080301 is another siRNA-based therapy developed for the treatment of adrenocortical cancer by targeting Polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1) which has crucial role in tumor progression with its high expression associated to poor patient survival [28]. Such promising outcomes with RNAi therapy have shown the success of these systems and their ability to address wide range of disease which can be modified according to the requirement.

1.2.3.3 Combinatorial therapeutic approaches with siRNA delivery

In addition, siRNA-based systems have also been explored as combinational therapies with other drugs for cancer treatment. For example, Atu027 administered in combination with gemcitabine for the treatment of APC was more efficient with promising results and is being investigated to use Atu026 as a standard care for APC [24]. Similarly, siG12D-LODER in combination with gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel in patients with APC was able to achieve disease control and improved survival in Phase 2 clinical studies [29]. siRNA and pDNA combinational strategies have also produced significant outcome for various cancer treatments. The co-delivery of a plasmid DNA encoding tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) protein with the silencing of *Bcl2-like*
12 (BCL2L12) or superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) in breast cancer ameliorated the effects of TRAIL which was evident through *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical studies [30]. This approach was furthered with the inclusion of a drug cisplatin, a siRNA targeting P62/SQSTM1, an autophagy regulatory protein and a β 5 plasmid DNA for the treatment of ovarian cancer drug resistance [31].

1.2.3.4 Challenges associated with siRNA-based therapy

For the successful delivery of siRNA, numerous challenges have to be overcome such as the anionic nature and size of siRNA makes it is impossible to cross the hydrophobic cell membrane by themselves [32,33]. Once taken up into the cells by endocytosis they have to exit the endosomes before degradation [34], along with proper maintenance and protection of intact siRNA against nuclease activity in the extracellular milieu which is warranted to perform its function [35]. It should also be able to avoid offtargets effects, immune system activation, and expelling of endogenous miRNA mediated silencing machinery thereby hindering the regular RNAi pathway in the cell [36,37]. Achieve high silencing efficacy and avoid rapid renal clearance which results in reduced half-life of the circulating siRNA, ultimately decreasing their silencing efficacy [38].

Some ways to overcome these challenges are by using low siRNA concentration which can mitigate off-target effects without saturating the RNAi machinery and one means to achieve this is by the delivery of pooled siRNAs that target the same gene thereby helping to achieve low siRNA concentration [39]. Additionally, the use of dicer substrate siRNA (DsiRNA) which are 25-30 nt can attain 100-fold higher silencing than the conventional 21 nt siRNA [40]. The additional nucleotides enable them to be processed by the dicer enzyme which is part of the RNAi machinery generating 21-21 nt product and results in a more effective incorporation into the RISC due to its association with dicer improving target silencing [40,41]. They also possess the advantage of not eliciting any immune stimulation in comparison with its 21-mer counterpart since the dicer-substrate siRNAs undergo additional processing which is part of the endogenous mechanism and one step before the conventional siRNA [42].

Most of the other challenges associated with siRNA delivery can be overcome with the use of an appropriate carrier system that can bind to siRNA with high stability, protect against nuclease activity, traverse across the cell membrane, escape endosomolytic activity, accomplish cytoplasmic release of the functional siRNA, leading to target silencing without eliciting any immune stimulation and toxicity along with enhanced circulation time. In general, these carrier systems can be divided into viral and non-viral delivery methods, although viral systems have shown to exhibit high efficiency, their safety concerns for long-term use due to the implementation of viral integration, their immunogenic nature and to cause undesirable insertional mutagenesis warrants careful selection and simultaneous use of immunosuppressive therapy [43]. On the other hand, non-viral systems are relatively safer, cost effective and easy to manufacture, hence the next section of this review will focus on the use of PEI-polymeric delivery systems, especially the low molecular weight carriers for siRNA delivery.

1.3 POLYETHYLENIMINE NON-VIRAL DELIVERY SYSTEMS

Polyethylenimine is a cationic polymer which was first reported as an effective gene delivery system in 1995 by Boussif *et al.*, due to its high cationic charge density aiding

in effective binding through electrostatic interaction, buffering capacity by the presence of amines and protection of the nucleic acid from nucleases [44]. PEI exist in linear (L-PEI) and branched (b-PEI) forms both of which have high as well as low molecular weight constituents. L-PEI carries terminal primary and secondary amines whereas b-PEI have primary, secondary and tertiary amines at a ratio of 1:1:1. These amines are key for its protonation at a wide range of pH values helping in its buffering capacity [45]. In general, PEI forms stable nano-sized polyplexes with the nucleic acid (pDNA/siRNA) having a positive surface charge that helps in its interaction with the anionic cell membrane and enters the cells through various endocytosis pathways while protecting the cargo from nuclease activity. Once inside the endosomes having an acidic pH, the amines undergo protonation leading to the influx of protons, chloride ions and water which eventually leads to the endosomal rupture because of increased osmotic pressure and swelling of the endosome, a process called "proton-sponge" effect [46]. This causes the release of the contents inside the cell, either in the cytoplasmic compartment for siRNA or in the nucleus for pDNA which are largely depended on the type of PEI used and the target cell [47].

Although PEIs share the above-mentioned common advantages, in addition to their structural difference of being linear or branched, the molecular weight significantly alters the degree to which they can perform its function. High molecular weight (HMW) PEI like 22 kDa (L-PEI) and 25 kDa (b-PEI) have been widely studied and shown to be successful for various gene therapies. For example, *jet*PEITM which is a 22 kDa L-PEI has been effectively used for siRNA/pDNA delivery *in vivo* as well as in Phase I clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumors (NCT01274455, NCT03739138) [48]. On the other hand, low molecular weight (LMW) PEIs like 0.6, 1.2 and 2 kDa exhibits poor delivery efficacy but

exert low toxicity when compared to HMW-PEIs which can lead to high damage to the cell membrane and has been documented by numerous studies [49]. Hence an inverse relation can be observed in the transfection efficiency and toxicity with respect to its molecular weight which is a major factor that governs the overall performs of PEI [50,51]. However, modification of LMW-PEIs has been investigated to improve their transfection ability, in particular the use of hydrophobic lipid substitutions has achieved tremendous success by Uludag group and others which will be discussed in the following section.

1.3.1 Lipid substitution in PEI

Hydrophobic modification of LMW-PEIs has been extensively studied in the past decade as it can improve its interaction with cell membrane, provide optimal binding with the nucleic acid, and increase the cellular uptake in addition to altering the size as well as surface charge of the polyplexes. The main rationale of using hydrophobic substitution was to improve the overall efficacy of LMW-PEIs and this has been successfully established for various disease conditions through both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (**Fig 1.2**).

Grafting of PEI with even a small hydrophobe propionic acid (PrA; C3) at low substitution amounts provided substantial increase in siRNA delivery and silencing compared to native PEI, which was attributed to their optimal surface charge, however with further increase in PrA a significant reduction in its performance was noted accompanied with much lower zeta potential, poor polyplex stability and decreased interaction with the cell membrane [52]. Such studies were carried out in attachment-independent K562 leukemic cell line as well as in attachment-dependent MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines for both siRNA and pDNA delivery [52,53]. Other hydrophobic lipids like caprylic acid (CA; C8) and oleic acid (OA; C18) grafted PEI showed high siRNA uptake and silencing at higher substitution ratios in contrast to PrA findings [54,55]. Furthermore, lipids like lauric acid (Lau; C12), palmitic acid (PA; C16), linoleic acid (LA; C18), αlinoleic acid (aLA; C18), stearic acid (St; C18) and cholesterol (Chol) have also been successfully optimized and grafted onto LMW-PEI at varying amounts of substitutions. These modification have drastically improved their nucleic acid interaction, complex formation, polyplex stability, cellular internalization, intracellular release and achieved excellent silencing or expression of the therapeutic gene in various cell types and cancers in vitro and in vivo [54-60]. Due to the differences in the behaviour of different hydrophobic lipids and the number of substituents, in depth studies have been carried out exploring its role in gene delivery. Among the different lipids explored, LA and αLA substituted PEI have been widely successful for the silencing of numerous breast cancer genes like BCL2L12, SOD1, Myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1), survivin, Signal transducer and activator of transcription-5 (STAT5), cell division cycle protein 20 (CDC20), Pglycoprotein, and TTK protein kinase [30,61-64]. Its success could also be noted in the silencing of CD44 in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and BCR-ABL in CML [65,66].



-SS- Modified PEI



Figure 1.2: (A) Schematic representation of PEI lipid modification; (1) the regular method of N-acylation and (2) thioester linked lipid substitution (amide coupling). (3) disulfide linked PEIs following lipid substitution with either amide or thioester link (Michael addition). L-represents the type of lipid, t-represents thioester linkage and -SS- represents disulfide linkage. (B) Structure of the lipids with varying chain lengths used in polymer synthesis, with the number of carbon atoms (lower case number) and ω - representing the position of unsaturation.

1.3.1.1 Thioester linked lipid substitutions in PEI

The common method of grafting lipids to the PEI is by using *N*-acylation, creating an amide linkage between them, however, to further enhance the delivery efficiency of these lipid grafted PEI, thio-ester linkage was introduced before the lipid (**Fig 1.2**). Hence a carboxyl end-capped LA and α LA on PEI through a thio-ester (-S-CO-) linkage forming tLA and t α LA have been explored recently. The thio-ester counterparts displayed better solubility, decreased particle aggregation, enhanced dissociation of nucleic acid with transfection efficiencies achieved similar or higher than commercial delivery agents in human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells (UCB-MSC) and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSC) which are some of the hard to transfect cells [67]. Similar observation was seen in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, where tLA and t α LA showed higher transgene expression along with better silencing owing to their enhanced dissociation in a co-delivery approach of BCL2L12 siRNA or SOD1 siRNA with pTRAIL study to induce apoptosis [30]. The success of thio-ester linked polymer have also been established in the silencing of oncogenes like Mcl-1, survivin and STAT5 in MCF-7 cell line, however the degree of lipid substitution was a key factor governing the performance of the delivery systems [61].

1.3.1.2 Disulfide linked PEI

One of the extensively studied methods to further improve the intracellular release of the nucleic acid is the inclusion of reducible disulfide (-SS-) linkage between the polymers (**Fig 1.2**). The principle behind this strategy is depended on the difference between the concentration of glutathione (GSH) between extracellular and intracellular milieu which range between 2-10 μ M and 2-10 mM respectively. Such high concentration of GSH would help in the reduction of the disulfide bond leading to a better release and improve the overall performance of the delivery agent [68]. Success of -SS- linked LMW- PEI can be found in the significant decrease of apolipoprotein B (ApoB) mRNA levels in B16F1 melanoma cells and hepatic stellate cells (HSC) for the treatment of liver cirrhosis using a PEI grafted-hyaluronic acid with -SS- linkage. The complexes formed by this system showed better stability even at high serum concentrations accompanied by improved silencing efficiency, effective cellular uptake and emerged as an effective therapeutic system *in vivo* with siRNA against transforming growth factor - beta (TGF- β) [69]. Similar findings can be observed with pluronic-diacrylate-PEI-SS polymer for pDNA delivery in the embryonic kidney cell line 293T, where the complexes showed low toxicity, high uptake and transfection efficiency, better stability against DNase I degradation due to the presence of disulfide linkage [70].

1.3.2 Inclusion of additives with PEI

The surface of cationic PEI complexes can be coated with specific polymers to ameliorate its efficacy and improve their biocompatibility. Polyethyleneglycol (PEG) is one such polymer which is known to decrease immune response, toxicity, improve stability, and retention time in circulation [71]. Recent developments have revealed many such compounds that carry low amount of negative charge which can be used as a coating or an additive with PEI complexes aiming to further the delivery and performance of gene delivery.

1.3.2.1 Hyaluronic acid

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is a non-sulphated glycosaminoglycan, an extracellular matrix molecule which are slightly anionic in nature. At optimal low HA additive concentrations, the transfection efficiency was increased, cellular uptake was elevated with more sustained presence of intracellular siRNA, and better target silencing. Inclusion of HA as an additive can decreased the size of complexes at low amounts and further increase of HA result in a gradual increase in size, however with HA as coating the size was unchanged. Furthermore, the zeta potential was also reduced with low amounts of HA compared to complexes without HA, and further increase in HA turned the zeta potential to negative. Additional studies revealed the important role of CD44 receptor on the positive benefit of HA additives in MDA-MB-231 cells which express high CD44 on their surface compared to MCF-7 cells [72,73]. HA additives were also beneficial for pDNA delivery in UCB-MSC and BM-MSC cells with similar observations on zeta potential decrease and transfection improvement [67].

1.3.2.2 Polyacrylic acid

Polyacrylic acid (PAA) is another anionic polymer widely utilized in the cosmetic and pharmaceutical industry which can be used as additives with PEI complexes [74]. PAA as an additive can increase the size and decrease zeta potential of the complexes at low amounts which in turn is reflected with an increase in siRNA uptake in MDA-MB-231 cells. Complexes with PAA additive at low amounts were also able to silence genes like CDC20, survivin more effectively which was evident by the decrease in cell growth and increase in caspase-3 activity among various breast cancer cell lines. Ideal release of siRNA due to the presence of PAA additive at optimal amount is a key reason for achieving such positive outcome with such systems [72]. A similar study employing PAA in a PEI/pDNA complex coated with PAA, followed by an additional poly (N-(8-aminooctyl)- acrylamide) (P8Am) forming a multilayer polyplex delivery system showed high cellular uptake and endosomolytic activity in human cervix carcinoma cell line (HeLa) and human hepatoma cell line (HepG2) [75].

1.3.2.3 Dextran sulfate

Dextran sulfate (DS) is a polysaccharide widely found in different organs like liver, spleen, and kidney. DS has been mostly explored by studies as conjugates for PEI mediated gene delivery and at low amounts it has shown to decrease toxicity, improve stability, increase buffering capacity, with lower surface charge and particle size [76–78]. In addition, DS as additives at low amounts helped in better siRNA release from the PEI complexes with a moderate success in improving the siRNA uptake compared to complexes without DS in MDA-MB-231 cells [72].

1.4 SAFETY OF PEI DELIVERY SYSTEMS

The next important aspect of gene therapy is the overall safety, although non-viral systems are considered safe in comparison to viral vector, due to the inherent nature of the human body, any artificially injected drug or therapeutic molecule will be treated as 'foreign'. Hence, it is of utmost importance that PEI delivery systems remain 'stealth' in biological system and evade the immune system in addition to being non-toxic.

1.4.1 Toxicity

One of the principal reasons to employ LMW-PEI against HMW-PEI is the difference in toxicities [79]. However, due to modifications of LMW-PEI, while improving

the overall efficiency, the toxicity of these systems can also be altered [51,52]. Once inside the physiological environment, the PEI complexes having positive surface charge can interact with the anionic serum proteins and the red blood cells which then undergo aggregation leading to cell surface binding and destabilization, causing toxicity [80]. In general, the observed toxicity can be of immediate effect mostly associated with free PEI and delayed effect caused by the processing of the PEI complexes inside the cell [81]. However, LMW-PEI display no or negligible toxicity in addition to being poor gene delivery agents [79]. On the other hand, lipid modification of LMW-PEI which helps to achieve transfection efficiencies similar or higher than the commercial delivery agents, can also affect the toxicity exerted on the cells [53,67,82]. Specific factors contributing towards the toxicity for the lipid modified LMW-PEI are the type of lipid being grafted on the PEI [53,67,82], the degree of lipid substitutions on PEI [53], the cell type in which the studies are carried out [52,53], the ratio of PEI to pDNA or siRNA [53,56], and the size [82,83] as well as surface charge of the complexes [72,84].

1.4.2 Hemolytic ability

Interaction of PEI complexes having cationic surface property with red blood cells (RBC) having negatively charged surface in circulation is part of the natural proceedings which could lead to its lysis, releasing hemoglobin into the circulation [85]. In general, a delicate balance exists between the intact RBCs and the amount of free hemoglobin present extracellularly, however during pathological conditions, and interactions with therapeutic molecules, hemolysis might occur introducing high quantities of hemoglobin into the circulation causing vascular dysfunction, renal, hepatic, and splenic failure. The circulating

hemoglobin also possess the tendency to become a redox active protein further contributing towards organ failure [86]. Furthermore, the therapeutic complexes can also bind to the released hemoglobin resulting in their rapid elimination [87]. Strong interaction between the PEI complexes and the RBCs can lead to its low availability resulting in poor therapeutic performance as observed in clinical drugs [85]. In addition, due to the similarities between the RBC membranes and endosomal environment, the hemolytic ability also provides information on the endosomolytic behaviour of the therapeutic compound [88]. Although, the key reason for the hemolytic behavior is mainly associated to the positive surface charge of the complexes [89] in contrast to anionic particles that are nontoxic [90], other factors like the number of free amine groups [91], and the dose of compound used, also contribute towards RBC toxicity or hemolysis [89,92].

1.4.3 Immune stimulation

The next vital step when the therapeutic compound is injected into the system is the possibility of being recognized by the immune cells which is an inherent response of the human body to any foreign agent or pathogen. The key indicator for immune stimulation is the secretion of cytokines which are proteins of small molecular weight, from the immune cells and these cytokines are the molecules that govern the duration and intensity of the immune response to the external stimuli. Also, the type of cytokine produced is greatly dependent on the treatment duration and the type of therapeutic molecule used. Apart from playing key roles in protecting the human body from pathogenic invasion, they can also hinder the effect of the therapeutic compound injected due to immune recognition

and elimination. Additionally, either inadequate or exorbitant cytokine production can aid in the progression of various disease conditions [93].

In general, cytokines are important in various signaling activities depending on the target cell and the type of cytokine secreted, which are (i) interferons (IFN) like the type II IFN- γ mediates adaptive and innate immunity, (ii) interleukins (IL) that govern leukocyte growth and differentiation can either be anti- or pro-inflammatory in nature, (iii) tumor necrosis factor (TNF) that are pro-inflammatory, (iv) chemokines that control chemotaxis and, (v) colony-stimulating factors (CSF), as the name suggest they are mostly involved in hematopoietic progenitor cell stimulation, proliferation and differentiation [94].

Some of the key cytokines that are released following the administration of any therapeutic compound are TNF- α , IL-6 and, IFN- γ although numerous other types of cytokines can be released under the above mentioned three major types (TNF, IL and IFN). The detection of these 3 cytokines from the blood, following treatment are considered as primary steps to understand the proinflammatory response concerning cytokine release syndrome (CRS), which is the sudden and excessive accumulation of a variety of cytokines in the circulation causing rapid organ failure and could lead to the eventual fatality of the patient [95]. In addition, under the guidelines and recommendations provided by the FDA for a new therapeutic compound, detection of these 3 cytokines have been presented as key CRS predictors *in vitro* and *in vivo* [96]. Much of the studies on the immune response by PEI have been focused on HMW and very few knowledges exist for the LMW-PEI, hence a general cytokine response with PEI will be discussed.

The delivery of negative control siRNA as well as the functional siRNA targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in SPCA-A1 (human lung

26

adenocarcinoma cell line) xenograft mice with a linear HMW-PEI did not induce TNF- α secretion as tested in the serum [48]. Similar observations were reported with other research groups using HMW-PEI following intravenous (i.v) or intraperitoneal (i.p) injection of PEI-complexes *in vivo* [97,98]. Even with branched PEI of 10, 25 and 70 kDa, no upregulation of TNF- α could be detected through *in vivo* studies [99]. However, contrasting observation can also be found were TNF- α was detected in mice serum following i.v administration of PEI complexes [100]. The secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α from T-cells, activated macrophages and natural killer cells (NK) is strongly associated with serious liver toxicity, drastic changes in the coagulation of blood and, stimulation of oxidative stress [101–103]. Moreover, its role in cardiovascular diseases and in the progression of various cancers like leukemia, prostrate cancer and ovarian cancer has been well demonstrated [104–107].

Similar to TNF- α , the IL-6 induction by HMW-PEI had contrasting findings, where some reports of no upregulation could be seen *in vitro*. However, intravenous delivery of DNA as well as siRNA using HMW-PEI was able to induce IL-6 production in mice serum [97]. Similarly, IL-6 secretion could be detected in the supernatant of mouse bone marrow cells even with low concentration of HMW-PEI showing significant difference compared to the control treatment [108]. Other *in vitro* studies also reported the induction of IL-6 with HMW-PEI which was concentration dependant [109]. In addition to its contribution towards liver toxicity and in the progression of various cancers like prostate cancer, breast cancer, ovarian cancer and leukemia, high stimulation of IL-6 can also have detrimental effects in neuronal and cognitive functioning [104–106,110,111]. Furthermore, increase in IL-6 can cause high accumulation of reactive oxygen species resulting in muscle atrophy with major changes in the proper functioning of various types of muscles and tissue degeneration [112].

The upregulation of IFN- γ was not detected while delivering pDNA with HMW-PEI *in vivo* and even repeated delivery of the complexes did not elicit any immune response [113,114]. Similarly, no IFN- γ production was observed with HMW-PEI/siRNA complexes during i.v administration [97]. Contrary to these findings, IFN- γ secretion was noted in mice serum with pDNA complexes, which were drastically upregulated [99] and high amounts of IFN- γ can exhibit multiple negative effects on erythropoiesis causing anemia and disrupt differentiation of hematopoietic cells [115]. Due to the direct impact of IFN- γ on the production of TNF- α , the observed deleterious effects of cytokine upregulation can be further enhanced resulting much higher toxicity [116]. In addition, high IFN- γ can influence cancer progression and aid in autoimmunity *in vivo* [117–119].

Blocking of these cytokines using antibodies has been explored for cancer therapy, while shielding of complexes with additional polymers like PEG have also shown beneficial effects in reducing the stimulation of cytokines and improve transgene expression [120–123]. Treatment with optimal concentration of the complexes is another vital component in reducing unwanted immune stimulation [109]. These findings highlight the importance to study and understand the overall safety of non-viral delivery systems and the essential components which requires close attention while employing them for therapeutic purpose.

1.5 BREAST CANCER METASTASIS AND TREATMENT OPTIONS

A critical step in cancer development is the induction of metastasis, which significantly reduces the chances of survival for patients. As in other cancers, breast cancer is a complex, molecular disease that originates due to gene mutations causing uncontrolled proliferation and metastasis of the cancer cells. According to Canadian breast cancer statistics 2020, breast cancer is the most common type of cancer among Canadian women and is the second most common cause of death with an estimated 1 in 8 women developing breast cancer in their lifetime. Approximately 27,000 women would be diagnosed for breast cancer which accounts for 25% of all new cancer cases in women for the year 2020. Improvements in breast cancer diagnosis has helped in early detection of the cancer which are followed by various treatment options like chemotherapy, radiation therapy and surgical resection, all of which have improved the overall survival of the patients although suffer with various drawbacks of their own [124]. However, the major challenge associated with breast cancer treatment is their metastatic ability and to stay dormant and later result in cancer relapse [125]. More specifically, the highly metastatic triple-negative breast cancer which are devoid of estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, display high heterogeneity representing 10-15% of all breast cancers are more challenging to treat. The process of metastasis is a multistep process which reflects the ability of the cancer cells to leave its primary site, travel through the circulation evading immune recognition, reach a distant organ (e.g., bone, brain), and stay dormant only to re-emerge later [126]. As a result, the treatment for metastatic cancer proves to be challenging with a poor 5-year survival rate of 22%. The multistep process of metastasis starts with (i) the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) of the tumor at the primary site, (ii) degradation of extracellular matrix (ECM), (iii) intravasation, (iv) escape from the host immune response, (v) migration and (vi) extravasation followed by attachment and survival at the distant metastatic site [127] (**Fig 1.3**). In this complex process of metastasis, numerous molecules are activated as well as upregulated, contributing to each of the above-mentioned steps. In particular the cell adhesion molecules present on the membrane of the cancer cells play significant roles ultimately aiding in its attachment and metastasis and in the overall breast cancer progression [128].



Survival at Distant Site

Figure 1.3: Schematic of the process of breast cancer metastasis which involves epithelial to mesenchymal transition at the primary site, ECM degradation, immune system evasion, intravasation, migration, extravasation, and attachment at the distant site for survival.

1.5.1 Cell adhesion molecules

Cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) are mostly transmembrane receptors on the cell surface and structurally consist of an extracellular domain that interacts with external stimuli including various extra cellular matrix components, a transmembrane domain across the membrane and an intracellular domain that mediates various signaling pathways inside the cells. Some of the CAMs reported for their involvement in breast cancer metastasis include cadherins, integrins and selectins.

1.5.1.1 Cadherins

Cadherins are calcium dependent cell adhesion proteins that are instrumental in maintaining the tissue structure by attaching cells together and are base molecules that are required for tissue remodeling, morphogenesis, and proper preservation of the tissue integrity. The presence of Ca^{2+} aids in the formation of stable cell-cell adhesion termed as homotypic adhesion which when disrupted can cause the metastasis [129]. Till date more than 20 members of cadherin molecules have been reported which are expressed on specific cell types like E-cadherin (epithelial), N-cadherin (neural), VE-cadherin (vascular endothelial), P-cadherin (placental) and R-cadherins (retinal tissues) [130].

The expression of E-cadherin is vital in the proper maintenance of the cancer at its primary site as its loss can be observed in 50% of the metastasis cases of breast cancer along with poor prognosis and exhibit strong contribution in overall cancer progression [131]. The observed detrimental outcome of E-cadherin downregulation is not only associated with its loss of adhesion at the extracellular space but also due to the intracellular signaling linked with β-catenin in the cytoplasmic domain of the cadherin. Specifically,

any disruption of the E-cadherin- β -catenin complex can result in multiple outcomes all of which aid in the metastasis. In addition to the weakened cell-cell interaction that leads to cellular motility, the free cytoplasmic β -catenin can be phosphorylated by the glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) resulting in its degradation. Furthermore, the activation of the Wnt signaling pathway due to GSK-3 β downregulation helps in the nuclear translocation of β -catenin which can further activate various target genes linked to breast cancer advancement [132]. The loss of E-cadherin expression has shown to be accompanied by upregulation of N-cadherin in breast cancer and is known to aid in its attachment to the stromal cells fulfilling the distant metastasis. In addition N-cadherin can also independently assist in metastasis, irrespective of E-cadherin expression [133].

Other than the classical cadherins which have five domains, protocadherins are the largest subgroup of cadherins which are structurally different having seven cadherin domains. In breast cancer, numerous protocadherins have been identified with an array of functions, all of which impacts cancer progression in different ways. The expression of protocadherin-7 (PCDH7) was shown to influence the brain and bone metastasis of breast cancer through *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [134]. In contrast the expression of protocadherin PCDH8 was found to be downregulated in breast cancer and its restoration was able to reduce the migration and proliferation of the cancer cells. Similarly, the suppression of PCDH17 was detected in breast cancer cells and in tumors whereas its overexpression through plasmid DNA helped to decrease the proliferation, migration and the epithelial to mesenchymal transition which was dependent on the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway [135]. Other protocadherins like PCDH10 and PCDH20 have also been found to be tumor suppressors in various other cancer types [136].

1.5.1.2 Integrins

Integrins constitute the largest group of cell adhesion molecule that have been studied extensively in breast cancer and proven to exhibit broad range of functions in its progression. Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane cell surface molecules consisting of one α - and one β - subunit. Unlike cadherins that are mostly involved in intracellular signaling through the binding of β -catenin in the cytoplasmic domain, integrins can carry out both "outside-in" and "inside-out" signaling making it a more complex and crucial molecule for proliferation, survival and migration of cancer cells [137]. Till now 18 α - and 8 β - subunits have been identified in humans which heterodimerizes to form 24 different integrin combinations which carryout various functions including its binding to ECM components like fibronectin (FN), laminin (LN), collagen (col), fibrinogen and vitronectin (VN) as well as activation of complex intracellular signaling pathways. Several integrin subunits like α 3, α 5, α 6, α v, β 1, β 3 and heterodimers like α 4 β 1, α 5 β 1, α v β 3, α 6 β 4, α v β 5 and α v β 6 have shown to be strongly upregulated helping in the process of metastasis to distant organs [138–140].

<u>Integrin- $\beta 1$ </u>. Integrin- $\beta 1$ is a highly expressed molecule in breast cancer and has strong correlation with poor disease-free survival rate in patients [141]. They also play key roles in the dormancy to metastasis switch and in the invasiveness of breast cancer [142]. The significance of integrin- $\beta 1$ in cancer progression was highlighted by its *in vivo* deletion which resulted in significant decrease in breast cancer growth [143]. Integrin- $\beta 1$ is also a critical molecule which is required during the process of tumor formation, EMT, metastasis initiation, proliferation and re-attachment to distant organs as evident through various

studies [144,145]. Among patients experiencing breast cancer recurrence, high expression of integrin- β 1 was observed [146]. *In vivo* integrin- β 1 deletion in ErbB2 tumors (receptor tyrosine-protein kinase erbB-2) was able to significantly decrease the tumor volume, improve tumor cell death and decrease its lung metastasis [147]. The binding of integrin- β 1 ligand, FN to its extracellular domain activates the intracellular signaling involving FAK and AKT impacting the proliferation, migration, and survival of cancer cells with a negative effect on the expression of epidermal growth factor (EGFR) [148–150]. Furthermore, other signaling pathways like phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and serine/threonine kinase AKT activated by integrin- β 1 was shown to aid in drug resistance [151]. Other major signaling pathway components like the focal adhesion kinase (FAK), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), and c-JUN N-terminal kinase (JNK) can be activated through integrin- β 1 which helps to overcome drug induced apoptosis, support tumor growth, induce the expression of various matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) like MMP-2, MMP-9 and MMP-13 which are prominent molecules largely identified as drivers of cancer progression [152,153]. Hence, cross-talk between integrins and receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) signaling is considered as a key phenomenon in the progression of breast cancer [154]. Studies on the heterodimerized form of integrin- β 1 subunit with other α - subunits has provided invaluable information on their significant role in breast cancer advancement. The expression of $\alpha 2\beta 1$ was closely related with bone metastatic breast cancer cells [155]. Similarly, $\alpha \beta \beta$ was found to be essential in the attachment of the cancer cells to cortical bone matrix through collagen [156]. Other integrin- β 1 heterodimers like α 4 β 1 and α 5 β 1 that bind to fibronectin were critical in mediating Adriamycin resistance helping in their uncontrolled proliferation and survival emphasizing the significance of integrin- β 1 expression in breast cancer metastasis [157].

Integrin-\beta3. Similar to integrin- β 1, the expression of integrin- β 3 is upregulated among breast cancer cells in comparison with the non-malignant cells. They are involved in the adhesion of cancer cells to the distant site, most notably to bone metastasis. Particularly, $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin expression was strongly upregulated in breast cancer cells that displayed high bone metastasis and their elevated expression was also detected in different patient tumors experiencing bone metastasis [158]. The role of the $\alpha\nu\beta3$ in breast cancer bone metastasis has been reported by various studies both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [159]. Moreover, the binding of its ligand VN can initiate various signaling pathways which can initiate EMT, increase MMP expression affecting cell migration and invasion [160].

Integrin-β4. Integrin-β4 overexpression can be observed in patients experiencing more aggressive breast cancers and can act as a marker to identify cancer stem cells [161]. Having a long cytoplasmic tail helps in the activation of various signaling pathways and upregulates ErbB2/3 and EGFR which provides resistance towards tamoxifen and other anti-RTK therapy. Furthermore, binding to LN in the ECM enhances PI3K, AKT and MAPK signaling molecules showing the RTK cross-talk with integrin-β4 [162,163]. Till date α 6β4 is the only integrin-β4 molecule that has been identified and their cooperation with P-cadherin can induce stem cells and influence the invasive potential of breast cancer cells [164,165]. Finally, high expression of α 6β4 was also shown to be critical in the lung metastasis of breast cancer cells [166].

<u>Integrin- $\beta 5$ </u>. Integrin- $\beta 5$ expression was closely related to the tumor forming ability, migration, adhesion to VN ECM protein, as well as in their proliferation and survival through the activation of FAK and ERK signaling pathways in breast cancer *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [167]. $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ is shown to interact with EGFR promoting the metastasis and influencing the invasiveness of other cancers like lung cancer, pancreatic cancer and melanoma, but less information is available in breast cancer [168,169].

1.5.2 Essential intracellular molecules

Overexpression of numerous intrinsic intracellular molecular targets have also been identified contributing towards the proliferation, metastasis, drug resistance and invasiveness of breast cancer. Especially the importance of upregulated heat shock proteins (HSP), apoptosis and cell division regulatory proteins like BCL2L12 and cell-division cycle protein 20 (CDC20) in the overall progression of breast cancer have been highlighted by various studies.

1.5.2.1 Heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins (HSP) are molecular chaperones that governs the proper folding of the proteins in the cell which is required in the functioning of normal cells. HSPs continue to perform their main function in protein folding even in cancerous cells by chaperoning the mutated as well as upregulated proteins which further worsens the disease outcome [170]. There are six main HSP families, named based on their molecular weight: HSP27, HSP60, HSP70, HSP90 and HSP100. One of the main characteristic differences between the high and small MW HSPs is the dependance on ATP in the former (high MW) whereas small HSPs functions in an ATP-independent manner [171]. The upregulation of HSPs like HSP90 and HSP70 has been recorded in various cancers aiding in the proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation and even in poor prognosis like breast cancer [172].

<u>HSP90</u>. HSP90 is one of the most abundant HSPs and is also called as glucose-regulated protein 94 (Grp94), or gp96, or endoplasmin or ERp99. They are highly involved in apoptosis regulation and possess various client proteins like TLRs, integrins and insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) [173]. Currently five isoforms of HSP90 have been identified which are HSP90 α (HSP90AB1) and HSP90 β (HSP90B1) in the cytoplasm, HSP90B1 in the endoplasmic reticulum, tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein 1 (TRAP-1) in the mitochondria and HSP90N in the plasma membrane [174,175].

The overexpression of HSP90B1 can be seen in a variety of cancers governing a wide range of functions such as proliferation, metastasis and apoptosis regulation in the cells. More specifically, its upregulation was linked with poor overall survival in lung cancer, in the tumor growth of osteosarcoma through the activation of PI3K/ AKT/ mTOR signaling, in the proliferation of hepatocellular carcinoma, B-cell lymphoma, myeloma and in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) drug resistance [176–181]. Analysis of breast cancer patient samples for HSP90B1 expression displayed strong correlation with their overall survival and distant metastasis. Patients with low expression had higher survival compared to those having high expression who experienced poor survival and metastasis [182]. These findings were also confirmed at the protein and mRNA levels of HSP90B1 and their correlation with poor patient survival by other research groups [183]. One of the

key roles of HSP90B1 is their overexpression in breast cancer metastasis, specially to the brain compared to bone and lung. HSP90B1 helps in the survival of the brain metastasized cancer cells in hypoglycemic environment. Moreover, HSP90B1 overexpression was also confirmed in brain metastatic breast cancer cell lines with the upregulation of apoptosis related proteins like BCL-2, cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein (HIAP1) and X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP) [184]. Additionally, the upregulation of the autophagy-mitophagy genes like BNIP3 and BNIP3L were also observed as they are survival mechanisms in cancer growth, particularly in brain metastasis. HSP90B1 upregulation can also be manifested in breast cancer stem cells especially in the CD44hi/CD24lo phenotype and in cells that are oxidative stress-resistant helping in their survival, migration and recurrence resulting in aggressive breast cancer progression [185,186]. More evidence of HSP90B1 overexpression in patients who underwent chemotherapy compared to their initial stage and those experiencing cancer recurrence provides strong evidence on their multifaced role in breast cancer advancement [186].

1.5.2.2 Apoptosis and cell division regulatory proteins

<u>BCL2L12</u>. BCL2L12 is a member of the BCL2 family of anti-apoptotic proteins which is overexpressed in breast cancer cells. In glioblastoma, BCL2L12 was shown to play antiapoptotic role by inhibiting caspase-3 and -7 activity [187]. In breast cancer, knockdown of BCL2L12 led to improved activity of doxorubicin and cisplatin *in vitro* but contrasting finding were also observed in which cisplatin-resistance was acquired following its knockdown [188,189]. Other studies have shown the importance of BCL2L12 in breast cancer, where its silencing improved TRAIL-induced apoptosis *in vitro* and decreased tumor growth *in vivo* [30,190].

<u>CDC20</u>. The cell division cycle protein 20 is a key regulatory protein which is overexpressed in many cancers including breast cancer. Its overexpression promoted the metastatic ability of breast cancer cells and was also shown to exhibit an important role in cellular proliferation [64,191]. Multiple studies have highlighted the therapeutic significance of CDC20 in tumorigenesis and progression of breast cancer [192].

1.5.3 Treatment options for breast cancer

The current treatment of breast cancer includes surgical resection of the cancer tissue from the breast (lumpectomy) or the removal of the entire breast (mastectomy) which aims to remove the maximum amount of cancer. Surgical removal can be followed with radiation therapy, chemotherapy, hormone therapy and targeted therapy. Some of the commonly used chemotherapeutic agents include anthracyclines such as doxorubicin and taxanes such as paclitaxel [193]. All these drugs exhibit various side effects which can be significant in the short-term or long-term. Some of the short-term side effects are nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, hair loss, changes in body weight, loss of appetite, decrease in blood cell count and fatigue [193]. The effects of these therapies can also be observed as changes in the menstrual period, infertility, birth defects, bone loss, osteoporosis, and increased risk of cardiomyopathy [193].

On the other hand, specific targeting of the overexpressed protein is a promising strategy that has the potential to exhibit low side effects and toxicity as their effects on normal cells would be minimal. The success of targeted therapy by RNAi has been mentioned earlier and the aim of this thesis is to establish therapeutic outcome by the targeting of overexpressed integrin cell adhesion molecule as well as the intracellular heat shock protein to overcome metastasis and achieve proliferation inhibition in breast cancer as a model for solid tumor using the non-viral PEI gene delivery systems.

1.5.3.1 Targeting cell adhesion molecules

Function-blocking N-cadherin antibody was able to reduce the migration and invasion. Peptide based antagonist like ADH-1 has been evaluated in the treatment of prostate cancer but not in breast cancer [194]. Treatment with E-cadherin activating antibody was shown to inhibit the progression of metastasis and the formation of mouse tumor [195]. A siRNA-based approach was implemented by the commercial transfection reagent Lipofectamine 2000 to silence PCDH7 which resulted in reduced migration of breast cancer cells [134].

Targeting of integrin- β 1 has been carried through a wide range of therapeutic strategies. The integrin- β 1 inhibitory antibody AIIB2 was successful in decreasing the growth of cancer cells and inducing apoptosis without altering the viability of non-malignant cells. Moreover, the combination of AIIB2 with ionizing radiation helped to increase cancer apoptosis [196–198]. Clinical studies with PF-04605412 to block α 5 β 1 suffered from acute-infusion related complications and eventually was ineffective in decreasing tumor growth [199]. Combinational targeting of integrin- β 1 were also explored to overcome trastuzumab resistance, in which AIIB2 antibody along with siRNA treatment through electroporation provided beneficial outcome [200]. In addition, due to the cross-talk between integrin- β 1 and EGFR, antibody mediated targeting of either of these targets

decreased the expression of both and reverted the breast tumors to non-malignant forms [201]. Use of integrin- β 1 blocking peptides like ATN-161 helped to reduce the tumor growth as well as the metastasis *in vivo* and achieved prolonged stable disease in patients [202,203]. Peptide mediated targeting of $\alpha 2\beta$ 1was also able to reduce the tumor volume, bone metastasis and enhanced survival. Further combinational treatment of this cyclic chondroadherin (CHAD) peptide with doxorubicin showed beneficial effect *in vivo* [155].

The selective upregulation of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ in bone metastasis increased the interest in its targeting. Hence the use of a nonpeptide PSK1404 helped to reduce the bone tumor burden accompanied by a strong decline in bone destruction *in vivo* [204]. The monoclonal antibody etaracizumab targeting $\alpha\nu\beta3$ could inhibit proliferation, invasion and the migration of breast cancer cells [158,205]. Similarly, treatment with the peptide S247 decreased the lung metastasis of breast cancer cells *in vivo* in addition to inhibition of bone metastasis [159].

Targeting of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ helped to hinder their cross-talk with P-cadherin thereby reducing the invasiveness of breast cancer cells achieved by siRNA delivery by HiPerFect transfection reagent [165]. Likewise targeting of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ with inhibitory antibody drastically reduced the lung metastatic property of breast cancer cells [166].

Although antibodies targeting integrins have advanced to clinical trials, they have numerous limitations such as high production costs, possible adverse interaction(s) with immune system and other unwanted short-term or long-term side effects.

1.5.3.2 Targeting the essential intracellular molecules

Numerous HSP90 inhibitors have been developed and tested in various types of cancers. PU-H71 was able to successfully induce caspase-dependent apoptosis in drug sensitive as well as drug resistant myeloma cells [179]. The therapeutic potential of PU-H71 was also shown by their anti-tumor activity in B-cell lymphoma [180]. Furthermore, PU-H71 exhibited prolonged in vivo activity for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma accompanied by significant cell cycle arrest and apoptosis induction [181]. Its success in the treatment of breast cancer can be manifested by the prolonged downregulation of various oncoproteins that play key roles in proliferation, survival, and invasiveness. Decrease in various signaling molecules like AKT, ERK2 and PKC were also observed leading to enhanced apoptosis induction [206]. Treatment with PU-H71 was able to improve the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to radiation therapy, however an inflammatory response was also documented warranting the need for careful future investigation before proceeding further [207]. Numerous other HSP90 inhibitors like ganetespib, 17allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG), AT-533, BJ-B11, DCZ3112 and TAS-116 have been explored for breast cancer treatment, however reports of significant side effects and failures due to non-specific effects in clinical trials can be observed [208–211]. HSP90B1 knockdown using Lipofectamine 20000/siRNA in the brain metastatic breast cancer cells as well as in animal studies helped to decrease the viability of cancer cells and improved the survival of the animals [212]. Similar studies of RNAi based silencing of HSP90B1 was achieved, improving doxorubicin sensitivity of the cancer cells, but by using high siRNA concentrations [213].

1.6 CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA DRUG RESISTANCE AND TREATMENT OPTIONS

As an alternative cancer model, this thesis work also involved a leukemia model, namely Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), which is distinct from the solid tumors characterized by breast cancer. CML is a multi-lineage myeloproliferative neoplasm that originates from hematopoietic stem cells. It affects 1 to 2 per 100,000 adults worldwide. CML is characterized by uncontrolled proliferation of hematopoietic cells, particularly an excessive number of granulocytes is produced in the bone marrow. The cytogenetic hallmark of CML is a reciprocal chromosomal translocation that occurs between the long arms of chromosome 9 and 22, t(9;22)(q34;q11) forming a shortened chromosome 22, known as the Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) found in 95% of CML patients. The resulting breakpoint cluster region-abelson (BCR-ABL) fusion gene, encodes an oncoprotein (p210^{BCR-ABL}) with increased tyrosine kinase activity, substantially contributing towards uncontrolled proliferation, growth factor independent survival, modified cell adhesion and apoptosis inhibition [214–216]. The CML progresses in 3 phases: a chronic phase (CP) representing 85% to 90% of patients at diagnosis, but it can progress to an accelerated phase (AP) and then either a myeloid or lymphoid blast crisis. With the introduction of BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), the overall survival of CML patients in CP has been drastically improved with imatinib mesylate (IM) becoming the gold standard for first-line of treatment and has already became available as a generic drug in many countries [217,218]. However, the emerging IM resistance and therapeutic failure have led to development of second and third-generation TKIs with increased potency in treatment of CML, but they also elicit inadequate responses and fail to prevent disease progression in

some patients [219–222]. Further failure modes of TKI monotherapies have provoked comprehensive studies exploring various BCR-ABL-dependent and BCR-ABL-independent mechanisms of drug resistance. Here we will discuss the mechanisms of drug resistance in CML, the range of therapeutic solutions available to overcome resistance and ultimately help to improve the CML treatment with special focus to address the bone marrow mediated BCR-ABL independent resistance.

1.6.1 Drug resistance in CML

The growth dependence of CML on constitutively activated BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase allows its targeting by TKIs, of which the first-generation IM has become the frontline therapy. An 8-year follow up study on CP-CML indicated an estimated event-free survival rate of 81% and overall survival rate of 93% [223].

However, drug resistance in various forms was described through *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (**Fig 1.4**), which was shortly followed by clinical reports of resistance to IM and development of second-generation TKIs dasatinib (DA), nilotinib (NI), bosutinib (BO) and third-generation ponatinib (PO). The drug resistance in patients can be classified into two major groups as (i) BCR-ABL dependent and (ii) BCR-ABL independent mechanisms.



Figure 1.4: Resistance mechanisms in CML. BCR-ABL dependent mechanisms indicated by yellow circles that include (2) BCR-ABL mutations, (3) BCR-ABL overexpression, and (4) Defective DNA repair and genomic instability. BCR-ABL independent mechanisms indicated by green circles that include (1) Plasma protein binding (AGP, α 1-acid glycoprotein), (5) Drug transporters, (6) Alternate signaling pathways, (7) Autophagy and mitochondrial metabolism, (8) Defects in apoptosis (Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins – IAPs), (9) Clonal evolution and epigenetic dysregulations, (10) Niche effects and (11) CML stem cells.

1.6.1.1 BCR-ABL dependent resistance

This mechanism of resistance could arise due to mutations at the BCR-ABL kinase domain, mutations outside BCR-ABL kinase domains, compound mutations, defective DNA repair mechanism and amplification/over-expression of BCR-ABL, which all ultimately impair the effectiveness of TKI treatment in patients. <u>Mutations in BCR-ABL Kinase Domain</u>. Mutations in ABL kinase domain and other domains that control the conformation of the kinase domain hinder the binding of drug affinity by altering the BCR-ABL conformation or by hampering the binding all together leading to resistance. Mutations are the most common resistance mechanism with >100 different mutations identified to-date. They can be observed at various structural subunits of the kinase domain and classified into four categories affecting (i) the ATP-binding Ploop, between amino acids (aa) 244 to 255, (ii) the IM direct binding site between aa 315 to 317, (iii) C-loop (catalytic domain) between aa 350 to 363 and (iv) A-loop (activation loop) between aa 381 to 402 [224]. The widely observed and highly resistant 'Gatekeeper' T315I mutation (4-15%) in the IM binding site is a result of a single nucleotide-change from C to T at position 944 in ABL kinase, which leads to replacement of threonine at position 315 with isoleucine. T315, the gatekeeper residue for ABL that aids in the formation of H-bonding with the TKIs, is changed with a bulky isoleucine that hinders the interaction of all second generation TKIs [225–227].

<u>Mutations outside BCR-ABL Kinase Domain</u>. The SH2, SH3 and Cap domains are involved in the autoinhibition of ABL kinase [228]. The T212R mutation in the SH2 domain stabilizes the active conformation of BCR-ABL kinase, thereby inhibiting IM binding [229]. The *BCR-ABL* mutations can also arise prior to TKI treatment and that, not all mutations lead to drug resistance [230].

<u>Defective DNA Repair Mechanism and Genomic Instability</u>. DNA repair is an important component of DNA damage response by which cells can recover, although its efficacy and

accuracy vary, affecting cell cycle, induction of malignancy, cell death and transfer of genetic information. The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), inhibition of DNA glycosylase (UNG2) activity by BCR-ABL protein can cause DNA damage and faulty DNA repair, leading to accumulation of mutations [231]. Finding from multiple studies suggest that BCR-ABL–induced genomic instability may originate in the most primitive TKI-refractory LSCs that contribute to drug resistance and disease progression in CML [232–234]

Over-expression of BCR-ABL. Genomic amplification of *BCR-ABL* gene as well as overexpression of BCR-ABL transcripts have been detected in patients with drug resistance [225,235]. The over-expression of *BCR-ABL* in 50% of TKI-resistant cell lines was the initial mechanism of resistance identified, as no mutations emerged in the absence of *BCR-ABL* over-expression. However other modes of resistance were also described [236]. The level of *BCR-ABL* expression correlated with mutation emergence in patients, but it may not translate to increased leukemic burden [237]. Although, contrasting evidence on *BCR-ABL* amplification has been reported earlier where *BCR-ABL* amplification was absent in IM resistance, a follow-up study in a 68-year-old patient who developed secondary resistance to IM, displayed not only genomic *BCR-ABL* amplification but also an increase in *BCR-ABL* transcripts, which were also demonstrated in other studies [238–240].

1.6.1.2 BCR-ABL independent resistance

Though BCR-ABL-dependent resistance mechanisms are most common, other mechanisms of resistance include activation of alternate pro-survival signaling pathways,

drug influx-efflux activity, clonal evolution, epigenetic modifications, inherently-resistant stem cells, bone marrow stromal microenvironment and elevated levels of inhibitors of apoptosis proteins.

Alternate Pro-survival Pathway. One of the earliest findings from studies of BCR-ABLtransduced hematopoietic cells was the activation of an autocrine mechanism which could confer partial or complete growth factor autonomy [215,241]. This finding was then demonstrated in most CD34⁺ CML patient cells that display a constitutively activated production of IL-3 and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), which accounts for increased STAT5 phosphorylation [242]. In primitive CML cells, this is silenced when they become quiescent and is then reversed when they begin to proliferate. Increased levels of GM-CSF protected the CML cells against IM and NI, through the activation of JAK2/STAT5 pathway, independent of BCR-ABL. The GM-CSF levels were elevated in CML patients exhibiting IM-resistance independent of any BCR-ABL mutation, suggesting a possible contribution towards IM and NI resistance [243,244]. IM treatment can induce PI3K/Akt/mTor signaling pathway, which is essential in mediating early IM-resistance [245]. The overexpression of (i) FOXO1, which is downstream of PI3K pathway, (ii) PRKCH a member of Protein Kinase C (PKC) and an activator of c-RAF (RAF/MEK/ERK signaling) and (iii) SRC family kinase (SFK)-LYN also contribute towards BCR-ABL independent resistance [246–248].

Over-expression of various proteins has been documented among the TKI resistant CML cells, including (i) PFKFB3 [249], (ii) nuclear β -catenin, NF κ B-p65 and Akirin-2 protein [250], (iii) tumor progression locus Tpl2 (COT1 kinase, MAP3K8) along with
SFKs NFκB and MEK/ERK [251]. Other findings indicated the involvement of exosomes (30-120 nm vesicles) with the transfer of miR-365 from resistant to sensitive cells [252]. It is interesting to note that some of the signaling pathways involved in BCR-ABL dependent survival, overlaps with alternate signaling pathways independent of BCR-ABL, such as JAK/STAT and RAF/MEK/ERK, which could be 'overlapping' therapeutic targets.

Changes in Drug transporters and Plasma Protein Binding. The activity of transporters is associated with TKI resistance, as the availability of intracellular drug is crucial to achieve a clinical outcome. Membrane influx pumps such as human organic cation transporter 1 (hOCT1), a key transporter required for IM uptake and ATP-binding cassette (ABC) members that encode key efflux pumps play important roles [253]. However contrasting evidences can be seen with OCT1 content and IM response [254,255]. Similarly, the ABC efflux transporter P-glycoprotein (P-gp or MDR1 protein) can reduce intracellular IM levels when over-expressed, adversely affecting the therapeutic efficacy and is true with various other ABC transporters [256,257]. The importance of such transporters have also been shown in CD34⁺ CML patient cells [258–264].

<u>Clonal Evolution and Epigenetic Dysregulations</u>. Additional chromosomal abnormalities in Ph⁺ cells are often detected in 30% of patients in the AP and 80% of patients in the blast crisis. The frequently reported clonal abnormalities include an additional Ph+ chromosome, trisomy 8 and chromosome 17 abnormalities, all of which contribute to diminishing the effect of IM [265,266]. Detection of these in Ph- cells in CML patients during IM treatment has also been reported, although this is not limited to IM resistant patients as it could be detected in patients undergoing interferon- α or DA treatments [267]. Interestingly, changes in gene expression regulated by epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation, histone modification and non-coding RNAs can also contribute to drug resistance in CML. Hyper- and hypo-methylation of numerous genes including tumor suppressors affecting proliferation, differentiation, cell-cycle regulation, DNA-repair and apoptosis induction has been well documented [268,269]. In general, the number of methylated genes was higher for drug resistant and intolerant CML patients and CpG island in the promoter region was the most recognized mechanism of DNA methylation leading to gene suppression [270,271]. Histone modifications such as acetylation by histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and hypoacetylation by histone deacetylase (HDAC) leading to gene transcription and silencing respectively, can also contribute to drug resistance [272,273]. Non-coding RNAs were recently recognized as epigenetic regulators that can manage mRNA and protein levels via several mechanisms. The mRNA binding miRNAs can silence or activate gene expression and some of the dysregulated miRNAs identified in CML are summarized in Table 1.1.

microRNA	Dysregulation	Cells	Outcome	Target	Refs
miR-101	Downregulation	K 562 cells	Overexpression	Decreased	[274]
mix ioi	Downiegulation	10302 00115	inhibited proliferation	antiapoptotic (Bcl-2.	[27]
			and induced	Bcl-xL, Mcl-1.	
			apoptosis	XIAP, survivin),	
			1 1	proliferative genes	
				(c-Myc, CCND1)	
miR-124-	Downregulation	K562, KU812,	Inhibition of SOCS3,	Decreased expression	[275]
3р	-	patient	cell proliferation and	of B4GALT	
-		B MNCs	drug resistance		
miR-146a	Downregulation	K562/ADM	Overexpression re-	Increased expression	[276]
			sensitized cells to	of CXCR4	
			Adriamycin (ADM)		
miR-181c	Downregulation	K562/ADR,	Overexpression re-	Decreased expression	[277]
		CML/MDR	sensitized cells to	of ST8SIA4	
			ADM		
miR-199b	Downregulation	CML patients	IM resistance	Caused by deletion in	[278]
				9q34.1 region (ABL)	
miR-212	Downregulation	K562 cells	Inhibition improved	Upregulation of	[279]
			cell viability, reduce	ABCG2 efflux pump	
			apoptosis, decrease		
			cytotoxicity caused		
·D 415	D 1.0	1/5/0 11	by IM treatment	T 1 .	52001
miR-217	Downregulation	K562 cells	IM resistance	Increased expression	[280]
m:D 2142	Overenergian	V562/ADD	In an and a alamy	Decreased expression	[201]
IIIIK-3142	Overexpression	CML/MDP	formation Enhanced	of PTEN and	[201]
		CIVIL/IVIDK	resistance to ADP	activation of	
			resistance to ADK	PI3K/Akt nathway	
miR-451	Downregulation	CML patients	Inhibition leads to IM	Increased levels of	[282]
mix 451	Downiegulation	ente patients	resistance	MYC	[202]
miR-574-	Downregulation	K562 cells	Overexpression	Suppression of IL-	[283]
3p	6		inhibited	6/JAK/ STAT3	L J
•			proliferation, induced	pathway	
			apoptosis	1 2	
miR-9	Downregulation	K562/ADR,	Overexpression re-	Decreased expression	[284]
	-	CML/MDR	sensitized cells to	of ABCB1 efflux	
			multiple drugs also in	pump & P-gp	
			vivo.	proteins	

Table 1.1: Recently identified miRNAs that are dysregulated (down- or upregulated) in CML leading to drug resistance.^{a,b}

a Summary of the ability of miRNAs to alter other targets along with specific cell types used in the studies

b Abbreviations: ABC, ATP-binding cassette transporter; ADR/ADM, adriamycin resistant; B4GALT1, beta-1;4-Galactosyltransferase 1; DNMT3A, DNA methyltransferases 3 alpha; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; SOCS3, suppressor of cytokine signaling; ST8SIA4, sialyltransferase 8 (alpha-2; 8-polysialytransferase)

<u>Leukemic Stem Cells (LSC)</u>. CML stem cells are a rare population that have been established as inherently-resistant to TKIs and a key population for driving relapse and disease progression. Strong evidence indicates that LSCs possess multiple features expected to promote TKI resistance, including deregulated expression of *BCR-ABL*, a high degree of genetic instability and BCR-ABL-independent survival [233,260,285]. Independent groups have reported that *BCR-ABL* expression is highly elevated in the most primitive subset of lin⁻CD34⁺CD38⁻ CML stem cells and is then rapidly and progressively reduced as these cells differentiate [260,285,286]. Interestingly, the levels of BCR-ABL transcripts present in CML LSCs are much higher than those in quiescent cells, which seems not dependent on BCR-ABL kinase activity for survival and explains why all FDAapproved TKIs are ineffective against primitive quiescent CML cells [287–289]. The resistance of LSCs could also arise due to the increased expression of PRKCH thereby activating RAF/MEK/ERK signaling pathways. High BCR-ABL activity by phosphorylated-CrkL could be another reason for the observed resistance in this population. [248,285,290]. The presence of external factors such as autocrine production of cytokines and stromal-support microenvironment indeed enhance survival of CML LSCs irrespective of BCR-ABL inhibition by IM. It has been reported that AHI-1 (Abelson helper integration site-1), a scaffold oncoprotein, is highly deregulated in LSCs and interacts with multiple kinases and other proteins (BCR-ABL, JAK2, β -catenin, DNM2 and PP2A) to enhance leukemia-initiating activity and resistance to TKIs [291–293]. Combinations of TKIs with a JAK2 inhibitor or a PP2A inhibitor to disrupt the AHI-1mediated protein complex sensitize drug-insensitive LSCs to TKIs both in vitro and in preclinical xenotransplant models [293,294]. In addition, the high expression of human estrogen receptor alpha 36 (ER α 36), an alternative splicing variant of ER α 66, has been demonstrated in CD34⁺ CML cells and T315I mutant cells and is abnormally localized in plasma membrane and cytoplasm, which can be another factor in the observed TKI resistance [295].

Activation of various pathways like Wnt/ β -catenin, Hedgehog signaling, JAK/STAT, and expression of BCL-6 can support cell survival independent of BCR-ABL in CML stem cells [296–298] The innate as well as acquired mechanisms that make CML stem cells resistant to TKIs has thus prompted considerable interest in developing strategies to target these cells more effectively.

Bone Marrow Microenvironment. Cell-cell contact mediated by various receptors in bone marrow stroma along with cytokines, chemokines and growth factors secreted by stromal cells can contribute towards drug resistance [299]. Stromal Derived Factor-1 (SDF-1, or CXCL12) which acts through the CXCR4 receptor can modulate CML cell survival; the CXCR4 expression is altered with BCR-ABL activity, leading to defective adhesion of CML cells to bone marrow stroma. The IM treatment can induce CXCR4 and BCL-XL expression leading to migration/homing to bone marrow and protection from drug-induced cell death. Bone marrow samples collected from IM resistant patients displayed an increase in the protective FGF2 levels without any BCR-ABL mutation [300]. High levels of IL-7 in the bone marrow microenvironment, secreted by mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), was shown to provide protection against IM-induced apoptosis [301]. IL-1 β in high levels can help migration of cells towards the stroma [302]. The production of placental growth factor (PGF) by the stromal cells stimulates proliferation of *BCR-ABL* cells via Flt1 (VEGFR1) and help to overcome the effects of IM [303]. Studies with stromal conditioned media were shown to cause and/or enhance resistance towards IM in vitro, associated with an increase in the levels of STAT3 target genes BCL-xL, MCL-1 and Survivin [304]. Co-culture of CML cells with bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) can induce the expression of heme

oxygenase-1 (HO-1, heat shock protein 32) in the later and galectin-3 (GAL-3) in the former, providing anti-apoptotic protection, multidrug resistance, proliferation and bone marrow homing [305,306].

Integrins play a major role in cell adhesion mediated drug resistance. Various intracellular signaling pathways can be regulated via 24 different receptors that are formed by dimerization of 18 α and 8 β integrin subunits whose expression vary significantly from cell to cell [307]. The well-studied β_1 integrins VLA4 ($\alpha_4\beta_1$) and VLA-5 ($\alpha_5\beta_1$) expressed on CML cells can bind to VCAM-1 and fibronectin expressed on BMSC and extracellular matrix and could activate or downregulate multiple genes to confer drug resistance and act as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease (MRD) [299,304,308,309]. Activation of integrin-linked kinase (ILK) can lead to direct interaction with β integrins promoting survival via a myriad of signaling pathways such as AKT/PI3K, ERK1/2, STAT3 and Notch1/HES [310]. A subpopulation of CML cells exhibiting IM resistance with high adhesion ability and invasiveness were observed following continuous IM treatment; this was attributed to enhanced expression of $\alpha_V\beta_3$ integrin along with the activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK)/AKT and ERK1/2 pathways [311] (Fig 1.5).

The cytoplasmic domain of Ca⁺⁺-dependent adhesion molecule Cadherin can bind to intracellular β -catenin, which is linked to actin cytoskeleton, stabilizing cell-cell adhesion. Co-culture of CD34⁺ CML cells with MSC can activate WNT- β -catenin signaling and due to its association with N-cadherin, protects CML cells from TKIs [312]. The direct interaction between MSC and CML cells by CXCR4 receptor effectively protected the leukemic cells from IM-induced cell death and home CML cells bone marrow [313]. The overexpression of hyaluronan-receptor CD44, selectins and osteopontin also promotes homing and engraftment of CML cells in bone marrow which bear N-selectins on the endothelium [314].



Figure 1.5: Resistance mechanisms in the Bone marrow microenvironment. Overview of select soluble factors, cellular receptors and their mediators altering different pathways along with hypoxia in bone marrow microenvironment (BMM) that act as a protective niche and contribute to drug resistance. Abbreviations: stromal derived factor-1 (SDF-1), heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (STAT3), galectin-3 (GAL-3), placental growth factor (PGF), fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), fibroblast growth factor receptor-3 (FGFR3), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), integrin-linked kinase (ILK), hyaluronan (HA), integrins $\alpha_4\beta_1$, $\alpha_5\beta_1$, $\alpha_v\beta_3$ and hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α).

The inherently hypoxic bone marrow environment can prolong survival of CML cells during TKI treatment. The hypoxic environment leads to activation of hypoxiainducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α , a transcriptional factor), aiding in survival of CML cells despite a BCR-ABL reduction by IM treatment and evading IM-induced apoptosis. Gene profiling studies indicated up-regulation of various pro-survival genes, which were partially attenuated by IM treatment, however several genes still promoted survival CML cells in stromal environment [315]. These observations strongly support the role of bone marrow niche as a sanctuary for cells responsible for MRD as well as drug resistance (**Fig 1.5**).

Defects in Apoptosis (Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins -IAPs). IAPs proteins such as XIAP, survivin, MCL-1 can inhibit drug-induced apoptosis and its up-regulation in TKI resistant CML cell lines as well as primitive patient cells has been documented which can also be attributed to their ability to inhibit caspase activity [316,317].

<u>Autophagy and Mitochondrial Metabolisms</u>. Recent evidence on enhanced autophagy as a survival mechanism in IM treated CML cell lines and patient cells has identified key autophagy proteins such as autophagy related 5 (ATG5), ATG7 and ATG4B and their role in CML drug resistance [318,319]. Reports of increased dependence on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), as evident by high ROS levels and DNA damage in CML LSCs when compared to normal hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), could provide an additional specific treatment strategy to treat CML drug resistance [320,321].

1.6.2 Therapeutic approaches against resistance

CML patients who do not respond to IM treatment with 400 mg/day dose in CP and 600 mg/day for AP are considered as treatment failures. Increasing IM dose from 400

mg/day to 800 mg/day could be tolerated and therapeutically beneficial. Multiple studies have reported the therapeutic outcome of dose escalation among CML-CP patients experiencing suboptimal response or cytogenetic relapse (appearance of Ph⁺ metaphases), patients with mutations that exhibit low-level of resistance, and patience who experience resistance due to inadequate levels of IM in the plasma and BCR-ABL gene amplification. However, this approach appears to be ineffective for all other cases of IM resistance [265,322]. Inhibition of the drug efflux transporter P-gp helped to increase the intracellular concentration of IM which in turn addressed IM resistance. Reversin 205, a P-gp inhibitor, was able to decrease the IC₅₀ of IM significantly in IM resistant cell lines, thus resensitizing the cells to IM and this approach can also be implemented for treating LSC [323]. However, this approach might fail in T315I mutant cells where IM cannot bind to BCR-ABL irrespective of its intracellular concentration. Here, we summarize the treatment options that have been explored in clinical trials, *in vivo* and *in vitro*, which have the potential to address different BCR-ABL independent resistance mechanisms.

1.6.2.1 Targeting BCR-ABL independent resistance

Interferon-a (IFNa). IFNa is a cytokine that was the gold standard for treatment of CML before the TKIs and was able to improve the median survival time to five years. Several groups have reported the benefit of using IFNa combined with TKIs in drug resistant T315I patients. IFNa exhibits antiviral, anti-proliferative, and immunomodulatory activity along with its ability to induce cells differentiation. The PEGylated IFNa when administered with IM/DA was effective in T315I mutants and was also able to successfully eradicate this mutation in CML patients [324,325].

Targeting Signaling Pathways. Targeting the JAK pathway by ruxolitinib effectively inactivated STAT5 and, with NI, provided beneficial outcome in growth inhibition of CML stem and progenitor cells, which were resistant to TKIs previously [326]. Blocking JAK-2 pathway led to decreased levels of GM-CSF-induced STAT5 activation, thereby inhibiting proliferation of drug resistant cells [243]. A combinational treatment targeting STAT3, STAT5 and HO-1 was shown to overcome a range of resistances including CML stem cells, highly resistant *BCR-ABL* sub-clones and T315I-inclusive mutations. In this study, the STAT3 inhibitor CDDO-Me (bardoxolone methyl) in combination with TKIs showed synergistic effect on growth inhibition and apoptosis induction in drug resistant CML cells. The outcome was more effective when combined with ZnPP (zinc protoporphyrin IX) that inhibits HO-1, leading to increased apoptosis [327]. Another study targeting STAT3 with BP-5-087, a salicylic acid-based inhibitor, in combination with IM reduced the survival of BCR-ABL independent resistant CML cells [328].

Inhibition of mTOR (the mechanistic target of rapamycin) with RAD001 (everolimus) was shown to prevent IM-induced AKT activation and resistance development [245]. More recently, mTOR inhibition with NVP-BEZ235 in PO-resistant cell line, which exhibit BCR-ABL independent activation of mTOR, was shown to induce cell death. Moreover, inhibition of autophagy by hydroxychloroquine helped to sensitize these cells to mTOR inhibitor treatment *in vitro* and *in vivo* resulting in higher cell death [329].

A class-I PI3K inhibitor, GDC-0941 (pictilisib) was able to inhibit the growth and induce apoptosis in a dual TKI (IM and DA) resistant cell line by downregulating the transcription factor FOXO1. The BCR-ABL independent resistant cells were also sensitive to a combinational treatment of DA and GDC-0941 along with a significant inhibition of AKT substrates [246]. Another inhibitor, LY294002 in combination with IM or alone, was able to induce apoptosis and autophagy in *BCR-ABL* positive cells by causing endoplasmic reticulum stress, which could be further explored for IM-resistant cells [330]. Inhibition of phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 (PDK-1), which is key in AKT signaling, using OSU-03012 was able to re-sensitize resistant cells to IM due to lower AKT phosphorylation [331].

The simultaneous inhibition of RAF/MEK/ERK pathway by the MEK inhibitor trametinib (GSK1120212) and IM exhibited synergistic outcome in BCR-ABL independent, IM resistant CML patient cells [248]. Another study using the MEK inhibitor U0126 in combination with DA (SFK and BCR-ABL inhibition) significantly decreased the survival of IM resistant cells, whereas U0126/IM combination did not have any beneficial effect, highlighting the importance of targeting both MEK-ERK and SFK [251].

Targeting bone marrow microenvironment

The rise of drug resistance has made HSC transplantation (HSCT) an important option for CP patients with T315I mutation who fail to respond to two TKIs and for AP patients [332,333]. The growth of CML stem cells independent of BCR-ABL and their inherent resistance to TKIs has led to targeting numerous intracellular pathways critical in bone marrow milieu. The MEK inhibitor, trametinib targeting the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway was successful in inducting apoptosis in both murine and human stem cells with minimal effect on normal HSCs [248]. Targeting the up-regulated ER α 36 in TKI-resistant CD34⁺ CML stem cells and T315I mutant cell line by the flavonoid Icaritin (SNG162)

impeded cellular growth and induced apoptosis. The outcomes were synergistically improved with TKIs, and a detailed mechanistic study revealed the disruption of BCR-ABL/Tyr177/GRB2 complex interactions along with RAS/MAPK pathway inhibition as this is activated by the binding of GRB2 at the SH2 domain, initiated by the phosphorylation of Tyr177 by ABL [295]. The β -catenin signaling in CML stem cells can be counteracted by (i) antibodies blocking the interaction of CD70 and CD27, (ii) PADs (Protein Phosphatase 2A-Activating Drugs) such as FTY720 leading to activation of PP2A and degradation of β -catenin, and (iii) 15-lipoxygenase inhibitors (15-LOi) that can downregulate β -catenin. In addition, a combinational treatment of NI and 15-LOi was synergistic in TKI resistant CML stem cells. The smoothened (SMOs) inhibitors LDE225 (Sonidegib) and GDC-0449 were able to inhibit the Hedgehog signaling in CD34⁺ CML-CP and T315I mutant BCR-ABL cells respectively in combination with TKIs, without affecting the normal HSCs [296]. The STAT3 SH2 domain binding inhibitor BP-5-087 was also able to restore the TKI sensitivity without any toxicity on normal HSCs [328]. The BCL6 inactivator peptide RI-BPI effectively targeted the primary CD34⁺ as well as the more primitive CD34⁺CD38⁻ CML population. It was unable to cause any significant change in the viability of cells on its own, but its combination with IM improved the activity [297].

The CXCR4 antagonist plerixafor (AMD3100) in combination with NI provided substantial improvement in the survival of mice. More importantly, plerixafor was effective in reducing the NI resistance in CML cells induced by bone marrow stromal cells which could be a promising to eliminate MRD [334]. The interruption of CXCR4/SDF-1 interaction by plerixafor can also downregulate the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-XL in resistant cells [313]. The protection exerted by FGF-2 from bone marrow microenvironment was successfully neutralized by PO, which was also able to decrease the FGF-2 concentration high in resistant patients [300]. Increased expression and signaling mediated by IL-1R in CML stem cells was successfully treated using IL-1R antagonist in combination with NI, resulting in decreased cell growth, cell division and colony formation. The same approach can be extended to other 'protective' interleukins (e.g., IL-1\beta and IL-7) at bone microenvironment [302,335].

The anti-PIGF monoclonal antibody 5D11D4 helped to extend the survival of CML mice that were resistant to IM treatment [303]. A monoflavonoid oroxylin A (isolated from the root of *Scutellaria baicalensis Georgi*) effectively re-sensitized the IM-resistance exerted by the presence of stromal derived factors. Oroxylin A was able to inhibit the STAT3 pathway, thereby improving the IM sensitivity *in vitro* and *in vivo* [304]. The anti-apoptotic protection against IM treatment by HO-1 expression can be counteracted by HO-1 inhibitors metalloporphyrins like zinc (ZnPPIX), tin (SnPPIX) and chromium protoporphyrin (CrPPIX) [336]. Similarly, the expression of GAL-3 can be encountered by GCS-100, a GAL-3 antagonist and can be used in combination with other TKIs [306].

The binding of CML cells to bone marrow niche via specific surface receptors can be abrogated using blocking antibodies such as Ha2/5 targeting integrin- β 1, RG7356 targeting CD44, various antibodies targeting $\alpha_V\beta_3$, GC-4 targeting N-cadherin, bicyclams, such as plerixafor targeting CXCR4, RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) peptides blocking integrins and RNAi targeting specific receptors that has been successfully used in acute myeloid leukemia, example: siRNA/polymer targeting CXCR4 [299,308,337]. As the binding of leukemic cells to the BM niche through integrin- β 1 can cause IM resistance, activating various survival proteins like MCL-1 BCL-xL and survivin preventing apoptosis, integrinβ1 is explored as a potential therapeutic target to address BCR-ABL independent resistance in CML particularly with the BM mediated mechanism.

1.7 RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS

The potential of siRNA therapy for treatment of various disease conditions including solid tumors and leukemias by PEI-based delivery system is encouraging due to the possibility of target specific downregulation of the cancerous gene. Breast cancer and CML have been chosen as model systems representing adherent and non-adherent cancers to explore the therapeutic potential of PEI delivery systems.

1.7.1 Rationale

The major hurdle in the treatment of breast cancer is their metastatic ability, after which the survival of the cancer patients is very minimal warranting the urgent need to limit the spread. Cell adhesion molecules have found to be critical regulators aiding in the migration and attachment at distant organs resulting in secondary tumor formation. Especially, the overexpression of integrin- β 1 in various cancer including breast cancer has found to be crucial in the process of metastasis making it a valuable therapeutic target. Therefore, targeting these overexpressed integrin- β 1 cell adhesion molecule in the highly metastatic TNBC will help to reduce their migration and attachment, thereby decreasing the metastatic ability. In addition to molecules at the cell surface, various intracellular proteins are also upregulated which not only helps in the survival and drug-resistance, but also aid in the metastatic process. In that regard, heat shock proteins are known to chaperone various essential proteins for cancer progression. Particularly, the overexpression of HSP90B1 in the more aggressive and invasive breast cancer, in patients who underwent chemotherapy and experiencing cancer recurrence has been documented making HSP90B1 a valuable target. Hence, targeting these highly expressed HSP90B1 which also play a major role in brain metastasis will help to decrease the viability of cancer cells as well as result in migration inhibition.

Like breast cancer, the expression of integrin- β 1 in CML has been found to be critical helping in the BCR-ABL independent resistance to TKI therapy as the attachment of leukemic cells to bone marrow environment activates various signaling pathways that operate independent of BCR-ABL. Though TKI inhibitors are the first-line of treatment for CML targeting the BCR-ABL whose expression is a hallmark trait of CML, some percentage of CML patients experience resistance and requires specialized treatment options. Hence integrin- β 1 targeting using siRNA-based PEI delivery system can provide the needed benefit to overcome resistance.

Finally, the modification of PEI, especially the LMW polymers which has shown to improve its delivery efficacy, can alter their various physicochemical properties like the surface charge, size, intracellular localization, the binding, and dissociation ability of the of the complexes. These changes are dependent on the type of lipid modification, degree of lipid substitution, concentration of PEI, amount of therapeutic nucleic acid and the ratio of PEI to nucleic acid used for treatment. Moreover, the inclusion of negatively charged polymers like HA and PAA as additives have been shown to further improve the delivery efficiency. In this process of nanoparticle engineering, there is a lack of information on the overall safety of these lipid-modified LMW PEI used for gene delivery. Especially the need to remain less toxic during its interaction with the blood components and to not exhibit any immune response is of paramount importance.

1.7.2 Hypothesis

- Targeting of the highly expressed integrin-β1 cell adhesion molecule in the TNBC model cell line MDA-MB-231 using target specific siRNA delivered by lipid modified PEI systems will contribute towards a decrease in migration and binding ability.
- Reducing the levels of the overexpressed endoplasmic reticulum HSP90B1 in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line by PEI/siRNA delivery system will result in decreased cell viability and migration inhibition.
- 3) Decreasing the integrin-β1 levels in the CML model cell line K562 will allow the detachment of the cancer cells from human bone marrow stroma, decrease the binding ability, and inhibit the proliferation of the cells.
- 4) Employing LMW-PEI with different lipid substituents and varying levels of substitutions in evaluating their hemolytic ability, toxicity and cytokine stimulating ability in T-lymphocytes will help to understand the *in vitro* safety of these nonviral delivery systems.

1.8 REFERENCES

- [1] Cooper GM, The Development and Causes of Cancer, in: Cell A Mol. Approach. 2nd Ed., Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates, 2000.
- [2] Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Statistics; 2019, (n.d.).
- [3] M. Arruebo, N. Vilaboa, B. Sáez-Gutierrez, J. Lambea, A. Tres, M. Valladares, A. González-Fernández, Assessment of the evolution of cancer treatment therapies, Cancers (Basel). 3 (2011) 3279–3330. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3033279.
- [4] A. Fire, S. Xu, M.K. Montgomery, S.A. Kostas, S.E. Driver, C.C. Mello, Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans, Nature. 391 (1998) 806–811. https://doi.org/10.1038/35888.
- [5] S.M. Elbashir, J. Harborth, W. Lendeckel, A. Yalcin, K. Weber, T. Tuschl, Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells, Nature. 411 (2001) 494–498. https://doi.org/10.1038/35078107.
- [6] X. Chen, L.S. Mangala, C. Rodriguez-Aguayo, X. Kong, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, RNA interference-based therapy and its delivery systems, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 37 (2018) 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-017-9717-6.
- [7] D.H. Kim, J.J. Rossi, Strategies for silencing human disease using RNA interference., Nat. Rev. Genet. 8 (2007) 173–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2006.
- [8] J.M. Walker, W. Min, RNA Interference, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-588-0.
- [9] G.L. Huang, J. Sun, Y. Lu, Y. Liu, H. Cao, H. Zhang, G.A. Calin, MiR-200 family and cancer: From a meta-analysis view, Mol. Aspects Med. 70 (2019) 57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2019.09.005.
- [10] Y. Peng, C.M. Croce, The role of microRNAs in human cancer, Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 1 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2015.4.
- [11] J.S. Vorhies, D.D. Rao, N. Senzer, J. Nemunaitis, siRNA Versus shRNA for Personalized Cancer Therapy: Mechanisms and Applications., Springer New York, New York, NY, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6102-0.
- [12] Z. Peng, C. Wang, E. Fang, X. Lu, G. Wang, Q. Tong, Co-delivery of doxorubicin and SATB1 shRNA by Thermosensitive Magnetic Cationic Liposomes for Gastric Cancer Therapy, PLoS One. 9 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092924.
- [13] Q. Hu, W. Li, X. Hu, Q. Hu, J. Shen, X. Jin, J. Zhou, G. Tang, P.K. Chu, Synergistic

treatment of ovarian cancer by co-delivery of survivin shRNA and paclitaxel via supramolecular micellar assembly, Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 6580–6591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.05.060.

- [14] E. Kim, Y. Jung, H. Choi, J. Yang, J.S. Suh, Y.M. Huh, K. Kim, S. Haam, Prostate cancer cell death produced by the co-delivery of Bcl-xL shRNA and doxorubicin using an aptamer-conjugated polyplex, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 4592–4599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.02.030.
- [15] W.M. Pardridge, shRNA and siRNA delivery to the brain, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 59 (2007) 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.03.008.
- [16] H. Bai, G.M.S. Lester, L.C. Petishnok, D.A. Dean, Cytoplasmic transport and nuclear import of plasmid DNA, Biosci. Rep. 37 (2017) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20160616.
- [17] D. Grimm, K.L. Streetz, C.L. Jopling, T.A. Storm, K. Pandey, C.R. Davis, P. Marion, F. Salazar, M.A. Kay, Fatality in mice due to oversaturation of cellular microRNA/short hairpin RNA pathways, Nature. 441 (2006) 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04791.
- [18] A.L. Jackson, J. Burchard, J. Schelter, B.N. Chau, M. Cleary, L. Lim, P.S. Linsley, Widespread siRNA "off-target" transcript silencing mediated by seed region sequence complementarity, Rna. 12 (2006) 1179–1187. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.25706.
- [19] D. Adams, A. Gonzalez-Duarte, W.D. O'Riordan, C.-C. Yang, M. Ueda, A. V. Kristen, I. Tournev, H.H. Schmidt, T. Coelho, J.L. Berk, K.-P. Lin, G. Vita, S. Attarian, V. Planté-Bordeneuve, M.M. Mezei, J.M. Campistol, J. Buades, T.H. Brannagan, B.J. Kim, J. Oh, Y. Parman, Y. Sekijima, P.N. Hawkins, S.D. Solomon, M. Polydefkis, P.J. Dyck, P.J. Gandhi, S. Goyal, J. Chen, A.L. Strahs, S. V. Nochur, M.T. Sweetser, P.P. Garg, A.K. Vaishnaw, J.A. Gollob, O.B. Suhr, Patisiran, an RNAi Therapeutic, for Hereditary Transthyretin Amyloidosis, N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (2018) 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1716153.
- [20] J.M. Benitez-Del-Castillo, J. Moreno-Montañés, I. Jiménez-Alfaro, F.J. Muñoz-Negrete, K. Turman, K. Palumaa, B. Sádaba, M.V. González, V. Ruz, B. Vargas, C. Pañeda, T. Martínez, A.M. Bleau, A.I. Jimenez, Safety and efficacy clinical trials for SYL1001, a novel short interfering RNA for the treatment of dry eye disease, Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 57 (2016) 6447–6454. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.16-20303.
- [21] K.K. Ray, U. Landmesser, L.A. Leiter, D. Kallend, R. Dufour, M. Karakas, T. Hall, R.P.T. Troquay, T. Turner, F.L.J. Visseren, P. Wijngaard, R.S. Wright, J.J.P.

Kastelein, Inclisiran in Patients at High Cardiovascular Risk with Elevated LDL Cholesterol, N. Engl. J. Med. 376 (2017) 1430–1440. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1615758.

- [22] A. Liebow, X. Li, T. Racie, J. Hettinger, B.R. Bettencourt, N. Najafian, P. Haslett, K. Fitzgerald, R.P. Holmes, D. Erbe, W. Querbes, J. Knight, An investigational RNAi therapeutic targeting glycolate oxidase reduces oxalate production in models of primary hyperoxaluria, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28 (2017) 494–503. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2016030338.
- [23] B. Schultheis, D. Strumberg, A. Santel, C. Vank, F. Gebhardt, O. Keil, C. Lange, K. Giese, J. Kaufmann, M. Khan, J. Drevs, First-in-human phase I study of the liposomal RNA interference therapeutic Atu027 in patients with advanced solid tumors, J. Clin. Oncol. 32 (2014) 4141–4148. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.55.0376.
- [24] B. Schultheis, D. Strumberg, J. Kuhlmann, M. Wolf, K. Link, T. Seufferlein, J. Kaufmann, F. Gebhardt, N. Bruyniks, U. Pelzer, A phase Ib/IIa study of combination therapy with gemcitabine and Atu027 in patients with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma., J. Clin. Oncol. 34 (2016) 385–385. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4 suppl.385.
- [25] T. Golan, E.Z. Khvalevsky, A. Hubert, R.M. Gabai, N. Hen, A. Segal, A. Domb, G. Harari, E. Ben David, S. Raskin, Y. Goldes, E. Goldin, R. Eliakim, M. Lahav, Y. Kopleman, A. Dancour, A. Shemi, E. Galun, RNAi therapy targeting KRAS in combination with chemotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer patients, Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 24560–24570. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4183.
- [26] M.J. Wagner, R. Mitra, M.J. Mcarthur, W. Baze, K. Barnhart, S.Y. Wu, C. Rodriguez-Aguayo, X. Zhang, R.L. Coleman, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, Preclinical mammalian safety studies of EPHARNA (DOPC Nanoliposomal EphA2-Targeted siRNA), Mol. Cancer Ther. 16 (2017) 1114–1123. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0541.
- [27] P. Triozzi, M. Kooshki, A. Alistar, R. Bitting, A. Neal, G. Lametschwandtner, H. Loibner, Phase I clinical trial of adoptive cellular immunotherapy with APN401 in patients with solid tumors, J. Immunother. Cancer. 3 (2015) P175. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-1426-3-s2-p175.
- [28] M.J. Demeure, T. Armaghany, S. Ejadi, R.K. Ramanathan, A. Elfiky, J.R. Strosberg, D.C. Smith, T. Whitsett, W.S. Liang, S. Sekar, J.D. Carpten, P. Fredlund, D. Niforos, A. Dye, S. Gahir, S.C. Semple, M.M. Kowalski, A phase I/II study of TKM-080301, a PLK1-targeted RNAi in patients with adrenocortical cancer (ACC)., J. Clin. Oncol. 34 (2016) 2547. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.2547.

- [29] A.M. Varghese, C. Ang, C.J. Dimaio, M.M. Javle, M. Gutierrez, N. Yarom, S.M. Stemmer, T. Golan, R. Geva, V. Semenisty, I. Khamaysi, R. Ligresti, S. Rotkopf, R. Gabai-Malka, E. Galun, A. Shemi, M. Schattner, E.M. O'Reilly, A phase II study of siG12D-LODER in combination with chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer (PROTACT)., J. Clin. Oncol. 38 (2020) TPS4672–TPS4672. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15 suppl.TPS4672.
- [30] B. Thapa, R. Kc, M. Bahniuk, J. Schmitke, M. Hitt, A. Lavasanifar, O. Kutsch, D.W. Seol, H. Uludag, Breathing New Life into TRAIL for Breast Cancer Therapy: Co-Delivery of pTRAIL and Complementary siRNAs Using Lipopolymers, Hum. Gene Ther. 30 (2019) 1531–1546. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2019.096.
- [31] A. Babu, Q. Wang, R. Muralidharan, M. Shanker, A. Munshi, R. Ramesh, Chitosan coated polylactic acid nanoparticle-mediated combinatorial delivery of cisplatin and siRNA/Plasmid DNA chemosensitizes cisplatin-resistant human ovarian cancer cells, Mol. Pharm. 11 (2014) 2720–2733. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp500259e.
- [32] Y. Huang, Q. Cheng, J.L. Ji, S. Zheng, L. Du, L. Meng, Y. Wu, D. Zhao, X. Wang, L. Lai, H. Cao, K. Xiao, S. Gao, Z. Liang, Pharmacokinetic behaviors of intravenously administered siRNA in glandular tissues, Theranostics. 6 (2016) 1528–1541. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.15246.
- [33] Y. Huang, J. Hong, S. Zheng, Y. Ding, S. Guo, H. Zhang, X. Zhang, Q. Du, Z. Liang, Elimination pathways of systemically delivered siRNA, Mol. Ther. 19 (2011) 381– 385. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.266.
- [34] D. Vocelle, C. Chan, S.P. Walton, Endocytosis Controls siRNA Efficiency: Implications for siRNA Delivery Vehicle Design and Cell-Specific Targeting, Nucleic Acid Ther. 30 (2020) 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1089/nat.2019.0804.
- [35] D.W. Bartlett, M.E. Davis, Effect of siRNA nuclease stability on the in vitro and in vivo kinetics of siRNA-mediated gene silencing., Biotechnol. Bioeng. 97 (2007) 909–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21285.
- [36] B. Mansoori, A. Mohammadi, S. Shir Jang, B. Baradaran, Mechanisms of immune system activation in mammalians by small interfering RNA (siRNA), Artif. Cells, Nanomedicine Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 1589–1596. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2015.1102738.
- [37] E. Huntzinger, E. Izaurralde, Gene silencing by microRNAs: Contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay, Nat. Rev. Genet. 12 (2011) 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2936.
- [38] J.E. Zuckerman, M.E. Davis, Clinical experiences with systemically therapeutics in cancer, Nat. Publ. Gr. 14 (2015) 843–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4685.

- [39] A.L. Jackson, P.S. Linsley, Recognizing and avoiding siRNA off-target effects for target identification and therapeutic application., Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9 (2010) 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3010.
- [40] D. Kim, M.A. Behlke, S.D. Rose, M. Chang, S. Choi, J.J. Rossi, Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy., Nat. Biotechnol. 23 (2005) 222–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1051.
- [41] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8 1.
- [42] M.A.G. Raja, H. Katas, M.W. Amjad, Design, mechanism, delivery and therapeutics of canonical and Dicer-substrate siRNA., Asian J. Pharm. Sci. 14 (2019) 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2018.12.005.
- [43] R. Bholakant, H. Qian, J. Zhang, X. Huang, D. Huang, J. Feijen, Y. Zhong, W. Chen, Recent Advances of Polycationic siRNA Vectors for Cancer Therapy, Biomacromolecules. 21 (2020) 2966–2982. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.0c00438.
- [44] O. Boussif, F. Lezoualc'h, M.A. Zanta, M.D. Mergny, D. Scherman, B. Demeneix, J.P. Behr, A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7297–301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.16.7297.
- [45] A. Zakeri, M.A.J. Kouhbanani, N. Beheshtkhoo, V. Beigi, S.M. Mousavi, S.A.R. Hashemi, A. Karimi Zade, A.M. Amani, A. Savardashtaki, E. Mirzaei, S. Jahandideh, A. Movahedpour, Polyethylenimine-based nanocarriers in co-delivery of drug and gene: a developing horizon, Nano Rev. Exp. 9 (2018) 1488497. https://doi.org/10.1080/20022727.2018.1488497.
- [46] N.D. Sonawane, F.C. Szoka, A.S. Verkman, Chloride Accumulation and Swelling in Endosomes Enhances DNA Transfer by Polyamine-DNA Polyplexes, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 44826–44831. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M308643200.
- [47] M. Günther, J. Lipka, A. Malek, D. Gutsch, W. Kreyling, A. Aigner, Polyethylenimines for RNAi-mediated gene targeting in vivo and siRNA delivery to the lung, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77 (2011) 438–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.11.007.
- [48] P. Zhang, N. Xu, L. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Wang, K. Li, Z. Zeng, X. Wang, X. Zhang, C. Bai, A linear polyethylenimine mediated siRNA-based therapy targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor in SPC-A1 xenograft mice., Transl. Respir. Med. 1 (2013) 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2213-0802-1-2.

- [49] T. Bieber, H.P. Elsässer, Preparation of a low molecular weight polyethylenimine for efficient cell transfection, Biotechniques. 30 (2001) 74–81. https://doi.org/10.2144/01301st03.
- [50] M. Rezaee, L. Gholami, M.S. Gildeh, M. Ramezani, R. Kazemi Oskuee, Charge reduction: an efficient strategy to reduce toxicity and increase the transfection efficiency of high molecular weight polyethylenimine, J. Pharm. Investig. 49 (2019) 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-018-0388-2.
- [51] K. Kunath, A. Von Harpe, D. Fischer, H. Petersen, U. Bickel, K. Voigt, T. Kissel, Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery: Comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine, J. Control. Release. 89 (2003) 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00076-2.
- [52] D. Meneksedag-Erol, R.B. Kc, T. Tang, H. Uludag, A Delicate Balance When Substituting a Small Hydrophobe onto Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine to Improve Its Nucleic Acid Delivery Efficiency, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 7 (2015) 24822–24832. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b07929.
- [53] B. Thapa, S. Plianwong, K. Remant Bahadur, B. Rutherford, H. Uludai, Small hydrophobe substitution on polyethylenimine for plasmid DNA delivery: Optimal substitution is critical for effective delivery, Acta Biomater. 33 (2016) 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.025.
- [54] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, P. Mahdipoor, C.Y.M. Hsu, H. Uludağ, Effective downregulation of Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP) by siRNA delivery using lipid-substituted aliphatic polymers, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 81 (2012) 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.01.011.
- [55] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludağ, Impact of Lipid Substitution on Assembly and Delivery of siRNA by Cationic Polymers, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 662–672. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201000402.
- [56] H.M. Aliabadi, K.C.R. Bahadur, E. Bousoik, R. Hall, A. Barbarino, B. Thapa, M. Coyle, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, A systematic comparison of lipopolymers for siRNA delivery to multiple breast cancer cell lines: In vitro studies, Acta Biomater. 102 (2020) 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.036.
- [57] A. Falamarzian, H.M. Aliabadi, O. Molavi, J.M. Seubert, A. Lavasanifar, R. Lai, H. Uluda, Effective down-regulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) by polyplexes of siRNA and lipid-substituted polyethyleneimine for sensitization of breast tumor cells to conventional chemotherapy, 3 (2013) 3216–

3228. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34992.

- [58] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [59] J. Valencia-Serna, H. Gul-Uludag, P. Mahdipoor, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, Investigating siRNA delivery to chronic myeloid leukemia K562 cells with lipophilic polymers for therapeutic BCR-ABL down-regulation, J. Control. Release. 172 (2013) 495– 503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.05.014.
- [60] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [61] S. Plianwong, B. Thapa, R.B. Kc, C. Kucharski, T. Rojanarata, H. Uludağ, Enabling Combinatorial siRNA Delivery against Apoptosis-Related Proteins with Linoleic Acid and α-Linoleic Acid Substituted Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimines, Pharm. Res. 37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-2770-9.
- [62] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [63] H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, Polymeric delivery of siRNA for dual silencing of Mcl-1 and P-glycoprotein and apoptosis induction in drug-resistant breast cancer cells., Cancer Gene Ther. 20 (2013) 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2013.8.
- [64] M.B. Parmar, B.E. Arteaga Ballesteros, T. Fu, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Multiple siRNA delivery against cell cycle and anti-apoptosis proteins using lipid-substituted polyethylenimine in triplenegative breast cancer and nonmalignant cells, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A. 104 (2016) 3031–3044. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35846.
- [65] H. Gul-Uludağ, J. Valencia-Serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-Curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, H. Uludağ, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34+ acute myeloid leukemia cells., Leuk. Res. 38 (2014) 1299–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [66] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.

- [67] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [68] R. Cheng, F. Feng, F. Meng, C. Deng, J. Feijen, Z. Zhong, Glutathione-responsive nano-vehicles as a promising platform for targeted intracellular drug and gene delivery, J. Control. Release. 152 (2011) 2–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.01.030.
- [69] K. Park, S.W. Hong, W. Hur, M.Y. Lee, J.A. Yang, S.W. Kim, S.K. Yoon, S.K. Hahn, Target specific systemic delivery of TGF-β siRNA/(PEI-SS)-g-HA complex for the treatment of liver cirrhosis, Biomaterials. 32 (2011) 4951–4958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.03.044.
- [70] L. Zhang, Z. Chen, Y. Li, Dual-degradable disulfide-containing PEI-Pluronic/DNA polyplexes: Transfection efficiency and balancing protection and DNA release, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 8 (2013) 3689–3701. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S49595.
- [71] F.M. Veronese, A. Mero, The impact of PEGylation on biological therapies., BioDrugs. 22 (2008) 315–29. https://doi.org/10.2165/00063030-200822050-00004.
- [72] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [73] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [74] G. Calixto, A.C. Yoshii, H. Rocha E Silva, B. Stringhetti Ferreira Cury, M. Chorilli, Polyacrylic acid polymers hydrogels intended to topical drug delivery: Preparation and characterization, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 20 (2015) 490–496. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2014.882941.
- [75] J.H. Ke, T.H. Young, Multilayered polyplexes with the endosomal buffering polycation in the core and the cell uptake-favorable polycation in the outer layer for enhanced gene delivery, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 9366–9372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.066.

- [76] W.C. Tseng, T.Y. Fang, L.Y. Su, C.H. Tang, Dependence of transgene expression and the relative buffering capacity of dextran-grafted polyethylenimine, Mol. Pharm. 2 (2005) 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp050007t.
- [77] D. Jiang, A.K. Salem, Optimized dextran-polyethylenimine conjugates are efficient non-viral vectors with reduced cytotoxicity when used in serum containing environments., Int. J. Pharm. 427 (2012) 71–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.10.032.
- [78] W.C. Tseng, C.H. Tang, T.Y. Fang, The role of dextran conjugation in transfection mediated by dextran-grafted polyethylenimine, J. Gene Med. 6 (2004) 895–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.572.
- [79] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Size matters: Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly(ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45 (1999) 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::AID-JBM15>3.0.CO;2-Q.
- [80] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Poly(ethylenimine)-mediated gene delivery affects endothelial cell function and viability, Biomaterials. 22 (2001) 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(00)00203-9.
- [81] H. Lv, S. Zhang, B. Wang, S. Cui, J. Yan, Toxicity of cationic lipids and cationic polymers in gene delivery, J. Control. Release. 114 (2006) 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.04.014.
- [82] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [83] R. Kazemi Oskuee, M. Dabbaghi, L. Gholami, S. Taheri-Bojd, M. Balali-Mood, S.H. Mousavi, B. Malaekeh-Nikouei, Investigating the influence of polyplex size on toxicity properties of polyethylenimine mediated gene delivery, Life Sci. 197 (2018) 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.02.008.
- [84] E. Fröhlich, The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 7 (2012) 5577–5591. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S36111.
- [85] D.M. Domański, B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, Influence of PAMAM dendrimers on human red blood cells, in: Bioelectrochemistry, 2004: pp. 189–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2003.09.023.
- [86] P.W. Buehler, F. D'Agnillo, Toxicological consequences of extracellular hemoglobin: Biochemical and physiological perspectives, Antioxidants Redox

Signal. 12 (2010) 275–291. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2799.

- [87] A.J. Schroit, J.W. Madsen, Y. Tanaka, In vivo recognition and clearance of red blood cells containing phosphatidylserine in their plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 5131–5138.
- [88] B.C. Evans, C.E. Nelson, S.S. Yu, K.R. Beavers, A.J. Kim, H. Li, H.M. Nelson, T.D. Giorgio, C.L. Duvall, Ex vivo red blood cell hemolysis assay for the evaluation of pH-responsive endosomolytic agents for cytosolic delivery of biomacromolecular drugs., J. Vis. Exp. (2013) 7–11. https://doi.org/10.3791/50166.
- [89] T. Ramasamy, Z.S. Haidar, T.H. Tran, J.Y. Choi, J.H. Jeong, B.S. Shin, H.G. Choi, C.S. Yong, J.O. Kim, Layer-by-layer assembly of liposomal nanoparticles with PEGylated polyelectrolytes enhances systemic delivery of multiple anticancer drugs, Acta Biomater. 10 (2014) 5116–5127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.08.021.
- [90] R. Wadhwa, T. Aggarwal, N. Thapliyal, A. Kumar, Priya, P. Yadav, V. Kumari, B.S.C. Reddy, P. Chandra, P.K. Maurya, Red blood cells as an efficient in vitro model for evaluating the efficacy of metallic nanoparticles., 3 Biotech. 9 (2019) 279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-019-1807-4.
- [91] D.S. Shah, T. Sakthivel, I. Toth, A.T. Florence, A.F. Wilderspin, DNA transfection and transfected cell viability using amphipathic asymmetric dendrimers, Int. J. Pharm. 208 (2000) 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(00)00534-2.
- [92] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.
- [93] W. Ai, H. Li, N. Song, L. Li, H. Chen, Optimal method to stimulate cytokine production and its use in immunotoxicity assessment, Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 10 (2013) 3834–3842. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10093834.
- [94] J.R. Tisoncik, M.J. Korth, C.P. Simmons, J. Farrar, T.R. Martin, M.G. Katze, Into the Eye of the Cytokine Storm, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76 (2012) 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.05015-11.
- [95] J. Garcia Borrega, P. Gödel, M.A. Rüger, Ö.A. Onur, A. Shimabukuro-Vornhagen, M. Kochanek, B. Böll, In the eye of the storm: Immune-mediated toxicities associated with car-t cell therapy, HemaSphere. 3 (2019) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1097/HS9.000000000000191.
- [96] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and

Research, Guidance for industry: Immunogenicity assessment for therapeutic protein products, FDA Maryl. (2014).

- [97] M.E. Bonnet, P. Erbacher, A.L. Bolcato-Bellemin, Systemic delivery of DNA or siRNA mediated by linear polyethylenimine (L-PEI) does not induce an inflammatory response, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 2972–2982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9693-1.
- [98] M. Grzelinski, B. Urban-Klein, T. Martens, K. Lamszus, U. Bakowsky, S. Höbel, F. Czubayko, A. Aigner, RNA interference-mediated gene silencing of pleiotrophin through polyethylenimine-complexed small interfering RNAs in vivo exerts antitumoral effects in glioblastoma xenografts, Hum. Gene Ther. 17 (2006) 751–766. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2006.17.751.
- [99] S. Kawakami, Y. Ito, P. Charoensit, F. Yamashita, M. Hashida, Evaluation of proinflammatory cytokine production induced by linear and branched polyethylenimine/plasmid DNA complexes in mice, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 317 (2006) 1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.100669.
- [100] A. Gautam, C.L. Densmore, J.C. Waldrep, Pulmonary cytokine responses associated with PEI-DNA aerosol gene therapy, Gene Ther. 8 (2001) 254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301369.
- [101] R.E. Rossi, I. Parisi, E.J. Despott, A.K. Burroughs, J. O'Beirne, D. Conte, M.I. Hamilton, C.D. Murray, Anti-tumour necrosis factor agent and liver injury: Literature review, recommendations for management, World J. Gastroenterol. 20 (2014) 17352–17359. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i46.17352.
- [102] S. Zhao, J. Jiang, Y. Jing, W. Liu, X. Yang, X. Hou, L. Gao, L. Wei, The concentration of tumor necrosis factor-α determines its protective or damaging effect on liver injury by regulating Yap activity, Cell Death Dis. 11 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2264-z.
- [103] M.J. Page, J. Bester, E. Pretorius, The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 1812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20220-8.
- [104] A. Ferrajoli, M.J. Keating, T. Manshouri, F.J. Giles, A. Dey, Z. Estrov, C.A. Koller, R. Kurzrock, D.A. Thomas, S. Faderl, S. Lerner, S. O'Brien, M. Albitar, The clinical significance of tumor necrosis factor-α plasma level in patients having chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Blood. 100 (2002) 1215–1219. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v100.4.1215.h81602001215_1215_1219.
- [105] P.W. Szlosarek, M.J. Grimshaw, H. Kulbe, J.L. Wilson, G.D. Wilbanks, F. Burke, F.R. Balkwill, Expression and regulation of tumor necrosis factor α in normal and

malignant ovarian epithelium, Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0303.

- [106] V. Michalaki, K. Syrigos, P. Charles, J. Waxman, Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-α correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer, Br. J. Cancer. 90 (2004) 2312–2316. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601814.
- [107] S. Yuan, P. Carter, M. Bruzelius, M. Vithayathil, S. Kar, A.M. Mason, A. Lin, S. Burgess, S.C. Larsson, Effects of tumour necrosis factor on cardiovascular disease and cancer: A two-sample Mendelian randomization study, EBioMedicine. 59 (2020) 102956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102956.
- [108] A.W. Li, M.C. Sobral, S. Badrinath, Y. Choi, A. Graveline, A.G. Stafford, J.C. Weaver, M.O. Dellacherie, T.-Y. Shih, O.A. Ali, J. Kim, K.W. Wucherpfennig, D.J. Mooney, A facile approach to enhance antigen response for personalized cancer vaccination, Nat. Mater. 17 (2018) 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-018-0028-2.
- [109] A. Alshamsan, S. Hamdy, J. Samuel, A.O.S. El-Kadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, The induction of tumor apoptosis in B16 melanoma following STAT3 siRNA delivery with a lipid-substituted polyethylenimine, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 1420– 1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.11.003.
- [110] E. Beurel, R.S. Jope, Lipopolysaccharide-induced interleukin-6 production is controlled by glycogen synthase kinase-3 and STAT3 in the brain, J. Neuroinflammation. 6 (2009) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-9.
- [111] N.L. Sparkman, J.B. Buchanan, J.R.R. Heyen, J. Chen, J.L. Beverly, R.W. Johnson, Interleukin-6 facilitates lipopolysaccharide-induced disruption in working memory and expression of other proinflammatory cytokines in hippocampal neuronal cell layers, J. Neurosci. 26 (2006) 10709–10716. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3376-06.2006.
- [112] L. Forcina, C. Miano, B.M. Scicchitano, E. Rizzuto, M.G. Berardinelli, F. De Benedetti, L. Pelosi, A. Musarò, Increased Circulating Levels of Interleukin-6 Affect the Redox Balance in Skeletal Muscle, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2019 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3018584.
- [113] M. Rodrigo Garzón, P. Berraondo, J. Crettaz, L. Ochoa, M. Vera, J.J. Lasarte, A. Vales, N. Van Rooijen, J. Ruiz, J. Prieto, J. Zulueta, G. González-Aseguinolaza, Induction of gp120-specific protective immune responses by genetic vaccination with linear polyethylenimine-plasmid complex, Vaccine. 23 (2005) 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.09.009.

- [114] S. Ferrari, A. Pettenazzo, N. Garbati, F. Zacchello, J.P. Behr, M. Scarpa, Polyethylenimine shows properties of interest for cystic fibrosis gene therapy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gene Struct. Expr. 1447 (1999) 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4781(99)00153-0.
- [115] F.C. Lin, M. Karwan, B. Saleh, D.L. Hodge, T. Chan, K.C. Boelte, J.R. Keller, H.A. Young, IFN-γ causes aplastic anemia by altering hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell composition and disrupting lineage differentiation, Blood. 124 (2014) 3699–3708. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-549527.
- [116] J.Y. Lee, K.E. Sullivan, Gamma interferon and lipopolysaccharide interact at the level of transcription to induce tumor necrosis factor alpha expression, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 2847–2852. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.5.2847-2852.2001.
- [117] D.L. Hodge, C. Berthet, V. Coppola, W. Kastenmüller, M.D. Buschman, P.M. Schaughency, H. Shirota, A.J. Scarzello, J.J. Subleski, M.R. Anver, J.R. Ortaldo, F. Lin, D.A. Reynolds, M.E. Sanford, P. Kaldis, L. Tessarollo, D.M. Klinman, H.A. Young, IFN-gamma AU-rich element removal promotes chronic IFN-gamma expression and autoimmunity in mice, J. Autoimmun. 53 (2014) 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2014.02.003.
- [118] Y.F. He, X.H. Wang, G.M. Zhang, H.T. Chen, H. Zhang, Z.H. Feng, Sustained lowlevel expression of interferon-γ promotes tumor development: Potential insights in tumor prevention and tumor immunotherapy, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 54 (2005) 891–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0654-1.
- [119] M. Mojic, K. Takeda, Y. Hayakawa, The dark side of IFN-γ: Its role in promoting cancer immunoevasion, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010089.
- [120] A. Masjedi, V. Hashemi, M. Hojjat-Farsangi, G. Ghalamfarsa, G. Azizi, M. Yousefi, F. Jadidi-Niaragh, The significant role of interleukin-6 and its signaling pathway in the immunopathogenesis and treatment of breast cancer, Biomed. Pharmacother. 108 (2018) 1415–1424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.177.
- [121] L. Song, M.A. Smith, P. Doshi, K. Sasser, W. Fulp, S. Altiok, E.B. Haura, Antitumor efficacy of the anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) antibody siltuximab in mouse xenograft models of lung cancer, J. Thorac. Oncol. 9 (2014) 974–982. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.000000000000193.
- [122] V. Kumar, J. Qin, Y. Jiang, R.G. Duncan, B. Brigham, S. Fishman, J.K. Nair, A. Akinc, S.A. Barros, P. V. Kasperkovitz, Shielding of lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery: Impact on physicochemical properties, cytokine induction, and efficacy, Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids. 3 (2014) e210. https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.61.

- [123] K. Benihoud, S. Esselin, D. Descamps, B. Jullienne, B. Salone, P. Bobé, D. Bonardelle, E. Connault, P. Opolon, I. Saggio, M. Perricaudet, Respective roles of TNF-α and IL-6 in the immune response-elicited by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in mice, Gene Ther. 14 (2007) 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302885.
- [124] A.G. Waks, E.P. Winer, Breast Cancer Treatment, JAMA. 321 (2019) 288. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323.
- [125] D. Barkan, H. Kleinman, J.L. Simmons, H. Asmussen, A.K. Kamaraju, M.J. Hoenorhoff, Z.Y. Liu, S. V. Costes, E.H. Cho, S. Lockett, C. Khanna, A.F. Chambers, J.E. Green, Inhibition of metastatic outgrowth from single dormant tumor cells by targeting the cytoskeleton, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 6241–6250. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6849.
- [126] Y. Sun, L. Ma, The emerging molecular machinery and therapeutic targets of metastasis, 36 (2015) 349–359.
- [127] J.Y. Krzeszinski, Y. Wan, New therapeutic targets for cancer bone metastasis, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 36 (2015) 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.04.006.
- [128] G. Bendas, L. Borsig, Cancer cell adhesion and metastasis: Selectins, integrins, and the inhibitory potential of heparins, Int. J. Cell Biol. 2012 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/676731.
- [129] L. Shapiro, W.I. Weis, Structure and biochemistry of cadherins and catenins., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1 (2009) 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003053.
- [130] D.M. Li, Y.M. Feng, Signaling mechanism of cell adhesion molecules in breast cancer metastasis: Potential therapeutic targets, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 128 (2011) 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1499-x.
- [131] P.J. Kowalski, M.A. Rubin, C.G. Kleer, E-cadherin expression in primary carcinomas of the breast and its distant metastases, Breast Cancer Res. 5 (2003) 217–222. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr651.
- [132] E. Matteucci, E. Ridolfi, M.A. Desiderio, Hepatocyte growth factor differently influences Met-E-cadherin phosphorylation and downstream signaling pathway in two models of breast cells, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 63 (2006) 2016–2026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6137-0.
- [133] R.B. Hazan, G.R. Phillips, R.F. Qiao, L. Norton, S.A. Aaronson, Exogenous expression of N-cadherin in breast cancer cells induces cell migration, invasion, and

metastasis, J. Cell Biol. 148 (2000) 779-790. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.148.4.779.

- [134] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [135] X. Yin, T. Xiang, J. Mu, H. Mao, L. Li, X. Huang, C. Li, Y. Feng, X. Luo, Y. Wei, W. Peng, G. Ren, Q. Tao, Protocadherin 17 functions as a tumor suppressor suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling and cell metastasis and is frequently methylated in breast cancer, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 51720–51732. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10102.
- [136] G. Berx, F. van Roy, Involvement of members of the cadherin superfamily in cancer., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003129.
- [137] D.S. Harburger, D.A. Calderwood, Integrin signalling at a glance, J. Cell Sci. 122 (2009) 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.018093.
- [138] C.K. Miranti, J.S. Brugge, Sensing the environment: a historical perspective on integrin signal transduction., Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) E83–E90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0402-e83.
- [139] R.O. Hynes, Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines., Cell. 110 (2002) 673–87.
- [140] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [141] P.B. dos Santos, J.S. Zanetti, a Ribeiro-Silva, E.I. Beltrao, Beta 1 integrin predicts survival in breast cancer: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study, Diagn Pathol. 7 (2012) 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-7-104.
- [142] D. Barkan, L.H. El Touny, A.M. Michalowski, J.A. Smith, I. Chu, A.S. Davis, J.D. Webster, S. Hoover, R.M. Simpson, J. Gauldie, J.E. Green, Metastatic growth from dormant cells induced by a Col-I-enriched fibrotic environment, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 5706–5716. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2356.
- [143] D.E. White, N. a Kurpios, D. Zuo, J. a Hassell, S. Blaess, U. Mueller, W.J. Muller, Targeted disruption of beta1-integrin in a transgenic mouse model of human breast cancer reveals an essential role in mammary tumor induction., Cancer Cell. 6 (2004) 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.06.025.
- [144] A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, C.-X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from

a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2013) 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.

- [145] P. Nisticò, F. Di Modugno, S. Spada, M.J. Bissell, β1 and β4 integrins: from breast development to clinical practice., Breast Cancer Res. 16 (2014) 459.
- [146] J. Nam, K.M. Ahmed, S. Costes, H. Zhang, Y. Onodera, A.B. Olshen, K.C. Hatanaka, R. Kinoshita, M. Ishikawa, H. Sabe, H. Shirato, C.C. Park, b 1-integrin via NF- B signaling is essential for acquisition of invasiveness in a model of radiation treated in situ breast cancer, (2013) 1–15.
- [147] L. Huck, S.M. Pontier, D.M. Zuo, W.J. Muller, beta1-integrin is dispensable for the induction of ErbB2 mammary tumors but plays a critical role in the metastatic phase of tumor progression., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2010) 15559–64. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1003034107.
- [148] S. Hou, T. Isaji, Q. Hang, S. Im, T. Fukuda, J. Gu, Distinct effects of β1 integrin on cell proliferation and cellular signaling in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 18430. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18430.
- [149] O. Pontiggia, R. Sampayo, D. Raffo, A. Motter, R. Xu, M.J. Bissell, E.B. De Kier Joffe, M. Simian, The tumor microenvironment modulates tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer: A role for soluble stromal factors and fibronectin through β1 integrin, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 133 (2012) 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1766-x.
- [150] J.M. Nam, Y. Onodera, M.J. Bissell, C.C. Park, Breast cancer cells in threedimensional culture display an enhanced radioresponse after coordinate targeting of integrin alpha5beta1 and fibronectin, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 5238–5248. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2319.
- [151] F. Aoudjit, K. Vuori, Integrin signaling inhibits paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells., Oncogene. 20 (2001) 4995–5004. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1204554.
- [152] A. V. Taubenberger, V.M. Quent, L. Thibaudeau, J.A. Clements, D.W. Hutmacher, Delineating breast cancer cell interactions with engineered bone microenvironments, J. Bone Miner. Res. 28 (2013)1399-1411. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.1875.
- [153] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, a Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 Expression in Bone-metastasizing Cancer Cells by Type I Collagen through Integrin {alpha}1{beta}1 and {alpha}2{beta}1-p38 MAPK Signaling, Anticancer Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313. https://doi.org/31/4/1307 [pii].

- [154] Y.H. Soung, J.L. Clifford, J. Chung, Crosstalk between integrin and receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in breast carcinoma progression, BMB Rep. 43 (2010) 311–318. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2010.43.5.311.
- [155] N. Rucci, M. Capulli, O.K. Olstad, P. Onnerfjord, V. Tillgren, K.M. Gautvik, D. Heinegard, A. Teti, The α2β1 binding domain of chondroadherin inhibits breast cancer-induced bone metastases and impairs primary tumour growth: A preclinical study, Cancer Lett. 358 (2015) 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.032.
- [156] A. Lundström, J. Holmbom, C. Lindqvist, T. Nordström, The role of alpha2 beta1 and alpha3 beta1 integrin receptors in the initial anchoring of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells to cortical bone matrix., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250 (1998) 735–40. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9389.
- [157] A. Nista, C. Leonetti, G. Bernardini, M. Mattioni, A. Santoni, Functional role of alpha4beta1 and alpha5beta1 integrin fibronectin receptors expressed on adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cells., Int. J. Cancer. 72 (1997) 133–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19970703)72:1<133::AID-IJC19>3.0.CO;2-K [pii].
- [158] M.H. Ross, A.K. Esser, G.C. Fox, A.H. Schmieder, X. Yang, G. Hu, D. Pan, X. Su, Y. Xu, D. V Novack, T. Walsh, G.A. Colditz, G.H. Lukaszewicz, E. Cordell, J. Novack, J.A.J. Fitzpatrick, D.L. Waning, K.S. Mohammad, T.A. Guise, G.M. Lanza, K.N. Weilbaecher, Bone-Induced Expression of Integrin β3 Enables Targeted Nanotherapy of Breast Cancer Metastases., Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 6299– 6312. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1225.
- [159] J.F. Harms, D.R. Welch, R.S. Samant, L.A. Shevde, M.E. Miele, G.R. Babu, S.F. Goldberg, V.R. Gilman, D.M. Sosnowski, D.A. Campo, C. V. Gay, L.R. Budgeon, R. Mercer, J. Jewell, A.M. Mastro, H.J. Donahue, N. Erin, M.T. Debies, W.J. Meehan, A.L. Jones, G. Mbalaviele, A. Nickols, N.D. Christensen, R. Melly, L.N. Beck, J. Kent, R.K. Rader, J.J. Kotyk, M.D. Pagel, W.F. Westlin, D.W. Griggs, A small molecule antagonist of the αvβ3 integrin suppresses MDA-MB-435 skeletal metastasis, Clin. Exp. Metastasis. 21 (2004) 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:CLIN.0000024763.69809.64.
- [160] B. Pan, J. Guo, Q. Liao, Y. Zhao, β1 and β3 integrins in breast, prostate and pancreatic cancer: A novel implication (Review), Oncol. Lett. 15 (2018) 5412–5416. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.8076.
- [161] B. Bierie, S.E. Pierce, C. Kroeger, D.G. Stover, D.R. Pattabiraman, P. Thiru, J.L. Donaher, F. Reinhardt, C.L. Chaffer, Z. Keckesova, R.A. Weinberg, Integrin-β4 identifies cancer stem cell-enriched populations of partially mesenchymal carcinoma cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114 (2017) E2337–E2346.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618298114.

- [162] R.L. Stewart, K.L. O'Connor, Clinical significance of the integrin α6β4 in human malignancies, Lab. Investig. 95 (2015) 976–986. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2015.82.
- [163] V. Folgiero, P. Avetrani, G. Bon, S.E. Di Carlo, A. Fabi, C. Nisticò, P. Vici, E. Melucci, S. Buglioni, L. Perracchio, I. Sperduti, L. Rosanò, A. Sacchi, M. Mottolese, R. Falcioni, Induction of ErbB-3 expression by α6β4 integrin contributes to tamoxifen resistance in ERβ-1-negative breast carcinomas, PLoS One. 3 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001592.
- [164] S. Lu, K. Simin, A. Khan, A.M. Mercurio, Analysis of integrin β4 expression in human breast cancer: Association with basal-like tumors and prognostic significance, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (2008) 1050–1058. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4116.
- [165] A.F. Vieira, A.S. Ribeiro, M.R. Dionísio, B. Sousa, A.R. Nobre, A. Albergaria, A. Santiago-Gómez, N. Mendes, R. Gerhard, F. Schmitt, R.B. Clarke, J. Paredes, P-cadherin signals through the laminin receptor α6β4 integrin to induce stem cell and invasive properties to basal-like breast cancer cells, Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 679–692. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.1459.
- [166] M. Abdel-Ghany, H.C. Cheng, R.C. Elble, B.U. Pauli, The Breast Cancer β4 Integrin and Endothelial Human CLCA2 Mediate Lung Metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 25438–25446. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100478200.
- [167] A. Bianchi-Smiraglia, S. Paesante, A. V. Bakin, Integrin β5 contributes to the tumorigenic potential of breast cancer cells through the Src-FAK and MEK-ERK signaling pathways, Oncogene. 32 (2013) 3049–3058. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.320.
- [168] E.A. Wayner, R.A. Orlando, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins ανβ3 and ανβ5 contribute to cell attachment to vitronectin but differentially distribute on the cell surface, J. Cell Biol. 113 (1991) 919–929. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.113.4.919.
- [169] J.M. Ricono, M. Huang, L.A. Barnes, S.K. Lau, S.M. Weis, D. David, S.K. Hanks, D.A. Cheresh, Specific crosstalk between EGFR and integrin αvβ5 promotes carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis, 69 (2010) 1383–1391.
- [170] Q. Cheng, J.T. Chang, J. Geradts, L.M. Neckers, T. Haystead, N.L. Spector, H.K. Lyerly, Amplification and high-level expression of heat shock protein 90 marks aggressive phenotypes of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 negative breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. 14 (2012) 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3168.

- [171] L.S. Kim, J.H. Kim, Heat shock protein as molecular targets for breast cancer therapeutics, J. Breast Cancer. 14 (2011) 167–174. https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2011.14.3.167.
- [172] D.R. Ciocca, S.K. Calderwood, Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. Targeting heat shock proteins in cancer. Heat shock proteins in obesity: links to cardiovascular disease., Cell Stress Chaperones. 10 (2005) 86–103.
- [173] B.X. Wu, F. Hong, Y. Zhang, E. Ansa-Addo, Z. Li, GRP94/gp96 in Cancer: Biology, Structure, Immunology, and Drug Development, in: Adv. Cancer Res., 1st ed., Elsevier Inc., 2016: pp. 165–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.acr.2015.09.001.
- [174] A.S. Sreedhar, É. Kalmár, P. Csermely, Y.F. Shen, Hsp90 isoforms: Functions, expression and clinical importance, FEBS Lett. 562 (2004) 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(04)00229-7.
- [175] Z. Milicevic, D. Bogojevic, M. Mihailovic, M. Petrovic, Z. Krivokapic, Molecular characterization of hsp90 isoforms in colorectal cancer cells and its association with tumour progression, Int. J. Oncol. 32 (2008) 1169–1178. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo_32_6_1169.
- [176] A.E. Rodríguez-Vicente, D. Quwaider, R. Benito, I. Misiewicz-Krzeminska, M. Hernández-Sánchez, A.G. de Coca, R. Fisac, J.M. Alonso, C. Zato, J.F. de Paz, J.L. García, M.E. Sarasquete, J.Á. Hernández, J.M. Corchado, M. González, N.C. Gutiérrez, J.M. Hernández-Rivas, MicroRNA-223 is a novel negative regulator of HSP90B1 in CLL, BMC Cancer. 15 (2015) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1212-2.
- [177] Y.R. Xu, Z.W. Chen, G.H. Zhang, Y.F. Xi, R.F. Sun, X.G. Wang, W.Y. Wang, F. Chai, X.F. Li, HSP90B1 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in NSCLC patients, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14321–14328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5304-7.
- [178] G. Li, M. Cai, D. Fu, K. Chen, M. Sun, Z. Cai, B. Cheng, Heat shock protein 90B1 plays an oncogenic role and is a target of microRNA-223 in human osteosarcoma, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 30 (2012) 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1159/000343336.
- [179] S.Z. Usmani, R.D. Bona, G. Chiosis, Z. Li, The anti-myeloma activity of a novel purine scaffold HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 is via inhibition of both HSP90A and HSP90B1, J. Hematol. Oncol. 3 (2010) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8722-3-40.
- [180] L.C. Cerchietti, E.C. Lopes, S.N. Yang, K. Hatzi, K.L. Bunting, L.A. Tsikitas, A. Mallik, A.I. Robles, J. Walling, L. Varticovski, R. Shaknovich, K.N. Bhalla, G. Chiosis, A. Melnick, A purine scaffold Hsp90 inhibitor destabilizes BCL-6 and has

specific antitumor activity in BCL-6-dependent B cell lymphomas., Nat. Med. 15 (2009) 1369–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2059.

- [181] M. Breinig, E. Caldas-Lopes, B. Goeppert, M. Malz, R. Rieker, F. Bergmann, P. Schirmacher, M. Mayer, G. Chiosis, M.A. Kern, Targeting heat shock protein 90 with non-quinone inhibitors: a novel chemotherapeutic approach in human hepatocellular carcinoma., Hepatology. 50 (2009) 102–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22912.
- [182] T.R. Cawthorn, J.C. Moreno, M. Dharsee, D. Tran-Thanh, S. Ackloo, P.H. Zhu, G. Sardana, J. Chen, P. Kupchak, L.M. Jacks, N.A. Miller, B.J. Youngson, V. Iakovlev, C.J. Guidos, K.A. Vallis, K.R. Evans, D. McCready, W.L. Leong, S.J. Done, Proteomic analyses reveal high expression of decorin and endoplasmin (HSP90B1) are associated with breast cancer metastasis and decreased survival, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030992.
- [183] S. Liu, R. Li, S. Zuo, R. Luo, W. Fang, Y. Xie, GRP94 overexpression as an indicator of unfavorable outcomes in breast cancer patients., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 11 (2018) 3061–3067.
- [184] N. Santana-Codina, A. Marcé-Grau, L. Muixí, C. Nieva, M. Marro, D. Sebastián, J.P. Muñoz, A. Zorzano, A. Sierra, Grp94 is involved in the lipid phenotype of brain metastatic cells, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163883.
- [185] B. Nami, A. Ghasemi-Dizgah, A. Vaseghi, Overexpression of molecular chaperons GRP78 and GRP94 in CD44(hi)/CD24(lo) breast cancer stem cells., Bioimpacts. 6 (2016) 105–10. https://doi.org/10.15171/bi.2016.16.
- [186] N. Dejeans, C. Glorieux, S. Guenin, R. Beck, B. Sid, R. Rousseau, B. Bisig, P. Delvenne, P. Buc Calderon, J. Verrax, Overexpression of GRP94 in breast cancer cells resistant to oxidative stress promotes high levels of cancer cell proliferation and migration: Implications for tumor recurrence, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (2012) 993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.12.019.
- [187] A.H. Stegh, S. Kesari, J.E. Mahoney, H.T. Jenq, K.L. Forloney, A. Protopopov, D.N. Louis, L. Chin, R.A. DePinho, Bcl2L12-mediated inhibition of effector caspase-3 and caspase-7 via distinct mechanisms in glioblastoma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 10703–10708. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712034105.
- [188] Y. Hong, J. Yang, W. Wu, W. Wang, X. Kong, Y. Wang, X. Yun, H. Zong, Y. wei, S. Zhang, J. Gu, Knockdown of BCL2L12 leads to cisplatin resistance in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis. 1782 (2008) 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.09.008.
- [189] M.T. Lee, S.M. Ho, P. Tarapore, I. Chung, Y.K. Leung, Estrogen receptor β isoform 5 confers sensitivity of breast cancer cell lines to chemotherapeutic agent-induced apoptosis through interaction with Bcl2L12, Neoplasia (United States). 15 (2013) 1262–1271. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.131184.
- [190] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [191] S. Cheng, V. Castillo, D. Sliva, CDC20 associated with cancer metastasis and novel mushroom-derived CDC20 inhibitors with antimetastatic activity, Int. J. Oncol. 54 (2019) 2250–2256. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2019.4791.
- [192] Z. Wang, L. Wan, J. Zhong, H. Inuzuka, P. Liu, F.H. Sarkar, W. Wei, Cdc20: A Potential Novel Therapeutic Target for Cancer Treatment, Curr. Pharm. Des. 19 (2013) 3210–3214. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612811319180005.
- [193] T.-A. Moo, R. Sanford, C. Dang, M. Morrow, Overview of Breast Cancer Therapy., PET Clin. 13 (2018) 339–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpet.2018.02.006.
- [194] K.M. Mrozik, O.W. Blaschuk, C.M. Cheong, A.C.W. Zannettino, K. Vandyke, Ncadherin in cancer metastasis, its emerging role in haematological malignancies and potential as a therapeutic target in cancer, BMC Cancer. 18 (2018) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4845-0.
- [195] T.Y. Na, L. Schecterson, A.M. Mendonsa, B.M. Gumbiner, The functional activity of E-cadherin controls tumor cell metastasis at multiple steps, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 117 (2020) 5931–5937. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1918167117.
- [196] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk, L.H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell Res. 230 (1997) 111–20. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [197] C.C. Park, H. Zhang, M. Pallavicini, J.W. Gray, F. Baehner, C.J. Park, M.J. Bissell, β1 Integrin Inhibitory Antibody Induces Apoptosis of Breast Cancer Cells, Inhibits Growth, and Distinguishes Malignant From Normal Phenotype in Three Dimensional Cultures and in Vivo, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3071.
- [198] D.E. White, W.J. Muller, Multifaceted roles of integrins in breast cancer metastasis,
 J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. 12 (2007) 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-007-9045-5.
- [199] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A.

Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti- α 5 β 1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014) 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.

- [200] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-Integrin Circumvents the Antiproliferative Effects of Trastuzumab in Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2-Positive Breast Cancer, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1591.
- [201] F. Wang, V.M. Weaver, O.W. Petersen, C.A. Larabell, S. Dedhar, P. Briand, R. Lupu, M.J. Bissell, Reciprocal interactions between β1-integrin and epidermal growth factor receptor in three-dimensional basement membrane breast cultures: A different perspective in epithelial biology, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95 (1998) 14821–14826. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.25.14821.
- [202] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S. a Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [203] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen, Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [204] Y. Zhao, R. Bachelier, I. Treilleux, P. Pujuguet, O. Peyruchaud, R. Baron, P. Clément-Lacroix, P. Clézardin, Tumor αvβ3 integrin is a therapeutic target for breast cancer bone metastases, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 5821–5830. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4499.
- [205] I.W. Cheuk, M.T. Siu, J.C. Ho, J. Chen, V.Y. Shin, A. Kwong, ITGAV targeting as a therapeutic approach for treatment of metastatic breast cancer., Am. J. Cancer Res. 10 (2020) 211–223.
- [206] E. Caldas-Lopes, L. Cerchietti, J.H. Ahn, C.C. Clement, A.I. Robles, A. Rodina, K. Moulick, T. Taldone, A. Gozman, Y. Guo, N. Wu, E. de Stanchina, J. White, S.S. Gross, Y. Ma, L. Varticovski, A. Melnick, G. Chiosis, Hsp90 inhibitor PU-H71, a multimodal inhibitor of malignancy, induces complete responses in triple-negative breast cancer models., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 8368–73. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903392106.

- [207] Ş. Kale, A.F. Korcum, E. Dündar, N. Erin, HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 increases radiosensitivity of breast cancer cells metastasized to visceral organs and alters the levels of inflammatory mediators., Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 393 (2020) 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-019-01725-z.
- [208] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [209] X. Chen, P. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Li, L. Fu, H. Fu, J. Zhu, Z. Chen, W. Zhu, C. Xie, L. Lou, DCZ3112, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, exerts potent antitumor activity against HER2-positive breast cancer through disruption of Hsp90-Cdc37 interaction, Cancer Lett. 434 (2018) 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.07.012.
- [210] P.-C. Zhang, X. Liu, M.-M. Li, Y.-Y. Ma, H.-T. Sun, X.-Y. Tian, Y. Wang, M. Liu, L.-S. Fu, Y.-F. Wang, H.-Y. Chen, Z. Liu, AT-533, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, inhibits breast cancer growth and HIF-1α/VEGF/VEGFR-2-mediated angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, Biochem. Pharmacol. 172 (2020) 113771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2019.113771.
- [211] E.M. Gartner, P. Silverman, M. Simon, L. Flaherty, J. Abrams, P. Ivy, P.M. Lorusso, A phase II study of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin in metastatic or locally advanced, unresectable breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 131 (2012) 933–937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1866-7.
- [212] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M. Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.
- [213] P. Buc Calderon, A.L. Sennesael, C. Glorieux, Glucose-regulated protein of 94 kDa contributes to the development of an aggressive phenotype in breast cancer cells, Biomed. Pharmacother. 105 (2018) 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.05.106.
- [214] Y. Ben-Neriah, G.Q. Daley, A.M. Mes-Masson, O.N. Witte, D. Baltimore, The chronic myelogenous leukemia-specific P210 protein is the product of the bcr/abl hybrid gene., Science. 233 (1986) 212–4.
- [215] C. Sirard, P. Laneuville, J.E. Dick, Expression of bcr-abl abrogates factor-dependent

growth of human hematopoietic M07E cells by an autocrine mechanism., Blood. 83 (1994) 1575–85.

- [216] N. Cambier, R. Chopra, A. Strasser, D. Metcalf, A.G. Elefanty, BCR-ABL activates pathways mediating cytokine independence and protection against apoptosis in murine hematopoietic cells in a dose-dependent manner., Oncogene. 16 (1998) 335– 48. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201490.
- [217] B.J. Druker, F. Guilhot, S.G. O'Brien, I. Gathmann, H. Kantarjian, N. Gattermann, M.W.N. Deininger, R.T. Silver, J.M. Goldman, R.M. Stone, F. Cervantes, A. Hochhaus, B.L. Powell, J.L. Gabrilove, P. Rousselot, J. Reiffers, J.J. Cornelissen, T. Hughes, H. Agis, T. Fischer, G. Verhoef, J. Shepherd, G. Saglio, A. Gratwohl, J.L. Nielsen, J.P. Radich, B. Simonsson, K. Taylor, M. Baccarani, C. So, L. Letvak, R.A. Larson, Five-Year Follow-up of Patients Receiving Imatinib for Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 355 (2006)2408-2417. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa062867.
- [218] A. Hochhaus, R.A. Larson, F. Guilhot, J.P. Radich, S. Branford, T.P. Hughes, M. Baccarani, M.W. Deininger, F. Cervantes, S. Fujihara, C.-E. Ortmann, H.D. Menssen, H. Kantarjian, S.G. O'Brien, B.J. Druker, Long-Term Outcomes of Imatinib Treatment for Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 376 (2017) 917–927. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1609324.
- [219] H. Kantarjian, N.P. Shah, A. Hochhaus, J. Cortes, S. Shah, M. Ayala, B. Moiraghi, Z. Shen, J. Mayer, R. Pasquini, H. Nakamae, F. Huguet, C. Boqué, C. Chuah, E. Bleickardt, M.B. Bradley-Garelik, C. Zhu, T. Szatrowski, D. Shapiro, M. Baccarani, Dasatinib versus Imatinib in Newly Diagnosed Chronic-Phase Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 362 (2010) 2260–2270. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1002315.
- [220] H. Kantarjian, F. Giles, L. Wunderle, K. Bhalla, S. O'Brien, B. Wassmann, C. Tanaka, P. Manley, P. Rae, W. Mietlowski, K. Bochinski, A. Hochhaus, J.D. Griffin, D. Hoelzer, M. Albitar, M. Dugan, J. Cortes, L. Alland, O.G. Ottmann, Nilotinib in Imatinib-Resistant CML and Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive ALL, N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2542–2551. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa055104.
- [221] M. Talpaz, N.P. Shah, H. Kantarjian, N. Donato, J. Nicoll, R. Paquette, J. Cortes, S. O'Brien, C. Nicaise, E. Bleickardt, M.A. Blackwood-Chirchir, V. Iyer, T.-T. Chen, F. Huang, A.P. Decillis, C.L. Sawyers, Dasatinib in imatinib-resistant Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias., N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2531–41. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa055229.
- [222] G. Saglio, D.-W. Kim, S. Issaragrisil, P. le Coutre, G. Etienne, C. Lobo, R. Pasquini, R.E. Clark, A. Hochhaus, T.P. Hughes, N. Gallagher, A. Hoenekopp, M. Dong, A.

Haque, R.A. Larson, H.M. Kantarjian, ENESTnd Investigators, Nilotinib versus imatinib for newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia., N. Engl. J. Med. 362 (2010) 2251–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0912614.

- [223] E. Jabbour, H. Kantarjian, Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2016 update on diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring, Am. J. Hematol. 91 (2016) 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.24275.
- [224] D. Milojkovic, J.F. Apperley, Mechanisms of resistance to imatinib and secondgeneration tyrosine inhibitors in chronic myeloid leukemia, Clin. Cancer Res. 15 (2009) 7519–7527. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1068.
- [225] M.E. Gorre, M. Mohammed, K. Ellwood, N. Hsu, R. Paquette, P.N. Rao, C.L. Sawyers, Clinical resistance to STI-571 cancer therapy caused by BCR-ABL gene mutation or amplification., Science. 293 (2001) 876–80. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1062538.
- [226] F. Lussana, T. Intermesoli, P. Stefanoni, A. Rambaldi, Mechanisms of Resistance to Targeted Therapies in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, in: Handbook o, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_81.
- [227] J.E. Cortes, H. Kantarjian, N.P. Shah, D. Bixby, M.J. Mauro, I. Flinn, T. O'Hare, S. Hu, N.I. Narasimhan, V.M. Rivera, T. Clackson, C.D. Turner, F.G. Haluska, B.J. Druker, M.W.N. Deininger, M. Talpaz, Ponatinib in Refractory Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive Leukemias, N. Engl. J. Med. 367 (2012) 2075–2088. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1205127.
- [228] M. Azam, R.R. Latek, G.Q. Daley, D. Barila, G. Superti-Furga, C. Barthe, P. Cony-Makhoul, J.V. Melo, J.R. Mahon, J.M. Bradshaw, V. Mitaxov, G. Waksman, S. Branford, Z. Rudzki, S. Walsh, A. Grigg, C. Arthur, K. Taylor, R. Herrmann, K.P. Lynch, T.P. Hughes, B.B. Brasher, S. Roumiantsev, R.A. Van Etten, P. Cicchetti, A.J. Ridley, Y. Zheng, R.A. Cerione, D. Baltimore, A.S. Corbin, E. Buchdunger, F. Pascal, B.J. Druker, Z. Dai, A.M. Pendergast, G.Q. Daley, D. Baltimore, G.Q. Daley, R.A. Van Etten, D. Baltimore, B.J. Druker, C.L. Sawyers, H. Kantarjian, D.J. Resta, S.F. Reese, J.M. Ford, R. Capdeville, M. Talpaz, E.A. Emini, E. Fainstein, M. Einat, E. Gokkel, C. Marcelle, C.M. Croce, R.P. Gale, E. Canaani, M.L. Gishizky, J. Johnson-White, O.N. Witte, S. Gonfloni, J.C. Williams, K. Hattula, A. Weijland, R.K. Wierenga, G. Superti-Furga, S. Gonfloni, F. Frischknecht, M. Way, G. Superti-Furga, S. Gonfloni, A. Weijland, J. Kretzschmar, G. Superti-Furga, M.E. Gorre, M. Mohammed, K. Ellwood, N. Hsu, R. Paquette, P.N. Rao, C.L. Sawyers, O. Hantschel, B. Nagar, S. Guettler, J. Kretzschmar, K. Dorey, J. Kuriyan, G. Superti-Furga, A. Hochhaus, S. Kreil, A. Corbin, P. La Rosee, T. Lahaye, U. Berger, N.C. Cross, W. Linkesch, B.J. Druker, R. Hehlmann, et al., W.K. Hofmann, L.C.

Jones, N.A. Lemp, S. de Vos, H. Gschaidmeier, D. Hoelzer, O.G. Ottmann, H.P. Koeffler, R.R. Hoover, F.X. Mahon, J.V. Melo, G.Q. Daley, M. Huse, J. Kuriyan, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, S. O'Brien, F. Giles, G. Garcia-Manero, S. Faderl, D. Thomas, S. Jeha, M.B. Rios, L. Letvak, et al., E.Y. Koh, T. Chen, G.Q. Daley, S. Li, R.L. Ilaria, R.P. Million, G.Q. Daley, R.A. Van Etten, B.J. Mayer, D. Baltimore, B. Nagar, W.G. Bornmann, P. Pellicena, T. Schindler, D.R. Veach, W.T. Miller, B. Clarkson, J. Kuriyan, B. Nagar, O. Hantschel, M.A. Young, K. Scheffzek, D. Veach, W. Bornmann, B. Clarkson, G. Superti-Furga, J. Kuriyan, H.J. Nam, W.G. Haser, T.M. Roberts, C.A. Frederick, A. Nicholls, K.A. Sharp, B. Honig, Z. Otwinowski, S. Panni, L. Dente, G. Cesareni, A.M. Pendergast, A.J. Muller, M.H. Havlik, Y. Maru, O.N. Witte, H. Pluk, K. Dorey, G. Superti-Furga, C. Roche-Lestienne, V. Soenen-Cornu, N. Grardel-Duflos, J.L. Lai, N. Philippe, T. Facon, P. Fenaux, C. Preudhomme, S. Roumiantsev, N.P. Shah, M.E. Gorre, J. Nicoll, B.B. Brasher, C.L. Sawyers, R.A. Van Etten, C.L. Sawyers, A. Hochhaus, E. Feldman, J.M. Goldman, C.B. Miller, O.G. Ottmann, C.A. Schiffer, M. Talpaz, F. Guilhot, M.W. Deininger, et al., T. Schindler, W. Bornmann, P. Pellicena, W.T. Miller, B. Clarkson, J. Kuriyan, N. Shah, J. Nicoll, B. Nagar, M. Gorre, R. Paquette, J. Kuriyan, C. Sawyers, L.K. Shawyer, D. Slamon, A. Ullrich, J.D. Thompson, T.J. Gibson, F. Plewniak, F. Jeanmougin, D.G. Higgins, R.A. Van Etten, J. Debnath, H. Zhou, J.M. Casasnovas, N. von Bubnoff, F. Schneller, C. Peschel, J. Duyster, S.T. Wen, R.A. Van Etten, D. Wisniewski, C.L. Lambek, C. Liu, A. Strife, D.R. Veach, B. Nagar, M.A. Young, T. Schindler, W.G. Bornmann, J.R. Bertino, et al., W. Xu, S.C. Harrison, M.J. Eck, W. Xu, A. Doshi, M. Lei, M.J. Eck, S.C. Harrison, M.A. Young, S. Gonfloni, G. Superti-Furga, B. Roux, J. Kuriyan, Mechanisms of autoinhibition and STI-571/imatinib resistance revealed by mutagenesis of BCR-ABL., Cell. 112 (2003) 831-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00190-9.

- [229] D.W. Sherbenou, O. Hantschel, I. Kaupe, S. Willis, T. Bumm, L.P. Turaga, T. Lange, K. Dao, R.D. Press, B.J. Druker, G. Superti-Furga, M.W. Deininger, BCR-ABL SH3-SH2 domain mutations in chronic myeloid leukemia patients on imatinib., Blood. 116 (2010) 3278–85. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-10-183665.
- [230] J. Elias, P. Sameer A, K. Hagop, C. Jorge, Chronic myeloid leukemia: mechanisms of resistance and treatment, Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am. 25 (2011) 981–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hoc.2011.09.004.Chronic.
- [231] A. Slupianek, R. Falinski, P. Znojek, T. Stoklosa, S. Flis, V. Doneddu, D. Pytel, E. Synowiec, J. Blasiak, A. Bellacosa, T. Skorski, BCR-ABL1 kinase inhibits uracil DNA glycosylase UNG2 to enhance oxidative DNA damage and stimulate genomic instability, Leukemia. 27 (2013) 629–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.294.

- [232] M. Koptyra, R. Falinski, M.O. Nowicki, T. Stoklosa, I. Majsterek, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, J. Blasiak, T. Skorski, BCR/ABL kinase induces self-mutagenesis via reactive oxygen species to encode imatinib resistance., Blood. 108 (2006) 319–27. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2815.
- [233] X. Jiang, K.M. Saw, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Instability of BCR-ABL gene in primary and cultured chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 99 (2007) 680–693. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djk150.
- [234] N. Von Bubnoff, D.R. Veach, H. Van Der Kuip, W.E. Aulitzky, J. Sänger, P. Seipel, W.G. Bornmann, C. Peschel, B. Clarkson, J. Duyster, A cell-based screen for resistance of Bcr-Abl-positive leukemia identifies the mutation pattern for PD166326, an alternative Abl kinase inhibitor, Blood. 105 (2005) 1652–1659. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-06-2445.
- [235] L.J. Campbell, C. Patsouris, K.C. Rayeroux, K. Somana, E.H. Januszewicz, J. Szer, BCR/ABL amplification in chronic myelocytic leukemia blast crisis following imatinib mesylate administration, Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 139 (2002) 30–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4608(02)00615-5.
- [236] C. Tang, L. Schafranek, D.B. Watkins, W.T. Parker, S. Moore, J.A. Prime, D.L. White, T.P. Hughes, Tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia cell lines: investigating resistance pathways, Leuk. Lymphoma. 52 (2011) 2139–2147. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2011.591013.
- [237] R.D. Press, S.G. Willis, J. Laudadio, M.J. Mauro, M.W.N. Deininger, Determining the rise in BCR-ABL RNA that optimally predicts a kinase domain mutation in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia on imatinib., Blood. 114 (2009) 2598–605. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-08-173674.
- [238] D. Gadzicki, N. Von Neuhoff, D. Steinemann, M. Just, G. Büsche, H. Kreipe, L. Wilkens, B. Schlegelberger, BCR-ABL gene amplification and overexpression in a patient with chronic myeloid leukemia treated with imatinib, Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 159 (2005) 164–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2004.09.021.
- [239] C. Roche-Lestienne, V. Soenen-Cornu, N. Grardel-Duflos, J.L. Laï, N. Philippe, T. Facon, P. Fenaux, C. Preudhomme, Several types of mutations of the Abl gene can be found in chronic myeloid leukemia patients resistant to STI571, and they can pre-exist to the onset of treatment, Blood. 100 (2002) 1014–1018. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V100.3.1014.
- [240] S. Vaidya, B.R. Vundinti, C. Shanmukhaiah, P. Chakrabarti, K. Ghosh, Evolution of BCR/ABL gene mutation in CML is time dependent and dependent on the

pressure exerted by tyrosine kinase inhibitor, PLoS One. 10 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114828.

- [241] I.K. Hariharan, J.M. Adams, S. Cory, bcr-abl oncogene renders myeloid cell line factor independent: potential autocrine mechanism in chronic myeloid leukemia., Oncogene Res. 3 (1988) 387–99.
- [242] X. Jiang, A. Lopez, T. Holyoake, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Autocrine production and action of IL-3 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in chronic myeloid leukemia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96 (1999) 12804–12809. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.22.12804.
- [243] Y. Wang, D. Cai, C. Brendel, C. Barett, P. Erben, P.W. Manley, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, A. Burchert, Adaptive secretion of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) mediates imatinib and nilotinib resistance in BCR/ABL+ progenitors via JAK-2/STAT-5 pathway activation., Blood. 109 (2007) 2147–55. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-08-040022.
- [244] A.B. Lyons, T.P. Hughes, P. Viboonjuntra, Production of GM-CSF by CML Cells Can Modulate the Anti-Proliferative and Pro-Apoptotic Effects of Imatinib on CML CD34⁺ Cells., Blood. 106 (2005) 2865 LP – 2865.
- [245] A. Burchert, Y. Wang, D. Cai, N. von Bubnoff, P. Paschka, S. Müller-Brüsselbach, O.G. Ottmann, J. Duyster, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, Compensatory PI3kinase/Akt/mTor activation regulates im'atinib resistance development, Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403898.
- [246] M. Wagle, A.M. Eiring, M. Wongchenko, S. Lu, Y. Guan, Y. Wang, M. Lackner, L. Amler, G. Hampton, M.W. Deininger, T. O'Hare, Y. Yan, A role for FOXO1 in BCR-ABL1-independent tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Leukemia. 30 (2016) 1493–1501. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.51.
- [247] J. Wu, F. Meng, L.Y. Kong, Z. Peng, Y. Ying, W.G. Bornmann, B.G. Darnay, B. Lamothe, H. Sun, M. Talpaz, N.J. Donato, Association between imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL mutation-negative leukemia and persistent activation of LYN kinase, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100 (2008) 926–939. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn188.
- [248] L. Ma, Y. Shan, R. Bai, L. Xue, C.A. Eide, J. Ou, L.J. Zhu, L. Hutchinson, J. Cerny, H.J. Khoury, Z. Sheng, B.J. Druker, S. Li, M.R. Green, A therapeutically targetable mechanism of BCR-ABL-independent imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia., Sci. Transl. Med. 6 (2014) 252ra121. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3009073.
- [249] Y. Zhu, L. Lu, C. Qiao, Y. Shan, H. Li, S. Qian, M. Hong, H. Zhao, J. Li, Z. Yang, Y. Chen, Targeting PFKFB3 sensitizes chronic myelogenous leukemia cells to

tyrosine kinase inhibitor, Oncogene. 37 (2018) 2837–2849. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0157-8.

- [250] A.Z. Karabay, A. Koc, T. Ozkan, Y. Hekmatshoar, B. Altinok Gunes, A. Sunguroglu, Z. Buyukbingol, A. Atalay, F. Aktan, Expression analysis of Akirin-2, NFκB-p65 and β-catenin proteins in imatinib resistance of chronic myeloid leukemia., Hematology. 0 (2018) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/10245332.2018.1488795.
- [251] A. Chorzalska, N. Ahsan, R.S.P. Rao, K. Roder, X. Yu, J. Morgan, A. Tepper, S. Hines, P. Zhang, D.O. Treaba, T.C. Zhao, A.J. Olszewski, J.L. Reagan, O. Liang, P.A. Gruppuso, P.M. Dubielecka, Overexpression of Tpl2 is linked to imatinib resistance and activation of MEK-ERK and NF-κB pathways in a model of chronic myeloid leukemia., Mol. Oncol. 12 (2018) 630–647. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12186.
- [252] Q.H. Min, X.Z. Wang, J. Zhang, Q.G. Chen, S.Q. Li, X.Q. Liu, J. Li, J. Liu, W.M. Yang, Y.H. Jiang, Y.M. Xu, J. Lin, Q.F. Gao, F. Sun, L. Zhang, B. Huang, Exosomes derived from imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells mediate a horizontal transfer of drug-resistant trait by delivering miR-365, Exp. Cell Res. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.12.001.
- [253] S. Angelini, S. Soverini, G. Ravegnini, M. Barnett, E. Turrini, M. Thornquist, F. Pane, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, J. Radich, D.W. Kim, G. Saglio, D. Cilloni, I. Iacobucci, G. Perini, R. Woodman, G. Cantelli-Forti, M. Baccarani, P. Hrelia, G. Martinelli, Association between imatinib transporters and metabolizing enzymes genotype and response in newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia patients receiving imatinib therapy, Haematologica. 98 (2013) 193–200. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.066480.
- [254] D.L. White, V.A. Saunders, P. Dang, J. Engler, T.P. Hughes, OCT-1 activity measurement provides a superior imatinib response predictor than screening for single-nucleotide polymorphisms of OCT-1., Leukemia. 24 (2010) 1962–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.188.
- [255] J. Vine, S.B. Cohen, R. Ruchlemer, N. Goldschmidt, M. Levin, D. Libster, A. Gural, M.E. Gatt, D. Lavie, D. Ben-Yehuda, D. Rund, Polymorphisms in the human organic cation transporter and the multidrug resistance gene: correlation with imatinib levels and clinical course in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia, Leuk. Lymphoma. 55 (2014) 2525–2531. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2014.893307.
- [256] S. Dulucq, S. Bouchet, B. Turcq, E. Lippert, G. Etienne, J. Reiffers, M. Molimard, M. Krajinovic, F.-X. Mahon, Multidrug resistance gene (MDR1) polymorphisms are associated with major molecular responses to standard-dose imatinib in chronic

myeloid leukemia., Blood. 112 (2008) 2024–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-147744.

- [257] S. Shukla, A.P. Skoumbourdis, M.J. Walsh, A.M.S. Hartz, K.L. Fung, C. Wu, M.M. Gottesman, B. Bauer, C.J. Thomas, S. V Ambudkar, Synthesis and characterization of a BODIPY conjugate of the BCR-ABL kinase inhibitor Tasigna (nilotinib): evidence for transport of Tasigna and its fluorescent derivative by ABC drug transporters., Mol. Pharm. 8 (2011) 1292–302. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp2001022.
- [258] L.N. Eadie, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, Patients with low OCT-1 activity and high ABCB1 fold rise have poor long-term outcomes in response to tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy., Leukemia. 32 (2018) 2288–2291. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-018-0101-5.
- [259] D.L. White, P. Dang, J. Engler, A. Frede, S. Zrim, M. Osborn, V.A. Saunders, P.W. Manley, T.P. Hughes, Functional activity of the OCT-1 protein is predictive of long-term outcome in patients with chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia treated with imatinib, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (2010) 2761–2767. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.26.5819.
- [260] X. Jiang, Y. Zhao, C. Smith, M. Gasparetto, A. Turhan, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells possess multiple unique features of resistance to BCR-ABL targeted therapies, Leukemia. 21 (2007) 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404609.
- [261] J.R. Engler, a Frede, V. a Saunders, a C.W. Zannettino, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, Chronic myeloid leukemia CD34+ cells have reduced uptake of imatinib due to low OCT-1 activity., Leukemia. 24 (2010) 765–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.16.
- [262] N.E. Jordanides, H.G. Jorgensen, T.L. Holyoake, J.C. Mountford, Functional ABCG2 is overexpressed on primary CML CD34+ cells and is inhibited by imatinib mesylate, Blood. 108 (2006) 1370–1373. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-02-003145.
- [263] E.R. Lepper, K. Nooter, J. Verweij, M.R. Acharya, W.D. Figg, A. Sparreboom, Mechanisms of resistance to anticancer drugs: the role of the polymorphic ABC transporters ABCB1 and ABCG2, Pharmacogenomics. 6 (2005) 115–138. https://doi.org/10.1517/14622416.6.2.115.
- [264] A.A. Wylie, J. Schoepfer, W. Jahnke, S.W. Cowan-Jacob, A. Loo, P. Furet, A.L. Marzinzik, X. Pelle, J. Donovan, W. Zhu, S. Buonamici, A.Q. Hassan, F. Lombardo, V. Iyer, M. Palmer, G. Berellini, S. Dodd, S. Thohan, H. Bitter, S. Branford, D.M. Ross, T.P. Hughes, L. Petruzzelli, K.G. Vanasse, M. Warmuth, F. Hofmann, N.J. Keen, W.R. Sellers, The allosteric inhibitor ABL001 enables dual targeting of BCR-

ABL1, Nature. 543 (2017) 733–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21702.

- [265] E.J. Jabbour, J.E. Cortes, H.M. Kantarjian, Resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibition therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia: a clinical perspective and emerging treatment options., Clin. Lymphoma. Myeloma Leuk. 13 (2013) 515–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2013.03.018.
- [266] T. Lahaye, B. Riehm, U. Berger, P. Paschka, M.C. Müller, S. Kreil, K. Merx, U. Schwindel, C. Schoch, R. Hehlmann, A. Hochhaus, Response and resistance in 300 patients with BCR-ABL-positive leukemias treated with imatinib in a single center: A 4.5-year follow-up, Cancer. 103 (2005) 1659–1669. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20922.
- [267] M. Schmidt, J. Rinke, V. Schäfer, S. Schnittger, A. Kohlmann, E. Obstfelder, C. Kunert, J. Ziermann, N. Winkelmann, E. Eigendorff, T. Haferlach, C. Haferlach, A. Hochhaus, T. Ernst, Molecular-defined clonal evolution in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia independent of the BCR-ABL status, Leukemia. 28 (2014) 2292–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.272.
- [268] M.M. Behzad, S. Shahrabi, K. Jaseb, J. Bertacchini, N. Ketabchi, N. Saki, Aberrant DNA Methylation in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia: Cell Fate Control, Prognosis, and Therapeutic Response, Biochem. Genet. 56 (2018) 149–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10528-018-9841-1.
- [269] M.H. Elias, H. Azlan, S. Sulong, A.A. Baba, R. Ankathil, Aberrant DNA methylation at HOXA4 and HOXA5 genes are associated with resistance to imatinib mesylate among chronic myeloid leukemia patients, Cancer Rep. 1 (2018) e1111. https://doi.org/10.1002/cnr2.1111.
- [270] J. Jelinek, V. Gharibyan, M.R.H. Estecio, K. Kondo, R. He, W. Chung, Y. Lu, N. Zhang, S. Liang, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, J.P.J. Issa, Aberrant DNA methylation is associated with disease progression, resistance to imatinib and shortened survival in chronic myelogenous leukemia, PLoS One. 6 (2011) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022110.
- [271] W.O. Pereira, D.D. De Carvalho, M.E. Zenteno, B.F. Ribeiro, J.F. Jacysyn, L.R. Sardinha, M.A. Zanichelli, N. Hamerschlak, G.E. Jones, K.B. Pagnano, F.A. Castro, Y. Calle, G.P. Amarante-Mendes, BCR-ABL1-induced downregulation of WASP in chronic myeloid leukemia involves epigenetic modification and contributes to malignancy, Cell Death Dis. 8 (2017) e3114-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.458.
- [272] E. Arrigoni, M. Del Re, S. Galimberti, G. Restante, E. Rofi, S. Crucitta, C. Baratè, M. Petrini, R. Danesi, A. Di Paolo, Concise Review: Chronic Myeloid Leukemia:

Stem Cell Niche and Response to Pharmacologic Treatment, Stem Cells Transl. Med. 7 (2018) 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0175.

- [273] D. Wei, T. Lu, D. Ma, K. Yu, T. Zhang, J. Xiong, W. Wang, Z. Zhang, Q. Fang, J. Wang, Synergistic activity of imatinib and AR-42 against chronic myeloid leukemia cells mainly through HDAC1 inhibition., Life Sci. 211 (2018) 224–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.09.040.
- [274] E. Farhadi, F. Zaker, M. Safa, M.R. Rezvani, miR-101 sensitizes K562 cell line to imatinib through Jak2 downregulation and inhibition of NF-κB target genes, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14117–14128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5205-9.
- [275] Y.X. Liu, L. Wang, W.J. Liu, H.T. Zhang, J.H. Xue, Z.W. Zhang, C.J. Gao, MIR-124-3p/B4GALT1 axis plays an important role in SOCS3-regulated growth and chemo-sensitivity of CML, J. Hematol. Oncol. 9 (2016) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-016-0300-3.
- [276] W. Liu, J. He, Y. Yang, Q. Guo, F. Gao, Upregulating miR-146a by physcion reverses multidrug resistance in human chronic myelogenous leukemia K562/ADM cells, Am. J. Cancer Res. 6 (2016) 2547–2560.
- [277] L. Zhao, Y. Li, X. Song, H. Zhou, N. Li, Y. Miao, L. Jia, Upregulation of miR-181c inhibits chemoresistance by targeting ST8SIA4 in chronic myelocytic leukemia, Oncotarget. 7 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70742-6 20.
- [278] D. Joshi, S. Chandrakala, S. Korgaonkar, K. Ghosh, B.R. Vundinti, Downregulation of miR-199b associated with imatinib drug resistance in 9q34.1 deleted BCR/ABL positive CML patients, Gene. 542 (2014) 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2014.03.049.
- [279] M. Kaehler, J. Ruemenapp, D. Gonnermann, I. Nagel, O. Bruhn, S. Haenisch, O. Ammerpohl, D. Wesch, I. Cascorbi, H. Bruckmueller, MicroRNA-212/ABCG2-axis contributes to development of imatinib-resistance in leukemic cells., Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 92018–92031. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.21272.
- [280] C. Nishioka, T. Ikezoe, J. Yang, A. Nobumoto, M. Tsuda, A. Yokoyama, Downregulation of miR-217 correlates with resistance of ph+ leukemia cells to ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors, Cancer Sci. 105 (2014) 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12339.
- [281] L. Zhao, Y. Shan, B. Liu, Y. Li, L. Jia, Functional screen analysis reveals miR-3142 as central regulator in chemoresistance and proliferation through activation of the PTEN-AKT pathway in CML, Cell Death Dis. 8 (2017) e2830. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.223.

- [282] I. Soltani, K. Douzi, H. Gharbi, I. Benhassine, M. Teber, H. Amouri, H. Ben Hadj Othman, A. Farrah, R. Ben Lakhel, S. Abbes, S. Menif, Downregulation of miR-451 in Tunisian chronic myeloid leukemia patients: potential implication in imatinib resistance, Hematology. 22 (2017) 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/10245332.2016.1252020.
- [283] H. Yang, J. Zhang, J. Li, F. Zhao, Y. Shen, X. Xing, Overexpression of miR-574-3p suppresses proliferation and induces apoptosis of chronic myeloid leukemia cells via targeting IL6/JAK/STAT3 pathway., Exp. Ther. Med. 16 (2018) 4296–4302. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2018.6700.
- [284] Y. Li, L. Zhao, N. Li, Y. Miao, H. Zhou, L. Jia, MiR-9 regulates the multidrug resistance of chronic myelogenous leukemia by targeting ABCB1, Oncol. Rep. 37 (2017) 2193–2200. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2017.5464.
- [285] M. Copland, A. Hamilton, L.J. Elrick, J.W. Baird, E.K. Allan, N. Jordanides, M. Barow, J.C. Mountford, T.L. Holyoake, Dasatinib (BMS-354825) targets an earlier progenitor population than imatinib in primary CML but does not eliminate the quiescent fraction, Blood. 107 (2006) 4532–4539. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2947.
- [286] C.H.M. Jamieson, L.E. Ailles, S.J. Dylla, M. Muijtjens, C. Jones, J.L. Zehnder, J. Gotlib, K. Li, M.G. Manz, A. Keating, C.L. Sawyers, I.L. Weissman, Granulocyte– Macrophage Progenitors as Candidate Leukemic Stem Cells in Blast-Crisis CML, N. Engl. J. Med. 351 (2004) 657–667. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa040258.
- [287] S.M. Graham, H.G. Jørgensen, E. Allan, C. Pearson, M.J. Alcorn, L. Richmond, T.L. Holyoake, Primitive, quiescent, Philadelphia-positive stem cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia are insensitive to STI571 in vitro., Blood. 99 (2002) 319–25. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.1.319.
- [288] A.S. Corbin, A. Agarwal, M. Loriaux, J. Cortes, M.W. Deininger, B.J. Druker, Human chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells are insensitive to imatinib despite inhibition of BCR-ABL activity., J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 396–409. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI35721.
- [289] A. Hamilton, G.V. Helgason, M. Schemionek, B. Zhang, S. Myssina, E.K. Allan, F.E. Nicolini, C. Müller-Tidow, R. Bhatia, V.G. Brunton, S. Koschmieder, T.L. Holyoake, Chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells are not dependent on Bcr-Abl kinase activity for their survival., Blood. 119 (2012) 1501–10. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326843.
- [290] K. Bartolovic, S. Balabanov, U. Hartmann, M. Komor, A.M. Boehmler, H.-J. Bühring, R. Möhle, D. Hoelzer, L. Kanz, W.-K. Hofmann, T.H. Brümmendorf,

Inhibitory effect of imatinib on normal progenitor cells in vitro., Blood. 103 (2004) 523–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-05-1535.

- [291] M. Chen, P. Gallipoli, D. Degeer, I. Sloma, D.L. Forrest, M. Chan, D. Lai, H. Jorgensen, A. Ringrose, H.M. Wang, K. Lambie, H. Nakamoto, K.M. Saw, A. Turhan, R. Arlinghaus, J. Paul, J. Stobo, M.J. Barnett, A. Eaves, C.J. Eaves, T.L. Holyoake, X. Jiang, Targeting primitive chronic myeloid leukemia cells by effective inhibition of a new AHI-1-BCR-ABL-JAK2 complex, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 105 (2013) 405–423. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djt006.
- [292] X. Liu, K. Rothe, R. Yen, C. Fruhstorfer, T. Maetzig, M. Chen, D.L. Forrest, R.K. Humphries, X. Jiang, A novel AHI-1-BCR-ABL-DNM2 complex regulates leukemic properties of primitive CML cells through enhanced cellular endocytosis and ROS-mediated autophagy, Leukemia. 31 (2017) 2376–2387. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2017.108.
- [293] D. Lai, M. Chen, J. Su, X. Liu, K. Rothe, K. Hu, D.L. Forrest, C.J. Eaves, G.B. Morin, X. Jiang, PP2A inhibition sensitizes cancer stem cells to ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors in BCR-ABL+ human leukemia, Sci. Transl. Med. 10 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aan8735.
- [294] H. Lin, M. Chen, K. Rothe, M. V. Lorenzi, A. Woolfson, X. Jiang, Selective JAK2/ABL dual inhibition therapy effectively eliminates TKI-insensitive CML stem/progenitor cells, Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 8637–8650. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2353.
- [295] M. Chen, A.G. Turhan, H. Ding, Q. Lin, K. Meng, X. Jiang, Targeting BCR-ABL+ stem/progenitor cells and BCR-ABL-T315I mutant cells by effective inhibition of the BCR-ABL-Tyr177-GRB2 complex., Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 43662–43677. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18216.
- [296] T.L. Holyoake, D. Vetrie, The chronic myeloid leukemia stem cell: stemming the tide of persistence., Blood. 129 (2017) 1595–1606. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-09-696013.
- [297] F. Pellicano, T.L. Holyoake, Assembling defenses against therapy-resistant leukemic stem cells: Bcl6 joins the ranks:, J. Exp. Med. 208 (2011) 2155–2158. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20112087.
- [298] R.M. Lemoli, V. Salvestrini, E. Bianchi, F. Bertolini, M. Fogli, M. Amabile, A. Tafuri, S. Salati, R. Zini, N. Testoni, C. Rabascio, L. Rossi, I. Martin-Padura, F. Castagnetti, P. Marighetti, G. Martinelli, M. Baccarani, S. Ferrari, R. Manfredini, Molecular and functional analysis of the stem cell compartment of chronic myelogenous leukemia reveals the presence of a CD34- cell population with

intrinsic resistance to imatinib., Blood. 114 (2009) 5191–5200. https://doi.org/blood-2008-08-176016 [pii]\r10.1182/blood-2008-08-176016.

- [299] R.R. Nair, J. Tolentino, L.A. Hazlehurst, The bone marrow microenvironment as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease in CML, Biochem. Pharmacol. 80 (2010) 602–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2010.04.003.
- [300] E. Traer, N. Javidi-Sharifi, A. Agarwal, J. Dunlap, I. English, J. Martinez, J.W. Tyner, M. Wong, B.J. Druker, Ponatinib overcomes FGF2-mediated resistance in CML patients without kinase domain mutations, Blood. 123 (2014) 1516–1524. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-07-518381.
- [301] X. Zhang, H. Tu, Y. Yang, Q. Wan, L. Fang, Q. Wu, J. Li, High IL-7 levels in the bone marrow microenvironment mediate imatinib resistance and predict disease progression in chronic myeloid leukemia, Int. J. Hematol. 104 (2016) 358–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-016-2028-9.
- [302] C.-R. Lee, J.-A. Kang, H.-E. Kim, Y. Choi, T. Yang, S.-G. Park, Secretion of IL-1β from imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells contributes to BCR-ABL mutation-independent imatinib resistance., FEBS Lett. 590 (2016) 358–68. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12057.
- [303] T. Schmidt, B.K. Masouleh, S. Loges, S. Cauwenberghs, P. Fraisl, C. Maes, B. Jonckx, K. De Keersmaecker, M. Kleppe, M. Tjwa, T. Schenk, S. Vinckier, R. Fragoso, M. De Mol, K. Beel, S. Dias, C. Verfaillie, R.E. Clark, T.H. Brümmendorf, P. Vandenberghe, S. Rafii, T. Holyoake, A. Hochhaus, J. Cools, M. Karin, G. Carmeliet, M. Dewerchin, P. Carmeliet, Loss or inhibition of stromal-derived PIGF prolongs survival of mice with imatinib-resistant Bcr-Abl1+ leukemia, Cancer Cell. 19 (2011) 740–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.007.
- [304] X. Li, H. Miao, Y. Zhang, W. Li, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, L. Zhao, Q. Guo, Bone marrow microenvironment confers imatinib resistance to chronic myelogenous leukemia and oroxylin A reverses the resistance by suppressing Stat3 pathway, Arch. Toxicol. 89 (2015) 121–136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-014-1226-6.
- [305] P. Liu, D. Ma, Z. Yu, N. Zhe, M. Ren, P. Wang, M. Yu, J. Huang, Q. Fang, J. Wang, Overexpression of heme oxygenase-1 in bone marrow stromal cells promotes microenvironment-mediated imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Biomed. Pharmacother. 91 (2017) 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.04.076.
- [306] M. Yamamoto-Sugitani, J. Kuroda, E. Ashihara, H. Nagoshi, T. Kobayashi, Y. Matsumoto, N. Sasaki, Y. Shimura, M. Kiyota, R. Nakayama, K. Akaji, T. Taki, N. Uoshima, Y. Kobayashi, S. Horiike, T. Maekawa, M. Taniwaki, Galectin-3 (Gal-3)

induced by leukemia microenvironment promotes drug resistance and bone marrow lodgment in chronic myelogenous leukemia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108 (2011) 17468–17473. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1111138108.

- [307] H. van der Kuip, A.W. Goetz, C. Miething, J. Duyster, W.E. Aulitzky, Adhesion to fibronectin selectively protects Bcr-Abl+ cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis., Blood. 98 (2001) 1532–41. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V98.5.1532.
- [308] F.A. Fierro, A. Taubenberger, P.H. Puech, G. Ehninger, M. Bornhauser, D.J. Muller, T. Illmer, BCR/ABL Expression of Myeloid Progenitors Increases β1-Integrin Mediated Adhesion to Stromal Cells, J. Mol. Biol. 377 (2008) 1082–1093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.01.085.
- [309] L.A. Hazlehurst, R.F. Argilagos, W.S. Dalton, β1 integrin mediated adhesion increases Bim protein degradation and contributes to drug resistance in leukaemia cells, Br. J. Haematol. 136 (2007) 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06435.x.
- [310] Y. Tabe, L. Jin, Y. Tsutsumi-Ishii, Y. Xu, T. McQueen, W. Priebe, G.B. Mills, A. Ohsaka, I. Nagaoka, M. Andreeff, M. Konopleva, Activation of integrin-linked kinase is a critical prosurvival pathway induced in leukemic cells by bone marrow-derived stromal cells, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 684–694. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3166.
- [311] A. Puissant, M. Dufies, N. Fenouille, I. Ben Sahra, A. Jacquel, G. Robert, T. Cluzeau, M. Deckert, M. Tichet, Y. Chéli, J.P. Cassuto, S. Raynaud, L. Legros, J.M. Pasquet, F.X. Mahon, F. Luciano, P. Auberger, Imatinib triggers mesenchymal-like conversion of CML cells associated with increased aggressiveness, J. Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2012) 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjs010.
- [312] B. Zhang, M. Li, T. McDonald, T.L. Holyoake, R.T. Moon, D. Campana, L. Shultz, R. Bhatia, Microenvironmental protection of CML stem and progenitor cells from tyrosine kinase inhibitors through N-cadherin and Wnt-beta-catenin signaling., Blood. 121 (2013) 1824–1838. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-02-412890.
- [313] F. Vianello, F. Villanova, V. Tisato, S. Lymperi, K.K. Ho, A.R. Gomes, D. Marin, D. Bonnet, J. Apperley, E.W.F. Lam, F. Dazzi, Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells non-selectively protect chronic myeloid leukemia cells from imatinib-induced apoptosis via the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis, Haematologica. 95 (2010) 1081–1089. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2009.017178.
- [314] M. Zöller, CD44, hyaluronan, the hematopoietic stem cell, and leukemia-initiating cells, Front. Immunol. 6 (2015) 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00235.
- [315] K.P. Ng, A. Manjeri, K.L. Lee, W. Huang, S.Y. Tan, C.T.H. Chuah, L. Poellinger,

S.T. Ong, Physiologic hypoxia promotes maintenance of CML stem cells despite effective BCR-ABL1 inhibition, Blood. 123 (2014) 3316–3326. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-07-511907.

- [316] V.M. Rumjanek, R.S. Vidal, R.C. Maia, Multidrug resistance in chronic myeloid leukaemia: how much can we learn from MDR–CML cell lines?, Biosci. Rep. 33 (2013) 875–888. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20130067.
- [317] D.O. Okumu, M.P. East, M. Levine, L.E. Herring, R. Zhang, T.S.K. Gilbert, D.W. Litchfield, Y. Zhang, L.M. Graves, BIRC6 mediates imatinib resistance independently of Mcl-1, PLoS One. 12 (2017) 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177871.
- [318] L.C. Crowley, B.M. Elzinga, G.C. O'Sullivan, S.L. McKenna, Autophagy induction by Bcr-Abl-expressing cells facilitates their recovery from a targeted or nontargeted treatment, Am. J. Hematol. 86 (2011) 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.21914.
- [319] X. Zeng, H. Zhao, Y. Li, J. Fan, Y. Sun, S. Wang, Z. Wang, P. Song, D. Ju, Targeting Hedgehog signaling pathway and autophagy overcomes drug resistance of BCR-ABLpositive chronic myeloid leukemia, Autophagy. 11 (2015) 355–372. https://doi.org/10.4161/15548627.2014.994368.
- [320] E.M. Kuntz, P. Baquero, A.M. Michie, K. Dunn, S. Tardito, T.L. Holyoake, G.V. Helgason, E. Gottlieb, Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation eradicates therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, Nat. Med. 23 (2017) 1234–1240. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4399.
- [321] H.-U. Klein, S. Flis, T. Lange, E. Bolton-Gillespie, L. Kerstiens, T. Skorski, I. Seferynska, T. Stoklosa, G. Hoser, M. Koptyra, H. Modi, S. Koschmieder, M.C. Müller, J. Maier, T.L. Holyoake, M. Schemionek, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, R. Bhatia, H.-U. Klein, S. Flis, G. Hoser, T. Lange, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, J. Maier, L. Kerstiens, M. Koptyra, M.C. Müller, H. Modi, T. Stoklosa, I. Seferynska, R. Bhatia, T.L. Holyoake, S. Koschmieder, T. Skorski, Genomic instability may originate from imatinib-refractory chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells., Blood. 121 (2013) 4175–83. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-11-466938.
- [322] A. Hochhaus, P. La Rosée, Imatinib therapy in chronic myelogenous leukemia: Strategies to avoid and overcome resistance, Leukemia. 18 (2004) 1321–1331. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403426.
- [323] R. Alves, A.R. Fonseca, A.C. Gonçalves, M. Ferreira-Teixeira, J. Lima, A.M. Abrantes, V. Alves, P. Rodrigues-Santos, L. Jorge, E. Matoso, I.M. Carreira, M.F. Botelho, A.B. Sarmento-Ribeiro, Drug transporters play a key role in the complex process of Imatinib resistance in vitro, Leuk. Res. 39 (2015) 355–360.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.12.008.

- [324] R. Ren, The molecular mechanism of chronic myelogenous leukemia and its therapeutic implications: Studies in a murine model, Oncogene. 21 (2002) 8629– 8642. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206090.
- [325] K. Yang, L. wu Fu, Mechanisms of resistance to BCR-ABL TKIs and the therapeutic strategies: A review, Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 93 (2015) 27–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.11.001.
- [326] P. Valent, Targeting the JAK2-STAT5 pathway in CML, Blood. 124 (2014) 1386– 1388. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-07-585943.
- [327] K. V. Gleixner, M. Schneeweiss, G. Eisenwort, D. Berger, H. Herrmann, K. Blatt, G. Greiner, K. Byrgazov, G. Hoermann, M. Konopleva, I. Waliul, A.A. Cumaraswamy, P.T. Gunning, H. Maeda, R. Moriggl, M. Deininger, T. Lion, M. Andreeff, P. Valent, Combined targeting of STAT3 and STAT5: A novel approach to overcome drug resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Haematologica. 102 (2017) 1519–1529. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2016.163436.
- [328] A.M. Eiring, B.D.G. Page, I.L. Kraft, C.C. Mason, N.A. Vellore, D. Resetca, M.S. Zabriskie, T.Y. Zhang, J.S. Khorashad, A.J. Engar, K.R. Reynolds, D.J. Anderson, A. Senina, A.D. Pomicter, C.C. Arpin, S. Ahmad, W.L. Heaton, S.K. Tantravahi, A. Todic, R. Colaguori, R. Moriggl, D.J. Wilson, R. Baron, T. O'Hare, P.T. Gunning, M.W. Deininger, Combined STAT3 and BCR-ABL1 inhibition induces synthetic lethality in therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia, Leukemia. 29 (2015) 586–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.245.
- [329] R. Mitchell, L.E.M. Hopcroft, P. Baquero, E.K. Allan, K. Hewit, D. James, G. Hamilton, A. Mukhopadhyay, J. O'Prey, A. Hair, J. V Melo, E. Chan, K.M. Ryan, V. Maguer-Satta, B.J. Druker, R.E. Clark, S. Mitra, P. Herzyk, F.E. Nicolini, P. Salomoni, E. Shanks, B. Calabretta, T.L. Holyoake, G.V. Helgason, Targeting BCR-ABL-Independent TKI Resistance in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia by mTOR and Autophagy Inhibition, JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 110 (2017) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx236.
- [330] R. Ciarcia, S. Damiano, S. Montagnaro, U. Pagnini, A. Ruocco, G. Caparrotti, D. D'Angelo, S. Boffo, F. Morales, F. Rizzolio, S. Florio, A. Giordano, Combined effects of PI3K and SRC kinase inhibitors with imatinib on intracellular calcium levels, autophagy, and apoptosis in CML-PBL cells, Cell Cycle. 12 (2013) 2839–2848. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.25920.
- [331] P. Tseng, H. Lin, J. Zhu, K.-F. Chen, E.M. Hade, D.C. Young, J.C. Byrd, M. Grever, K. Johnson, B.J. Druker, C. Chen, Synergistic interactions between imatinib

mesylate and the novel phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 inhibitor OSU-03012 in overcoming imatinib mesylate resistance., Blood. 105 (2005) 4021–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-07-2967.

- [332] E. Jabbour, H. Kantarjian, Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2018 update on diagnosis, therapy and monitoring, Am. J. Hematol. 93 (2018) 442–459. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25011.
- [333] F.E. Nicolini, G.W. Basak, D.W. Kim, E. Olavarria, J. Pinilla-Ibarz, J.F. Apperley, T. Hughes, D. Niederwieser, M.J. Mauro, C. Chuah, A. Hochhaus, G. Martinelli, M. DerSarkissian, M.S. Duh, L.J. McGarry, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, Overall survival with ponatinib versus allogeneic stem cell transplantation in Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias with the T315I mutation, Cancer. 123 (2017) 2875–2880. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30558.
- [334] E. Weisberg, A.K. Azab, P.W. Manley, A.L. Kung, A.L. Christie, R. Bronson, I.M. Ghobrial, J.D. Griffin, Inhibition of CXCR4 in CML cells disrupts their interaction with the bone marrow microenvironment and sensitizes them to nilotinib., Leukemia. 26 (2012) 985–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2011.360.
- [335] B. Zhang, S. Chu, P. Agarwal, V.L. Campbell, L. Hopcroft, H.G. Jørgensen, A. Lin, K. Gaal, T.L. Holyoake, R. Bhatia, Inhibition of interleukin-1 signaling enhances elimination of tyrosine kinase inhibitor-treated CML stem cells, Blood. 128 (2016) 2671–2682. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-11-679928.
- [336] P. Podkalicka, O. Mucha, A. Józkowicz, J. Dulak, A. Łoboda, Heme oxygenase inhibition in cancers: possible tools and targets., Contemp. Oncol. (Poznan, Poland). 22 (2018) 23–32. https://doi.org/10.5114/wo.2018.73879.
- [337] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.

2. POLYMERIC DELIVERY OF siRNA AGAINST INTEGRIN-β1 (CD29) TO REDUCE ATTACHMENT AND MIGRATION OF BREAST CANCER CELLS²

 $^{^{2}}$ A version of this chapter was published in: Meenakshi Sundaram DN, Kucharski C, Parmar MB, Remant Bahadur KC, Uludağ H. Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin- β 1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells. Macromol Biosci 2017;17. doi:10.1002/mabi.201600430.

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Metastasis of breast cancer to various organs such as brain, liver, lung, and bone makes the disease almost incurable. Metastatic breast cancer is the second leading cause of cancer deaths following lung cancer [1]. The process of metastasis is initiated with (i) EMT of the tumor at the primary site, (ii) extracellular matrix degradation, (iii) intravasation, (iv) migration, (v) evasion from host cell defense mechanism and (vi) extravasation followed by attachment to the distant metastatic site [2]. The cell surface integrins expressed on tumor cells are vital for attachment of metastasizing cells to other organs. The integrins are cell surface receptors which are essential for cell-cell, cell-extracellular matrix interactions and play a pivotal role in migration, invasion, proliferation, survival of tumor cells and also in growth factor receptor signaling [3]. In mammals, there are 18 α -subunits and 8 β -subunits in the integrin family which can form 24 different integrin receptors and bind to various extracellular matrix components such as fibronectin, collagen, laminin and vitronectin [4, 5]. Over expression of integrins and their involvement in cancer progression has been demonstrated in different cancer types.

In breast cancer, integrin- β 1 (CD29) activation contributes to dormancy-tometastatic shift in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models [6, 7] and its over-expression is shown to be associated with invasive potential of the cancer cells and a significant decrease in the overall disease-free survival [8-11]. Antibodies targeting integrin- β 1 were shown to result in induction of apoptosis as well as decrease in tumor growth. One such promising antibody, PF-04605412 targeting α 5 β 1, displayed acute-infusion related reaction and it failed to inhibit the tumor growth in clinical trials [12]. The use of CRISPR/Cas9 to study the importance of integrin- β 1 on EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor) tyrosine kinase inhibitor (gefitinib) resistance revealed reduced migration of cells and negative regulation of EGFR activation upon integrin-\beta1 knockout [13]. The use of CRISPR/Cas9 for therapeutic intervention, however, may not be desirable, given the permanent deletion of integrin- β 1. Resistance to trastuzumab, a monoclonal antibody targeting HER-2 (human EGF receptor 2) was addressed by targeting integrin- β 1 using a combination of a blocking antibody (AIIB2) and specific siRNAs (delivered by electroporation) [14]. In addition to antibodies, ATN-161, an integrin- β 1 binding peptide, reduced the metastasis and tumor growth in animal models and its clinical trials resulted in prolonged stable disease in patients [15, 16]. The importance of integrin- β 1 during tumor progression was further emphasized by ablating integrin- β 1 in a mouse model, which interfered with the proliferation of cancer cells and mice deficient in integrin-β1 exhibited a drastic reduction in mammary lesion [17]. Evidence of integrin- β 1 as the major factor for the attachment of breast cancer cells has been shown by binding studies to fibronectin. Attachment to fibronectin activates various intracellular signaling pathways which enhances cancer cell proliferation, migration, survival and helps to confer increased drug resistance [18-20].

These studies supported the importance of integrin- β 1 as a potential therapeutic target to reduce breast cancer metastasis. Though several integrins have been identified and their inhibitors interrupted breast cancer metastasis, the pre-clinical and clinical outcomes of such drugs had little impact to improve the survival rate of the patients [21]. There is a strong need to develop more efficient approaches to overcome integrin-mediated metastasis of breast cancer. An alternative approach to target integrin- β 1 is to employ RNA interference (RNAi) mechanism where a target protein can be endogenously silenced post-transcriptionally. It seems possible to silence any protein target at will using RNAi. A

recent study focused on integrin- β 1 by using lentiviral short hairpin RNA (shRNA); integrin- β 1 knockdown resulted in reduced attachment of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-231 BO (bone metastatic) cells to human osteoblastic cell-derived matrices and led to reduced cellular migration without affecting the proliferation of cells [22]. Employing viral mechanisms to implement RNAi, however, is not desirable in a clinical setting. A more acceptable approach is to employ a pharmacological mediator of RNAi, namely short interfering RNA (siRNA), with non-viral carriers to achieve silencing.

In this study, we further explored the therapeutic prospect of integrin- β 1 using a simpler and efficient intervention based on the polymeric delivery of a dicer-substrate siRNA targeting integrin- β 1. As the successful entry of intact siRNA into the cells is plagued by barriers such as the anionic cell membrane and degradation by RNase A, a safe non-viral delivery system was employed to protect and deliver it into the cells. For this purpose, we utilized polyethylenimine (PEI) polymers of low molecular weight (1.2 kilo Dalton PEI - 1.2PEI) which has been substituted with lipids to improve the interaction of the cationic PEI/siRNA complexes with the anionic cell membrane. The use of dicer substrate siRNA (rather than conventional 21 nt double-stranded RNA) previously showed improved silencing by being incorporated into dicer enzyme in RISC complex [23] and was additionally demonstrated in a previous study from our group [24]. We successfully silenced integrin-\beta1 with minimal siRNA concentration which in turn reduced the migration of breast cancer cells as well as its binding ability to human bone marrow stromal cells and fibronectin coated surface. This treatment had very minimal effect on the proliferation of the breast cancer cells, thus providing a promising as well as a specific approach for breast cancer metastasis.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1 Materials

The 1.2PEI, fetal bovine serum (FBS), anhydrous dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), fibronectin, bovine serum albumin (BSA), formaldehyde, chloroform and 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS), trypsin/EDTA, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), penicillin, streptomycin and UltraPure DNase/RNase-free dH₂O were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, Canada). Phycoerythrin-labeled mouse anti-human CD29 was from BD Biosciences (Oakville, Canada). Dicer siRNA (CD29 1 5'substrate sense: AGUUAACAGUGAAGACAUGGAUGCT-3', 5'antisense: AGCAUCCAUGUCUUCACUGUUAACUUC-3'; CD29 2 5'sense: GCAAAUUCUAGCAAUGUAAUUCAGT-3', antisense: 5'-ACUGAAUUACAUUGCUAGAAUUUGCAG-3' and primers for PCR analysis from IDT (Coralville, USA). Trizol used for total RNA extraction was from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Corning Costar Transwell plates (6.5 mm inserts with 8.0 µm pore size PET membrane) was from Fisher Scientific. Cell lysis buffer (BML-KI117-0030) was purchased from Enzo Life Sciences (Farmingdale, NY).

2.2.2 Cell models

The metastatic breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231 were kindly provided by Dr. Judith Hugh (Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton) and confirmed to be mycoplasma-free. The cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were passaged after reaching 80% confluency, using 0.25% Trypsin/EDTA for 2 min at room temperature. Cells were collected by adding complete DMEM and centrifuged at 600 rpm for 5 min. They were allowed to grow for 24 hours prior to treatment. Human bone marrow stromal cells (hBMSCs) were isolated from patients (between 25-50 years of age) based on a procedure [25] approved by the Research Ethics Board of University of Alberta. These hBMSC cells were maintained in DMEM with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/mL streptomycin and 5 ng/mL basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.2.3 Polymer synthesis and siRNA-polymer complex preparation

The 1.2PEI modified with thiol-ester containing α -linoleic acid (t α LA, 2.73 α LA substitutions/PEI; 1.2PEI-t α LA), amide-linked lauric acid (Lau, 4.6 Lau substitutions/PEI; 1.2PEI-Lau) and amide-linked linoleic acid (LA, 6 LA substitutions/PEI; 1.2PEI-LA), were synthesized based on a previously published protocol [26, 27, 41] and the degree of substitution was determined through ¹H-NMR. The polymer-siRNA complexes were prepared in serum-free DMEM and incubated for 30 min at room temperature before adding to the cells (in 10% FBS). Complexes were prepared at 4:1 and 8:1 polymer to siRNA weight/weight ratio (corresponding N:P ratios were 15:1 and 30:1). 40 nM and 80 nM of siRNA concentrations were used in culture treatments for dose optimization experiments. All other experiments were carried out at 4:1 polymer to siRNA (weight/weight) with 40 nM siRNA concentration. The LipofectamineTM 2000-siRNA complexes were prepared at 2:1 lipid to siRNA (weight/weight) ratio (as suggested by the

manufacturer) with similar siRNA concentrations and incubated for 30 min at room temperature.

2.2.4 Flow cytometry for integrin-β1 analysis

The MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded 24 hours prior to the experiments. The cells were treated with the polymer/siRNA complexes for 72 hours (day 3) following which they were collected using Accutase (1:1 diluted with HBSS), washed using HBSS and stained with PE-anti-CD29 for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were washed twice with HBSS to remove excess antibody. For study groups involving day 6 and day 9 assessment, the media was replenished with fresh complete DMEM medium on day 3 and were incubated further, which was followed by staining as mentioned above. Cells were fixed with 2% formaldehyde prior to analysis with BD LSRFortessa (Becton-Dickinson, San Jose, USA). The extent of integrin- β 1 expression was expressed as either (i) mean FI (fluorescence intensity) levels per cell (in arbitrary fluorescent units) or (ii) as percentage of cell population positive for integrin- β 1. Cells with no treatment (unstained) were designated as 1% positive population.

2.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

To quantify the integrin- β 1 mRNA levels, qRT-PCR was performed for which cells were seeded 24 hours prior to treatment. Complexes prepared as mentioned earlier were added to the MDA-MB-231 cells. Later, cells were collected at three different time points (day 3, 6 & 9) as mentioned in the previous section and total RNA was extracted using Trizol reagent based on the manufacturer's instruction. 2 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed to synthesize cDNA by using 2 µl of mix-1 containing 0.5 µl random hexamer primer, 1 µl (10mM) dNTP's, 0.5 µl Oligo (dT) and heated at 65°C for 5min. Following which 8 μ l of mix-2 containing 4 μ l synthesis buffer (5x), 2 μ l DTT (0.1M), 1 μ l RNase out and 1µl M-MLV RT enzyme were added and incubated at 25°C for 10 min, 37°C for 50 min, 70°C for 15 min. Real time PCR was carried out on a StepOnePlus RT-PCR system with human β-actin (Forward: 5'-GCG AGA AGA TGA CCC AGA T-3' and Reverse: 5'-CCA GTG GTA CGG CCA GA-3') as the endogenous housekeeping gene and for Integrinβ1 (Forward: 5'-CCG CGC GGA AAA GAT GAA T-3' and Reverse: 5'-TGA GCA AAC ACA CAG CAA ACT-3'). 10 µl of reaction mixture containing 5 µl master mix SYBR Green, 2 μ l of 10 μ M primers and 3 μ l of 5 ng/ μ l cDNA template were added in triplicates to MicroAmp Fast Optical 96-well reaction plate. The reaction mixtures were heated at 95°C for 10 min before proceeding through 40 cycles of denaturation step 95°C for 15 s and annealing/elongation step 60°C for 1 min. ΔC_T , $\Delta \Delta C_T$ and Relative Quantity (RQ) of mRNA were calculated with endogenous gene and the NT-no treatment group as reference points.

2.2.6 Scratch assay

MDA-MB-231 cells were plated in 48-well plates with four replicates and cultured for 24 hours. The prepared 1.2PEI-LA polymer/siRNA complexes were added to the cells for 48 hours and scratches were made using a 200 μ L pipette tip, following which cells were washed to remove the floating cells. Images were obtained before incubating (0 hour) the cultures at 37°C for 24 hours, after which images were obtained once again. The open wound area was measured using TScratch software (available from http://cselab.ethz.ch/software/) and the percentage of migration was calculated by subtracting values of 0 hour from 24 hour and values were plotted relative to the no treatment group.

2.2.7 Transwell migration assay

The MDA-MB-231 cells were grown on 6-well plates, 24 hours prior to the treatment. 1.2PEI-LA polymer/siRNA complexes were added to the cells and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. The cells were then washed gently with HBSS to remove the serum content and fresh serum free media was added and further incubated for 24 hours. This was followed by collection of cells using trypsin and approximately $1 - 2x10^5$ cells were resuspended in 100 µL of serum free medium and were added to transwell inserts. The lower bottom of the wells containing the inserts were filled with medium containing 20% serum as a chemoattractant. This setup was incubated for an additional 24 hours at 37°C. The cells present on the upper surface of the inserts (the cells that did not migrate) were removed gently using a cotton swab. The inserts were then fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 min and stained with 0.1% crystal violet for 1 hour. The inserts were provided with 3-4 washes with HBSS before imaging under a microscope. The dye was subsequently solubilized with 10% acetic acid and absorbance was measured at 570 nm using ELx800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments).

2.2.8 Fibronectin binding assay

The binding assay was carried out based on a published protocol [28] with minor modifications. Briefly, fibronectin was coated onto 96-well flat bottom plates at 4 °C overnight with 50 μ L of 5 μ g/mL of fibronectin. The plates were then blocked with 2%

BSA in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. MDA-MB-231 cells treated with polymer/siRNA complex for 72 hours were collected by trypsinization and equal number of cells were added in triplicates to the fibronectin coated plates and incubated at 37° C for 1 hour with a total volume of 300 to 350 µl HBSS in each well. The plates were subsequently inverted and further incubated for 3 hours at 37° C. Cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde followed by staining with 0.1% crystal violet for 1 hour and washed with HBSS. The dye was solubilized with 10% acetic acid and the absorbances were measured at 570 nm using EL_x800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments).

2.2.9 hBMSC adhesion assay

Human bone marrow stromal cells were seeded in 96-well flat bottom plates and were maintained for 2-3 days to reach confluency [29]. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with desired siRNA/polymer complexes, harvested after 72 hours of treatment (i.e., siRNA complexes incubated continuously with cells during this time) and stained with DiI (carbocyanine dye) for 20 min. These cells were added to the confluent hBMSC monolayers in 96-well plates and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C followed by which the plates were placed upside down and further incubated for 3 hours at 37 °C. The non-adherent cells were removed by washing and the fluorescence was recorded at excitation: 549 nm and emission 565 nm using Fluoroskan Ascent plate reader (Thermolab systems).

2.2.10 siRNA uptake

FAM (6-carboxyfluorescein) labeled control siRNA was used to study the uptake of siRNA in MDA-MB-231 cells. The cells were allowed to grow for 24 hours, following which FAM-siRNA/polymer complexes (polymer/siRNA ratio of 4:1 and 40 nM in solution; prepared as above by replacing unlabeled/specific siRNAs with FAM-labeled siRNA) were added to the cells and incubated for 24 hours. Cells were trypsinized, washed twice with HBSS and fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde. Cells treated with unlabeled control siRNA was used as negative population and the uptake was quantified using BD LSRFortessa (Becton-Dickinson, San Jose, USA). The extent of siRNA uptake was expressed as either (i) mean siRNA levels per cell (in arbitrary fluorescent units) or (ii) as percentage of cell population positive for FAM-labeled siRNA. Cells treated with unlabeled siRNA complexes were designated as 1% positive population.

The siRNA uptake was also investigated by confocal microscopy as a complementary tool to flow cytometry analysis. After treating the cells grown on coverslips with siRNA complexes for 24 hours, the cells were washed thoroughly with HBSS and were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 20 min at 37 °C. Cells were once again washed with ddH₂O and stained with 1 μ g/ml wheat germ agglutinin (WGA)-Texas Red conjugate for 5 min at room temperature and were washed three times. 6 μ l of mounting medium with DAPI (4,6-diamino-2-phenylindole) was used to mount the coverslip onto the slides. Samples were imaged under 40X 1.3 plan-apochromat lenses in Laser Scanning Confocal Microscopy (LSM710, Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, Germany). The captured images were analyzed using the software ImarisCell v 8.3, BITPLANE.

2.2.11 Caspase activity

Following 3 days of treatment with polymer/siRNA complex, cells were collected, counted, and lysed using a cell lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES, 0.1% CHAPS, 5 mM DTT,

0.1 mM EDTA; pH 7.4) with incubation on ice for 5 min. The supernatants were centrifuged and 50 μ l of reaction buffer prepared by mixing 10 μ l of Ac-DEVD-AFC substrate (20 mM) with 1 ml of HEPES buffer were added to the cell lysate at 0.2 mM.(final concentration). Fluorescence was recorded at Ex: 400 nm / Em: 505 nm using a Fluoroskan Ascent plate reader (Thermolab systems) for different time points (0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min).

2.2.12 Statistical analysis

The results are summarized as mean \pm standard deviation and unpaired Student's *t*test was used to assess the statistical differences between the group means with p-value < 0.05 considered as statistically significant. Where specified, the number of independent experiments used to generate the data (n) are indicated.

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Low concentration of siRNA is sufficient to reduce integrin- β 1 levels

To undertake effective delivery of siRNA across the cellular membrane, we employed 3 in-house prepared PEI polymers that were modified with (i) thiol-ester containing α -linoleic acid (t α LA, 2.73 substitutions/PEI): 1.2PEI-t α LA, (ii) amide-linked lauric acid (Lau, 4.6 substitutions/PEI): 1.2PEI-Lau and (iii) amide-linked linoleic acid (LA, 6 substitutions/PEI): 1.2PEI-LA. These polymers where selected based on their silencing efficiency from an initial library screening where an anti-integrin- β 1 siRNA was used (**Fig 2.S1**) to lower cell surface integrin- β 1 levels. The size of the polymer:siRNA

complexes were in the range of 300 to 350 nm with positive zeta potentials and conferred complete siRNA protection which has been reported previously [41].

The siRNA uptake studies using flow cytometry with the polymers, displayed similar levels of internalization (~50% of cell population) with all 3 polymers, which was equivalent to siRNA delivery with LipofectamineTM 2000 (**Fig 2.1A**). However, the mean fluorescence, corresponding to mean amount of siRNA associated per cell, was ~2-fold higher for 1.2PEI-LA and 1.2PEI-Lau polymers, followed by similar levels of fluorescence by the 1.2PEI-t α LA polymer and LipofectamineTM 2000 (**Fig 2.1B**).



Figure 2.1: Uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA analyzed by flow cytometry. The uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA with 1.2PEI-t α LA, 1.2PEI-Lau, 1.2PEI-LA and LipofectamineTM 2000 after 24 hours of treatment. (A) Displays the percentage of positive cells for FAM-siRNA/polymer complex and (B) Displays its corresponding mean fluorescence calculated relative to the no treatment cells (cells without treatment). Significant difference in mean fluorescence compared to 1.2PEI-t α LA, * p ≤ 0.03 (n=2).

The localization of polymer/siRNA complex inside the cell was analyzed using confocal microscopy. The cytoplasmic localization was higher with 1.2PEI-LA polymer when compared to 1.2PEI-Lau and LipofectamineTM 2000 ($p \le 0.0001$) with relatively few complexes in the nucleus (**Fig. 2.2A, B**). The overall internalization was slightly lower with 1.2PEI-Lau but it still exhibited higher cytoplasmic localization than in nucleus unlike

LipofectamineTM 2000, which exhibited equivalent localization between the cytoplasm and the nucleus. The overall internalization of siRNA delivered with 1.2PEI-Lau and LipofectamineTM 2000 appeared to be similar. Thus, the higher cytoplasmic localization of 1.2PEI-LA/siRNA complexes was considered beneficial since the site of action of siRNA delivery is cytoplasmic.





Figure 2.2: Cellular uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA in MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) The uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA with 1.2PEI-LA, 1.2PEI-Lau and LipofectamineTM 2000 after 24 hours of treatment. Representative pictures are shown where the siRNA particles were visualized as green, cell membrane as red and nuclei as blue. Unlabeled CsiRNA was used as a negative control. (B) The number of polymer/siRNA complexes in cytoplasm (circle), nucleus (square) and total cell (diamond) was analyzed using Imaris software. The insert represents the average number of polymer/siRNA complexes in each cell (+ SD) with significant difference in cytoplasm compared to the nucleus, * p ≤ 0.0001 (n=31 for each group). Treatment with unlabeled siRNA (CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA) was used as control.

Since optimal silencing depends on siRNA concentration as well as polymer:siRNA ratio used in making the complex formulations, we performed a dose optimization study for reducing cell surface integrin- β 1 levels with 2 Dicer-substrate siRNAs (CD29_1 and CD29_2) targeting 2 different regions in the integrin- β 1 gene. The siRNA concentrations were 40 and 80 nM, while the complexed were formed at 4:1 and

8:1 weight/weight ratio (polymer to siRNA) (**Fig 2.3A, B, C [i]**). The CD29_2 siRNA was not effective in silencing integrin-β1 with any of the polymers as the integrin-β1 levels remained similar to the CsiRNA treatment. On the other hand, CD29_1 siRNA displayed significant silencing at the lowest ratio of 4:1 with 40 nM siRNA in complexation with all polymers. Further increasing the concentration of siRNA or the polymer:siRNA ratio did not influence the silencing effect. Lowering the siRNA concentration as low as 10 nM was also effective in silencing and with gradual increase in concentration, the effect was maximum between 20 and 40 nM (**Fig 2.3C [ii]**). The lower doses of siRNA are advantageous as it reduces the possibility of off-target effects [30]. Failing to observe any increase in silencing after adding higher doses of siRNA or polymer:siRNA ratio, further studies were conducted at 4:1 polymer:siRNA ratio and with 40 nM of CD29_1 siRNA.





(A), 1.2PEI-Lau (B), and 1.2PEI-LA (C [i]). The polymer: siRNA (weight/weight) ratio of 4 (R4), and 8 (R8) were used at 40 and 80nM of siRNA concentration with two different siRNAs (designated as CD29_1 and CD29_2 siRNAs). (C [ii]) Dose response curve for integrin- β 1 levels with CD29_1 siRNA delivered with 1.2PEI-LA polymer with increasing siRNA concentrations. CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA. Significant difference compared to the respective CsiRNA treatment. * p ≤ 0.05; ** p ≤ 0.01 (n=2).

Using direct cell counts (**Fig 2.4**), integrin- β 1 siRNA delivery with 1.2PEI-t α LA and 1.2PEI-LA polymers gave significant decrease in cell numbers after 3 days of siRNA treatment. The cell number were drastically reduced for both integrin- β 1 siRNA and CsiRNA treated sample of 1.2PEI-Lau, which was indicative of non-specific toxicity of the complexes on the cells.



Figure 2.4: Effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on cell number. Cell counts were obtained after 3 days of treatment with the 3 polymers at a ratio of 4 and at 40 nM CD29 siRNA concentration (given by percentage of cell count relative to no treatment group – cells without any treatment). CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA. * p ≤ 0.05; ** p ≤ 0.007 (n=3) compared to CsiRNA treatment for each polymer.

2.3.2 Polymer mediated siRNA delivery sustains the silencing effect.

We examined the duration of silencing over a period of 9 days after treating the MDA-MB-231 cells with polymer/siRNA complexes. All 3 polymers exhibited similar
extent of silencing (40-50% based on mean integrin- β 1 levels) on day 3 when compared to the CsiRNA treated cells (**Fig 2.5**). With 1.2PEI-t α LA, the integrin- β 1 levels relapsed back to the levels observed for CsiRNA treated samples at day 6 and 9. The 1.2PEI-Lau polymer was able to sustain the silencing until day 6, but the effect was not significant on day 9. The cells treated with 1.2PEI-LA polymer exhibited prolonged and significant silencing from day 3 to day 9. The reference reagent LipofectamineTM 2000 was also capable of achieving significant reduction in integrin- β 1 levels, but the silencing effect was not significant on day 9.



Figure 2.5: Integrin- β 1 silencing with siRNA delivery at longer durations. The integrin- β 1 levels (given by percentage of mean fluorescence intensity relative to no treatment group) were measured after 3, 6 and 9 days of siRNA treatment for polymers 1.2PEI-taLA, 1.2PEI-Lau, 1.2PEI-LA and LipofectamineTM 2000. A polymer:siRNA (weight/weight) ratio of 4 with 40 nM of siRNA concentration was used. * p \leq 0.04; ** p \leq 0.01 (n=2). Significant difference compared to the respective CsiRNA treatment.

2.3.3 Polymer mediated siRNA delivery provides strong knockdown of Integrin-β1 mRNA.

The reduction of integrin- β 1 mRNA levels was assessed through qRT-PCR after treating the cells with siRNA/polymer complexes for 3 days. All 3 polymers displayed significant reduction in the mRNA levels after day 3, but the knockdown efficacy was

much higher with the 1.2PEI-LA delivered siRNA (~90%). Though all the polymers expressed similar levels of silencing in the flow cytometry analysis on day 3 (**Fig 2.5**), the integrin-β1 mRNA levels were reduced to a different extent (**Fig 2.6A**). The silencing was significantly higher with siRNA delivered with 1.2PEI-LA (90%) than 1.2PEI-tαLA (70%) and 1.2PEI-Lau (40%). It was interesting to note that treatment with 1.2PEI-Lau complexes resulted in elevated integrin-β1 levels with CsiRNA, and this increase could be due to the presence of lauric acid. Lauric acid (at very high concentrations) was shown to regulate the expression of NF-κB in macrophages [31] and in colon epithelial cells [32]. The transcription factor NF-κB binds to integrin-β1 promoter region and could account for our observation in this experiment. We selected 1.2PEI-LA polymer to study the silencing duration; siRNA delivery with this polymer gave strong integrin-β1 knockdown until day 9 (**Fig 2.6B**), which was consistent from day 3 to day 9.



Figure 2.6: Integrin- β 1 mRNA levels after siRNA treatment. (A) The mRNA levels of integrin- β 1 after 3 days of siRNA treatment with the polymers 1.2PEI-t α LA, 1.2PEI-Lau, 1.2PEI-LA were quantified through qRT-PCR (values are plotted relative to no treatment group). (B) Integrin- β 1 mRNA levels after treatment with 1.2PEI-LA polymer for 3, 6 and 9 days. Significant difference compared to the respective CsiRNA treatment, * p \leq 0.005; ** p \leq 0.0002. CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA.

2.3.4 Integrin-β1 silencing reduces binding of breast cancer cells to fibronectin and hBMSCs

Following successful knockdown of integrin- β 1, we checked the functionality of treatment by assessing binding of siRNA treated cells to primary integrin- β 1 receptor fibronectin. After treatment with the polymer/siRNA complexes for 3 days, all polymers showed significant reduction in cell binding, consistent with integrin- β 1 silencing. The cells treated with 1.2PEI-LA/siRNA complexes, which presented the highest knockdown efficiency among the polymer complexes, showed higher decrease in binding to fibronectin (**Fig 2.7A**). Treatment with increasing siRNA concentrations showed significant and steady decrease in fibronectin binding starting from 10 nM to 40 nM, but additional increase in siRNA concentration (60 and 80 nM) had no further effect on binding (**Fig 2.7B**).

Binding to hBMSCs was additionally explored for siRNA treated MDA-MB-231 cells, where the treated cells were collected and allowed to adhere to a monolayer of hBMSC. Significant reduction in hBMSC binding was observed with 1.2PEI-LA/siRNA complex treatment (~20%) whereas other polymers did not inhibit the binding of treated cells to hBMSCs (**Fig 2.7C**).



Figure 2.7: Effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on cell adhesion. (A) Adhesion on fibronectincoated surfaces: Percentage of MDA-MB-231 cells binding to fibronectin relative to nontreated cells calculated following 3 days of treatment with siRNA using the polymers 1.2PEI-t α LA, 1.2PEI-Lau and 1.2PEI-LA. (n=2). (B) Adhesion to fibronectin after treatment with 1.2PEI-LA at different siRNA concentrations. (n=2) and (C) Adhesion towards hBMSCs: Percentage of MDA-MB-231 cells binding to human bone marrow stromal cells (hBMSCs) relative to non-treated cells calculated after 3 days of siRNA treatment with all 3 polymers. * $p \le 0.03$; ** $p \le 0.001$ (n=5) compared to CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA for individual treatment group.

2.3.5 Integrin-β1 silencing inhibits migration of breast cancer cells

The migration of MDA-MB-231 was studied using the well-established 'scratch' assay following silencing of integrin- β 1. The percentage of open wound area was calculated using image analysis after allowing the cells to recover for 24 hours. We employed only 1.2PEI-LA polymer to deliver the integrin- β 1 siRNA as it showed strongest silencing at the protein and mRNA levels (data from **Figs 2.5, 2.6**). We observed ~60% migration inhibition with the integrin- β 1 siRNA delivery as compared to the CsiRNA treated samples (**Fig 2.8A, B [i]**). A small but significant decrease in cell numbers (assessed

by the MTT assay) was noted for integrin-β1 siRNA treated cells (**Fig 2.8B [ii]**), similar to results in Fig 2.4. A dose effect study with different siRNA concentrations (low to high) showed a gradual and steady drop in the migration of cells with increase in the concentration of siRNA (**Fig 2.9 and Fig 2.S2**).



Figure 2.8: Effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on cell migration by scratch assay. Scratch assay was performed after 2 days of siRNA treatment with 1.2PEI-LA polymer. (A) Shows the representative images of scratches captured at 0 and 24 hours and the inhibition in migration of cells. Scale bar = 200 µm. (B) (i) Percentage of migration relative to no treatment (NT) was calculated using TScratch software and (ii) its corresponding cell viability through MTT assay. * p ≤ 0.0003 (n=3) compared to CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA.



Figure 2.9: Percentage of migration at different siRNA concentrations. Percentage of migration after 3 days of treatment with 1.2PEI-LA polymer at different siRNA concentrations was calculated using TScratch software through 0 hour and 24 hours images from scratch assay relative to no treatment cells. * $p \le 0.0005$ compared to CsiRNA.

To further validate the scratch assay results, we performed a Transwell migration assay with the same conditions as above. Using crystal violet staining, representative images showed a decline in cells that have migrated to the lower surface of the insert upon integrin- β 1 siRNA treatment (**Fig 2.10A**). Upon quantitating the cell numbers, the CsiRNA treated cells in the absence of serum displayed ~26% migration, whereas the CsiRNA treated cells in complete medium (i.e., with 20% serum) exhibited ~85% migration relative to no-treatment (**Fig 2.10B**). The siRNA delivery against integrin- β 1 resulted in ~50% reduction in migration, compared to CsiRNA treated cells.



Figure 2.10: Effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on cell migration by Transwell migration assay. Transwell migration assay was performed after 24 hours of siRNA treatment with 1.2PEI-LA polymer. (A) Representative images of the crystal violet stained cells that have migrated and (B) The corresponding absorbance of the migrated cells after solubilizing the crystal violet in 10% acetic acid (absorbance values are relative to no treatment (NT) group). Significance compared to CsiRNA treatment * p ≤ 0.012. (n=2). Scale bar = 200 µm.

2.4 DISCUSSION

The primary interactions between the cancer cells and their microenvironment, hence their propensity to metastasize and establish distant colonies, are significantly influenced by cell surface integrins [2, 3]. Cellular interactions mediated by integrin- β 1 were therefore explored as a potential therapeutic approach to prevent metastasis of breast cancers [33]. Peptides and antibodies were designed to block this receptor-mediated tumor growth and metastatic invasiveness in several xenograft studies [34]. The blocking antibodies was able to inhibit the adhesion of breast cells to human osteoblast cells and also to ECM proteins by targeting integrins β 1, α 1, α 2, and α 3 [35, 36]. Antibodies targeting integrins have advanced to clinical trials but have numerous limitations such as high production costs and possible adverse interaction(s) with immune system, and their efficacy has not been proven. Hence, we envisioned to employ siRNA as a promising approach to target integrin- β 1. We have shown for the first time that a simpler approach, based on delivery of integrin- β 1 siRNA with lipid-modified PEI polymers, is effective in reducing the migration and adhesion of the breast cancer cells to extracellular proteins. The use of dicer substrate siRNA leads to the direct interaction of the siRNA with the dicer enzyme before incorporating into RISC assembly which helps to increase the silencing effect by employing the natural siRNA silencing pathway [37]. Three different 1.2PEI polymers, each modified with a unique lipid (i.e., 1.2PEI-t α LA, 1.2PEI-Lau and 1.2PEI-LA) were functional in undertaking siRNA delivery against the integrin- β 1, although significant differences in their performance and non-specific effects were observed.

We successfully reduced cell surface integrin- β 1 levels for relatively long durations (9 days) with a single treatment of siRNA on MDA-MB-231 cells. We could observe the silencing to be much more effective at the mRNA level, which displayed 75-90% silencing up to 9 days. This silencing of integrin- β 1 was attained using a relatively low siRNA concentration of 40 nM (in fact as low as 10 nM siRNA was also effective, albeit to a lower extent) and at a polymer to siRNA ratio (4:1) that was lower than other targets utilized in our lab [38]. We have previously reported that hydrophobic lipids on low molecular weight PEI helped with the better interaction of polymers with siRNA as well as DNA in multiple studies, which in turn increased the transfection efficiency when compared to the unmodified PEI [38–40]. An initial library of PEI polymers having different lipid modifications and varying levels of substitution was screened by looking into the surface

integrin-\beta1; only 3 polymers (1.2PEI-t\alphaLA, 1.2PEI-Lau and 1.2PEI-LA) out of 32 polymers showed promising effect, indicating that the details of polymer design (such as molecular weight of backbone, the nature of lipid substitution and extent of lipid substitution) was crucial in ultimate silencing efficiency. Minimal use of siRNA for cell treatment is crucial as lower siRNA concentration is known to display lower off-target or nonspecific effects [42, 43] and we consider the 40 nM of siRNA used here to be sufficiently low enough to perform significant silencing. The siRNA CD29 1 was effective whereas CD29 2 was not functional as these sequences were selected from a pre-existing library of commercial siRNAs targeting the same gene at different sites. Clearly, the silencing efficiency was dependent on the target site, and it might be possible to further improve the efficacy of integrin- β 1 silencing by targeting different regions of the mRNA. The levels of integrin-\$1 started to relapse with time, for 1.2PEI-taLA and 1.2PEI-Lau polymers, but the silencing effect was significant and stable for the 1.2PEI-LA treatment. The presence of linoleic acid on the PEI is shown to improve the interaction of polymer with siRNA/DNA which in turn has helped in better interaction with the cell membrane resulting in higher cellular uptake [39, 41, 44–45]. In addition to this, better cytoplasmic localization as well as higher intracellular release of siRNA could have contributed for the effective silencing. As the aim of our study was to validate the therapeutic potential of integrin- β 1, we did not explore the role of different substituents in detail in this work. We note that published work from our lab has previously explored mechanistic insight into the beneficial effect of LA substitution in the context of delivery of siRNAs against other oncotargets [29].

Migration ability of breast cancer cells after silencing integrin- β 1 was investigated in vitro as a model of metastatic response. The well-established scratch assay was performed after treating the cells with 1.2PEI-LA/siRNA complex, which showed 60% inhibition in the migration of the MDA-MB-231 cells after 24 hours of scratch formation. It was earlier reported that integrins β 1 and β 4 were critical during the process of tumor formation and also during epithelial to mesenchymal transition in the initials steps of metastasis [47, 48]. The knockout of integrin- β 1 using CRISPR/Cas9 reported 50% inhibition in migration through scratch assay in a previous study [13], so that siRNAmediated approach in this study yields a similar level of efficiency. While CRISPR/Cas9 causes a permanent deletion of the target gene, its high potency is worrisome if the target gene is silenced in other tissues. A transwell migration assay was additionally employed to evaluate the impact of integrin- β 1 silencing on migration, which supported the scratch assay results with 50% inhibition, and provided a stronger confirmation of the therapeutic potential of silencing integrin- β 1 with specific siRNAs. A cyclic peptide targeting integrin- $\alpha_2\beta_1$ showed a relatively lower ~25% inhibition in wound healing (scratch assay) as well as in migration assays, while its inhibition in tumor growth and bone metastasis *in vivo* was significantly higher [49]. The benefit of siRNA therapy using lipid-modified polymers could be more significant *in vivo*, albeit this issue remains unexplored in the current study.

As the colonization of secondary tumor is initiated with the attachment of cancer to distant organs, we checked the ability of integrin- β 1 silenced MDA-MB-231 cells to adhere to fibronectin for which integrin- β 1 is a primary receptor. The knockdown of the cell surface integrin- β 1 using 1.2PEI-LA led to 65% inhibition in the binding of MDA-MB-231 cells to fibronectin, while the other polymers displayed lower (~40%) inhibition of

fibronectin binding. As low as 10 nM siRNA treatment was sufficient to influence the fibronectin binding. It is likely that other receptors might have participated in fibronectin binding, so that complete inhibition could not be achieved solely by the integrin- β 1 siRNA. We further examined the adhesion ability by allowing the treated breast cancer cells to interact directly with hBMSC, which express a wide range of adhesion protein on cell surface and aid in tumor cell interactions leading to the adhesion of cells and colonization [50]. Only the most effective polymer (1.2PEI-LA) treatment displayed significant inhibition of binding. However, this reduction in binding to BMSC was relatively low $(\sim 20\%)$. Such a difference in the adhesion studies between fibronectin and hBMSCs could be attributed to the involvement of other adhesion molecules including other members of the integrin family of proteins. A recent study (retroviral transduction of targeting integrin- β 1) with MDA-MB-231 cells also reported similar levels of binding inhibition towards human osteoblasts derived matrices. Our study indicates the possibility of achieving similar functional outcomes by targeting integrin- β 1, but without the need for viral carriers [23]. Thus, silencing of integrin- β 1 solely in the metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells could be more beneficial to reduce cellular migration rather than adhesion of cells to other bone-marrow resident cells.

Treating the cells with AIIB2 antibody led to a drastic decrease in the total cell number along with decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis without affecting nonmalignant cells [50, 51]. A combinational treatment of AIIB2 along with ionizing radiation enhanced the apoptosis in cells [33]. Earlier reports on the inhibition of paclitaxel-induced apoptosis due to the presence of integrin- β 1 explains its critical roles on cell viability [50]. In this study, we also evaluated the effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on the cell numbers; we observed a small but significant effect when compared to CsiRNA treated cells. The induction of apoptosis (by caspase assay) was also not evident in our hands (**Fig 2.S3**). Previous studies with antibodies and peptides intended to block integrin- β 1 have reported apoptosis in breast cancer cells [19, 50], but one other approach using integrin- β 1 lentiviral shRNA had no significant difference in apoptosis when compared to control treatment [22]. Similarly, the CRISPR/Cas9 approach to study the role of integrin- β 1 did not report its involvement in apoptosis; rather, a strong dependency in the cell growth at lower cell density and suppression of cell growth at higher cell density was observed [13]. Such contrasting observations could be explained by the different approaches used for targeting integrin- β 1 and different cell types used in the studies. Perhaps the model of inhibition, i.e., post-transcriptional vs. post-translational, rather than the extent of integrin- β 1 levels on cell surfaces, might be a causative factor for apoptotic response. This issue needs to be clarified in future studies.

The downstream integrin- β 1 signaling via phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) and serine/threonine kinase AKT provides resistance towards drug-induced apoptosis and is a key survival pathway in drug resistant breast cancer [53]. Integrin- β 1 adhesion to ECM proteins upregulated FAK, ERK, p38 MAPK and JNK expression in MDA-MB-231 cells, which also induced expression of matrix metalloproteinase-13 [36]. The knockout of integrin- β 1 comprehensively decreased the expression levels of FAK and AKT in MDA-MB-231 cells, affected cell migration, and revealed a negative effect on the expression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), suggesting an inverse relationship between integrin- β 1 and EGFR [13]. It is likely that siRNA-mediated integrin- β 1 silencing in MDA-MB-231 cells also down-regulated FAK, PI3K or AKT in this study.

The importance of integrin- β 1 during the EMT, angiogenesis, migration, proliferation, and re-attachment at distant sites has been explored in various studies. As the process of metastasis starts with EMT followed by migration and later re-attachment, our study that demonstrated reduced cell attachment, might curtail initial propensity to migrate along with reduced adhesion towards fibronectin and hBMSC could be a promising approach. During the execution of these studies, we also focused on the possibility of cell detachment from the tissue culture plates; we did not observe any significant difference in the number of floating cells in wells between the CsiRNA and integrin- β 1 siRNA treated cells (Fig 2.S4), so that silencing integrin- β 1 does not seem to alter the initial adhesiveness once the cells are attached to a substrate. The siRNA-treated cells in circulation can consequently fail to adhere to fibronectin/hBMSC and might pose less threat to form a secondary tumor, as they have lost the ability to bind to target sites as a result of integrinβ1 silencing. It appears that the possibility of increased metastasis from the primary site (due to inhibition of ECM binding after siRNA silencing) should not be a concern with our approach. This was also not the case in antibody and peptide inhibition studies involving integrin- β 1, where no incidence of increased metastasis was observed as the *in vivo* studies with these systems showed reduced metastasis to various organs and a decrease in the tumor volume which was also reported by retroviral-shRNA and CRISPR/Cas9 knockout studies [13, 14, 15, 50].

Thus, for the first time, we have shown that therapeutic silencing of integrin- β 1 was possible by using linoleic acid modified PEI polymers and using dicer-substrate siRNA delivery. Such an approach reduces the migration of metastatic breast cancer to a large extent, in addition to significant inhibition of cell adhesion to fibronectin and human bone marrow stromal cells. Little effect on cell viability and cell numbers were observed after integrin- β 1 silencing. Thus, silencing of a single integrin subunit can have multiple inhibitory effects on the breast cancer cells and careful selection of addition integrin subunits could be more beneficial to inhibit its attachment to different metastatic sites.

2.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by an Innovation Grant from the Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation (CBCF), a Discovery Grant from Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada (NSERC) and a joint Canada-China Initiative Grant provided by the U. of Alberta Office of Research. We acknowledge the technical help provided by Ms. Bindu Thapa while performing the qRT-PCR studies.

2.6 REFERENCES

- Canadian cancer society's advisory committee on cancer statistics. Canadian cancer statistics 2015. Toronto, ON: Canadian cancer society, www.cancer.ca/statistics. Last access: July 2016.
- J.Y. Krzeszinski, Y. Wan, New therapeutic targets for cancer bone metastasis., Trends. Pharmacol. Sci. 36 (2015) 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.04.006.
- J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748.
- [4] R.O. Hynes, Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines., Cell. 110 (2002) 673–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00971-6.
- [5] C.K. Miranti, J.S. Brugge, Sensing the environment: a historical perspective on integrin signal transduction., Nat. Cell. Biol. 4 (2002) E83–E90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0402-e83.
- [6] D. Barkan, L.H. El Touny, A.M. Michalowski, J.A. Smith, I. Chu, A.S. Davis, J.D. Webster, S. Hoover, R.M. Simpson, J. Gauldie, J.E. Green, Metastatic growth from dormant cells induced by a Col-I-enriched fibrotic environment., Cancer. Res. 70 (2010) 5706–5716. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2356.
- [7] D. Barkan, H. Kleinman, J.L. Simmons, H. Asmussen, A.K. Kamaraju, M.J. Hoenorhoff, Z.Y. Liu, S.V. Costes, E.H. Cho, S. Lockett, C. Khanna, A.F. Chambers, J.E. Green, Inhibition of metastatic outgrowth from single dormant tumor cells by targeting the cytoskeleton., Cancer. Res. 68 (2008) 6241–6250. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6849.
- [8] F. Wang, R.K. Hansen, D. Radisky, T. Yoneda, M.H. Barcellos-Hoff, O.W. Petersen, E.A. Turley, M.J. Bissell, Phenotypic reversion or death of cancer cells by altering signaling pathways in three-dimensional contexts., J. Natl. Cancer. Inst. 94 (2002) 1494–1503. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/94.19.1494.
- [9] P.B. dos Santos, J.S. Zanetti, A. Ribeiro-Silva, and E.I. Beltrao, Beta 1 integrin predicts survival in breast cancer: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study., Diagn. Pathol. 7 (2012) 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-7-104.
- [10] E. S. Yao, H. Zhang, Y. Y. Chen, B. Lee, K. Chew, D. Moore, and C. Park, Increased β1 integrin is associated with decreased survival in invasive breast cancer., Cancer. Res. 67 (2007) 659–664. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2768.
- [11] H. Lahlou, W.J. Muller, β1-integrins signaling and mammary tumor progression in

transgenic mouse models: implications for human breast cancer., Breast. Cancer. Res. 13 (2011) 229. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2905.

- [12] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A. Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti-α5β1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors., Cancer. Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014) 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.
- [13] S. Hou, T. Isaji, Q. Hang, S. Im, T. Fukuda, J. Gu, Distinct effects of β1 integrin on cell proliferation and cellular signaling in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells., Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 18430. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18430.
- [14] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-integrin circumvents the antiproliferative effects of trastuzumab in human epidermal growth factor receptor-2-positive breast cancer., Cancer. Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-09-1591.
- [15] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S.A. Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer. Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [16] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen., Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621-1626. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [17] D.E. White, N.A. Kurpios, D. Zuo, J.A. Hassell, S. Blaess, U. Mueller, and W.J. Muller, Targeted disruption of β1-integrin in a transgenic mouse model of human breast cancer reveals an essential role in mammary tumor induction., Cancer. Cell. 6 (2004) 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.06.025.
- [18] O. Pontiggia, R. Sampayo, D. Raffo, A. Motter, R. Xu, M.J. Bissell, E.B. Joffé, M. Simian, The tumor microenvironment modulates tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer: a role for soluble stromal factors and fibronectin through β1 integrin., Breast. Cancer. Res. Treat. 133 (2012) 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1766-x.
- [19] J.M. Nam, Y. Onodera, M.J. Bissell, C.C. Park, Breast cancer cells in threedimensional culture display an enhanced radioresponse after coordinate targeting of integrin α5β1 and fibronectin., Cancer. Res. 70 (2010) 5238–5248.

https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2319.

- [20] A. Nista, C. Leonetti, G. Bernardini, M. Mattioni, A. Santoni, Functional role of α4β1 and α5β1 integrin fibronectin receptors expressed on adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cells., Int. J. Cancer. 72 (1997) 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19970703)72:1<133::aid-ijc19>3.0.co;2-k.
- [21] P.S. Steeg, Targeting metastasis., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 16 (2016) 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.25.
- [22] L. Thibaudeau, A.V. Taubenberger, C. Theodoropoulos, B.M. Holzapfer, O. Ramuz, M. Straub, D.W. Hutmacher, New mechanistic insights of integrin β1 in breast cancer bone colonization., Oncotarget. 6 (2014) 332–344. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2788.
- [23] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods. Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8 1.
- [24] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. Uludağ, Targeting cell cycle proteins in breast cancer cells with siRNA by using lipid-substituted polyethylenimines., Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [25] H. Jiang, C. Secretan, T. Gao, K. Bagnall, G. Korbutt, J. Lakey, N.M. Jomha, The development of osteoblasts from stem cells to supplement fusion of the spine during surgery for AIS., Stud. Health. Technol. Inform. 123 (2006) 467–472.
- [26] K. C. Remant Bahadur, B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Lavasanifar, and H. Uludağ, Lipid substitution on low molecular weight (0.6-2.0 kDa) polyethylenimine leads to a higher zeta potential of plasmid DNA and enhances transgene expression., Acta. Biomater. 7 (2011) 2209–2217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.01.027.
- [27] R. Bahadur K. C. and H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–892. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [28] M.J. Humphries, Cell adhesion assays., Methods. Mol. Biol. 522 (2009) 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-413-1_14.
- [29] H. Gul-Uludağ, J. Valencia-Serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-Curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, and H. Uludağ, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34+ acute myeloid leukemia cells., Leuk. Res. 38 (2014) 1299–1308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [30] X. Wang, X. Wang, R.K. Varma, L. Beauchamp, S. Magdaleno, and T.J. Sendera,

Selection of hyperfunctional siRNAs with improved potency and specificity., Nucleic. Acids. Res. 37 (2009) e152. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp864.

- [31] L. Wei-Siong, G. Mary-Shi-Ying, O. Melissa-Hui-Ling, C. Choy-Hoong, Lauric acid abolishes interferon-gamma (IFN-γ)-induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression in human macrophages., Asian. Pac. J. Reprod. 4 (2015) 217-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjr.2015.06.005.
- [32] L. Zhao, M.J. Kwon, S. Huang, J.Y. Lee, K. Fukase, N. Inohara, D.H. Hwang, Differential modulation of Nods signaling pathways by fatty acids in human colonic epithelial HCT116 cells., J. Biol. Chem. 282(2007) 11618-11628. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M608644200.
- [33] D.E. White and W.J. Muller, Multifaceted roles of integrins in breast cancer metastasis., J. Mammary. Gland. Biol. Neoplasia. 12 (2007) 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-007-9045-5.
- [34] C.C. Park, H.J. Zhang, E.S. Yao, C.J. Park, and M.J. Bissell, β1 Integrin Inhibition Dramatically Enhances Radiotherapy Efficacy in Human Breast Cancer Xenografts., Cancer. Res. 68 (2008) 4398–4405. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6390.
- [35] A. Lundström, J. Holmbom, C. Lindqvist, and T. Nordström, The role of α2β1 and α3β1 integrin receptors in the initial anchoring of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells to cortical bone matrix,. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250 (1998) 735–740. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9389.
- [36] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, and A. Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 expression in bone-metastasizing cancer cells by type I collagen through integrin α1β1 and α2β1-p38 MAPK Signaling., Anticancer. Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313.
- [37] D.H. Kim and J.J. Rossi, Strategies for silencing human disease using RNA interference., Nat. Rev. Genet. 8 (2007) 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2006.
- [38] K.C. Remant Bahadur, C. Kucharski, and H. Uludağ, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells., J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [39] C.Y.M Hsu and H. Uludağ, Cellular uptake pathways of lipid-modified cationic polymers in gene delivery to primary cells., Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 7834–7848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.093.

- [40] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, P. Mahdipoor, C.Y.M. Hsu, and H. Uludağ, Effective down-regulation of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) by siRNA delivery using lipid-substituted aliphatic polymers., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 81 (2012) 33– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.01.011.
- [41] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludag, Impact of lipid substitution on assembly and delivery of siRNA by cationic polymers., Macromol.Biosci.11(2011)662-672.https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ mabi. 2010 00402.
- [42] S.P. Persengiev, X. Zhu, and M.R. Green, Nonspecific, concentration-dependent stimulation and repression of mammalian gene expression by small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)., RNA. 10 (2004) 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna5160904.
- [43] D. Semizarov, L. Frost, A. Sarthy, P. Kroeger, D.N. Halbert, and S.W. Fesik, Specificity of short interfering RNA determined through gene expression signatures., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 100 (2003) 6347–6352. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1131959100.
- [44] B. Landry, H. Gül- Uludağ, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, and H. Uludağ, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia., J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [45] C. Sun, T. Tang, and H. Uludag, A molecular dynamics simulation study on the effect of lipid substitution on polyethylenimine mediated siRNA complexation., Biomaterials.34(2013)2822–2833.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01. 011.
- [46] A. Falamarzian, H.M. Aliabadi, O. Molavi, J.M. Seubert, R. Lai, H. Uludağ, A. Lavasanifar, Effective down-regulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) by polyplexes of siRNA and lipid-substituted polyethyleneimine for sensitization of breast tumor cells to conventional chemotherapy., J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 102 (2014) 3216–3228. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34992.
- [47] A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, and C.X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2014) 5477– 5482. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.
- [48] P. Nisticò, F. Di. Modugno, S. Spada, and M.J. Bissell, β1 and β4 integrins: from breast development to clinical practice., Breast. Cancer. Res. 16 (2014) 459. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-014-0459-x.

- [49] N. Rucci, M. Capulli, O.K. Olstad, P. Önnerfjord, V. Tillgren, K.M. Gautvik, D. Heinegård, and A. Teti, The α2β1 binding domain of chondroadherin inhibits breast cancer-induced bone metastases and impairs primary tumour growth: a preclinical study., Cancer.Lett.358(2015) 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.03 2.
- [50] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk , L. H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell. Res. 230 (1997) 111-120. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [51] C.C. Park, H. Zhang, M. Pallavicini, J.W. Gray, F. Baehner, C.J. Park, and M. J. Bissell, β1 integrin inhibitory antibody induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells, inhibits growth, and distinguishes malignant from normal phenotype in three dimensional cultures and in vivo., Cancer. Res. 66 (2006) 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3071
- [52] L. Huck, S.M. Pontier, D.M. Zuo, and W.J. Muller, β1-integrin is dispensable for the induction of ErbB2 mammary tumors but plays a critical role in the metastatic phase of tumor progression., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 107 (2010) 15559–15564. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1003034107.
- [53] F. Aoudjit and K. Vuori, Integrin signaling inhibits paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells., Oncogene. 20 (2001) 4995–5004.https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc. 1204554.

3. LIPID MODIFIED POLYETHYLENEIMINE IS AN EFFECTIVE SYSTEM FOR HSP90B1 SILENCING TO TREAT BREAST CANCER

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is one of the four commonly diagnosed cancer types along with lung, colorectal and prostate cancers, according to the most recent *Canadian Cancer Statistics* 2020. It accounts for 25% of new cancer cases and 13% of cancer deaths among Canadian women [1]. The metastatic ability of breast cancer to bone, lung, liver, brain, and lymph nodes makes its treatment challenging, even though the diagnosis and therapy has improved significantly in recent years, extending the survival of the patients [2]. Specifically, the treatment of the more aggressive and highly metastatic, triple-negative breast cancer (estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 negative) remains a formidable task and this necessitates the identification of novel targets for a better outcome. In addition, triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) which is represented by 10-15% of all breast cancer cases, exhibits high heterogeneity which also acts as stumbling blocks for its successful treatment [3].

The process of breast metastasis is a complex, multistep cascade which depends on the ability of cancer cells to abandon the primary site, navigate through the circulation while evading the immune system, to reach a distant site. The cells navigate and survive through various distant organs and the bone environment and subsequent re-emergence after establishment [4]. The treatment of metastatic breast cancer is most challenging that is evident by the poor 5-year survival rate of 22% (according to Canadian Cancer Society). In this intricate process, numerous genes are activated, contributing to each step of metastasis, especially the cell adhesion molecules [5]. Some of these cell adhesion molecules include cadherins (CDH) which are vital in the interaction and signaling between the cells, especially in breast cancer the impaired expression of E-cadherins were

associated with enhanced invasiveness and decreased survival of breast cancer patients [6]. In addition, protocadherins (PCDH) which are the largest subfamily of cadherins are shown to play diverse role in breast cancer metastasis. For example, overexpression of PCDH-7 was observed in breast cancer bone metastasis, whereas PCDH-17 was identified as a tumor suppressor gene through the reduction of β -catenin levels, which also highlights the crucial role of catenins in breast cancer invasiveness through its association with cadherins [7-9]. Another major type of cell adhesion molecule involved in breast cancer metastasis are integrins. Numerous integrins have been identified to be upregulated during the metastatic process by the activation of various intracellular signaling pathways. For example, the expression of integrins $\alpha 5\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 4$ and $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ displayed strong correlation with the metastatic progression of breast cancer [10]. The expression of various cytoskeleton components like actin, dynein, tubulin and laminin have been additionally shown to contribute in the complex metastatic process and even provide resistance to chemotherapy [11]. Finally, other intrinsic intracellular targets like the heat shock proteins (HSP) that govern the proper protein folding, the apoptosis regulators like BCL2 family and survivin, and cell cycle regulatory protein like cell-division cycle protein 20 (CDC20) help in the survival, proliferation, and anti-apoptotic property of breast cancer cells. Hence the successful downregulation of such metastasis-associated genes, either alone or in combination, will have strong beneficial outcome in addressing breast cancer progression and metastasis.

One of the most promising approaches to interfere with the functioning of the oncogenes is the use of short interfering ribonucleic acids (siRNA) to silence there *in situ* expression. Since the discovery of siRNA 2 decades ago, it is now possible to safely silence

143

the gene of interest without affecting other targets, which is also dependent on its sequence specificity as well as the type of delivery system used [12,13]. For nucleic acid delivery, non-viral systems have been considered as a safe alternative to viral methods [14], however they suffer from poor delivery efficiency. Especially with the polyethylenimine (PEI) systems, low molecular weight PEIs (< 5 kDa) have shown to be less toxic but also exhibit low delivery efficiency of siRNA, hence lipid modifications have been employed to increase its capacity [15]. We have successfully designed such delivery systems in our research group and demonstrated its therapeutic usefulness in a wide range of cancer types [26–30].

Here, we used a linoleic acid substituted PEI polymer to deliver siRNA in the metastatic breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231. We screened a siRNA library targeting various cell surface and cytoskeleton genes to identify new targets that could inhibit the growth and migration of breast cancer cells. Out of the 496 genes silenced from the siRNA library using our delivery system, we observed that knockdown of HSP90B1 was able to inhibit cell growth effectively and decrease in migration was observed by the silencing of ITGA4, ITGA6 and ITGAX genes. We further investigated the promise of the identified targets for which dicer-substrate siRNAs were used with HA as additives in the complex preparation process. Different weight ratios (siRNA to PEI-LA to HA) were explored to obtain the optimal condition for effective silencing, and the weight ratio of 1:5:0.15 was the most successful in this study with HSP90B1 reduction. Given the critical role of HSP90B1 in metastasis to brain, which has also been reported by different research groups, this approach could be a valuable alternative treatment as we were able to show a significant reduction in the cell growth as well the migration of the breast cancer cells. We

achieved strong silencing of HSP90B1 with a low concentration and single dose of siRNA which was adequate to exhibit significant functional outcomes. Given the important role of integrin- β 1 (ITGB1) in the migration of breast cancer cells from our previous studies, the combinational silencing of integrin- β 1 (ITGB1) along with HSP90B1 could be more advantageous to effectively reduce the migration as well as cell growth [20]. Hence, we were able to show a promising alternative to address breast cancer metastasis with a more simple and feasible approach.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Materials

1.2 kDa Polyethyleneimine (PEI) purchased from Polysciences (Warrington, Pennsylvania) was used for linoleic acid (LA) substitution through *N-acylation* exhibiting 6 LA per PEI, as assessed by ¹H-NMR spectroscopy. 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), anhydrous dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), bovine serum albumin (BSA), chloroform and hyaluronic acid (HA) 300 kDa were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS), trypsin/EDTA, penicillin, streptomycin, UltraPure DNase/RNase-free dH₂O, coomassie brilliant blue and TRIzol were procured from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, Canada).

3.2.2 Cell models

Human metastatic breast cancer cell lines, MDA-MB-231-WT and MDA-MB-231-GFP cells were obtained from Dr. Judith Hugh (Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University

of Alberta, Edmonton). Cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin until they covered 80% of the culture flask. Subsequently, cells were washed with HBSS and incubated with 0.05% Trypsin/EDTA for 2 min at 37°C. Cells were collected by centrifugation at 600 rpm for 5 min and allowed to culture for 24 hours before its utilization for studies.

3.2.3 Polymer/siRNA complex preparation

Serum free DMEM was used to prepare complexes at siRNA to 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer weight/weight ratio of 1:5 for siRNA library studies and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. For the preparation of additive complexes using HA, siRNA was mixed with HA in serum free DMEM, which was followed by the addition of polymer and incubated as mentioned above. These complexes were prepared at various siRNA to polymer to HA weight ratios, using 30 nM and 60nM of siRNA concentrations. In combination studies, different siRNAs were mixed, prior to HA and polymer addition.

3.2.4 Human cell adhesion and cytoskeleton siRNA library screening

Screening of the siRNA library targeting 496 genes of cell adhesion and cytoskeleton (MISSION siRNA Human Cell Adhesion and Cytoskeleton Panel; SI05100, Sigma-Aldrich) was performed in MDA-MB-231-GFP cells. Briefly, the cells were dispensed into 96-well plates using a Perkin Elmer Automated Workstation and allowed to grow for 24 hours. 18 ul of the siRNA for a final concentration of 50 nM was added to a new 96-well plate followed by 18 ul of 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer solution at a weight ratio of 1:5. Each treatment group had three replicates, with each well containing 10ul of the prepared

complex solution. After 3 days of treatment at 37°C, the suspended/dead cells in the media were removed and to the attached cell, MTT solution was added, and cell viability was calculated relative to no-treatment group. Each plate contained a negative control siRNA from the library, a dicer substrate control siRNA (DsiRNA), and a positive control BCL2L12 siRNA. A similar experimental setup was carried out to study the migration of the cells following the siRNA library treatment. After 2 days of treatment, the monolayer of cells was scratched using a 200ul pipette tip and the cells were washed with complete DMEM to remove the detached cells in the media. Further, the cells were allowed to migrate for 24 hours after which they were stained with coomassie brilliant blue, fixed and scanned. The migration (wound closure percentage) of the cells were determined based on the open wound area and was compared to the no-treatment well. For this study, CDC20 siRNA and ITGB1 siRNA were included as additional positive controls and doxorubicin (5ug/ml) was included in both the siRNA library screening studies due to its ability to inhibit cell growth and migration.

3.2.5 Validation of targets

The identified targets, ITGA4, ITGA6, ITGAX and HSP90B1 from the siRNA library were further validated for cell growth and migration inhibition, for which dicer substrate siRNA sequences were procured from IDT (Coralville, USA). The following combination of siRNA: polymer: HA weight/weight ratios at 30 nM and 60 nM siRNA were used in this study along with the negative control siRNA (CsiRNA), CDC20 siRNA, BCL2L12 siRNA and ITGB1 siRNA as positive controls.

	Polymer			
siRNA	5	7.5	10	HA
	1:5:0	1:7.5:0	1:10:0	0
	1:5:0.15	1:7.5:0.15	1:10:0.15	0.15
1	1:5:0.3	1:7.5:0.3	1:10:0.3	0.3
	1:5:1	1:7.5:1	1:10:1	1
	1:5:3	1:7.5:3	1:10:3	3

Cell viability of MDAMB-231-WT was assessed after 3 days of complex treatment using MTT assay with a final concentration of 1 mg/ml and 2 hours incubation at 37°C. The inhibition in migration was also studied by calculating the wound closure percentage using scratch assay for which images (0 hour) were acquired after making scratches following 2 days of treatment. Images were again taken after 24 and 48 hours of scratch formation and the open wound area was calculated using T-scratch software. Migration was calculated using the following:

Migration % = $[(A_{t=0h} - A_{t=\Delta h})/A_{t=0h}] \ge 100\%$

Where, $A_{t=0h}$ is the measurement of wound at 0 hours (immediately after scratch formation) and $A_{t=\Delta h}$ is the measurement of wound at 24 or 48 hours after scratching. In both these studies, doxorubicin (0.5ug/ml) was used as an additional positive control.

3.2.6 Quantification of mRNA Levels

The silencing of the target genes at the mRNA level was evaluated by reverse transcription – quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). Following 3 days of treatment with HA additive complexes at ratios 1:5:0, 1:5:0.15, 1:5:0.3 in 6-well plates,

MDA-MB-231-WT cells were collected, and the total RNA was extracted using TRIzol. SensiFastTM cDNA synthesis kit (Bioline Meridian Bioscience) was utilized to convert RNA to cDNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Following which, PCR was performed on StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR system with the below mentioned genes and their respective primers:

Gene	Forward	Reverse
B-Actin	5'-GCGAGAAGATGACCCAGAT-3'	5'-CCAGTGGTACGGCCAGA-3'
HSP90B1	5'-CAGTTTGGTGTCGGTTTCTATTC-3'	5'-TGTGCTGGGTATCGTTGTT-3'
ITGB1	5'-CCGCGCGGAAAAGATGAAT-3'	5'-TGAGCAAACACACAGCAAACT-3'
CDC20	5'-CGCTATATCCCCCATCGCAG-3'	5'-GATGTTCCTTCTTGGTGGGC-3'
BCL2L12	5'-CCCGCCCCTATGCCCTTTTT-3'	5'-ATAACCGGCCCAGCGTAGAA-3'

Experiment was performed in triplicates with a total of 10 µl reaction mixture volume, of which 5 µl constituted the SYBR Green master mix, 2 µl of 10 µM primers with 3 µl of 5 ng/µl cDNA template. MicroAmp Fast Optical 96-well plates were used for this assay and the setup was heated to 95°C for 10 min before progressing into 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15s and an annealing/elongation at 65°C for 30s. Following the completion of the cycles, the ΔC_T , $\Delta \Delta C_T$ and Relative Quantity (RQ) of mRNA were calculated with B-actin as the reference gene and relative to NT-no treatment group. The expression of ITGB1, CDC20 and BCL2L12 was also calculated following HSP90B1 silencing.

3.2.7 Combination therapy

Combinational siRNA therapy using HSP90B1 siRNA and ITGB1 siRNA were performed in MDA-MB-231 cells at four siRNA concentrations (total concentration), (10+10) 20 nM, (20+20) 40 nM, (30+30) 60 nM and (40+40) 80 nM. Each of these targets were treated in combination with CsiRNA as controls. The effect of silencing was evaluated at mRNA level, inhibition in wound closure and cell viability by RT-qPCR, scratch assay and MTT respectively, as described above.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

All results were summarized as mean \pm standard deviation and the unpaired Student's *t*-test was employed to show the statistical difference between the group mean. Significance (*p*-value < 0.05) was determined in comparison with the respective control groups. Where specified, the number of independent experiments used to generate the data (n) are indicated.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 siRNA library screening to identify targets for breast cancer treatment

A siRNA library targeting various cell adhesion and cytoskeleton genes (496 siRNAs) was screened in the TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 to identify targets that could inhibit cell growth. 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer was used to deliver the siRNAs at a concentration of 50 nM and cell growth was assessed by the MTT assay after 3 days. A siRNA against BCL2L12, which was previously reported to exhibit significant cell growth inhibition, was included as a positive control [21]. BCL2L12 in this screen showed 28% of growth inhibition and this was considered as cutoff to shortlist successful hits from the 496 targets. We could observe 2 targets that exhibited ≥28% cell death, cadherin-9 (CDH9) at 34% and heat shock protein 90B1 (HSP90B1) at 29% (Fig 3.1A).



Figure 3.1: Cell adhesion and cytoskeleton siRNA library screening in MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) Growth inhibition (%) evaluated by MTT assay following 3 days of siRNA library treatment calculated relative to no-treatment cells. Solid black square represents no treatment (NT), yellow dot represents control scrambled siRNA (CsiRNA), purple

represents library control siRNA and red represents BCL2L12. Doxorubicin (Dox) treatment gave 93% cell growth inhibition. (**B**) Migration Inhibition (%) by siRNA library treatment for 24 hours; calculated relative to no-treatment cells. A CDC20 siRNA, represented by orange dot and an ITGB1 siRNA represented by green dot were also included. Dox treatment gave 100% inhibition of cell migration. (**C**) Correlation between growth inhibition (%) and migration inhibition (%) are shown.

A migration assay was also performed using the same library to identify targets that can inhibit cell migration into a 'wound' area. In this study, we included 2 positive control siRNAs, namely ITGB1 and CDC20 specific siRNAs, that were previously shown to decrease the migration in breast cancer cells [20,22]. Three integrin genes appeared to inhibit the migration effectively, integrin-a₄ (ITGA4), integrin-a₆ (ITGA6) and integrin- a_x (ITGAX), with migration inhibition percentages of ~56% (**Fig 3.1B**). HSP90B1 which showed 30% inhibition in cell growth also showed ~30% inhibition in migration studies (**Fig 3.S1**). We also explored any correlation between the cell growth inhibition and migration inhibition in this assay format, but we did not observe a positive correlation among the siRNAs in this library (**Fig 3.1C**).

3.3.2 Validation of targets for inhibition of cell growth

The identified targets ITGA4, ITGA6, ITGAX and HSP90B1 were further validated by the delivery of specific siRNAs at different ratios and siRNA concentrations of 30 nM and 60 nM. The previously used positive controls ITGB1, CDC20 and BCL2L12 siRNAs were also included and the inhibition in cell growth was assessed by the MTT assay after 3 days of treatment. Silencing of HSP90B1, significantly and consistently reduced the cell growth; formulations at siRNA:polymer ratio 1:5 with 3 additive ratios gave 55%, 67% and at 87% cell viability at 30 nM siRNA concentration. The other identified targets for migration

inhibition had lesser effect on cell growth as expected (ITGA4: 20% and ITGAX: 17% cell growth inhibition). At 60 nM, the outcome was more pronounced at similar ratios as observed with 30 nM, although the control scrambled siRNA (CsiRNA) also showed some non-specific activity (toxicity). Altogether, we recorded 40%, 45% and 56% cell growth with the 3 additive ratios gave (**Fig 3.2A**). With respect to nanoparticle formulations at 1:7.5 siRNA:polymer ratio, the overall effect was less in comparison to 1:5 ratio, however HSP90B1 silencing still resulted in significant drop in cell viability (**Fig 3.2B**), whereas with 1:10 no significant growth inhibition was documented (**Fig 3.2C**).





siRNA:HA w/w ratio. (C & F) 1:10 siRNA/polymer complexes having 1:0.3, 1:1 and 1:3 siRNA:HA w/w ratio. Complexes were prepared with 30 nM and 60 nM of siRNA concentration. Significance compared to CsiRNA treatment in each group * $p \le 0.05$. The results are summarized from 2 independent experiments.

3.3.3 Validation of targets for inhibition of migration

Inhibition of migration was investigated using nanoparticle formulations with 1:5 siRNA:polymer ratio and 60 nM siRNA concentration, as this formulation showed a better effect in inhibition of growth. After 24 hours, the control siRNA treatment led to 45% of migration, while ITGA4 and HSP90B1 siRNAs showed significant inhibition with migration values of 28% and 20% respectively, at 1:5:0.15 formulation. Other targets, ITGA6 and ITGAX did not manifest any notable reduction irrespective of the ratios employed (Fig 3.3A). The previously observed reduction at 24 hours with HSP90B1 silencing at 1:5:0.15 was prolonged until the 48-hour time point (Fig 3.S2). Overall, HSP90B1 showed a significant reduction in migration (43%) when compared to CsiRNA (88%) after 48 hours (Fig 3.3B). Similar to the cell viability studies, low amount of HA (siRNA:HA ratio of 1:0.15) appeared to be the optimal formulation for reducing the migration (Fig 3.S2). Using higher amounts of HA abolished the inhibitory effects of the specific siRNA on migration. With regards to the positive controls, CDC20 siRNA was significantly effective with 1:5:0.15 weight ratio at 24 hours. At 48 hours, the 1:5:1 was the most effective for all the positive controls, ITGB1, CDC20 and BCL2L12 siRNAs.



Figure 3.3: Validation of targets by scratch assay after 2 days of treatment followed by wound formation with images taken at 0, 24 and 48 hours. Cells were treated with 60 nM of siRNA at 1:5 siRNA/ polymer complexes having 1:0.15, 1:0.3 and 1:1 ratios of siRNA:HA w/w ratio. Migration (as of percentage of no treatment) was determined at 24 hours (**A** & **C**) and at 48 hours (**B** & **D**) after siRNA treatment. Significant difference compared to the CsiRNA in each treatment group * $p \le 0.05$ (n=2).

3.3.4 Validation at the mRNA transcript level by RT-qPCR

We further validated the extent of silencing by evaluating the specific mRNA reduction using RT-qPCR after 3 days of treatment. A strong decrease in HSP90B1 mRNA levels, ranging between 80% and 85%, was recorded with ratios 1:5:0, 1:5:0.15 and 1:5:0.3 in comparison to the CsiRNA treatment group, which was consistent with our previous observation with cell viability and wound closure (**Fig 3.4A**). We also, analyzed the mRNA levels of ITGB1, CDC20 and BCL2L12 after treating with HSP90B1 siRNA. A significant decrease between 60% and 80% was observed in ITGB1 and CDC20 mRNA levels respectively, which could indicate a possible linkage with HSP90B1 (**Fig 3.4B**). CsiRNA treatment did not affect the mRNA levels of ITGB1 and CDC20, but BCL2L12 levels were significantly decreased, which was equivalent to HSP90B1 siRNA treatment levels, so that the latter changes were attributed to non-specific effects of the nanoparticles.



Figure 3.4: Knockdown efficacy at the mRNA level by RT-qPCR. Cells were treated with 60 nM of HSP90B1 siRNA at (**A**) 1:5:0, 1:5:0.15 and 1:5:0.3 siRNA/polymer/HA w/w ratio and (**B**) 1:5 siRNA/polymer w/w ratio for 3 days. Quantity of mRNA transcript levels of the specific gene relative to no treatment (NT; taken as 1) was calculated. Significance in comparison with CsiRNA treatment of individual group * $p \le 0.05$ (n=2).

3.3.5 Combinational treatment

We had shown the importance of ITGB1 in the migration of breast cancer in a previous report [20]. Since it is also partially down-regulated due to HSP90B1 silencing, we wanted to combine HSP90B1 silencing with ITGB1 silencing to explore the benefit of using both siRNAs on inhibition of migration. We employed equal amounts of ITGB1 and HSP90B1 siRNAs in the treatments, along with the CsiRNA as reference. At 24 hours, 10+10 nM of CsiRNA+HSP90B1 siRNA combination showed equivalent effect to that of ITGB1+HSP90B1 siRNA combination however only the later showed significant
difference compared to CsiRNA+ITGB1. Similarly, with 20+20 nM siRNA combination both treatments showed equivalent levels of inhibition. At 30+30 nM, only ITGB1+HSP90B1 showed significant decrease and at 40+40 nM siRNA combinations, a slight difference was observed but this was not significant (**Fig 3.5A** and **3.6**). After 48 hours, 10+10 nM and 20+20 nM CsiRNA+HSP90B1 siRNA combinations as well as ITGB1+HSP90B1 siRNA combinations showed similar levels of migration, however only 10+10 nM of ITGB1+HSP90B1 could exhibit significant difference. At the higher 30+30 nM and 40+40 nM siRNA combinations of ITGB1+HSP90B1, the inhibition in migration was more significant when compared to the CsiRNA combinations with ITGB1 as well as HSP90B1 siRNAs (**Fig 3.5B** and **3.6**).





assessed by calculating wound closure percentage after (A) 24 hours and (B) 48 hours. * Significance compared to CsiRNA+ITGB1 treatment and # compared to CsiRNA+HSP90B1 treatment, $p \le 0.05$ (n=2).



Figure 3.6: Microscopic images of migration inhibition, determined using scratch assay for the combinational siRNA delivery against ITGB1 and HSP90B1. Polymer/siRNA complexes with CsiRNA+ITGB1, CsiRNA+HSP90B1 and ITGB1+HSP90B1 were given at 10+10 nM, 20+20 nM, 30+30 nM and 40+40 nM each. Inhibition in migration was assessed by calculating wound closure percentage after 24 and 48 hours using TScratch software.

3.4 DISCUSSION

The use of PEI for gene therapy has gained considerable momentum in the past few years with several agents currently tested in various stages of clinical trials and in different cancer types [23,24]. Since, high molecular weight PEIs have shown to be toxic to the cells, its low molecular weight counterparts have been modified to deliver the nucleic acid more

efficiently at low toxicity. Low molecular weight PEI such as the 1.2 kDa PEI exhibits poor cellular internalization of its nucleic acid cargo and thereby is not functional for siRNA delivery; however, functionalization with small lipids improves its overall efficacy to deliver nucleic acid cargo [15]. The linoleic acid (LA) modification, for example, improves the binding, cellular uptake as well as intracellular release of intact nucleic acid [25-27]. Previously, we have shown the high cytoplasmic localization of 1.2PEI-LA/siRNA complexes that helped to accomplish a strong knockdown of ITGB1 with specific siRNAs [20]. A similar effect was observed with HSP90B1 silencing using the same delivery agent in this study. The use of HA as additives was previously shown to further improve cellular uptake of the complexes, which was partly due to high levels of CD44 (i.e., HA binding ligand) on the MDA-MB-231 cells, as well as the persistent intracellular availability of siRNA, thereby increasing the overall silencing [28]. Since we used the same polymeric delivery system, we could extrapolate that the complexes carrying HSP90B1 siRNA similarly underwent enhanced delivery, improving the silencing efficiency of the siRNA target. The use of HA can also reduce the ζ -potential of the complexes, facilitating lower disruption of the cell membrane while improving the uptake and intracellular release of the siRNA. Optimizing the right formulation of the siRNA, in terms of the ratio of specific reagents used to make up the nanoparticle, is also crucial as higher ratios can reduce the ζ-potential drastically impairing the delivery [29]. In our hands, siRNA:polymer ratio of 5, along with a trace amount of HA (siRNA:HA ratio of 1:0.15) performed the best in all the assays. This was similar to previous studies where the use of HA was successful in silencing cell cycle protein CDC20, survivin and various

phosphatases such as, PPP1R7, PTPN1, PTPN22, LHPP and PPP1R12A showing the wide applicability of this HA additive formulations. [28,29].

From the un-biased library screen in this study, we shortlisted two genes, CDH9 and HSP90B1, which showed cell death equal to or higher than the reference target, BCL2L12 when targeted with specific siRNAs. A recent report on the role of CDH9 in breast cancer suggested that its silencing resulted in enhanced lung metastasis and was identified as a crucial gene for tumor metastasis, hence its knockdown could be detrimental [30]. On the other hand, HSP90B1 was reported by several studies to be an important gene which is upregulated in various cancers including breast cancers and its over-expression had a strong correlation with poor survival of breast cancer patients [31]. It was interesting that such contrasting targets turned out to be positive hits in our library screens. Needless to say, we chose to pursue further studies with HSP90B1 given its better-established role in breast cancer. HSPs functions as molecular chaperones and promotes various fundamental cellular programs in normal as well as transformed cells. HSPs help in proper folding of the proteins, counteracts stressed-induced protein misfolding, and has been classified based on its molecular weight into six main families [32]. The HSP90 family of proteins consists of five isoforms: two cytoplasmic HSP90a and HSP90B, an endoplasmic reticulum localized glucose regulated protein 94 (HSP90B1), a mitochondrial tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein 1 (TRAP1), and a membrane-associated HSP90N [33]. HSP90B1 has shown to be over-expressed in various cancers, modulating several cellular functions like cell proliferation and metastasis, regulation of various apoptotic molecules that aid or inhibit cell death machinery that makes it a highly critical protein [34]. HSP90B1 overexpression has also been documented in chronic lymphocytic

leukemia (CLL) by next-generation sequencing in patient cells and identified as a potential therapeutic target, especially to address CLL drug resistance [35]. Studies have also shown the correlation between high HSP90B1 expression linked to poor overall survival (OS) as well as disease free survival (DFS) in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients [36]. In osteosarcoma, the downregulation of HSP90B1 resulted in tumor growth inhibition in vitro and in vivo through the PI3K/ Akt/ mTOR pathways [37]. Similarly, inhibition of HSP90 in myeloma, B-cell lymphoma, and hepatocellular carcinoma by PU-H71, a specific HSP90 inhibitor, was shown to be beneficial to reduce the cell growth and induce apoptosis [38–40]. In breast cancer, proteomic analysis of patient samples for relative and absolute quantitation (iTRAQ) method revealed a strong correlation between high expression of HSP90B1 to distant metastasis and low overall survival when compared to samples with low expression who had higher survival [41]. Similar observations were made by other groups where patients with poor survival had high mRNA and protein expression of HSP90B1 [42]. In the brain metastasis of breast cancer, HSP90B1 over-expression helped the cancer cells to survive under hypoglycemic condition when compared to bone and lung metastatic cells. The HSP90B1 overexpression observed in the brain metastatic breast cancer cell line was accompanied by up-regulation of anti-apoptotic genes such as B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2), cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein (HIAP1) and X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP) helping in the survival of metastasized cells. In addition, activation of pro-survival autophagy due to HSP90B1 upregulation was also observed in the brain metastatic cells and the ablation of HSP90B1 reduced the viability of brain metastatic cells in vitro as well as brain metastasis in vivo, increasing the survival of the animals compared to the control groups [43,44]. The over expression of HSP90B1

among breast cancer stem cells in CD44^{hi}/CD24^{lo} phenotype and in oxidative stressresistant breast cancer cells contributing towards enhanced proliferation and migration further strengthens the importance of HSP90B1 in highly aggressive breast cancer cells as a potential therapeutic target [45,46]. Although, various drugs have been tested *in vivo* and in clinical trials to neutralize HSP90B1 in several other cancer types, none has been introduced for breast cancer treatment due to toxicity and specificity related issues [47– 50].

Based on strong outcome by silencing a single integrin target (ITGB1) from our previous report [20], we hypothesized that identifying new integrins could be beneficial to achieve superior inhibition of migration in breast cancers. Hence, from the scratch assay with the library screen, we selected targets that were highly effective as well as being a member of the integrin gene family (ITGA4, ITGA6 and ITGAX). ITGA4 was shown to be hypermethylated in breast cancer tissue samples and acts as an important marker for early diagnosis [51]. It is also the α -subunit in Very Late Antigen-4 (VLA-4/integrin- α 4 β 1) receptor formed with ITGB1 and binds to fibronectin in the extracellular matrix or to vascular cell adhesion protein-1 (VCAM-1) [52] important for migration. Similarly, ITGA6 was found to be over-expressed in breast cancer and contributes towards the resistance against radiation therapy partially through the activation of PI3K/Akt or MEK/Erk signaling pathways [53]. This α-subunit may associate with ITGB1 or ITGB4 forming VLA-6 ($\alpha 6\beta 1$ or $\alpha 6\beta 4$) and act as a laminin receptor [54,55]. Over-expression of ITGAX was associated with aggressive prostate cancer, but we could identify only one report where a moderate expression in invasive breast cancer tissue sample was reported [56,57]. The siRNA library also contained siRNA against various other integrin- α (ITGA)

genes such as ITGA1, ITGA2, ITGA2B, ITGA3, ITGA5, ITGA7, ITGA8, ITGA9, ITGA10, ITGA11, ITGAD, ITGAE, ITGAL, ITGAM, ITGAV, and ITFG2 (integrin-a FG-GAP repeat containing 2), whose silencing did not manifest any effect on migration as well as cell growth inhibition in this study. Similarly, silencing of other heat shock proteins (HSP) and glycoproteins (GP) like HSP90AA2, HSP90AB1, HSPA1A, HSPA2, HSPD1, GP9 and GPA33 did not alter the growth of breast cancer cells. Since each gene was targeted by a pool of 3 siRNAs in the library format, we can negate the possibility of not silencing these genes, thereby we could possibly say that these genes are of low importance for the migration of MDA-MB-231 cells according to the outcome of this study. We did not observe any correlation between the cell growth and migration inhibition, which shows the heterogenic functionality of these genes that were included in the study.

On the other hand, since the role of HSP90B1 in regulation of cell death and tumor invasion/metastasis has been well studied [33,34,58,59], various chemical inhibitors of HSP90 have been developed and are under exploration for breast cancer treatment, including ganetespib, 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG), PU-H71, AT-533, BJ-B11, DCZ3112 and TAS-116 [38,47–50,58–60]. Though considerable progress has been achieved with these drugs in different stages of clinical trials, some displayed significant side effects and some failed due to non-specific effects in patients, so that there is still an urgent need to develop alternate approaches for targeting HSP90B1 in breast cancer.

Following the identification and literature validation of these four targets (ITGA4, ITGA6, ITGAX and HSP90B1), we used dicer-substrate siRNAs which are longer than the conventional siRNA (27 base pairs vs. 19-21 base pairs, respectively) as the former can

undergo cleavage by the dicer enzyme in the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC) and has been showed previously to improve the silencing efficiency in some cases [20,61]. Silencing HSP90B1 at the mRNA level was possible even without the HA additive (1:5:0), and its effect on cell growth (30% inhibition) was also observed using 60 nM of siRNA, although the difference from CsiRNA treatment was not significant. The 30% growth inhibition after HSP90B1 silencing was comparable to the effect observed in the initial library screen, which did not utilize the HA additive to employ simpler nanoparticle formulations. The addition of HA at the 1:5:0.15 ratio also gave strong mRNA reduction, which was reflected in cell viability as well as in migration. With the 1:5:0.3 ratio, the decrease in mRNA was accompanied by changes in cell growth but the cell migration was unaffected. Although all the three ratios (1:5:0, 1:5:0.15, 1:5:0.3) displayed excellent mRNA reduction, only 1:5:0.15 (0.15 HA) could exhibit the desired comprehensive outcomes. It is possible that a more effective siRNA release was achieved from the complex with this formulation. It is also possible that excess HA in the nanoparticle formulation might have attenuated the effect of HSP90B1 silencing by yet unknown mechanism. There are many factors that can influence the efficacy of the delivery system such as its size, zeta potential, cellular uptake pathway, intracellular localization of the nucleic acid and the type of lipid substitution [20,25,29,62]. In addition, the specificity of siRNA, expression level and turnover rate of the target, cell type and proliferation rate of the cell line used, can also influence the overall results [63–65]. In our study, the use of HA could have reduced the zeta potential of the complexes influencing its interaction with the cell membrane and its cytoplasmic localization, which in turn could have helped in better silencing of HSP90B1. Another important factor might be the high proliferation rate

of MDA-MB-231 cells and the high expression levels of CD44, a primary receptor for HA which could have helped in better cellular uptake.

Previously, RNAi was used to silence HSP90B1, reducing the migration (at 6 and 24 hours) as well as the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and an oxidative stress resistant MCF-7 cells, which showed similar levels of high HSP90B1 expression. This outcome was achieved using 100 nM siRNA delivered with Dharmafect-1 reagent, a lipid-based delivery agent. In the same study, HSP90B1 expression was shown to be high in tumors compared to normal tissues and, furthermore, it was higher in recurrent tumors from patients who underwent chemotherapy compared to the initial breast tumors. Another study probed the role of HSP90B1 in tumor invasiveness [66] under low glucose conditions, which is a key characteristic of tumor environment. Using the Dharmafect-1 transfection reagent, reduction of HSP90B1 levels lowered the invasive potential of MDA-MB-231 cells by 67% and expression of HSP90B1 was elevated in low glucose conditions in MCF-7 cells. Moreover, the sensitivity towards doxorubicin was increased following HSP90B1 silencing with an increase in caspase-3 activity [66]. We also used the metastatic breast cancer MDA-MB-231 and were able to achieve strong reduction at mRNA levels followed by inhibition in proliferation (cell viability) and migration at 24 and 48 hours, but by employing a lower concentration of siRNA (60 nM). This is advantageous to avoid any undesirable effects of the siRNA treatment.

HSP90B1 is known to regulate the functioning of a wide range of 'client' proteins, including Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) and integrins. Hence, it was not surprising that silencing HSP90B1 reduced the mRNA levels of ITGB1 in this study. In a HSP90B1knockout mice to study its role in B-cell functioning, the expression of various integrins such as ITGA4, ITGAL, ITGB7 and ITGB2 were down-regulated but not the ITGB1 [67]. The inhibition of the α I domain (AID), which is a ligand binding domain common among all α -integrin subunits, using TAT- α 7 helix peptide reduced the maturation and expressions levels of various integrins such as ITGAL, ITGAM and ITGA4, but not ITGB1. That study showed the crucial role of HSP90B1 in the proper maturation and function of integrins [68]. Our study could note a relationship between the HSP90B1 expression and ITGB1, however further studies are warrantied to confirm these findings. Similarly, the mRNA levels of CDC20, a cell division cycle protein 20 homolog, was downregulated following the knockdown of HSP90B1, which could be probed further and would help to better understand the intracellular consequences of HSP90B1 in breast cancer treatment.

In conclusion, this study has shown that linoleic acid-substituted PEI and an HA additive siRNA complex was a viable method to effectively deliver the dicer-substrate siRNA and silence HSP90B1 expression. This reduced the proliferation and migration of the metastatic breast cancers *in vitro*. Given the wide spectrum of HSP90B1 function in breast cancer invasiveness, aggressiveness, brain metastasis and resistance to drug treatment, our method is a promising alternative to chemical inhibitors for effective silencing of this important target. Further studies on the relation between HSP90B1 and various other integrins as well as cell cycle proteins could help to better understand the role of HSP90B1 down-regulation in cellular outcomes. In addition, the effect of HSP90B1 silencing on the sensitivity of various anti-cancer drugs in breast cancer treatment could be a crucial information with high clinical translation potential.

3.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by an Innovation Grant from the Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation (CBCF) and a Discovery Grant from Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada (NSERC). We acknowledge the technical help provided by Dr. Bindu Thapa and Mr. Cezary Kucharski from the Uludag Lab and Dr. Joaquin Lopez Orozco from the HCA Core Facility, University of Alberta while performing the siRNA library screening studies.

3.6 REFERENCES

- [1] D.R. Brenner, H.K. Weir, A.A. Demers, L.F. Ellison, C. Louzado, A. Shaw, D. Turner, R.R. Woods, L.M. Smith, Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020., CMAJ. 192 (2020) E199–E205. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.191292.
- [2] A.G. Waks, E.P. Winer, Breast Cancer Treatment, JAMA. 321 (2019) 288. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323.
- [3] J. Mehanna, F.G.H. Haddad, R. Eid, M. Lambertini, H.R. Kourie, Triple-negative breast cancer: Current perspective on the evolving therapeutic landscape, Int. J. Womens. Health. 11 (2019) 431–437. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S178349.
- [4] Y. Sun, L. Ma, The emerging molecular machinery and therapeutic targets of metastasis, 36 (2015) 349–359.
- [5] G. Bendas, L. Borsig, Cancer cell adhesion and metastasis: Selectins, integrins, and the inhibitory potential of heparins, Int. J. Cell Biol. 2012 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/676731.
- [6] R. Singhai, V.W. Patil, S.R. Jaiswal, S.D. Patil, M.B. Tayade, A. V. Patil, E-Cadherin as a diagnostic biomarker in breast cancer., N. Am. J. Med. Sci. 3 (2011) 227–33. https://doi.org/10.4297/najms.2011.3227.
- [7] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [8] X. Yin, T. Xiang, J. Mu, H. Mao, L. Li, X. Huang, C. Li, Y. Feng, X. Luo, Y. Wei, W. Peng, G. Ren, Q. Tao, Protocadherin 17 functions as a tumor suppressor suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling and cell metastasis and is frequently methylated in breast cancer, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 51720–51732. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10102.
- [9] S. Li, S. Li, Y. Sun, L. Li, The expression of β-catenin in different subtypes of breast cancer and its clinical significance, Tumor Biol. 35 (2014) 7693–7698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-1975-0.
- [10] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [11] C.M. Fife, J.A. McCarroll, M. Kavallaris, Movers and shakers: Cell cytoskeleton in cancer metastasis, Br. J. Pharmacol. 171 (2014) 5507–5523. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12704.
- [12] B. Hu, L. Zhong, Y. Weng, L. Peng, Y. Huang, Y. Zhao, X.J. Liang, Therapeutic siRNA: state of the art, Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 5 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0207-x.

- P.N. Hawkins, D. Ph, F.M. Sci, T. Mant, J. Perez, J. Chiesa, S. Warrington, E. Tranter, M. Munisamy, R. Falzone, J. Harrop, J. Cehelsky, B.R. Bettencourt, D. Ph, M. Geissler, J.S. Butler, D. Ph, A. Sehgal, D. Ph, R.E. Meyers, D. Ph, Q. Chen, D. Ph, T. Borland, R.M. Hutabarat, D. Ph, V.A. Clausen, D. Ph, R. Alvarez, D. Ph, K. Fitzgerald, D. Ph, C. Gamba-vitalo, D. Ph, S. V Nochur, D. Ph, Safety and Efficacy of RNAi Therapy for Transthyretin Amyloidosis, (2013) 819–829. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1208760.
- [14] H. Uludag, A. Ubeda, A. Ansari, At the intersection of biomaterials and gene therapy: Progress in non-viral delivery of nucleic acids, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7 (2019) 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00131.
- [15] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [16] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [17] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [18] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.
- [19] R. Kc, B. Thapa, A. Ubeda, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, BCR-Abl Silencing by siRNA: A Potent Approach to Sensitize Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cells to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy., Stem Cells Dev. 28 (2019) 734–744. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2018.0196.
- [20] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [21] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [22] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [23] M. Rouanet, M. Lebrin, F. Gross, B. Bournet, P. Cordelier, L. Buscail, Gene

Therapy for Pancreatic Cancer: Specificity, Issues and Hopes., Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18061231.

- [24] A.N. Meleshko, N.A. Petrovskaya, N. Savelyeva, K.P. Vashkevich, S.N. Doronina, N. V. Sachivko, Phase I clinical trial of idiotypic DNA vaccine administered as a complex with polyethylenimine to patients with B-cell lymphoma, Hum. Vaccines Immunother. 13 (2017) 1398–1403. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2017.1285477.
- [25] C.Y.M. Hsu, H. Uludaĝ, Cellular uptake pathways of lipid-modified cationic polymers in gene delivery to primary cells, Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 7834–7848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.093.
- [26] L.C. Rose, C. Kucharski, H. Uludaĝ, Protein expression following non-viral delivery of plasmid DNA coding for basic FGF and BMP-2 in a rat ectopic model, Biomaterials.
 33 (2012) 3363–3374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.01.031.
- [27] B. Sahin, J. Fife, M.B. Parmar, J. Valencia-Serna, H. Gul-Uludağ, X. Jiang, M. Weinfeld, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, siRNA therapy in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma cells using polymeric carriers., Biomaterials. 35 (2014) 9382–9394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.07.029.
- [28] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [29] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [30] G. Yan, V. Chen, X. Lu, S. Lu, A signal-based method for finding driver modules of breast cancer metastasis to the lung, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09951-2.
- [31] E. Pick, Y. Kluger, J.M. Giltnane, C. Moeder, R.L. Camp, D.L. Rimm, H.M. Kluger, High HSP90 expression is associated with decreased survival in breast cancer, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 2932–2937. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4511.
- [32] V. Condelli, F. Crispo, M. Pietrafesa, G. Lettini, D.S. Matassa, F. Esposito, M. Landriscina, F. Maddalena, HSP90 Molecular Chaperones, Metabolic Rewiring, and Epigenetics: Impact on Tumor Progression and Perspective for Anticancer Therapy, Cells. 8 (2019) 532. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8060532.
- [33] L.S. Kim, J.H. Kim, Heat shock protein as molecular targets for breast cancer therapeutics, J. Breast Cancer. 14 (2011) 167–174.

https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2011.14.3.167.

- [34] S. Takayama, J.C. Reed, S. Homma, Heat-shock proteins as regulators of apoptosis., Oncogene. 22 (2003) 9041–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207114.
- [35] A.E. Rodríguez-Vicente, D. Quwaider, R. Benito, I. Misiewicz-Krzeminska, M. Hernández-Sánchez, A.G. de Coca, R. Fisac, J.M. Alonso, C. Zato, J.F. de Paz, J.L. García, M.E. Sarasquete, J.Á. Hernández, J.M. Corchado, M. González, N.C. Gutiérrez, J.M. Hernández-Rivas, MicroRNA-223 is a novel negative regulator of HSP90B1 in CLL, BMC Cancer. 15 (2015) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1212-2.
- [36] Y.R. Xu, Z.W. Chen, G.H. Zhang, Y.F. Xi, R.F. Sun, X.G. Wang, W.Y. Wang, F. Chai, X.F. Li, HSP90B1 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in NSCLC patients, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14321–14328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5304-7.
- [37] G. Li, M. Cai, D. Fu, K. Chen, M. Sun, Z. Cai, B. Cheng, Heat shock protein 90B1 plays an oncogenic role and is a target of microRNA-223 in human osteosarcoma, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 30 (2012) 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1159/000343336.
- [38] S.Z. Usmani, R.D. Bona, G. Chiosis, Z. Li, The anti-myeloma activity of a novel purine scaffold HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 is via inhibition of both HSP90A and HSP90B1, J. Hematol. Oncol. 3 (2010) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8722-3-40.
- [39] L.C. Cerchietti, E.C. Lopes, S.N. Yang, K. Hatzi, K.L. Bunting, L.A. Tsikitas, A. Mallik, A.I. Robles, J. Walling, L. Varticovski, R. Shaknovich, K.N. Bhalla, G. Chiosis, A. Melnick, A purine scaffold Hsp90 inhibitor destabilizes BCL-6 and has specific antitumor activity in BCL-6-dependent B cell lymphomas., Nat. Med. 15 (2009) 1369–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2059.
- [40] M. Breinig, E. Caldas-Lopes, B. Goeppert, M. Malz, R. Rieker, F. Bergmann, P. Schirmacher, M. Mayer, G. Chiosis, M.A. Kern, Targeting heat shock protein 90 with non-quinone inhibitors: a novel chemotherapeutic approach in human hepatocellular carcinoma., Hepatology. 50 (2009) 102–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22912.
- [41] T.R. Cawthorn, J.C. Moreno, M. Dharsee, D. Tran-Thanh, S. Ackloo, P.H. Zhu, G. Sardana, J. Chen, P. Kupchak, L.M. Jacks, N.A. Miller, B.J. Youngson, V. Iakovlev, C.J. Guidos, K.A. Vallis, K.R. Evans, D. McCready, W.L. Leong, S.J. Done, Proteomic analyses reveal high expression of decorin and endoplasmin (HSP90B1) are associated with breast cancer metastasis and decreased survival, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030992.
- [42] S. Liu, R. Li, S. Zuo, R. Luo, W. Fang, Y. Xie, GRP94 overexpression as an indicator of unfavorable outcomes in breast cancer patients., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 11 (2018) 3061–3067.
- [43] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M. Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra,

A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.

- [44] N. Santana-Codina, A. Marcé-Grau, L. Muixí, C. Nieva, M. Marro, D. Sebastián, J.P. Muñoz, A. Zorzano, A. Sierra, Grp94 is involved in the lipid phenotype of brain metastatic cells, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163883.
- [45] B. Nami, A. Ghasemi-Dizgah, A. Vaseghi, Overexpression of molecular chaperons GRP78 and GRP94 in CD44(hi)/CD24(lo) breast cancer stem cells., Bioimpacts. 6 (2016) 105–10. https://doi.org/10.15171/bi.2016.16.
- [46] N. Dejeans, C. Glorieux, S. Guenin, R. Beck, B. Sid, R. Rousseau, B. Bisig, P. Delvenne, P. Buc Calderon, J. Verrax, Overexpression of GRP94 in breast cancer cells resistant to oxidative stress promotes high levels of cancer cell proliferation and migration: Implications for tumor recurrence, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (2012) 993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.12.019.
- [47] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [48] X. Chen, P. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Li, L. Fu, H. Fu, J. Zhu, Z. Chen, W. Zhu, C. Xie, L. Lou, DCZ3112, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, exerts potent antitumor activity against HER2-positive breast cancer through disruption of Hsp90-Cdc37 interaction, Cancer Lett. 434 (2018) 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.07.012.
- [49] P.-C. Zhang, X. Liu, M.-M. Li, Y.-Y. Ma, H.-T. Sun, X.-Y. Tian, Y. Wang, M. Liu, L.-S. Fu, Y.-F. Wang, H.-Y. Chen, Z. Liu, AT-533, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, inhibits breast cancer growth and HIF-1α/VEGF/VEGFR-2-mediated angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, Biochem. Pharmacol. 172 (2020) 113771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2019.113771.
- [50] E.M. Gartner, P. Silverman, M. Simon, L. Flaherty, J. Abrams, P. Ivy, P.M. Lorusso, A phase II study of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin in metastatic or locally advanced, unresectable breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 131 (2012) 933–937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1866-7.
- [51] Z.Q. Lian, Q. Wang, W.P. Li, A.Q. Zhang, L. Wu, Screening of significantly hypermethylated genes in breast cancer using microarray-based methylated-CpG island recovery assay and identification of their expression levels, Int. J. Oncol. 41 (2012) 629–638. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2012.1464.
- [52] B. Garmy-Susini, C.J. Avraamides, J.S. Desgrosellier, M.C. Schmid, P. Foubert, L.G. Ellies, A.M. Lowy, S.L. Blair, S.R. Vandenberg, B. Datnow, H.Y. Wang, D.A. Cheresh, J. Varner, PI3Ka activates integrin α4β1 to establish a metastatic niche in lymph nodes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (2013) 9042–9047.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219603110.

- [53] T. Hu, R. Zhou, Y. Zhao, G. Wu, Integrin α6/Akt/Erk signaling is essential for human breast cancer resistance to radiotherapy, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep33376.
- [54] G. Bon, V. Folgiero, S. Di Carlo, A. Sacchi, R. Falcioni, Involvement of alpha6beta4 integrin in the mechanisms that regulate breast cancer progression., Breast Cancer Res. 9 (2007) 203. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr1651.
- [55] K. Arihiro, K. Inai, K. Kurihara, S. Takeda, N. Khatun, K. Kuroi, T. Toge, A role of VLA-6 laminin receptor in invasion of breast carcinoma, Pathol. Int. 43 (1993) 662–669. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.1993.tb02550.x.
- [56] K.A. Williams, M. Lee, Y. Hu, J. Andreas, S.J. Patel, S. Zhang, P. Chines, A. Elkahloun, S. Chandrasekharappa, J.S. Gutkind, A.A. Molinolo, N.P.S. Crawford, A Systems Genetics Approach Identifies CXCL14, ITGAX, and LPCAT2 as Novel Aggressive Prostate Cancer Susceptibility Genes, PLoS Genet. 10 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004809.
- [57] D.E. Stange, B. Radlwimmer, F. Schubert, F. Traub, A. Pich, G. Toedt, F. Mendrzyk, U. Lehmann, R. Eils, H. Kreipe, P. Lichter, High-resolution genomic profiling reveals association of chromosomal aberrations on 1q and 16p with histologic and genetic subgroups of invasive breast cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (2006) 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1633.
- [58] Ş. Kale, A.F. Korcum, E. Dündar, N. Erin, HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 increases radiosensitivity of breast cancer cells metastasized to visceral organs and alters the levels of inflammatory mediators., Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 393 (2020) 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-019-01725-z.
- [59] K. Liu, J. Chen, F. Yang, Z. Zhou, Y. Liu, Y. Guo, H. Hu, H. Gao, H. Li, W. Zhou, B. Qin, Y. Wang, BJ-B11, an Hsp90 Inhibitor, Constrains the Proliferation and Invasion of Breast Cancer Cells, Front. Oncol. 9 (2019) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01447.
- [60] K. Jhaveri, S. Chandarlapaty, D. Lake, T. Gilewski, M. Robson, S. Goldfarb, P. Drullinsky, S. Sugarman, C. Wasserheit-Leiblich, J. Fasano, M.E. Moynahan, G. D'Andrea, K. Lim, L. Reddington, S. Haque, S. Patil, L. Bauman, V. Vukovic, I. El-Hariry, C. Hudis, S. Modi, A phase II open-label study of ganetespib, a novel heat shock protein 90 inhibitor for patients with Metastatic breast cancer, Clin. Breast Cancer. 14 (2014) 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clbc.2013.12.012.
- [61] D. Kim, M.A. Behlke, S.D. Rose, M. Chang, S. Choi, J.J. Rossi, Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy., Nat. Biotechnol. 23 (2005) 222–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1051.
- [62] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.

- [63] E. Larsson, C. Sander, D. Marks, mRNA turnover rate limits siRNA and microRNA efficacy., Mol. Syst. Biol. 6 (2010) 433. https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2010.89.
- [64] D. Semizarov, L. Frost, A. Sarthy, P. Kroeger, D.N. Halbert, S.W. Fesik, Specificity of short interfering RNA determined through gene expression signatures, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 6347–6352. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1131959100.
- [65] C.M. Ferguson, D. Echeverria, M. Hassler, S. Ly, A. Khvorova, Cell Type Impacts Accessibility of mRNA to Silencing by RNA Interference., Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids. 21 (2020) 384–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2020.06.006.
- [66] P. Buc Calderon, A.L. Sennesael, C. Glorieux, Glucose-regulated protein of 94 kDa contributes to the development of an aggressive phenotype in breast cancer cells, Biomed. Pharmacother. 105 (2018) 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.05.106.
- [67] B. Liu, Z. Li, Endoplasmic reticulum HSP90bl (gp96, grp94) optimizes B-cell function via chaperoning integrin and TLR but not immunoglobulin, Blood. 112 (2008) 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-143107.
- [68] F. Hong, B. Liu, G. Chiosis, D.T. Gewirth, Z. Li, α7 helix region of αI domain is crucial for integrin binding to endoplasmic reticulum chaperone gp96 A potential therapeutic target for cancer metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (2013) 18243–18248. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.468850.

4. THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF INTEGRIN-β1 SILENCING IN DRUG RESISTANT CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA IMPLEMENTED BY POLYMERIC siRNA DELIVERY

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is a clonal myeloproliferative disorder characterized by uncontrolled expansion of a select population of pluripotent hematopoietic progenitor cells at the expense of normal hematopoietic progenitor cells, resulting in abnormally high accumulation of ill-formed myeloid cells [1]. The hallmark of CML is the reciprocal chromosomal translocation of the chromosome 9 having ABL gene (a human homologue of *v-abl* oncogene carried by Abelson murine leukemia virus) and chromosome 22 that breaks in a specific breakpoint cluster region (BCR) and results in the formation of fusion oncogene BCR-ABL. The encoded protein has enhanced tyrosine kinase activity and stimulates multiple undesirable events, including uncontrolled proliferation, growth factor independence, decreased attachment to stroma cells and extracellular matrix along with reduced apoptosis [1,2]. The disease progression in CML can develop in three phases when left untreated; (i) the initial *chronic phase* that last from 3 to 6 years and where most patients are diagnosed, (ii) the subsequent accelerated phase (6-9 months), and (iii) the terminal blast crisis phase that lasts 3 to 6 months [3]. The presence of BCR-ABL fusion protein in all CML patients make it a unique, and highly viable therapeutic target. This fusion oncogene has been effectively controlled by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) imatinib mesylate (IM), which was approved as front-line therapy for CML. The IM binds to the amino acids present at the ATP binding site of BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase protein and stabilizes it in an inactive form. This eventually "switches-off" the downstream signaling pathways leading to leukemogenesis. The IM has become the front line drug to treat newly diagnosed CML and aims to maintain remission, prevent relapse and disease progression to the accelerated phase or blast crisis [4-6]. However, after initial IM

treatment, some patients become unresponsive to the drug due to point mutations at the IM-binding site of *BCR-ABL* and this led to development of second generation (such as dasatinib, nilotinib and bosutinib) and third generation TKIs (ponatinib) [7–9]. In addition to mutagenic response to IM, certain populations of CML cells become unresponsive to TKI treatment due to their direct interaction and binding with the bone marrow (BM) and/or extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins through cell surface molecules [10–12].

Integrins are key cell-surface molecules that can regulate various intracellular signaling pathways such as proliferation, migration and apoptosis of the cells [13]. There are 24 different integrin receptors that are formed by the dimerization of 18 α - and 8 β integrin subunits and their expression vary significantly from cell to cell [14]. The binding of CML cells to the ECM protein fibronectin through cell surface integrins was shown to induce drug resistance and provide protection from apoptosis by the activation of tyrosine kinases [13,15]. BCR-ABL expression was shown to alter Integrin- β 1 (ITGB1) functioning in different studies; it leads to integrin- β 1 clustering, cytoskeleton remodelling and increased binding to fibronectin and stromal cells [16,17]. The direct interaction of CML cells with stromal microenvironment play an important role in the drug resistance in CML patients and was demonstrated by the interaction of the CML model K562 cells with stromal cells which provided protection against apoptosis induced by IM treatment. The binding to bone ECM via integrins could activate various intracellular signaling pathways altering the expression of multiple genes as well as the secretion of various growth factors from the stromal environment which could confer drug resistance and act as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease (MRD) [18,19]. In all these studies, the binding of CML cells

was the key in providing resistance to TKI treatment and, if this binding event could be interfered, the sensitivity of CML cells to the drugs could be improved.

In this study, we hypothesize that the knockdown of a specific integrin molecule (integrin- β 1) present on CML cells will improve the sensitivity of the cells to the TKI treatment. For this purpose, we used the well-established CML model K562 cells in vitro. This integrin knockdown was achieved using the siRNA approach, which has the advantage to target the specific genes of interest without altering other related genes. The effectiveness of siRNA-mediated silencing, however, depends on the efficiency of the gene delivery vector used. Polyethyleneimine (PEI) polymers are safe, non-viral delivery systems that can complex with siRNA to form nanoparticle complexes suitable for cell uptake. Lipid modification of PEI was shown to improve the interaction of cationic PEI/siRNA complexes with the anionic cell membrane. For this purpose, lipid-modified 1.2 kDa PEI (1.2PEI) polymers were utilized in this study to deliver dicer-substrate siRNA that helps to better incorporate into the RISC complex and provides higher knockdown as observed in our previous studies [20,21]. Here, we show that; (i) K562 CML cells can bind to fibronectin, (ii) integrin-β1 is highly expressed by K562 cells compared to other integrins, (iii) successful knockdown of integrin- β 1 can reduce its binding of K562 cells towards fibronectin and human bone marrow stromal cells (hBMSC) and (iv) silencing of integrin- β 1 can also help in the detachment of the leukemic cells attached to the stroma cells which can be targeted by TKIs. We also demonstrate that K562 cells can become resistant to BCR-ABL siRNA treatment when cultured on fibronectin and the combinational knockdown of integrin-\beta1 with BCR-ABL improves the sensitivity to siRNA treatment. If these results could be translated to a preclinical model, the detachment

of leukemic cells from the bone marrow microenvironment would aid in the TKI mediated killing.

4.2 MATERIALS and METHODS

4.2.1 Materials

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with D-glucose, L-glutamine and sodium pyruvate, Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 Medium with Lglutamine and HEPES, DMEM/F12 with L-glutamine and HEPES, Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS), Penicillin-Streptomycin (10,000 U/mL), UltraPure DNase/RNase-free dH₂O, MEM Non-essential amino acids, GlutaMAX-I, TRIzol Reagent, chloroform, acetic acid, LipofectamineTM 2000 and LipofectamineTM RNAiMAX were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, Canada). Fibronectin, formaldehyde solution, methyl cellulose, thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) and the primers used for various integrin gene expression analysis were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Polyethyleneimine of 1200 Da (1.2 PEI) was from Polysciences (Warrington, Pennsylvania). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was from VMR Life Science Seradigm (Mississauga, Ontario). Phycoerythrin (PE)-labeled mouse anti-human CD29 (integrin-β1) was from BD Biosciences (Oakville, Canada). Dicer substrate siRNA (ITGB1 sense: 5'-AGUUAACAGUGAAGACAUGGAUGCT-3', antisense: 5'-AGCAUCCAUGUCUUCACUGUUAACUUC-3') and 6-carboxyfluorescein (FAM) labelled scrambled siRNA were from IDT (Coralville, USA). Crystal violet from Allied Chemical. K562 cells and MDA-MB-231 cells were authenticated by genetic sequencing at the Centre for Applied Genomics, Toronto, Canada.

179

4.2.2 Cell models and culture

The BCR-ABL positive K562-WT (wild type) cell line established from a CML patient in blast crisis was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Virginia, USA) and K562 cells expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) were maintained in RPMI medium containing 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Spent medium was removed every third day by centrifugation at 500 rpm (5 min) and diluted 10 times in 20 mL of fresh medium for cell expansion. MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line was kindly provided by Dr. Judith Hugh (Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton) and were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After reaching 80% confluency, MDA-MB-231 cells were passaged using 0.05% Trypsin/EDTA at 37°C for 2 min and complete DMEM was used to collect the cells followed by centrifugation at 600 rpm (5 min). MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded 24 hours prior to the treatment. Human bone marrow stromal cells (hBMSCs) were isolated from patients (between 25-50 years of age) based on a procedure [22] approved by the Research Ethics Board of University of Alberta. These hBMSC cells were maintained in DMEM/F12 with 12% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin, 0.1% MEM Non-essential amino acids and 0.1% GlutaMAX-I at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

4.2.3 Preparation of polymers and polymer/siRNA complexes

A library of lipid-modified 1.2PEI polymers was synthesized through amide and thioester linkages using linoleic acid (LA), α -linoleic acid (α LA) and propionic acid (PrA) based on previously published protocols [23–26]. A redox-sensitive polymer library was

also prepared through disulfide cross-linking (-SS-) of lipid-modified PEIs via condensation reaction using cystamine bisacrylamide (CBA) as the cross-linker [24] (Scheme 1A). In all cases, the degree of lipid substitution on the polymers was determined through ¹H-NMR spectroscopy as described earlier [23-26]. Scheme 1B summarizes the polymers explored in this study.



Figure 4.1: (A) Schematic representation of polymer synthesis by grafting lipids *via N*-acylation followed by disulfide cross-linking (-SS- Modified). Lipid grafted PEI polymers were reacted with cystamine bisacrylamide (CBA) at 45°C in methanol under N_2 environment to prepare the disulfide cross-linked polymers. (B) List of polymers explored in this study, the lipid substituted polymers (unmodified) and its corresponding disulfide cross-linked polymers (-SS- Modified).

The polymer/siRNA complexes (typically at 9:1, w/w) were prepared in serum-free media (RPMI for K562 and DMEM for MDA-MB-231 cells) by incubating the desired polymer with siRNA for 30 min at room temperature. LipofectamineTM 2000/siRNA complexes (2:1, w/w) (for Fig 4.6, and Fig 4.S1) and LipofectamineTM RNAiMAX/siRNA (5:1, w/w) (for Fig 4.4, 4.5 and 4.S2) were prepared according to the optimized protocol provided by the manufacturer.

4.2.4 Fibronectin binding assay

The fibronectin binding assay was carried out based on a previously published protocol [27] with minor modifications. Briefly, 40 µL of 25 µg/mL concentration of fibronectin was coated onto 96-well flat bottom plates at room temperature for 1 hour. Viable cells were counted using trypan blue dye exclusion assay and equal number of cells were added in triplicates to the fibronectin coated plates. Following 1 hour of incubation at 37°C, plates were inverted and further incubated for 3, 7, 19 and 23 hours at 37°C. Cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde followed by staining with 0.1% crystal violet (in water) for 30 min and washed twice with HBSS to remove excess dye. The cell-associated dye was solubilized with 10% acetic acid and the absorbances were measured at 570 nm using EL_x800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments). Microscopic images were also captured at different time points. For the integrin- β 1 silencing studies, the cells were treated with desired concentrations (see Figure legends) of polymer/siRNA complexes for 3 days, following which K562 cells were collected, centrifuged at 1400 rpm for 5 min and resuspended in 100 µl of HBSS. Cells were stained with DiI dye for 20 min at room temperature and excess dye was removed by HBSS wash (twice). Cells were then

re-suspended in desired volume of fresh complete medium (10% FBS) and fibronectin binding was carried out for 4 hours. The non-adherent cells were removed by washing and the fluorescence was recorded at excitation of 536 nm and emission of 607 nm using Fluoroskan Ascent plate reader (Thermolab Systems).

4.2.5 Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis

The expression levels of integrins $\alpha 2b$ (ITGA2B), $\alpha 3$ (ITGA3), $\alpha 5$ (ITGA5), $\alpha 10$ (ITGA10), αE (ITGAE), αV (ITGAV), $\beta 1$ (ITGB1), $\beta 3$ (ITGB3) and $\beta 5$ (ITGB5) in K562 cell line was performed by qRT-PCR. Briefly, total RNA was extracted using Trizol reagent based on the manufacturer's instruction and 2 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed to synthesize cDNA by using 2 µL of mix-1 containing 0.5 µL random hexamer primer, 1 µL (10mM) dNTP's, 0.5 µL Oligo (dT) which was heated at 65 °C for 5 min. Then, 8 µL of mix-2 containing 4 µL synthesis buffer (5x), 2 µL DTT (0.1M), 1 µL RNase out and 1 µL M-MLV RT enzyme were added and incubated at 25 °C for 10 min, 37 °C for 50 min and 70 °C for 15 min. RT-PCR was carried out on a StepOnePlus (Applied Biosystems) RT-PCR system with human β -actin as endogenous housekeeping gene using the primers which were screened with the help of IDT (Integrated DNA Technologies) PrimerQuest Tool and NCBI Primer-BLAST are shown below:

Gene	Forward	Reverse
ITGA2B	CACGCATGGTTCAACGTGTC	CTGTGTCCACACCTGAGCTT
ITGA3	GCGCAAGGAGTGGGACTTAT	CTGCATCGTGTACCCAATATAGA
ITGA5	TGCCGAGTTCACCAAGACTG	TGCAATCTGCTCCTGAGTGG
ITGA10	TGGGTGTACCTAGGCAGTAT	ACTCTCTCTCCTGTCTGCTT
ITGAE	GCCTCCCTCTCCAAACATTCA	CTGAAACATGAGCAGATGACCTC
ITGAV	GTTGGGAGATTAGACAGAGGAAAG	GCAGACGACTTCAGAGAATAGG
ITGB1	GCCTGTTAGACATGACTGATGA	TTTCCCATGGCCTTTGTAGAT
ITGB3	CATCACCATCCACGACCGAA	GGTTGTTGGCTGTGTCCCAT
ITGB5	GATGACACCACAGGAGATTGC	GGTAGTACAGGTCCACAGGA
β-actin	GCGAGAAGATGACCCAGAT	CCAGTGGTACGGCCAGA
GAPDH	TCACTGTTCTCTCCCTCCGC	TACGACCAAATCCGTTGACTCC

183

10 μ L of reaction mixture containing 5 μ L master mix SYBR Green, 2 μ L of 10 × 10⁻⁶ m primers, and 3 μ L of 5 ng μ L⁻¹ cDNA template was added in triplicates to the MicroAmp Fast Optical 96-well reaction plate. The reaction mixtures were heated at 95 °C for 10 min before proceeding through 40 cycles of the denaturation step, 95 °C for 15 s, and annealing/elongation step, 60 °C for 1 min.

The integrin- β 1 mRNA levels following polymer/siRNA treatment in K562 and MDA-MB-231 cells were analyzed using the described RT-PCR protocol at desired time points (days 1, 3 and 6). Briefly, 80,000 K562 cells per well in 800 ul of media (24 well plate) were treated with complexes for 1 day and cells were harvested. A similar setup was carried out for day 3 timepoint, following which 600 ul of cell suspension was used for RNA extraction and the remaining 200 ul was added to a new plate with an additional 600 ul of fresh media which was further incubated for 3 more days (day 6 time point) before harvesting. For MDA-MB-231 cells, 80,000 cells per well (6 well plate) were seeded 24-hour prior to treatment with three different setups for day 1, 3 and 6. For day 6 time point, media was changed on day 3 following which cells were harvested for RT-PCR analysis. ΔC_{T} , $\Delta \Delta C_{T}$ and Relative Quantity (RQ) of mRNA were calculated with respect to the housekeeping gene, while the no treatment (NT) group served as the reference group.

4.2.6 siRNA uptake

The siRNA delivery efficiency was studied using FAM-labeled control (scrambled) siRNA in both cell lines. MDA-MB-231cells were allowed to attach and grow for 24 hours, after which polymer/FAM-siRNA complexes prepared at a weight/weight ratio of 9:1 was added to the cells at 60 nM, with unlabeled control siRNA serving as a negative control.

K562 cells were collected and centrifuged at 1400 rpm for 5 min whereas MDA-MB-231 cells were centrifuged following trypsinization and collected in complete medium. Both the cell lines were washed with HBSS and fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde. The uptake was quantified using BD AccuriTM C6 Plus Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA). The uptake of FAM-siRNA was determined and expressed as mean siRNA levels per cell (in arbitrary fluorescent units) and as percentage of cell population positive for FAM-labeled siRNA with cells carrying unlabeled siRNA complexes designated as 1% positive population.

4.2.7 Cell surface integrin-β1 analysis by flow cytometry

K562 cells were added to the wells along with polymer/siRNA complexes whereas MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded 24 hours prior to the treatments. Both cell lines were treated with the polymer/siRNA complexes for 3 days, following which K562 cells were collected by centrifugation, where as MDA-MB-231 cells were collected following trypsinization. The cells were washed with HBSS, followed by 1 hour of staining with PE-labeled Integrin-β1 antibody at room temperature according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were fixed with 2% formaldehyde prior to analysis with BD AccuriTM C6 Plus Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA). The extent of integrin-β1 expression was calculated as a percentage of mean fluorescence intensity relative to no treatment samples.

4.2.8 hBMSC binding assay

The K562 cells were treated in 48 well plates with the desired polymer/siRNA complexes and harvested after 3 days of treatment. hBMSC were seeded in 96-well flat

bottom plates and were maintained for 2-3 days to reach confluency [28]. The treated K562 cells were counted using the trypan blue exclusion assay and equal number of cells were stained with DiI dye (carbocyanine dye) for 20 min, after which they were washed twice with the HBSS. These cells were added to the confluent hBMSC monolayers in 96-well plates and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. The plates were then placed upside down and further incubated for 3 hours at 37 °C. The non-adherent cells were removed by washing and the fluorescence was recorded at excitation of 536 nm and emission of 607 nm using Fluoroskan Ascent plate reader (Thermolab systems).

4.2.9 K562 detachment assay

hBMSCs from different donors were seeded on a 6-well plate and was grown for 24 hours till they reached 60% confluency, following which K562-GFP cells were seeded on this monolayer and allowed to attach for additional 24 hours. The unattached/floating K562-GFP cells were removed, and fresh complete media was added followed by complex treatment for 3 days. Unattached/floating cells were once again removed, followed by the addition of fresh media, and further incubated for 2 days. Finally, K562-GFP cells were removed from the hBMSC monolayer and washed with HBSS to attain complete collection of the cells and the GFP fluorescence was recorded at excitation of 485 nm and emission of 510 nm using Fluoroskan Ascent plate reader (Thermolab systems). Percentage of detachment was calculated relative to non-treatment group. The cells that remained attached to the monolayer was collected by trypsinization and analyzed for GFP fluorescence by BD AccuriTM C6 Plus Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA).

4.2.10 Cell viability analyzed by MTT and trypan blue exclusion assay

To develop a K562 cell line resistant to Dasatinib (DA) treatment due to hBMSC binding, we cultured K562-GFP cells on a monolayer of hBMSC for 1, 3 and 5 days and the unattached cells were removed followed by DA addition at 5 nM and 10 nM. DA treatment which was allowed for 4 days under each treatment group separately. Dead cells percentage was calculated by staining the cells with 0.0002% trypan blue (final concentration) and analyzed by flow cytometry. Cell population positive to GFP as well as trypan blue dye was calculated for this purpose.

K562-WT cells were treated with complexes having 60nM of siRNA for 2 days followed by Imatinib addition at 300 nM, 500 nM and 1000 nM. Cells were further incubated for an additional 3 days after which cell viability was accessed by MTT assay. Briefly, 1mg/ml final concentration of MTT was added to the cells and incubated at 37 °C for 2 hours. Cells were collected by centrifugation at 1400 rpm for 5 minutes, supernatant was removed and the pellet containing the crystals was dissolved in DMSO by vortexing and absorbance was recorded at 570 nm using EL_x800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments).

4.2.11 Methylcellulose colony-formation unit (CFU) assay:

The K562 cells were allowed to attach and grow on fibronectin-coated plates for 2 days, following which they were treated with polymer/siRNA complexes for 3 days. Cells were collected by HBSS washing, counted using trypan blue dye exclusion assay and equal number of viable cells were seeded with 400 μ L of Methylcellulose and allowed to form

colonies at 37 °C. Colony counts were assessed using a light microscope on day 7 and day 14.

4.2.12 Statistical analysis:

All results are summarized as mean \pm standard deviation and unpaired Student's *t*test was used to assess the statistical differences between the group means with p-value < 0.05 considered as statistically significant. Where specified, the number of independent experiments used to generate the data (n) are indicated. Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated where indicated.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 K562 cells can effectively bind to fibronectin at relatively short duration

To assess the fibronectin binding ability of K562 cells, the cells were seeded on fibronectin coated wells and the bound cells were quantified at different time points (4h, 8h, 20h and 24h). The cells retained in wells without fibronectin (WO-FN; **Fig 4.2A**) was minimal which remained at similar levels for all the time points. The corresponding microscopic images confirmed this result (**Fig 4.2B**). In contrast, the wells with fibronectin coating (W-FN; **Fig 4.2A**) showed large number of cells binding to fibronectin which was observed as early as 4h. The attachment was not also altered with increase in time. The corresponding microscopic images (**Fig 4.2B**) provided a confirmation on the fibronectin binding ability of the K562 cells, which suggest the presence of cell surface receptors (presumably integrins) that could help in this binding.



Figure 4.2: Fibronectin binding ability of K562 cells at different time points. (A) The number of cells bound to fibronectin as given by relative absorbance units and (B) the corresponding microscopic images. The results are summarized for without fibronectin (WO-FN: white bars) and with fibronectin (W-FN: black bars) coated wells. Significance compared to WO-FN at each time point (* $p \le 0.05$, n=2).

4.3.2 Integrin-β1 (ITGB1) is highly expressed in K562 cells

Following the confirmation of fibronectin binding, we investigated the presence of potential integrins that could play a role in this fibronectin binding process. Hence, we assessed the levels of mRNA transcripts of various integrins in the K562 cells. The RQ of mRNA levels were calculated with respect to β -actin housekeeping gene. Integrin- β 1 was highly expressed when compared to other integrin genes, followed by integrin- α 5 and integrin- α V (**Fig 4.3**). All other genes such as ITGA2B, ITGA3, ITGA10, ITGAE, ITGB3 and ITGB5 had very low or no expression (**Fig 4.3**). Given the well-established role of integrin- β 1 in fibronectin binding [29–33], this analysis suggests that integrin- β 1 could be primarily responsible for the fibronectin binding ability of the K562 cells as it is highly

expressed. A similar level of Integrin- β 1 was also observed when K562 cells were cultured in contact with hBMSC (**Fig 4.3**, insert)



Figure 4.3: Relative quantity of integrin expression in K562 cells with respect to β -actin, evaluated by RT-PCR. The mRNA levels of integrin- β 1 (ITGB1) were significantly higher than all other integrins included in this study as denoted by * p \leq 0.05 (n=3). The expression of integrin- β 1 was also high when cultured on hBMSC with GAPDH or β -actin house keeping genes (insert).

4.3.3 Successful delivery of siRNA into K562 Cells

The high expression of fibronectin-binding integrin- β 1 makes it a viable target for siRNA-mediated knockdown, which would help to reduce the ECM binding ability of K562 cells. As the siRNA delivery is dependent on the efficiency of gene delivery vehicle, we used several lipid-modified PEIs in this study to identify optimal delivery system. The 1.2PEIs that had linoleic acid, α -linoleic acid, propionic acid substitutions and their respective redox-sensitive disulfide cross-linked (-ss-) polymers were used for siRNA

delivery. MDA-MB-231 cells were used as reference cell phenotype due to the high expression of integrin- β 1 on their cell surface as shown in our previous studies [34]. The widely used commercial reagent Lipofectamine, and the in-house prepared polymer 1.2PEI- α LA4 which exhibited high siRNA uptake in MDA-MB-231 cells as well as in K562 cells from previous studies [35,36] were used as reference carriers. Among the investigated polymers, 1.2PEI-tLA6, 1.2PEI-t α LA6, 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss exhibited the highest siRNA uptake as shown by the mean fluorescence intensity in K562 cells (**Fig 4.4A-i**). The same polymers showed high siRNA uptake in MDA-MB-231 cells as well, in addition to 1.2PEI-tLA2 and 1.2PEI-t α LA2 (**Fig 4.4A-ii**). The correlation in the siRNA delivery between the K562 and MDA-MB-231 was calculated (r² = 0.7118) and found to be significant (p < 0.0001). The three polymers 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss, 1.2PEI-tLA6 and 1.2PEI-t α LA6 (indicated by A, B and C in **Fig 4.4B**) worked best in both cell types.



Figure 4.4: The uptake of FAM-labelled siRNA after 24 hours of treatment. (A) Mean fluorescence intensity of siRNA relative to the no treatment cells in (i) K562 and (ii) MDA-MB-231 cell lines. Control polymers (striped bars), non-disulfide crosslinked polymers (white bars) and -ss- modified polymers (black bars) with significance compared to the

unmodified (non-disulfide) counterparts * $p \le 0.05$ and (**B**) The correlation of mean fluorescence between the two cell lines was calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient (r = 0.8437 with p < 0.0001).

4.3.4 Significant knockdown of cell surface integrin-β1

The knockdown of integrin- β 1 was performed with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and redoxsensitive -SS- cross-linked derivatives as they may yield better siRNA release inside the cell, resulting in better knockdown [24]. Scrambled siRNA (CsiRNA) was used as control in this experiment. Following 3 days of treatment with polymer/siRNA complex, cells were stained with PE-integrin- β 1 antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry. We assessed the cell surface integrin- β 1 levels in K562 and MDA-MB-231 cells (**Fig 4.5A**) and observed a drastic difference. K562 cells had readily detectable expression of integrin- β 1, but this amount was lower than the levels found in MDA-MB-231 cells. In K562 cells, the polymers 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss showed significant knockdown of the cell surface integrin- β 1 (**Fig 4.5B-i**). These polymers also had high siRNA uptake in K562 cells (see **Fig 4.5A-i**) and they also exhibited strong silencing in MDA-MB-231 cells (**Fig 4.5B-i**). The observed knockdown was achieved with a single treatment of polymer/siRNA complex having 60 nM siRNA concentration.


Figure 4.5: (A) Cell surface integrin- β 1 levels in K562 and MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells without antibody staining are denoted by white bars, and cells stained with PE-integrin- β 1 antibody are denoted by black bars. (B) Integrin- β 1 silencing with siRNA delivery, as evaluated by cell surface immunostaining and flow cytometry. The integrin- β 1 levels (given by percentage of mean fluorescence intensity relative to no treatment cells) were measured after 3 days of siRNA treatment in (B-i) K562 and (B-ii) MDA-MB-231 cells. Control siRNA (scrambled; CsiRNA) is shown as white bars while integrin- β 1 siRNA in black bars. A polymer/siRNA (weight/weight) ratio of 9:1 with 60 nM of siRNA concentration was used. Significant reduction compared to CsiRNA treatment with each polymer, * p \leq 0.05 (n=2).

We additionally evaluated the effect of polymer/siRNA complex on integrin- β 1 mRNA levels at different time points, starting from day 1 to day 6 after a single treatment. In K562 cells (**Fig 4.6A**), the mRNA levels can be reduced significantly at day 1 and day 3, but the silencing effect was not significant at day 6 for 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss, but the knockdown was still present for the Lipofectamine. The knockdown efficiency was higher (at the same dose of siRNA) and more prolonged from day 1 to day 6 in MDA-MB-231 cells (**Fig 4.6B**), which was also observed in our previous study.



Figure 4.6: Integrin- β 1 mRNA levels after siRNA treatment. The mRNA levels of integrin- β 1 after 3 days of siRNA treatment with the 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss was quantified through qRT-PCR (values are plotted relative to no treatment group) in (A) K562 and (B) MDA-MB-231 cells. Significant difference compared to the CsiRNA treatment of each group, * p \leq 0.05 (n=2). CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA.

4.3.5 Knockdown of integrin-β1 reduces binding and helps in detachment of K562 cells

Following the successful knockdown of both cell surface protein and mRNA levels of integrin- β 1, the functional outcome of this effect was studied by assessing K562 binding to fibronectin and hBMSC. K562 was shown to bind to hBMSC, which contributes towards

the unresponsiveness to drug treatment in the late stage CML and could eventually lead to disease relapse [37–39]. The integrin- β 1 reduction helped to significantly decrease its binding ability towards fibronectin and hBMSC when treated with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 polymer (**Fig 4.7A, B**). Similarly, the silencing of integrin- β 1 was able to detach the K562 cells from hBMSC monolayer (**Fig 4.7C**).



Figure 4.7: Effect of integrin- β 1 silencing on the binding ability of K562 cells. (A) Binding on fibronectin-coated surfaces: Percentage of K562 cells binding to fibronectin after 3 days of treatment with siRNA using the polymers 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss (n=4). (B) Binding towards hBMSCs: Percentage of K562 cells binding to human bone marrow stromal cells (hBMSCs) after 3 days of siRNA treatment. (C) Detachment of K562-GFP cells from hBMSC monolayer following 3 days of complex treatment with two different siRNA concentrations and 5 days of attachment. Values are plotted as percentage of cells detached relative to no treatment group (taken as 100%). Significance in comparison to the CsiRNA treatment, * p ≤ 0.05 (n=3.) CsiRNA: Control scrambled siRNA.

After assessing the detachment of cells from hBMSC monolayer, we also analyzed the cells that remained attached to the monolayers. Separate sources of BMSCs were used in this study. In hBMSC-1, ITGB1 silencing helped to detach most of the K562 cells at 60 nM siRNA treatment. However, with hBMSC-2, no reduction was observed using 60 nM of siRNA concentration (**Fig 4.8A**). Using different sources of hBMSC and with different concentrations of siRNA (20, 40, 60 and 80 nM), we could observe that hBMSC-3 responded to ITGB1 silencing by decreasing the percentage of attached cells, unlike the K562 cells on hBMSC-4 (**Fig 4.8B**).



Figure 4.8: Amount of K562 cells remained attached on hBMSC. Integrin- β 1 silencing and evaluation of the amount of K562 cells that remained attached to hBMSC from different patient samples. (**A**) Absolute cell number of K562 cells remaining on hBMSC and (**B**) percentage of K562 cells still attached on hBMSC following siRNA treatment at different concentrations analyzed using different hBMSC samples were calculated relative to the attached cells in no treatment group.

4.3.6 Combinational knockdown of integrin-β1 and BCR-ABL to reverse resistance acquired by fibronectin binding

The colony formation by K562 cells that were cultured without fibronectin (WO-FN; white bars) showed a significant drop in the number of colonies when treated with BCR-ABL siRNA/polymer complexes (60 nM siRNA) (**Fig 4.9A, B**). A drop in the colony forming ability of K562 cells on fibronectin (W-FN; black bars) was also seen when the cells were treated with BCR-ABL siRNA, but the decrease in this case was less compared to cells grown in the absence of fibronectin (at both day 7 and day 14). Treatment with integrin- β 1 siRNA alone, did not reduce the colony counts at both time points. A combination of BCR-ABL (30 nM) and integrin-β1 (30 nM) siRNA/polymer complex resulted in colony counts similar to BCR-ABL siRNA/polymer complex treatment alone. Whereas an increase in the integrin-β1 siRNA concentration to 60 nM along with BCR-ABL siRNA of 30 nM resulted in significant reduction of colony counts than the BCR-ABL siRNA/polymer complex treatment alone at day 7 (**Fig 4.9A**). Therefore, reduced responsiveness to BCR-ABL siRNA treatment observed due to fibronectin binding can be overcome by a combinational knockdown of integrin-β1 in K562 cells (**Fig 4.9A, B**).



Figure 4.9: Combinational siRNA treatment and its effect on the number of colony forming K562 cells. Cells cultured without fibronectin (WO-FN) are represented by white bars and with fibronectin (W-FN) are represented by black bars. Following treatment, cells were seeded in a semisolid methylcellulose media and colony counts were calculated at (A) Day 7 and (B) Day 14. Significance between WO-FN and W-FN colony counts *p \leq 0.05 (n=2). NT – no treatment cells (without any treatment).

4.4 DISCUSSION

The development of drug resistance in CML was considered to be primarily due to point mutations on the BCR-ABL domain, which alters the binding ability of TKIs. Recent studies have also shown BM microenvironment to play an important role in binding of CML cells and contributing to the observed drug resistance [19,37]. The binding of K562 cells with fibronectin, which is a key molecule that regulates the adhesion process in BM niche via cell surface integrin- β 1, conferred resistance to IM treatment in the *in vitro* studies [29,40]. In our initial study to confirm the fibronectin binding ability of CML cells, we could observe a sharp increase in the number of cells binding to fibronectin within a very short period of 4 hours. The sustained binding to fibronectin (from 4 to 24h) could also signify that these cells can stay attached for longer periods of time. Earlier evidence have also shown the fibronectin binding ability of BCR-ABL positive cells, providing protection against IM-induced cell death and a decrease in the proliferation which could be a possible survival mechanism to evade drug treatment [13,29]. The binding of CML cells with the aid of integrins could activate various intracellular signaling pathways altering the expression of several genes such as P-gp, Mcl-1, Bcl-xl, and survivin, all of which are involved in IM resistance in CML cells [19]. In addition, the combined BCR-ABL/fibronectin signaling can induce morphological changes (cytoskeletal function) in leukemic cells leading to integrin clustering and increased cell adhesion which could also contribute to enhanced resistance to TKI treatment [17,41]. Hence, binding to fibronectin may lead to multiple changes in the CML cells, which necessitates the identification of key integrins involved in this process. Thus, PCR analysis to identify the potential integrin(s) responsible for fibronectin binding were conducted and the results revealed high expression

of integrin- β 1 in K562 CML cells. Compelling evidence of integrin- β 1 as a key molecule that aids in the binding of CML cells to BM/fibronectin, transform them into a viable target to overcome drug resistance. The fact that integrin- β 1 mediated pathway was shown to mediate fibronectin binding by various studies [30–33,36], regulate degradation of Bim pro-apoptotic protein levels [29], prevent apoptosis in *BCR-ABL* positive cells [13], all contributed to our focussing on integrin- β 1 as a therapeutic target.

Although integrin- β 1 was identified as a key receptor for BM attachment of CML cells, the role of other components of BM microenvironment in drug resistance was also explored by others. The cytokines produced in BM was shown to aid in the survival of BCR-ABL positive leukemic cells even in the presence of TKIs and this resistance was reversed, when leukemic cells were isolated from BM and exposed to IM [42]. In addition, culturing of K562 cells in bone marrow stroma-derived conditioned medium resulted in upregulation of STAT3 and increased levels of its target genes Bcl-xl, Mcl-1 and survivin which eventually leads to IM resistance [43]. Hence, the signals received from the BM initiates various downstream signaling pathways which provides BCR-ABL independent survival, conferring resistance to TKIs. Targeting of downstream signaling pathways such as PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathway which is shown to be activated in CML cells after IM treatment helps in the survival and resistance, and targeting this pathway resulted in growth inhibition of CML cells [44,45]. Other intracellular pathways such as ERK1/2 and SMAD have also shown to sustain resistance to IM induced apoptosis when CML cells were cultured with the bone marrow stroma cells [37]. All these studies involved direct growth and interaction of CML cells with BM microenvironment or use of bone marrow stromaconditioned medium, which the CML cells in contact with BM, in turn activates various

signaling pathways for drug resistance. Thus, we speculate that the disruption of the interaction/binding of CML to BM will have therapeutic outcome for overcoming drug resistance.

The other significant integrins expressed in K562 were integrin- α 5 and integrin- α v (**Fig 4.3**), which suggest the possible heterodimerization with integrin- β 1 on cell surfaces. An earlier study on cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance in CML unveiled that the binding of K562 cells to fibronectin was via integrin- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and this contributed to the resistance towards DNA damaging agents such as melphalan, miozantrone and γ -irradiation [46,38]. The knockdown of the single, highly expressed integrin- β 1 will reduce its availability to heterodimerize with the other α -subunits. One might additionally have to target other integrins such as integrin- α_5 for increased potency to reduce fibronectin/hBMSC adhesion and this will be explored in our future studies.

For the successful delivery of siRNA into K562 cells, we used lipid-modified 1.2 kDa PEI polymers as they exhibit inherent buffering capacity that helps in endosomal release of the nucleic acid via "proton-sponge" effect [47]. Multiple lipid-modified PEIs and corresponding disulfide (-ss- modified) linked counterparts were screened for this purpose. Lipid substitution on low molecular weight PEIs enhances their cellular binding and permeability across the plasma membrane, whereas the disulfide cross-linked polymers can provide better release of nucleic acid inside the cell due to redox sensitivity of the disulfide linkages [24,48]. In this study, we could observe a significant increase in siRNA uptake after disulfide crosslinking of 1.2PEI-tαLA6 polymer, whereas opposite effect was observed with 1.2PEI-tLA6 polymer (decreased siRNA uptake) (**Fig 4.4A-i**). In attachment- dependent breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231, disulfide crosslinking had

positive effect only with 1.2PEI, whereas detrimental effects were observed with 1.2PEItLA2, tLA6 and t α LA2 polymers (**Fig 4.4A-ii**). With 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and PrA1, the siRNA uptake was unaltered after disulfide crosslinking (**Fig 4.4A-ii**). Previous studies with disulfide cross-linked polymers showed comparatively similar results, were the transfection efficiency of 2 kDa PEI was improved post disulfide cross-link, whereas palmitoyl chloride modified PEI did not improve its transfection efficiency [24]. Similar observation were made with disulfide cross-linked 800 Da PEI; the transfection efficiency was improved with disulfide cross-linking and cytotoxicity lowered [48,49]. Based on the comparative siRNA delivery in MDA-MB-231 and K562 cells, 3 polymers (1.2PEIt α LA6-ss, 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-tLA6) could provide high siRNA delivery in both cell lines. The other polymers that did not exhibit high siRNA uptake in K562 cells were not effective in MDA-MB-231 cells as well.

The knockdown of integrin- β 1 was performed with the disulfide crosslinked polymers, as they were shown to improve the transfection efficiency and exhibit better intracellular release of the nucleic acid in other studies [48,50]. In K562 cells, the significant knockdown observed with the disulfide cross-linked 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss polymer was comparable to its counterpart 1.2PEI-taLA6 (**Fig 4.5B-i**). Similar results were observed with MDA-MB-231 cells which associates with the siRNA uptake of these 2 polymers. In both the cell types, the knockdown efficiency was comparable to that of the commercial transfection reagent Lipofectamine RNAiMAX/2000. As the aim of this study was to evaluate the therapeutic potential of integrin- β 1 to overcome drug resistance in CML, we did not explore the various physicochemical properties of the polymers used in this study. To evaluate the decrease in integrin- β 1 mRNA levels, we used 1.2PEI-taLA6ss, as its cell surface knockdown efficiency was similar to its unmodified counterpart (1.2PEI-t α LA6). The observed reduction in integrin- β 1 mRNA levels (**Fig 5.6A**) correlated with cell surface knockdown (**Fig 4.5B-i**) as well as high siRNA uptake (**Fig 4.4A-i**) with 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss polymer. A similar outcome was observed with the MDA-MB-231 albeit at much higher extent of silencing (**Fig 4.6B**). This difference could be explained by the high levels of integrin- β 1 in MDA-MB-231 when compared to the moderate/low levels in K562 cells (**Fig 4.5A**) as well as ~5-fold increased siRNA delivery in the breast cancer cells. An siRNA concentration of 60 nM was found to be sufficient to perform integrin- β 1 knockdown and further increase of siRNA concentration did not affect the outcome at the cell surface levels when treated with the control transfection agent (**Fig 4.S1**). In order to study the applicability of 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss polymers for other targets, we delivered survivin siRNA and observed significant as well as comparable knockdown to that of the control transfection agent (**Fig 4.S2**), which highlights the high efficacy of this polymer irrespective of the target.

The main objective of this study was to examine the possible reduction of K562 cell binding to hBMSC by integrin- β 1 knockdown and improvement of sensitivity to drug treatment. A single treatment with 60 nM of siRNA targeting integrin- β 1 was able to reduce the hBMSC binding of K562 CML cells (**Fig 4.7B**) as well as the detachment of hBMSC-attached K562 cells (**Fig 4.7C**). Significant reduction was observed only with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 polymer treatment and not by 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss polymer which could be explained by the reduced binding observed even with control siRNA (CsiRNA) treated cells, indicating a non-specific effect caused by disulfide cross-linked polymer. Furthermore, the

detachment of K562 cells from hBMSC was confirmed by the reduced amount of K562 cells that remained attached to hBMSC following integrin-β1 knockdown (**Fig 4.8A, B**).

We cultured the K562 CML cells on fibronectin, followed by treatment with polymer/siRNA complexes in order to perform colony formation cell assays. This is a widely used method to study the proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic cells by looking into the colony counts, which is depended on the ability of K562 cells to form colonies when seeded in a semisolid medium (methylcellulose) [51]. As expected, the knockdown of BCR-ABL drastically reduced the colony counts in the absence of fibronectin. However, the presence of fibronectin substrate for cell attachment provided resistance to BCR-ABL siRNA treatment which was observed at day 7 as well as day 14 (Fig 4.9). Treatment with integrin- β 1 siRNA alone, did not affect the colony formation of K562 cells but the presence of fibronectin increased the colony counts which is due to the favorable growth conditions provided by fibronectin [13,16,29,52]. The significant decrease in the colony counts while using a combinational treatment of BCR-ABL (30 nM) with integrin- β 1 siRNA (60nM) highlighted the therapeutic potential of integrin- β 1 silencing. But this effect was not observed at day 14, when the colony counts for some groups started to decline. The drastic decline in the colony counts at day 14 of no treatment (NT) when cultured on fibronectin is an interesting observation which could be due to proliferation inhibition due to its binding to fibronectin as reported earlier [53].

Due to the ability of leukemic cells to evade TKIs by residing in the bone marrow niche, we aimed to induce TKI resistance by growing K562 cells on hBMSC for different time points and exposing them to the DA (5 and 10 nM). Furthermore, we also examined the effect on cell viability with a combinational treatment of IM at 3 different concentration

and integrin- β 1 silencing. However, we were unable to show that binding to hBMSC would make the K562 cells less effective to TKI treatment in our hands and no difference in cell viability between IM alone, CsiRNA and integrin- β 1 treatment was observed (**Fig 4.S3**).

In conclusion, we showed that fibronectin could enhance the binding ability of K562 CML cells in this study. Since this interaction is generally mediated by the presence of integrin- β 1, its successful knockdown with the aid of polymeric siRNA delivery helped to decrease it binding to fibronectin, as well as hBMSC, and the detachment of leukemic cells from the stromal layer. The combinational silencing of BCR-ABL and integrin- β 1 was found to reduce colony formation especially in the presence of fibronectin. All these outcomes should be further tested in patient cells as well as animal studies to validate the therapeutic potential of integrin- β 1 and the polymeric systems to address drug resistance in CML. If the reported results could be successfully translated to these models, combinational silencing of Bcr-Abl and integrin- β 1 could be a viable treatment for drug resistant CML clones.

4.5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by research funding from Alberta Innovates Health Solutions (AIHS), Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada (NSERC) and Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. HU and RBKC are founders of a start-up company (RJH Biosciences) commercializing the polymers for nucleic acid delivery.

4.6 REFERENCES

- J. V. Melo, Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, Hematology. 2003 (2003) 132–152. doi:10.1182/asheducation-2003.1.132.
- [2] J.D. Rowley, Letter: A new consistent chromosomal abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukaemia identified by quinacrine fluorescence and Giemsa staining., Nature. 243 (1973) 290–3. doi:10.1038/243290a0.
- [3] H.M. Kantarjian, M. Talpaz, F. Giles, S.O. Brien, J. Cortes, New Insights into the Pathophysiology of Chronic Myeloid Leukemia OF, (2006) 913–924.
- [4] B.J. Druker, S. Tamura, E. Buchdunger, S. Ohno, G.M. Segal, S. Fanning, J. Zimmermann, N.B. Lydon, Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr–Abl positive cells, Nat. Med. 2 (1996) 561–566. doi:10.1038/nm0596-561.
- B.J. Druker, M. Talpaz, D.J. Resta, B. Peng, E. Buchdunger, J.M. Ford, N.B. Lydon,
 H. Kantarjian, R. Capdeville, S. Ohno-Jones, C.L. Sawyers, Efficacy and safety of
 a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia.,
 N. Engl. J. Med. 344 (2001) 1031–7. doi:10.1056/NEJM200104053441401.
- [6] G. Marcucci, D. Perrotti, M.A. Caligiuri, Understanding the Molecular Basis of Imatinib Mesylate Therapy in Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia and the Related Mechanisms of Resistance: Commentary re: A. N. Mohamed et al., The Effect of Imatinib Mesylate on Patients with Philadelphia Chromosome-positive, Clin. Cancer Res. 9 (2003) 1248–1252. http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/9/4/1248.full.
- M. Talpaz, N.P. Shah, H. Kantarjian, N. Donato, J. Nicoll, R. Paquette, J. Cortes, S. O'Brien, C. Nicaise, E. Bleickardt, M.A. Blackwood-Chirchir, V. Iyer, T.-T. Chen, F. Huang, A.P. Decillis, C.L. Sawyers, Dasatinib in imatinib-resistant Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias., N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2531–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa055229.
- [8] H. Kantarjian, F. Giles, L. Wunderle, K. Bhalla, S. O'Brien, B. Wassmann, C. Tanaka, P. Manley, P. Rae, W. Mietlowski, K. Bochinski, A. Hochhaus, J.D. Griffin, D. Hoelzer, M. Albitar, M. Dugan, J. Cortes, L. Alland, O.G. Ottmann, Nilotinib in Imatinib-Resistant CML and Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive ALL, N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2542–2551. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa055104.
- [9] X. Xie, H. Zhang, Expert Opinion on Orphan Drugs Orphan drug development for targeting chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, 8707 (2016). doi:10.1080/21678707.2016.1202820.

- J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gamma-irradiation., Leukemia. 15 (2001) 1232–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11480565.
- [11] B.I. Lundell, J.B. McCarthy, N.L. Kovach, C.M. Verfaillie, Activation-dependent alpha5beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion to fibronectin decreases proliferation of chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitors and K562 cells., Blood. 87 (1996) 2450– 8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8630410.
- [12] F. Vianello, F. Villanova, V. Tisato, S. Lymperi, K.K. Ho, A.R. Gomes, D. Marin, D. Bonnet, J. Apperley, E.W.F. Lam, F. Dazzi, Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells non-selectively protect chronic myeloid leukemia cells from imatinib-induced apoptosis via the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis, Haematologica. 95 (2010) 1081–1089. doi:10.3324/haematol.2009.017178.
- [13] H. van der Kuip, A.W. Goetz, C. Miething, J. Duyster, W.E. Aulitzky, Adhesion to fibronectin selectively protects Bcr-Abl+ cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis., Blood. 98 (2001) 1532–41. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.5.1532.
- [14] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. doi:10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [15] J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leukemia. 15 (2001) 1232–9. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [16] F.A. Fierro, A. Taubenberger, P.H. Puech, G. Ehninger, M. Bornhauser, D.J. Muller, T. Illmer, BCR/ABL Expression of Myeloid Progenitors Increases β1-Integrin Mediated Adhesion to Stromal Cells, J. Mol. Biol. 377 (2008) 1082–1093. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.01.085.
- [17] Y. Li, N. Clough, X. Sun, W. Yu, B.L. Abbott, C.J. Hogan, Z. Dai, Bcr-Abl induces abnormal cytoskeleton remodeling, beta1 integrin clustering and increased cell adhesion to fibronectin through the Abl interactor 1 pathway., J. Cell Sci. 120 (2007) 1436–46. doi:10.1242/jcs.03430.
- [18] R.R. Nair, J. Tolentino, L.A. Hazlehurst, The bone marrow microenvironment as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease in CML, Biochem. Pharmacol. 80 (2010) 602–612. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2010.04.003.
- [19] X. Li, H. Miao, Y. Zhang, W. Li, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, L. Zhao, Q. Guo, Bone marrow

microenvironment confers imatinib resistance to chronic myelogenous leukemia and oroxylin A reverses the resistance by suppressing Stat3 pathway, Arch. Toxicol. 89 (2015) 121–136. doi:10.1007/s00204-014-1226-6.

- [20] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8_1.
- [21] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [22] H. Jiang, C. Secretan, T. Gao, K. Bagnall, G. Korbutt, J. Lakey, N.M. Jomha, The development of osteoblasts from stem cells to supplement fusion of the spine during surgery for AIS., Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 123 (2006) 467–72. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17108470.
- [23] K.C. Remant Bahadur, B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludag, Lipid substitution on low molecular weight (0.6-2.0 kDa) polyethylenimine leads to a higher zeta potential of plasmid DNA and enhances transgene expression, Acta Biomater. 7 (2011) 2209–2217. doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2011.01.027.
- [24] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. doi:10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [25] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [26] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. doi:10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [27] H. Gul-uludag, J. Valencia-serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-wieczorek, H. Uludag, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34 + acute myeloid leukemia cells, 38 (2014) 1299–1308. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [28] M.J. Humphries, Cell adhesion assays., Methods Mol. Biol. 522 (2009) 203–10. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-413-1 14.
- [29] L.A. Hazlehurst, R.F. Argilagos, W.S. Dalton, β1 integrin mediated adhesion increases Bim protein degradation and contributes to drug resistance in leukaemia

cells, Br. J. Haematol. 136 (2007) 269–275. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06435.x.

- [30] M.D. Kelley, R. Phomakay, M. Lee, V. Niedzwiedz, R. Mayo, Retinoic acid receptor gamma impacts cellular adhesion, Alpha5Beta1 integrin expression and proliferation in K562 cells., PLoS One. 12 (2017) e0178116. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178116.
- [31] M. Järvinen, J. Ylänne, I. Virtanen, The effect of differentiation inducers on the integrin expression of K562 erythroleukemia cells., Cell Biol. Int. 17 (1993) 399– 408. doi:10.1006/cbir.1993.1078.
- [32] X. Meng, K. Cheng, O. Krohkin, a P. Mould, M.J. Humphries, W. Ens, K. Standing, J. a Wilkins, Evidence for the presence of a low-mass beta1 integrin on the cell surface., J. Cell Sci. 118 (2005) 4009–16. doi:10.1242/jcs.02520.
- [33] A. Dutta, T. Sen, A. Chatterjee, Culture of K562 human myeloid leukemia cells in presence of fibronectin expresses and secretes MMP-9 in serum-free culture medium., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 3 (2010) 288–302.
- [34] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). doi:10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [35] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur KC, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery, Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. doi:10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [36] J. Valencia-Serna, P. Chevallier, R.B. Kc, G. Laroche, H. Uludağ, Fibronectinmodified surfaces for evaluating the influence of cell adhesion on sensitivity of leukemic cells to siRNA nanoparticles., Nanomedicine (Lond). 11 (2016) 1123–38. doi:10.2217/nnm.16.32.
- [37] A. Kumar, J. Bhattacharyya, B.G. Jaganathan, Adhesion to stromal cells mediates imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia through ERK and BMP signaling pathways, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 9535. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10373-3.
- [38] J.S. Damiano, A.E. Cress, L.A. Hazlehurst, A.A. Shtil, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR): role of integrins and resistance to apoptosis in human myeloma cell lines., Blood. 93 (1999) 1658–67. doi:10.1016/0014-4827(72)90265-0.
- [39] W. Guo-Bao, C. Xiao-Qin, G. Qi-Rong, L. Jie, L. Gui-Nan, L. Yue, Arsenic Trioxide overcomes cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance through downregulating the expression of beta(1)-integrin in K562 chronic myelogenous

leukemia cell line., Leuk. Lymphoma. 51 (2010) 1090–7. doi:10.3109/10428191003746315.

- [40] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk, L.H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell Res. 230 (1997) 111–20. doi:10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [41] R. Salgia, J.L. Li, D.S. Ewaniuk, W. Pear, E. Pisick, S.A. Burky, T. Ernst, M. Sattler, L.B. Chen, J.D. Griffin, BCR/ABL induces multiple abnormalities of cytoskeletal function, J. Clin. Invest. 100 (1997) 46–57. doi:10.1172/JCI119520.
- [42] R.T. Williams, W. Den Besten, C.J. Sherr, Cytokine-dependent imatinib resistance in mouse BCR-ABL+, Arf-null lymphoblastic leukemia, Genes Dev. 21 (2007) 2283–2287. doi:10.1101/gad.1588607.
- [43] N.N. Bewry, R.R. Nair, M.F. Emmons, D. Boulware, J. Pinilla-Ibarz, L. a Hazlehurst, Stat3 contributes to resistance toward BCR-ABL inhibitors in a bone marrow microenvironment model of drug resistance., Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (2008) 3169–75. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0314.
- [44] A. Burchert, Y. Wang, D. Cai, N. von Bubnoff, P. Paschka, S. Müller-Brüsselbach, O.G. Ottmann, J. Duyster, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, Compensatory PI3kinase/Akt/mTor activation regulates im'atinib resistance development, Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1774–1782. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403898.
- [45] J. Dengler, N. von Bubnoff, T. Decker, C. Peschel, J. Duyster, Combination of imatinib with rapamycin or RAD001 acts synergistically only in Bcr-Abl-positive cells with moderate resistance to imatinib., Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1835–8. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403848.
- [46] J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR / ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and □ irradiation, (2001) 1232–1239.
- [47] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [48] Q. Peng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimines (PEI) prepared via thiolation of low molecular weight PEI as highly efficient gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 499–506. doi:10.1021/bc7003236.
- [49] C.-S. Cho, Design and Development of Degradable Polyethylenimines for Delivery

of DNA and Small Interfering RNA: An Updated Review, ISRN Mater. Sci. 2012 (2012) 1–24. doi:10.5402/2012/798247.

- [50] Q. Peng, C. Hu, J. Cheng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Influence of disulfide density and molecular weight on disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimine as gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 20 (2009) 340–346. doi:10.1021/bc800451j.
- [51] N.J. Sarma, A. Takeda, N.R. Yaseen, Colony Forming Cell (CFC) Assay for Human Hematopoietic Cells, J. Vis. Exp. (2010) 3–7. doi:10.3791/2195.
- [52] J.S. Damiano, L. a Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leuk. Off. J. Leuk. Soc. Am. Leuk. Res. Fund, U.K. 15 (2001) 1232– 1239. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [53] R. Bhatia, C.M. Verfaillie, Inhibition of BCR-ABL expression with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides restores beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion and proliferation inhibition in chronic myelogenous leukemia hematopoietic progenitors., Blood. 91 (1998) 3414–22. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9558400.

5. *In vitro* SAFETY STUDIES OF LIPID-SUBSTITUTED LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT PEIs USED IN GENE DELIVERY SYSTEMS

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Non-viral gene delivery systems have proved to be promising for treatment of various cancers and other disease conditions with advancements in various stages of clinical trials [1]. The ability of these delivery systems to express therapeutic proteins using plasmid DNA, thereby restoring the defective protein, or to knockdown aberrant proteins using RNA interference (RNAi) with short interfering RNA (siRNA) enables researchers to customize interventions according to the requirements of the disease. The success of such delivery systems depends on various factors such as their cationic charge affecting the binding and complexation with the nucleic acids, their ability to protect against nuclease degradation, the uptake efficiency and the localized delivery inside the cell, the intracellular dissociation ability, and the properties to escape endosomal compartment. Most importantly, the ability to remain 'stealth' without causing any adverse reactions in a biological system is of paramount importance irrespective of the application [2–4]. Although viral gene delivery vectors have been traditionally more effective, they carry a high risk of eliciting mutational insertions, carcinogenesis, and immune stimulation [5], which are worrisome for their clinical use.

Recent clinical trials are increasing involving non-viral delivery systems. As representative examples, clinical studies involving a PEG (polyethyleneglycol)-PEI (polyethyleneimine)-cholesterol lipopolymer carrying a plasmid DNA encoding IL-12 gene for ovarian epithelial cancer and fallopian tube cancer treatment in Phase 2 (NCT01118052), a liposomal DOPC (1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine) delivering EphA2 siRNA for solid tumor in Phase 1 (NCT01591356), a linear PEI-DNA complex (CYL-02) for metastatic pancreatic cancer in Phase 1 (NCT01274455) and for

advanced solid tumors (MK-4621/JetPEITM) in Phase 1 (NCT03739138). The PEI polymers have been explored extensively since their inception [6] but there are very few reports on the safety of PEI systems and some of which do not provide a direct remark. Although, one of the main advantages of this systems is its inability to cause any major immune response, a proper safety study is of utmost importance for any therapeutic compound during its pre-clinical stages. In a study exploring the use of PEI-DNA delivery as a vaccine, a plasmid DNA expressing human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-gp120 antigen was successfully administered to enhance IFN- γ secretion from gp120-specific CD8+ T cells. A linear PEI of 22 kDa was employed in this study, although the safety of PEI was not explored, the control group having a PEI solution without the DNA when injected intravenously, did not cause IFN- γ secretion [7]. Another study utilizing the 22 kDa linear PEI/siRNA system successfully downregulated human epidermal growth factor receptor in SPC-A1 (a human lung adenocarcinoma cell line) xenografts in mice, with no significant upregulation of IFN- α and TNF- α levels in the serum [8]. A 2006 study by Kawakami et al. on cytokine production by both linear and branched PEI/pDNA in mice employed 10, 25 and 70 kDa branched PEIs and a 25 kDa linear PEI. The results showed low levels of TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-12 induction after intravenous administration [9]. These studies provide contrasting information on the effect of PEI on cytokine stimulation so that additional studies are warranted to illuminate this issue.

Low molecular weight (LMW) PEIs (0.6, 1.2 and 2 kDa) have gained recent attention due to their low toxicity, however they display poor delivery efficiency [10,11]. This has been successfully addressed by modifying the PEI with small lipids, thereby drastically improving the internalization of nucleic acids to the cells [12–15]. Delivery of siRNA, pDNA, and mRNA has been accomplished using the lipid modified PEIs in various cell types [16–18]. We have successfully used these systems in the treatment of various cancers such as chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) by silencing BCR-ABL expression [19], in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) by the knockdown of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 [20], in breast cancer by targeting a wide variety of proteins such as cell cycle proteins CDC20 and TTK [18], phosphatases like PPP1R7, PTPN1, PTPN22, LHPP, PPP1R12A and DUPD [21], apoptosis related proteins like BCL2L12 and SOD1 [22], and cell membrane proteins like P-gp and ITGB1 [23,24]. Their application in bone regeneration has also been demonstrated by expressing bone-inducing proteins such as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2) [25]. However, immune stimulation studies for LMW PEIs have not been reported to-date and there is still a paramount need to extensively discern its toxicity and immune response.

Any administered agent will first encounter the red blood cells (RBCs) in circulation whose unintended lysis will be an important concern for any polymeric (multivalent) agent that could lead to severe side-effects [26,27]. The hemolysis-induced release of hemoglobin could become a redox active protein thereby resulting in renal and vascular dysfunction [28]. The binding of the delivery agents with the released hemoglobin can also lead to enhanced elimination of the therapeutic agent [29]. The encounter of the therapeutic agents with immune system could also elicit the secretion of a range of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Among the FDA recommended cytokines to probe immune response are TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ [30]. The pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α can be secreted by activated macrophages, T-cells, and natural killer cells (NK) and the upregulation of TNF- α is shown to cause severe hepatic toxicity. The increased serum

TNF- α levels in various cancers such as leukemia, ovarian cancer and prostate cancer has also been linked to their malignant progression [31–34]. Following the administration of lipopolysaccharide, the increase in TNF- α levels resulted in severe liver toxicity [35,36]. The induction of TNF- α can cause changes to blood coagulation, promote oxidative stress and, interfere with micro-macrovascular circulation [37]. Hence, attempts to neutralize TNF-a using TNF-a receptor1-IgG (TNFR1-Ig) helped to increase the transgene expression and lower production of other proinflammatory cytokines for adenovirusmediated gene delivery [38]. Upregulation of serum IL-6 in leukemia, ovarian cancer, prostate cancer and breast cancer, was also documented promoting cancer progression, resulting in poor survival and aiding in drug resistance [31–33,39]. Due to the significant role of IL-6 in cancer progression, blocking of IL-6 for cancer treatment is considered a promising therapeutic strategy [39,40]. Lipopolysaccharide induced high IL-6 levels was shown to drastically affect neuronal and cognitive functions through STAT3 activation in brain [41,42]. IL-6 upregulation can affect muscle homeostasis leading to increased tissue degeneration in mice by accumulation of reactive oxygen species in skeletal muscle and similar to TNF- α , IL-6 also plays a vital role in liver toxicity [43,44]. Shielding of lipid nanoparticles by PEG reduced stimulation of both TNF-a and IL-6 in vitro and in vivo studies [45]. IFN- γ is another major cytokine that is widely produced by the NK cells and believed to be a potent regulator of immune response [46–48]. IFN- γ was demonstrated to directly influence the expression of TNF- α during lipopolysaccharide treatment, contributing to the afore mentioned functions of TNF- α [49]. Recent studies have documented the tumor promoting property of IFN- γ especially at low levels [50,51]. High expression of IFN- γ can inhibit the process of erythropoiesis, hinder hematopoietic

progenitor precursor formation, and play a major role in autoimmune disorders in addition to its contribution toward graft rejection [52,53]. These observations highlight the detrimental effects of upregulated levels of these cytokines and the need to assess them to understand the immune response and toxicity associated with any therapeutic agent.

In this study, we evaluated the toxicity of polymer/DNA complexes with Tlymphocyte model Jurkat cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) isolated from fresh human buffy coats. The hemolysis potential of LMW PEIs with lipid modifications has been studied. We used the most successful polymers which has been well studied and reported for their high efficiency in different cancer types and disease conditions. Hemolysis potential was studied for polymers on their own without the nucleic acid to investigate the role of individual lipid molecules used for substitution on PEI. A dose response for hemolysis was established in different patient samples as well as a function of complex formulation (i.e., weight/weight ratios of polymer to DNA and the presence/absence of polymeric additives [54,55]) For the first time, the immune stimulatory behavior of the modified polymers themselves, and as polymer/DNA complexes has been studied in detail among nine different sources of PBMCs. The protein concentration as well as mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ were documented after 24 hours of exposure to the investigated agents. In addition, a PEI library containing a much wider range of lipids substitutions was used to better understand its influence in upregulating the expression of these three cytokines at the mRNA level.

5.2 MATERIALS & METHODS

5.2.1 Materials

The PEI of 0.6 kDa (0.6PEI), 1.2 kDa (1.2PEI) and 2.0 kDa (2PEI) were purchased from Polysciences (Warrington, Pennsylvania) while 25 kDa PEI (PEI25) was from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Alpha linolenovl chloride (α LA), cholestervl chloroformate (Chol), linolenoyl chloride (LA), lauroyl chloride (Lau), propionyl chloride (PrA), caproyl chloride (CAA), capryloyl chloride (CA), palmitoyl chloride (PA), stearoyl chloride (St), thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT), anhydrous dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), bovine serum albumin (BSA), chloroform and polyacrylic acid (PAA) 2 kDa were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 Medium with L-glutamine and HEPES, Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS), penicillin, streptomycin, UltraPure DNase/RNase-free dH₂O, TRIzol reagent, chloroform, acetic acid, LipofectamineTM 2000 were procured from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, Canada). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was from VWR Life Science Seradigm (Mississauga, Ontario). Phorbol 12-myristate 13acetate (PMA) and Ionomycin (IO) were from STEMCELL Technologies (Vancouver, Canada). TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ primers used for RT-qPCR were from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, USA). Human TNF-α, IL-6 and IFN-γ Duo Set ELISA kits were procured from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). The gWIZ-GFP plasmid DNA was obtained from Aldevron (Fargo, ND).

5.2.2 Polymer Synthesis & Complex Preparation

Lipid substitution of PEIs were prepared by N-acylation with each polymer having: propionic acid (PrA, C3), caproic acid (CAA; C6), caprylic acid (CA; C8), lauric acid (Lau;

C12), palmitic acid (PA; C16), linoleic acid (LA; C18), stearic acid (St; C18) and cholesterol (Chol) substituents using previously published protocols [55]. Briefly, the lipid and PEI were dissolved separately in ice-cold chloroform for 30 min. Triethylamine (TEA) was added to the PEI solution followed by drop-wise addition of the lipid solution while stirring on ice-bath for overnight. The mixture was precipitated using ice-cold diethyl ether and dried under vacuum for 2 days. LA and taLA were also linked to PEI by thioester bonds forming tLA and t α LA, as described in [55]. For this purpose, the lipid and mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) were dissolved in trifluoracetic acid separately and MPA solution was added dropwise to the lipid solution under stirring for 3 h at room temperature (RT). The carboxyl end-capped lipid solution was collected by ice-cold hexane and vacuum dried. PEI grafted with this tLA or taLA was prepared by EDC/NHS activation, were EDC and the lipid dissolved in chloroform were mixed together under stirring for 1 h at RT. NHS methanol solution was added drop-wise to the above solution for another 1 h before adding to PEI solution in chloroform overnight. The final product was precipitated using ice cold diethyl ether and dried under vacuum for 48 h. 0.6, 1.2 and 2.0 kDa PEI were used for this purpose. In addition, redox-sensitive polymers (-SS-) were synthesized by condensation reaction using cystamine bisacrylamide (CBA) as the cross-linker. The degree of lipid substitution on the modified PEIs were determined by ¹H-NMR spectroscopy (Table 5.1). Complexes were prepared at different weight ratios of the polymer to pDNA and PAA by adding the calculated volumes of polymer solution to the solution containing a mixture of nucleic acid and PAA in serum-free media or 0.9% NaCl solution and incubated for 30 min at RT before usage. LipofectamineTM 2000 was used according to the manufacturer protocol.

Polymer Name	Molecular Weight	Lipid Substituent	No. of Substituent
1.2PEI-tαLA6	1.2kDa PEI	α-Linoleic acid (C18)	2.7
1.2PEI-Chol3	1.2kDa PEI	Cholesterol	2.2
1.2PEI-LA6	1.2kDa PEI	Linolenic (C18)	2.55
0.6PEI-Lau4	0.6kDa PEI	Lauric acid (C12)	2.75
1.2PEI-Lau8	1.2kDa PEI	Lauric acid (C12)	3.6
1.2PEI-PrA1	1.2kDa PEI	Propionic acid (C3)	0.76
1.2PEI-tαLA6-ss	1.2kDa PEI	α-Linolenic acid with disulfide linkage	2.55

Table 5.1: A summary of the well-studied lipid-modified PEI delivery systems used in the study with the molecular weight of the base polymer, the type of lipid substituent and the number of substituents.

5.2.3 Cell Models

The human T-lymphocyte cell line Jurkat was cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin at 37°C under 5% CO₂. Cells were grown in T75 flasks and every two to three days, the cells were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 min to remove spent medium before diluting it 10 times in 20 mL of fresh medium.

To obtain peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), buffy coats from Canadian Blood Services were diluted with equal volume of HBSS. 15 mL of Ficoll-Paque Plus was added to a 50 mL tube and 20 mL of the diluted blood was carefully layered over it. After centrifugation at 400g for 30-40 min at room temperature, upper plasma layer was removed without disturbing the interface lymphocyte layer. The lymphocytes were collected in a new tube and fresh HBSS (x3 volume) was added before centrifugation at 100g for 10 min. The supernatant was removed, and the cells were suspended and centrifuged in HBSS again before culturing the PBMC in RPMI 1640 containing 10% FBS, 100 IU ml⁻¹

penicillin/streptomycin and 40 IU ml $^{-1}$ IL-2 at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The medium was changed every 3-4 days without splitting the cells.

Red blood cells (RBC) were obtained during the isolation of PBMC using the Ficoll-Paque method above. The bottom layer containing the RBC were collected separately and stored at 4°C (the FDA recommended storage temperature for RBC is between 1°C and 6°C [56]) until further use. Further RBC were suspended in three times the volume of HBSS and centrifuged at 500g for 10 min for hemolysis assay.

5.2.4 Cellular toxicity by MTT assay

Jurkat and PBMC cells were treated with 1 μ g/mL of gWIZ-GFP complexes at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 weight/weight (w/w) ratios of polymer to pDNA for 3 days and the viable cells were quantitated using the MTT assay. With PAA additive complex treatments, 1 μ g/mL of gWIZ-GFP complexes at polymer:pDNA ratios of 5, 7.5 and 10 was used for cell treatments. The complexes had either no PAA or PAA was added to pDNA solution for complex formation at the w/w ratio of 1:1 (pDNA:PAA). After incubation with complexes, MTT at 1 mg/mL of final concentration was added to the cells and incubated for 37°C for 2-3 hours following which the cells were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min and the supernatant was removed. The crystal pellets were dissolved in DMSO and absorbance was recorded at 570 nm using EL_x800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments).

5.2.5 Hemolysis assay

RBC isolated from the buffy coat was washed three times with HBSS and diluted 10 times in HBSS for use in the assay. Briefly, 100 μ L of polymer solutions at 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10, 15, 20, 50, 100, 250, 500 μ g/mL of final concentration were added to a 'U' bottom 96-well plate and 100 μ L of diluted RBC in HBSS was added to the wells and incubated at 37 °C for 30 min. Complexes prepared at ratios 5, 7.5 and 10 (polymer:pDNA) without and with PAA additive (1:1 pDNA:PAA ratio) using gWIZ-GFP pDNA were used at final pDNA concentration of 1 μ g/mL. The plate was then centrifuged at 500g for 10 min and 100 μ L of supernatant was removed carefully without disturbing the intact RBC pellet. The absorbance of heme was recorded at 570 nm using EL_x800 Universal Microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments). As additional controls, RBC was incubated in water, saline or 0.1% Triton-X solution during the assay.

5.2.6 Cytokine quantification by reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (*RT-qPCR*)

The mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ following 24 h of treatment was quantitated by RT-qPCR. Following complex treatments, Jurkat or PBMC cells were collected, and total RNA was extracted by TRIzol following which cDNA was synthesized using SensiFastTM kit (Bioline Meridian Bioscience) according to the manufacturer's protocol. PCR was carried out on a StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR system with β -actin as housekeeping gene; forward: 5'-GCGAGAAGATGACCCAGAT-3', reverse: 5'-CCAGTGGTACGGCCAGA-3' with TNF- α ; forward: 5'-CCAGGGACCTCTCTCTAATCA-3' reverse: 5'-TCAGCTTGAGGGTTTGCTAC-3',

IL-6: 5'-CCTAGAGTACCTCCAGAACAGA-3' 5'forward: reverse: CAGGAACTGGATCAGGACTTT-3', IFN-γ; forward: 5'-AGTGATGGCTGAACTGTCGC-3' reverse: 5'-CTGGGATGCTCTTCGACCTC-3'. Briefly, 10 µl of reaction mixture containing 5 µl of SYBR Green master mix, 2 µl of 10 µM primers and 3 µl of 5 ng/µl cDNA was used. The reaction was setup at 95°C for 10min before advancing to 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15s and annealing/elongation at 65°C for 30s on a MicroAmp Fast Optical 96-well plate. $\Delta C_{T} \Delta \Delta C_{T}$ and Relative Quantity (RQ) of mRNA for TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ were calculated with β -actin as reference relative to no-treatment.

5.2.7 Cytokine quantification by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Jurkat and PBMC cells were treated with the desired complexes for 24 h, following which the supernatants were collected after centrifuging the cells at 2000 rpm for 10 min. The quantity of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ proteins secreted in the supernatant was quantitated using the validated human Duo Set ELISA kits from R&D Systems according to the protocol provided by the manufacturers.

5.2.8 Statistical analysis

Data were summarized as mean with standard deviation and statistical analysis were performed using unpaired t test between two group means. A p-value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant indicated by (*) for reduction and (#) for upregulation. Each RBC and PBMC used are from distinct healthy blood donors as indicated by suffix number.

5.3 RESULTS

5.3.1 Effect of LMW PEI complexes on cytotoxicity

The lipid-modified PEIs used in this study were previously analyzed for their toxicity using a variety of cancerous and non-cancerous cells. Irrespective of the delivery agent, once injected into animal models or into humans in clinical studies, the main cell type that immediately encounter these nanoparticles are the cells in circulation, the mononuclear cells and the RBC. Hence, we initially used human T-lymphocyte Jurkat cells as well as PBMCs isolated from different patients to assess direct toxicity effects of the complexes to better understand the effect of different lipid substituents and other physicochemical parameters on the toxicity of the complexes. First, we studied the toxicity of the complexes prepared with gWIZ-GFP pDNA at a range of polymer to pDNA weight ratios (0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 w/w). Following 3 days of treatment, the percent toxicity was calculated using the MTT assay relative to the no treatment group. In Jurkat cells, $\sim 80\%$ or higher percentage of cells remained viable with 1.2PEI-taLA6 and 0.6PEI-Lau4 at all the ratios along with the control agents PEI25 and Lipofectamine 2000 (Fig 5.1). Other polymers also showed $\sim 80\%$ viability at most ratios except at isolated points for some polymers; 1.2PEI-Chol3 (except at ratio 4), 1.2PEI-LA6 (except at ratio 10 with significant drop in viability), and 1.2PEI-Lau8 (except at ratios 8 and 10). However, with 1.2PEI-PrA1, toxicity increased in a polymer dose dependent (weight/weight ratio) manner, and we could observe that only 70%, 55% and 37% cells remained viable at ratios 6, 8 and 10, respectively (Fig 5.1).



Figure 5.1: Viability of Jurkat cells exposed to complexes at different weight/weight (w/w) ratios of polymer to pDNA following 3 days of treatment. The cell viability was assessed by the MTT assay and percent viability was calculated relative to the viability of no treatment group (taken as 100%).

Three separate donor sources of PBMCs (PBMC-1, PBMC-2 and PBMC-3) were next used for toxicity assessment. In PBMC-1, 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-Chol3 did not exhibit any toxicity and with the rest of polymers, we could observe >85% viability in most of the treatment groups except 1.2PEI-LA6 that showed ~65% at ratios 8 and 10 and 1.2PEI-PrA1 that displayed ~85% at ratio 2 and lower viabilities of ~60% at ratios 4 to 10 (**Fig 5.2A**).



Figure 5.2: Cell viability of complexes at different weight/weight (w/w) ratios of polymer to pDNA following 3 days of treatment assessed by MTT assay, normalized to the lowest ratios for each polymer in (**A**) PBMC-1 and (**B**) PBMC-2. (**C**) Influence of PAA as additive on the *in vitro* toxicity; for selective polymers as model delivery agents, cells were treated without PAA and with PAA at pDNA to PAA weight/weight ratio of 1:1 and evaluated by MTT assay in PBMC-3.

With PBMC-2, 1.2PEI-t α LA6, 1.2PEI-Chol3, 0.6PEI-Lau4, 1.2PEI-Lau8 and 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss showed >80% viability at all ratios tested (**Fig 5.2B**). Surprisingly, 1.2PEI-LA6 showed viability beyond 100% (indicating some degree of metabolic activation of the cells) but remained non-toxic irrespective of the ratio assessed. The 1.2PEI-PrA1, exhibited a dose dependent increase in toxicity similar to PBMC-1 results

(Fig 5.2A and 5.2B). The controls, PEI25 showed ~60% cell viability in PBMC-1 and ~75% in PBMC-2 at high ratios whereas Lipofectamine 2000^{TM} showed 70-80% or higher viability.

To assess the impact of PAA additive on PBMC toxicity, we selected 3 polymers (1.2PEI-t α LA6, 1.2PEI-LA6 and 1.2PEI-Lau8) and treated PBMC-3 with complexes prepared at ratios 5, 7.5 and 10 (polymer:pDNA ratio) without and with PAA (**Fig 5.2C**). We did not observe any difference between the toxicity exerted by the PAA complexes and complexes without PAA. The 1.2PEI-LA6 showed ~85% cell viability at R:10 and was less toxic at lower ratios. The presence or absence of PAA did not influence the cell viability. The 1.2PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-Lau8 also showed similar viability of ~80% or higher. (**Fig 5.2C**).

5.3.2 Effect of PEI complexes on RBC hemolysis

The RBC lysis was next investigated to better understand the lytic activity of complexes towards cell membrane. RBCs from 2 different patients were used to study the hemolysis of the bare polymers at different concentrations as well as polymer/pDNA complexes at different weigh ratios and with/without the PAA as additive. With RBC-1, the polymers were diluted in water and the heme (absorbance) released with the positive control Triton X-100 solution was taken as 100% hemolysis. The complexes were tested in the practical concentration range used for cell modifications (pDNA conc of 1 µg/mL with polymer:pDNA ratios of 5 to 10). The overall hemolysis percentage ranged between 0 and 10% except 1.2PEI-LA6 and the control (water) showed 8% hemolysis by itself, hence water could have contributed to the observed lysis irrespective of the delivery agent.

The inclusion of PAA as an additive helped to reduce the hemolysis observed at ratio 7.5 with 1.2PEI-LA6 (representing the most hemolytic complex), from 31% without PAA to 19% with PAA (p<0.05) (**Fig 5.3A**). With bare polymers, the concentrations used were gradually increased in excess of practical concentrations used for cell treatments (up to 500 μ g/mL). It was clear that all polymers displayed a dose-dependent increase in hemolytic activity; 1.2PEI-Chol3, PEI25 and Lipofectamine 2000TM displayed ≤5% hemolysis with concentration as low as 5 μ g/mL and 1.2PEI-Chol3, PEI25 showed >5% lysis only at 20 μ g/mL. The highest hemolysis was seen with 1.2PEI-LA6 (**Fig 5.3A** inset).



Figure 5.3: Hemolysis by polymer/pDNA complexes at weight/weight ratios of R:5 and R:7.5 without and with PAA as additive, evaluated by incubating for 30 minutes with
diluted RBC from 2 sources, (A) RBC-1 and (B) RBC-2. Inset represents the hemolysis of bare polymer without pDNA for different agents at varying concentrations. The percentage of hemolysis was calculated relative to heme absorbance recorded with the treatment of Triton X - 100 solution taken as 100% hemolysis. The significant difference in hemolysis with PAA has been denoted by * with $p \le 0.05$ compared to without PAA of the respective group.

With RBC-2, the polymers were diluted in saline (0.15 M NaCl) solution. With the pDNA complexes, the highest hemolysis recorded in the absence of PAA was 4%, and similar outcomes were obtained with the addition of PAA in complexes. The only exception was the complexes prepared with 1.2PEI-LA6, where significant hemolysis was (65%) was seen with PAA complexes at ratio 7.5. in line with results in RBC-1 (where complexes were diluted in water). Interestingly, the inclusion of PAA caused hemolysis in RBC-2, which contrasted with the observations with RBC-1 (compare **Fig 5.3A** and **Fig 5.3B**; note again that the solvent was different between the 2 tests). For the bare polymers (**Fig 5.3B** inset) the results showed that 1.2PEI-t α LA6 remained non-toxic (i.e., <5% hemolysis) up to 50 µg/mL (7% at this concentration), 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss up to 5 µg/mL (~7%), 1.2PEI-Lau8, 0.6PEI-Lau4 and Lipofectamine 2000TM up to 15 µg/mL (~8%) and 1.2PEI-Chol3 and 1.2PEI-PrA1 up to 500 µg/mL (~8%). The PEI25 was apparently non-toxic in this assay. The only polymer with high hemolysis (e.g., 50% at concentrations as low as 5 µg/mL) was again 1.2PEI-LA6, as in RBC-1.



Figure 5.4: Hemolysis by LA-substituted polymers having different levels of substitution in the presence of polymer/pDNA complexes at weight/weight ratios of R:5, R:7.5 and R:10 without and with PAA as additive in RBC-3 evaluated by incubating for 30 minutes with diluted RBCs. Inset represents the hemolysis of bare polymers at varying concentrations without pDNA. Hemolysis % was calculated relative to Triton X - 100 treatment taken as 100% lysis. The significant decrease in hemolysis with PAA has been denoted by (*) with $p \le 0.05$ compared to without PAA of the respective group. The level of LA substitution in the modified PEIs are indicated in the brackets of the legend.

Since 1.2PEI-LA6 on its own displayed relatively high hemolysis in all RBC samples, we employed 1.2PEI polymers with different levels of LA substitution to evaluate if the observed effect is solely due to the presence of LA or whether this batch of polymer has exceptional features. Using a new source of RBC (RBC-3) and saline as solvent, low LA-substituted polymers 1.2PEI-LA(0.11) and 1.2PEI-LA(0.15) was non-lytic irrespective of the concentration used, whereas 1.2PEI-LA(1.2) and 1.2PEI-LA(2.55) caused >5% hemolysis even at the lowest 2.5 μ g/mL concentration. 1.2PEI-LA(1.84), 1.2PEI-LA(2.27) and 1.2PEI-LA(3.53) remained non-lytic up to 20-50 μ g/mL (**Fig 5.4** inset). With

polymer/pDNA complexes without PAA, the 1.2PEI-LA(1.2) displayed high hemolysis at all ratios while the addition of PAA reduced the hemolysis. 1.2PEI-LA(2.55) was lytic at ratio 10 and PAA decreased its effect drastically (**Fig 5.4**). Therefore, the lytic activity appeared to be related to PEI polymers substituted with medium levels of LA.

5.3.3 Comparison of TNF-α, IL-6, and IFN-γ mRNA levels in complex treated Jurkat and PBMC

To evaluate pro-inflammatory cytokine production, we measured the FDA recommended cytokines TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ [30]. We first evaluated the secretion of these cytokines at the transcript level in Jurkat T-cells using RT-qPCR after 24 h of treatment with 1.2PEI-taLA6/pDNA complexes since 1.2PEI-taLA6 was a leading carrier for pDNA delivery compared to other polymers from previous observations (Fig 5.5). In order to evaluate the impact of pDNA concentration as well as polymer:pDNA (weight/weight) ratio, we used 0.5, 1 and 2 µg of pDNA at ratios 5 and 10, without and with PAA as additive. PMA/IO combination was used as positive control for cytokine stimulation at 3 concentrations. The relative quantity of TNF- α was unchanged for all the treatment groups, with positive controls exhibiting maximum stimulation (~460-fold) at 10 ng/0.5 μ g of PMA/IO. The only exception was the complexes at ratio 5 and 1 μ g/mL pDNA, where the TNF-α mRNA levels were upregulated (~60-fold). The relative mRNA levels of IL-6 increased in a dose dependent manner with the positive controls, however the levels remained unchanged for most of the complex treatment groups except for ratio 5 with 0.5 and 1 μ g/mL pDNA again. Similarly, IFN- γ mRNA levels were increased with PMA/IO treatment and for complexes at polymer:pDNA ratio of 5 with 0.5 and 1 µg/mL

pDNA concentrations. All other complex formulations showed negligible change in IFN- γ expression (Fig 5.5).



Figure 5.5: Relative quantity of cytokine mRNA levels assessed after 24 hours of treatment of Jurkat cells with positive controls (PMA/IO), and 1.2PEI-t α LA6/pDNA complexes at ratios R:5 and R:10 without and with PAA. The concentrations of the complexes were 0.5, 1 and 2 µg/mL (pDNA concentrations) along with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 polymer alone at 2.5, 10 and 50 µg/mL concentration.

Next, cytokine stimulation was determined in PBMCs based on mRNA and protein quantification. The highest TNF- α mRNA levels in PBMC-3 (~19-fold) were observed with the positive control 50 ng/mL and 5 µg/mL of PMA/IO, which was in line with the protein concentrations in the supernatant (1150 to 1650 pg/mL; **Fig 5.6A**). All other groups showed a lower TNF- α mRNA increase (~4-fold), which was constant regardless of the ratio and pDNA concentration of complexes. The TNF- α protein concentrations in supernatants were also >10-fold decreased compared to positive PMA/IO controls (ranging from 40 to 100 pg/mL in treatment groups while the no treatment had 15 pg/mL). A significant reduction in TNF- α protein amount was observed in the presence of PAA at three treatment groups, R:5 with 2 µg/mL pDNA, R:10 with 1 and 2 µg/mL pDNA.



Figure 5.6: Cytokine levels assessed after 24 hours of treatment in PBMC-3 with positive controls (PMA/IO), 1.2PEI-t α LA6/pDNA complexes at ratios R:5 and R:10 without and with PAA at 0.5, 1 and 2 µg/mL pDNA concentrations along with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 alone at 2.5, 10 and 50 µg/mL. The relative quantity (RQ) of mRNA was quantified by the RT-qPCR (relative to no treatment cells) and protein quantity by specific ELISAs. (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-6 and (C) IFN- γ . Significance compared to the respective treatment groups in the absence of PAA, * p ≤ 0.05.

The relative levels of IL-6 (both mRNA and protein) increased in a dose dependent manner with the positive controls resulting in ~10-fold stimulation at mRNA level and a protein concentration ranging between 20-270 pg/mL (**Fig 5.6B**). Negligible change (relative quantity of 2 to 6-fold for IL-6) was seen with the PAA additive groups in mRNA levels which was also true with IL-6 protein amounts. Among the complexes, only at R:5 with PAA having 0.5 μ g/mL pDNA showed upregulation. Treatment with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 alone at highest concentration of 50 μ g/mL caused a clear increase (~22-fold) in IL-6 mRNA and protein levels (**Fig 5.6B**). Similar to other cytokines, the IFN- γ mRNA levels increased with PMA/IO concentrations at both mRNA and protein levels (**Fig 5.6C**). All

other complex formulations showed negligible change in INF- γ levels in PBMC. The 1.2PEI-t α LA6 alone at 50 µg/mL caused an increase in IFN- γ mRNA levels (~10-fold), which was also previously observed with IL-6 expression, but this was not reflected in the IFN- γ protein amounts. The PAA addition in complexes did not give any obvious changes in IFN- γ expression (**Fig 5.6C**).

5.3.4 Impact of pDNA concentration, ratio (polymer to pDNA) and the additive on cytokine secretion

Since variations in cytokine response among donors are known [57,58], we then investigated the cellular upregulation (mRNA levels) and secretion (protein concentration in supernatants) of the cytokines in 3 additional PBMC samples (PBMC-4 to PBMC-6) using similar complexes. TNF-a mRNA levels were strongly upregulated with the positive control, although to a lesser extent in PBMC-5 and 6 (Fig 5.7A) and a similar observation of weak TNF- α secretion was seen in PBMC-6 in which 76 pg/mL was the highest compared to 400-1600 pg/mL TNF-α in other PBMCs (Fig 5.8A). Untreated PBMCs gave ~15 pg/mL TNF- α (Fig 5.8A). In PBMC-5 and PBMC-6 the complexes gave TNF- α concentration ranging between 10 to 40 pg/mL while the PBMC-4 was more sensitive to the complexes, exhibiting 40 to 1100 pg/ml of TNF- α in the supernatant (Fig 5.8A). The mRNA results were also in line with the TNF- α protein secretion (Fig 5.7A). The inclusion of PAA had contrasting results with the complexes at the 2 weight ratios used. The mRNA TNF- α levels were upregulated at ratio 5 with complexes including PAA among 4 groups and at ratio 10 with 2 groups (Fig 5.7A). Based on secreted TNF-a protein levels, 4 groups exhibited an increase in TNF- α secretion at R:5/0.5 µg/mL with PAA, (PBMC-4/-5/-6) and

R:5/1 µg/mL (PBMC-4). At ratio 10 with PAA, 8 out of 9 groups showed a decrease in TNF- α levels at 0.5 µg/mL (PBMC-4/-5), at 1 µg/mL and 2 µg/mL in all PBMCs. The 1.2PEI-t α LA6 polymer up to 50 µg/mL concentration did not affect TNF- α secretion (**Fig 5.8A**), although the mRNA levels were upregulated in PBMC-4 (**Fig 5.7A**).



Figure 5.7: Cytokine mRNA levels assessed by RT-qPCR (relative to no treatment) after 24 hours of treatment in three different PBMCs (4-6) with positive controls PMA/IO; (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-6 and (C) IFN- γ . The 1.2PEI-t α LA6/pDNA complexes were at ratios R:5 and R:10 without and with PAA and 0.5, 1 and 2 µg/mL of pDNA concentrations. The 1.2PEI-t α LA6 alone was used at 2.5, 10 and 50 µg/mL concentration. Significance compared to the respective treatment groups in the absence of PAA, * p ≤ 0.05.

Stimulation with PMA/IO resulted in ~8-fold increase in IL-6 mRNA levels with PBMC-4 but not in PBMC-5 and -6 (**Fig 5.7B**). Similarly, 10-30 pg/mL of IL-6 secretion was detected in PBMC- 4, however PBMC-5 and 6 showed very minimal increase in IL-6 secretion (**Fig 5.8B**). With IL-6 protein secretion, except for complexes at ratio 5 at 0.5

 μ g/mL pDNA, we did not record any stimulation with 1.2PEI-taLA6/pDNA complex groups (**Fig 5.8B**). In PBMC-5 with PAA-bearing complexes, we could detect a slight increase in IL-6 mRNA levels (**Fig 5.7B**) but the use of PAA decreased the IL-6 secretion for complexes at R:5/0.5 μ g/mL, R:5/2 μ g/mL and for complexes at R:10/0.5 μ g/mL in PBMC-4 (**Fig 5.8B**). There was no increase in IL-6 secretion in PBMC-5 and -6 (**Fig 5.8B**).

For the IFN- γ secretion, the complex exposure resulted in no stimulation (with both mRNA and protein) in all groups compared to untreated cells, which gave IFN- γ concentrations between 30-60 pg/mL (**Fig 5.8C**). Treatment with the positive controls PMA/IO resulted in high IFN- γ levels for PBMC-4 and -5 (30-700 pg/mL), but not for PBMC-6 (**Fig 5.8C**). Similarly, the mRNA IFN- γ levels were upregulated in PBMC-4 (10 to 60-fold) and to lesser extent in PBMC-5 (~5-fold) but not in PBMC-6 (**Fig 5.7C**).



Figure 5.8: Cytokine protein levels in culture supernatants assessed by ELISA after 24 hours of treatment in three different PBMCs (4-6) with positive controls PMA/IO: (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-6 and (C) IFN- γ . The 1.2PEI-t α LA6/pDNA complexes were at ratios R:5

and R:10 without/with PAA and 0.5, 1 and 2 μ g/mL of pDNA concentrations. The 1.2PEItaLA6 alone was used at 2.5, 10 and 50 μ g/mL concentration. The significant difference with PAA has been denoted by (*) with p \leq 0.05 in comparison to the respective treatments in the absence of PAA.

The impact of complexes carrying siRNA instead of pDNA on cytokine stimulation was also explored using RT-qPCR for 1.2PEI-t α LA6, 1.2PEI-Lau8 and 1.2PEI-LA6 polymers using a control siRNA (CsiRNA) and blimp siRNA in PBMC-5 and PBMC-6. TNF- α mRNA levels were unchanged for all the polymer/siRNA treatment groups when compared to no treatment (**Fig 5.S1A**). However, with IL-6 mRNA levels, we could observe an increase with 1.2PEI-LA6 complex treatment in both CsiRNA as well as blimp siRNA in both PBMCs and to a lesser extent in 1.2PEI-Lau8 (**Fig 5.S1B**). Similar to TNF- α results, the IFN- γ mRNA levels were not altered by the complex treatment using the three polymers (**Fig 5.S1C**).

5.3.5 Impact of different PEI carriers on cytokine secretion

We next investigated the influence of different polymers on cytokine secretion at polymer:pDNA ratios 5 and 10, without/with PAA as additive, along with polymers alone in PBMC-7 and 8. Treatment with PMA/IO resulted in dose-dependent stimulation of all three cytokines (TNF- α : 200 to 950 pg/mL, IL-6: 2 to 25 pg/mL, IFN- γ : 200 to 700 pg/mL) for both PBMCs (**Fig 5.9Ai, ii** and **iii**). 1.2PEI-Chol3 showed minimal TNF- α increase in PBMC-7 (~10 pg/ml) but not in PBMC-8 (**Fig 5.9B-i**). The IL-6 and IFN- γ protein levels were unchanged compared to no treatment and the use of PAA did not alter the outcome (**Fig 5.9B-ii** and **iii**). The 1.2PEI-LA6 complexes caused a slight increase in TNF- α levels with PBMC-7 (~50 pg/mL) but not in PBMC-8 similar to the 1.2PEI-Chol3 complexes (**Fig 5.9C-i**). No major change was observed in IL-6 and IFN- γ levels and addition of PAA to complexes did not affect the cytokine secretion (**Fig 5.9C-ii** and **iii**).



Figure 5.9: Cytokine protein levels assessed by ELISA after 24 hours of treatment in two different PBMCs (7 and 8) with positive controls PMA/IO: **A**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ . Polymer/pDNA complexes at R:5 and R:10 without and with PAA using 1µg of pDNA. 1.2PEI-Chol3: **B**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 1.2PEI-LA6: **C**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 0.6PEI-Lau4: **D**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 1.2PEI-Lau8: **E**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 1.2PEI-Lau8: **E**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 1.2PEI-Lau8: **v** and 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss: **G**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ . The significant difference with PAA has been denoted by (*) compared to the respective treatments in the absence of PAA.

With 0.6PEI-Lau4 complexes, we observed a sharp increase in TNF- α secretion, but PAA addition decreased the TNF- α secretion from ~150 to ~40 pg/mL in PBMC-7 and from ~40 to ~5 pg/mL in PBMC-8. The 0.6PEI-Lau4 alone at 50 µg/mL resulted in ~700 pg/mL and ~200 pg/mL of TNF- α levels in PBMC-7 and PBMC-8, respectively (**Fig 5.9Di**). Similar observations were made in IL-6 secretion where PAA addition to complexes reduced secretion by 20-fold and 7-fold in PBMC-7 and PBMC-8, respectively. The 0.6PEI-Lau4 polymer alone (50 μ g/mL) resulted in high IL-6 levels of ~600 and ~400 pg/mL in PBMC-7 and PBMC-8, respectively (**Fig 5.9D-ii**). However, no major change was observed with IFN- γ compared to no treatment, except high concentration of 0.6PEI-Lau4 alone in both PBMCs (**Fig 5.9D-iii**).

The 1.2PEI-Lau8 complexes caused a slight increase in TNF- α levels in PBMC-7 of ~25 pg/mL but this was decreased to ~10 pg/mL with PAA, while the polymer alone gave ~90 pg/mL TNF- α . In PBMC-8, 1.2PEI-Lau8 complexes did not result in any considerable change except the polymer alone treatment (~20 pg/mL TNF- α ; **Fig 5.9E-i**). The protein levels of IL-6 and IFN- γ were minimally altered, and 1.2PEI-Lau8 polymer alone (50 µg/mL) was the only group that caused a change in these protein in both PBMCs (**Fig 5.9E-ii** and **iii**).

With 1.2PEI-PrA1 complexes, only R:5 complexes with PAA caused a strong increase in TNF- α levels (80 pg/mL) in PBMC-7 (**Fig 5.9F-i**). Other treatment groups did not result in increasing TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ secretion in the PBMCs (**Fig 5.9F-i**, **ii** and **iii**).

The 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss complexes stimulated TNF- α secretion in PBMC-7 and not in PBMC-8 (**Fig 5.9G-i**) and IL-6 as well as IFN- γ protein levels were mostly unchanged with this polymer (**Fig 5.9G-ii** and **iii**).

5.3.6 Impact of different lipid substituents on cytokine transcript levels

The studies above were conducted using PEI base polymers with a single level of lipid substitution. We further investigated the role of different lipid substituents by using 1.2PEI polymers substituted with different levels of propionic acid (PrA), caprylic acid (CA), palmitic acid (PA), lauric acid (Lau), stearic acid (St), cholesterol (Chol), linoleic acid (LA), α -linoleic acid (α LA), and disulfide-linked PEIs. The PMA/IO treatment showed an increase in all 3 cytokine mRNA levels, but dose dependent increase was evident with TNF- α only (**Fig 5.10A**).

The complexes with PrA-substituted polymers (1.2PEI-PrA1, 1.2PEI-PrA6 and 1.2PEI-PrA8) did not exhibit any change in cytokine mRNA levels compared to no treatment. Difference in PrA substitution had no influence in all three cytokine mRNA levels (**Fig 5.10B**).

With CA, 1.2PEI-CA4(1.87) increased IL-6 levels and the other CA substituted polymers did not result in increased cytokine mRNA levels and no association between different levels of CA substitutions and cytokine stimulation was observed (**Fig 5.10C**).

The complexes from PA polymers did not alter any of the cytokine levels (**Fig 5.10D**). A similar observation was noted with Lau substituted polymers except 1.2PEI-Lau4(2.1) for IL-6 mRNA levels and to a lesser extent with IFN- γ levels (**Fig 5.10E**). Though there was slight elevation in IFN- γ mRNA levels with St-substituted PEIs, no significant observations were detected (**Fig 5.10F**), similarly, the IL-6 and TNF- α mRNA levels were not altered among the different batches of St-substitutions (**Fig 5.10E**).

The complexes with different cholesterol substitutions did not generate cytokine stimulation (Fig 5.10G).

LA-substituted PEIs did not exhibit any change in cytokine mRNA levels (**Fig 5.10H**), However with α LA, IL-6 and IFN- γ levels were upregulated at lower substitution (1.2PEI- α LA1(0.75)) (**Fig 5.10I**) and also with thiol-linked PEI (1.2PEI- α LA2(0.8)). Other batches did not display any upregulation of the cytokines (**Fig 5.10I**).

With the disulfide-linked 2PEIs, complexes from PrA substitution increased the mRNA levels of IL-6 and IFN- γ and 2PEI-PrA1-ss showed the highest stimulation whereas TNF- α expression was unaltered (**Fig 5.10J**). A similar observation was recorded with CA-substituted PEIs, 2PEI-CAA4-ss(1.46) and 2PEI-CAA6-ss(2.15), where IL-6 and IFN- γ expression was upregulated, but not TNF- α (**Fig 5.10K**). Complexes from Lau-substituted disulfide polymers did not alter the cytokine levels and differences in Lau substitution did not cause any change (**Fig 5.10L**). St-substitution (2PEI-St6-ss(2.32)) caused TNF- α upregulation; however no other significant observations were made with this polymer (**Fig 5.10M**). Complexes with disulfide-linked tLA and t α LA substituted PEIs showed high IL-6 and IFN- γ upregulation, but not TNF- α (**Fig 5.10N** and **O**). 1.2PEI-t α LA2-ss(0.8) showed the highest stimulation among the disulfide polymers tested in this study (**Fig 5.10O**). We explored correlations between different lipid levels and cytokine stimulation but did not observe any significant relationships (**Fig 5.S2**).



Figure 5.10: The mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ assessed after 24 hours of treatment in Jurkat cell line (relative to no treatment cells) using PEIs substituted with different lipids, complexed with 1µg of pDNA at R:5. (**A**) positive controls PMA/IO, (**B**) PrA-Propionic acid, (**C**) CA-Caprylic acid, (**D**) PA-Palmitic acid, (**E**) Lau-Lauric acid, (**F**) St-Stearic acid, (**G**) Chol-Cholesterol, (**H**) LA-Linoleic acid, (**I**) α LA-alpha linoleic acid and (**J**) PrA-Propionic acid-ss, (**K**) CAA-Caproic acid-ss, (**L**) Lau-Lauric acid-ss, (**M**) St-Stearic acid-ss, (**N**) tLA-thiol linked linoleic acid-ss, and (**O**) t α LA-thiol linked alpha linoleic acid-ss.

5.4 DISCUSSION

The success of a gene delivery vehicle is not only reflected by their protein expression or gene knockdown efficiency, but also by their ability to remain 'stealth' and elicit no or minimal immune response in a host. In this study, we explored the safety of lipid-modified LMW PEIs that have been reported in several previous studies from our group. A central polymer explored in this study was 1.2 PEI-t α LA6, whose efficacy was previously shown for delivery of siRNA and pDNA to induce apoptosis in breast cancer cell models in both in vitro and in vivo [13]. Toxicity studies with 1.2PEI-taLA6 complexed with CsiRNA or CsiRNA/pDNA combination in a range of breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MCF-7 and SUM 149) showed minimal toxic effect on cells (i.e., 80-100% viability). The viability of non-cancerous cells such as hBMSC, HUVEC and MCF-10A were also unaltered by this vehicle [13,24,59]. Toxicity results here with 1.2PEI-t α LA6 in Jurkat cells and in different PBMCs at a wide range of polymer:pDNA ratios revealed a similar outcome. From prior reports, the cholesterol substituted PEI showed effective BCR-ABL silencing in CML K562 and drug-resistant K562-DR cells, as well as STAT and JAK silencing in the breast cancer cells [60]. This delivery system did not alter the cell viability with CsiRNA complexes [14,61] and similar results were seen here with Jurkat T-cells and PBMCs. The LA-substituted 1.2PEI-LA6 has been also explored for breast cancer treatment and its success in silencing several genes was shown in both in vitro and in vivo studies. Toxicity exerted by 1.2PEI-LA6 complexes carrying CsiRNA remained low (>80% viability) in breast cancer cells and a broad range of non-cancerous cells [18,21,24,54]. In the current studies with Jurkat T-cells and PBMC-1, we observed $\sim 50\%$ and $\sim 30\%$ reduction in the viable cell percentage (toxicity) at the highest ratio of 10, which was higher than the ratios used before. One of the key reasons for the observed toxicity could be attributed to the presence of free 1.2PEI-LA6 in the complexes, especially at high ratios. The free LA at very high concentrations ($\sim 100 \mu M$) has been shown to decrease the viability of Jurkat cells, although the LA present here is

conjugated to the 1.2PEI (2.55 LA/PEI) and is expected to be present at low concentration $(\sim 20 \ \mu\text{M})$ when compared to the free linoleic acid used in that study [62]. An in-depth study on the toxic effect of the free lipids which are employed in PEI lipid-substitution could provide more information on the safety of our lipid conjugates. The Lau substituted PEIs, 0.6PEI-Lau4 and 1.2PEI-Lau8, are relatively novel polymers which has shown promising silencing efficacy in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 breast cancer cells [60]. The cytotoxicity of 1.2PEI-Lau8 was previously shown to be low (with CsiRNA) and this study also did not exhibit any toxicity in Jurkat T-cells and PBMCs with Lau substituted PEIs. The next polymer explored for toxicity was 1.2PEI-PrA1 with PrA substitution, which were successfully used for pDNA (GFP) delivery in breast cancer cells. The toxicity studies revealed relative cell viability of 80% until R:10, thereafter a toxic effect was noted at R:15 and R:20 with 60% viable cells with MDA-MB-231. However, MCF-7 cells were insensitive even at the highest ratio of R:20 [15]. Similarly, toxicity studies in K562 cells with siRNA delivery also showed 80% viability up to R:20, after which the viability declined to 30% at R:40 [63]. In Jurkat and PBMCs, we observed a consistent effect of 1.2PEI-PrA1/pDNA complexes with an increase in toxicity corresponding to an increase in polymer:pDNA ratios. The high surface charge of 1.2PEI-PrA1/pDNA complexes was shown to correlate with its higher efficacy in breast cancer cell lines along with better localization near the nuclear membrane [15]. Similarly, this observed effect on Tlymphocyte toxicity could be attributed to their high surface charge leading to higher interaction on the cell membrane with an increase in polymer ratio. The other delivery system tested, 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss bearing disulfide linkage, is a novel polymer that showed no toxicity in PBMCs. The inclusion of PAA as an additive was shown to improve the

nucleic acid delivery in addition to reducing the surface charge of the LA-substituted polymers [54]. We did not see any change in the toxicity of complexes carrying PAA at all three ratios (R:5, R:7.5 and R:10) in PBMC-3.

Understanding the hemolytic ability of any new therapeutic agent is crucial before proceeding to clinical evaluation. The acceptable level of hemolysis is considered 5% for any new agent [64]. The hemolytic behavior of bare polymers and polymer/pDNA complexes could be partly due to the surface charge; cationic species have been demonstrated to show high hemolysis unlike the anionic species [27]. The free primary amines was also a causative factor for hemolysis in PEI-like polycations such as polyamidoamine and polylysine [65,66]. Among the polymer systems evaluated in this study, the 1.2PEI-LA6 consistently caused high hemolysis in its bare state but the complexes remained non-toxic at physiologically relevant concentrations and ratios (R:5 and R:7.5). We also used LA-substituted PEIs with different lipid substitution levels to better reveal its impact on hemolysis. The PEIs with LA substitutions of 2.6 and 1.2 were most lytic suggesting a critical range of substitutions to be the key for its hemolytic activity [65,66]. It is also possible that details of individual polymer preparation conditions might be also important for final hemolysis activity, but this issue was not explored here.

Variations in the source of RBC could be a key reason for differences in the hemolysis observed among different RBC samples. Any difference in the storage conditions of the RBC could have caused a change in the integrity of RBC, as some patient samples required more than three PBS wash to completely remove the free hemoglobin in this study [67]. Due to these reasons some RBC might be more sensitive to treatment. The cells were available to us by overnight shipping so that the transport conditions might be

an additional factor that might have affected RBC stability among different sources. Irrespective of the RBC source, we observed that the PAA additive was able to shield the hemolytic effect of the polymer/pDNA complexes (most evident in RBCs treated with saline-dissolved samples). Previous studies have reported on PEG, tripeptide lipid-sucrose laurate (L-S) and mucin to reduce or neutralize the hemolytic property of nanoparticles from chitosan, lipids and polylactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) [26,45,68,69]. The PAA could be also explored as an additional agent to reduce hemolysis with other delivery agents. The PAA was shown to reduce the surface charge of complexes from ~40 mV (without PAA) to ~10 mV (with PAA) in siRNA complexes [54]. Thus, the beneficial effect of PAA on the hemolysis could be due to a decrease in the surface charge leading to lowered interactions with the RBC membrane [27].

The cytokine response to nanoparticle therapeutics is critical as it can lead to life threatening organ failures [70]. To decode the cytokine response to LMW PEIs, cellular mRNA levels and protein concentration in culture supernatants were assessed in Jurkat and PBMC cells, with good agreement. Upregulation of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ expression was evident with R:5 complexes of 1.2PEI-t α LA6 in Jurkat cells, but not in PBMCs. We observed that Jurkat cells were generally more sensitive even with the positive controls PMA/IO treatment in comparison to PBMC. In PBMC-3/-5/-6, the polymer alone at excessive (50 µg/mL) doses showed an increase of IL-6 expression along with TNF- α expression in PBMC-4, and such information is valuable while performing *in vivo* and future clinical studies. An increase in pDNA concentration led to a general decrease in the TNF- α response (except with R:5), which was consistent across different PBMC samples and whether PAA was incorporated in the complexes or not. Increasing the pDNA dose with linear PEI was shown to increase the TNF- α protein levels in mice serum [9] as well as with liposomal delivery systems [71]. The observed decrease in response could be due to a change in their surface charge or the size of the complexes as these can be influenced with different pDNA concentrations in culture supernatant. However, with IL-6 secretion, only R:5 with PAA showed a decrease from 21 pg/mL to 6 pg/mL in PBMC-4, and with IFN- γ we did not observe such a decrease in their protein levels with increase in pDNA concentration. Such a decrease in cytokine secretion with increase in pDNA concentration was not documented in their mRNA levels. We also observed that PBMC-4 showed relatively high sensitivity to our treatments (based on both mRNA and protein assessment), which re-emphasized the need to investigate *in vitro* responses in multiple samples due to variations in the source of PBMC. With polymer/siRNA complexes, 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer which previously showed hemolysis, was the only system to upregulate the IL-6 mRNA levels.

The inclusion of PAA in complexes, especially at R:10, showed a significant decrease in TNF- α protein secretion, whereas we observed an opposite effect at R:5 (denoted by #), which was also noted at the mRNA levels. The addition of PAA decreases the surface charge of the complexes and may have contributed to the reduction of TNF- α . The levels of IL-6 were widely undisturbed except at R:5 in PBMC-4 with some treatment groups having PAA a decrease in IL-6 levels were observed and IFN- γ was not upregulated by these delivery systems. In 1.2PEI-LA6, 0.6PEI-Lau4 and 1.2PEI-Lau8 complexes, the inclusion of PAA reduced TNF- α as well as IL-6 secretion.

The 1.2PEI-Chol3 did not cause cytokine stimulation, similar to its minimal effect on cell toxicity and hemolysis. The 1.2PEI-LA6 complexes, which was hemolytic in some treatment group, exhibited TNF- α upregulated in PBMC-7 alone whereas other cytokines were not altered. Similarly, with other polymer/pDNA complexes, 1.2PEI-Chol3, 0.6PEI-Lau4, 1.2PEI-Lau8, 1.2PEI-PrA1 and 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss, upregulation of TNF- α can be observed to varying extents only with PBMC-7 and not with PBMC-8. Among the delivery systems, 0.6PEI-Lau4 (complex as well as polymer alone) with 2.8 Lau/0.6PEI was the only polymer that stimulated TNF- α and IL-6 to a high extent. In contrast, 1.2PEI-Lau8 with 3.6 Lau/1.2PEI did not cause any major cytokine response, hence the observed effect may not be due to the presence of Lau. Different PEIs (0.6, 1.2 and 2.0 kDa branched PEI and 25 kDa linear PEI) without any lipid substitution did not cause immune stimulation in our hands (**Fig 5.S3**), confirming the safety of the base polymers. The final outcomes of the cytokine secretion from different PBMCs have been summarized as heat map for a better understanding and comparison (**Fig 5.11**).



Figure 5.11: Heat map showing the stimulation of three cytokines in seven different PBMCs following its treatment with controls and various PEI delivery agents at two different ratios with PAA as additive. Cytokine secretion was quantitated by ELISA and has been categorized based on the protein amount (pg/mL) with separate legends for each cytokine. P - PBMC, NT - no treatment, n/a – data not available.

One of the main reasons for low cytokine response could be the low amount of lipids being grafted on PEIs and the small quantity of the polymer used for complexation with pDNA or siRNA. The lipids employed in this study are relatively simple lipids and are widely used for treatment of various conditions; e.g., PrA was shown to reduce obesityassociated inflammation by decreasing TNF- α levels [72]. CA could increase mitochondrial respiration and improve inflammatory condition like sepsis [73]. PA and St at high concentrations can induce production of proinflammatory cytokines [74,75]; however, we did not detect any such upregulation presumably the amount of grafted lipids on PEI is low. Similarly LA was demonstrated to exhibit anti-cancer as well as antiinflammatory properties [76,77]. The disulfide-linked polymers have an added feature of being reduced in the intracellular space when they encounter a highly reductive environment [78]. Some of these polymers showed elevated cytokine levels, which could be attributed to their larger size or disulfide moiety used in the polymers.

Comparison of TNF- α levels between lipid/pDNA complexes, PEI/pDNA complexes of linear PEI 25 kDa, and branched PEIs (10, 25 and 70 kDa) showcased ~40 pg/mL of TNF- α for all the PEIs irrespective of their molecular weight emphasizing the overall safety of PEIs *in vivo* [9]. We employed 0.6 to 2.0 kDa PEIs in our study and have shown minimal response to PEI/pDNA complexes, where TNF- α levels ranged between 6 pg/mL to 230 pg/mL (overall) between different ratios, polymers and PBMCs while the baseline levels (i.e., no treatment) were ~10 pg/mL. Complexes with PEI 25 kDa have also been successfully delivered as aerosols instead of the systemic route, whose TNF- α response was of ~5 pg/mL in the lungs and 20 pg/mL in the serum. Whereas the i.v administration of the same complexes resulted in 60 pg/ml of lung TNF- α levels and 100 pg/ml of serum TNF- α which are minimal further pointing the safety of PEIs and their wide application [79] (**Table 5.2**). In a previous study using *in vivo*-jetPEITM (linear PEI)/pDNA and DOTAP (1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium-propane)/pDNA complexes, TNF- α

production was <4 pg/mL but IFN- γ levels were drastically upregulated reaching ~8000 pg/mL for both systems and IL-6 concentration was ~300 pg/mL when evaluated in mice serum. However, the increase in IFN- γ was shown to be due to the presence of DNA CpG motifs as same delivery systems with siRNA did not cause cytokine stimulation [80]. Both delivery agents (PEI and DOTAP) showed IFN-y upregulation, and a similar stimulation of IFN- γ (~10,000 pg/mL) in serum was documented by another group using linear PEI/pDNA complex [9]. The treatment with pDNA alone, did not upregulate any of the cytokines assessed in our hands (Fig 5.S4), which indicates the observed upregulation in certain groups to be mainly due to the polymer. Similarly, IL-6 upregulation was mostly reported to be negligible with PEI systems both in vitro and in vivo [81,82], but some IL-6 production (~400 pg/mL with in vivo-jetPEITM linear PEI [80] and ~150 pg/mL with branched 25 kDa PEI) could also be observed in the literature [83]. It was interesting to note that the branched 25 kDa PEI with stearic acid lipid substitution also produced similar amounts of IL-6 (~200 pg/mL) to that without substitution with siRNA complexes [84]. In our study with LMW PEIs having different lipid substitutions, the overall IL-6 levels were ~10 pg/mL, while no treatment had ~3 pg/mL suggesting minimal stimulation of LMW PEIs compared to their high MW counterparts.

Cytokine	Baseline concen- tration	Positive control	PEI	Concentrati on post- treatment	Route of adminis- tration	Therapy	Safe Yes/N 0	Referen ce
TNF-α (serum)	~25 pg/mL	~300 pg/mL	L-22 kDa	~25 pg/mL	i.p.	Non- small-cell lung cancer	Yes	[8]
TNF-α (serum)	~15 pg/mL	~320 pg/mL	B-10 kDa	~30 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[9]
TNF-α (serum)	~20 pg/mL	~320 pg/mL	B-25 kDa	~30 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[9]
TNF-α (serum)	~5 pg/mL	~320 pg/mL	B-70 kDa	~60 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[9]
TNF-α (serum)	~5 pg/mL	~320 pg/mL	L-25 kDa	$\sim \!\! 40 \ pg/mL$	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[9]
TNF-α (serum)	~10 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~100 pg/mL	i.v.	Pulmonary gene therapy	Yes	[79]
TNF-α (lung)	~5 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~60 pg/mL	i.v.	Pulmonary gene therapy	Yes	[79]
TNF-α (serum)	~10 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~20 pg/mL	Aer	Pulmonary gene therapy	Yes	[79]
TNF-α (lung)	~5 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~5 pg/mL	Aer	Pulmonary gene therapy	Yes	[79]
TNF-α (serum)	<4 pg/mL	~5000 pg/mL	L-25 kDa	<4 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[80]
IL-6 (serum)	~100 pg/mL	~60000 pg/mL	L-25 kDa	~300 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[80]
IL-6 (superna- tant)	n/a	n/a	B-25 kDa	2.5-fold	In vitro	Cytokine response	Yes	[81]
IL-6 (serum)	~50 pg/mL	~2000 pg/mL	n/a	~50 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[82]
IL-6 (superna- tant)	~50 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~150 pg/mL	In vitro	Cancer vaccinatio n	Yes	[83]
IL-6 (superna- tant)	~200 pg/mL	n/a	B-25 kDa	~400 pg/mL	In vitro	Melanoma gene therapy	Yes	[84]
IFN-γ (serum)	~5 pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~10000 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[9]
IFN-γ (serum)	~4pg/mL	n/a	L-25 kDa	~8000 pg/mL	i.v.	Cytokine response	Yes	[80]

Table 5.2: Summary of previous reports on the secretion of TNF- α , IL-6, and IFN- γ by *in vitro* or *in vivo* evaluation. The baseline concentration, positive control concentration, PEI (MW of branched or linear used) used, cytokine concentration post-treatment, the route of administration, the type of therapy or study and the safety statement mentioned are

included. i.p. – intraperitoneal, i.v. – intravenous, Aer - aerosol delivery, B – branched and L – linear.

In conclusion, the lipid-substituted LMW PEIs evaluated in this study were found to be generally safe towards the blood components at appropriate polymer to pDNA/siRNA ratios and concentrations. The complexes prepared with 1.2PEI-taLA6, 1.2PEI-Chol3, and 1.2PEI-Lau8 were consistently safe in their toxicity, hemolysis, and immune stimulation outcomes. The 1.2PEI-LA6 and 1.2PEI-PrA1 showed marginal toxicity whereas the former (1.2PEI-LA6) displayed hemolysis additionally, only at high ratios but did not elicit an obvious cytokine response. 0.6PEI-Lau4 on the other hand was the only polymer to show an immune stimulation compared to all the PEIs investigated. Among the disulfide crosslinked PEIs, 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss was safe in toxicity and cytokine protein response. However, the mRNA levels with 1.2PEI-taLA6ss were upregulated along with 2PEI-PrA1-ss and 1.2PEI-taLA2-ss. The addition of PAA reduced the RBC hemolysis of the complexes as well as the immune stimulatory effect to a reasonable extent. Nevertheless, LMW PEI with lipid modifications could be explored further for in vivo immune response studies and act as a key alternative for HMW PEI where mixed findings on their cytokine stimulation have been reported. The lipids of varying lengths used for PEI substitution did not show any relation with cytokine response although the different amount of substitution with LA polymers showed the importance of substitution level in hemolysis. As these polymers are being explored for a wide range of disease conditions, it would be interesting to further explore and understand the rationale involved for the polymers that exhibited some cytokine response.

5.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank to Mr. Cezary Kucharski for providing training and assistance with cell harvesting. This project was financially supported by operating grants from Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), MITACS through an accelerator grant supported by RJH Biosciences Inc. and Alex's Lemonade Stand Foundation (ALSF).

5.6 REFERENCES

- R. Mohammadinejad, A. Dehshahri, V. Sagar Madamsetty, M. Zahmatkeshan, S. Tavakol, P. Makvandi, D. Khorsandi, A. Pardakhty, M. Ashrafizadeh, E. Ghasemipour Afshar, A. Zarrabi, In vivo gene delivery mediated by non-viral vectors for cancer therapy., J. Control. Release. 325 (2020) 249–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.06.038.
- R. Kircheis, L. Wightman, E. Wagner, Design and gene delivery activity of modified polyethylenimines., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 53 (2001) 341–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(01)00202-2.
- [3] D.W. Pack, A.S. Hoffman, S. Pun, P.S. Stayton, DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF POLYMERS FOR GENE DELIVERY, 4 (2005) 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1775.
- [4] A. Elouahabi, J.M. Ruysschaert, Formation and intracellular trafficking of lipoplexes and polyplexes, Mol. Ther. 11 (2005) 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.12.006.
- [5] C.E. Thomas, A. Ehrhardt, M.A. Kay, Progress and problems with the use of viral vectors for gene therapy, Nat. Rev. Genet. 4 (2003) 346–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1066.
- [6] O. Boussif, F. Lezoualc'h, M.A. Zanta, M.D. Mergny, D. Scherman, B. Demeneix, J.P. Behr, A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7297–301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.16.7297.
- [7] M. Rodrigo Garzón, P. Berraondo, J. Crettaz, L. Ochoa, M. Vera, J.J. Lasarte, A. Vales, N. Van Rooijen, J. Ruiz, J. Prieto, J. Zulueta, G. González-Aseguinolaza, Induction of gp120-specific protective immune responses by genetic vaccination with linear polyethylenimine-plasmid complex, Vaccine. 23 (2005) 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.09.009.
- [8] P. Zhang, N. Xu, L. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Wang, K. Li, Z. Zeng, X. Wang, X. Zhang, C. Bai, A linear polyethylenimine mediated siRNA-based therapy targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor in SPC-A1 xenograft mice., Transl. Respir. Med. 1 (2013) 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2213-0802-1-2.
- [9] S. Kawakami, Y. Ito, P. Charoensit, F. Yamashita, M. Hashida, Evaluation of proinflammatory cytokine production induced by linear and branched polyethylenimine/plasmid DNA complexes in mice, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 317 (2006) 1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.100669.

- [10] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Size matters: Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly(ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45 (1999) 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::AID-JBM15>3.0.CO;2-Q.
- [11] K. Kunath, A. Von Harpe, D. Fischer, H. Petersen, U. Bickel, K. Voigt, T. Kissel, Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery: Comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine, J. Control. Release. 89 (2003) 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00076-2.
- H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludağ, Impact of Lipid Substitution on Assembly and Delivery of siRNA by Cationic Polymers, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 662–672. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201000402.
- [13] B. Thapa, R. Kc, M. Bahniuk, J. Schmitke, M. Hitt, A. Lavasanifar, O. Kutsch, D.W. Seol, H. Uludag, Breathing New Life into TRAIL for Breast Cancer Therapy: Co-Delivery of pTRAIL and Complementary siRNAs Using Lipopolymers, Hum. Gene Ther. 30 (2019) 1531–1546. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2019.096.
- [14] K.C. Remant, B. Thapa, J. Valencia-Serna, S.S. Domun, C. Dimitroff, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, Cholesterol grafted cationic lipopolymers: Potential siRNA carriers for selective chronic myeloid leukemia therapy, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A. 108 (2020) 565–580. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36837.
- [15] B. Thapa, S. Plianwong, K. Remant Bahadur, B. Rutherford, H. Uludai, Small hydrophobe substitution on polyethylenimine for plasmid DNA delivery: Optimal substitution is critical for effective delivery, Acta Biomater. 33 (2016) 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.025.
- [16] T. Bettinger, R.C. Carlisle, M.L. Read, M. Ogris, L.W. Seymour, Peptide-mediated RNA delivery: A novel approach for enhanced transfection of primary and postmitotic cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) 3882–3891. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/29.18.3882.
- [17] L.C. Rose, R. Fitzsimmons, P. Lee, R. Krawetz, D.E. Rancourt, H. Uludağ, Effect of basic fibroblast growth factor in mouse embryonic stem cell culture and osteogenic differentiation., J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 7 (2013) 371–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.532.
- [18] M.B. Parmar, B.E. Arteaga Ballesteros, T. Fu, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Multiple siRNA delivery against cell cycle and anti-apoptosis proteins using lipid-substituted polyethylenimine in triple-

negative breast cancer and nonmalignant cells, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A. 104 (2016) 3031–3044. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35846.

- [19] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.
- [20] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [21] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [22] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [23] H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, Polymeric delivery of siRNA for dual silencing of Mcl-1 and P-glycoprotein and apoptosis induction in drug-resistant breast cancer cells., Cancer Gene Ther. 20 (2013) 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2013.8.
- [24] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [25] L.C. Rose, C. Kucharski, H. Uludaĝ, Protein expression following non-viral delivery of plasmid DNA coding for basic FGF and BMP-2 in a rat ectopic model, Biomaterials.
 33 (2012) 3363–3374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.01.031.
- [26] E.P. Rondon, H.A. Benabdoun, F. Vallières, M.S. Petrônio, M.J. Tiera, M. Benderdour, J.C. Fernandes, Evidence supporting the safety of pegylated diethylaminoethyl-chitosan polymer as a nanovector for gene therapy applications, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 15 (2020) 6183–6200. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S252397.
- [27] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to

understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.

- [28] P.W. Buehler, F. D'Agnillo, Toxicological consequences of extracellular hemoglobin: Biochemical and physiological perspectives, Antioxidants Redox Signal. 12 (2010) 275–291. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2799.
- [29] A.J. Schroit, J.W. Madsen, Y. Tanaka, In vivo recognition and clearance of red blood cells containing phosphatidylserine in their plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 5131–5138.
- [30] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Guidance for industry: Immunogenicity assessment for therapeutic protein products, FDA Maryl. (2014).
- [31] A. Ferrajoli, M.J. Keating, T. Manshouri, F.J. Giles, A. Dey, Z. Estrov, C.A. Koller, R. Kurzrock, D.A. Thomas, S. Faderl, S. Lerner, S. O'Brien, M. Albitar, The clinical significance of tumor necrosis factor-α plasma level in patients having chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Blood. 100 (2002) 1215–1219. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v100.4.1215.h81602001215 1215 1219.
- [32] P.W. Szlosarek, M.J. Grimshaw, H. Kulbe, J.L. Wilson, G.D. Wilbanks, F. Burke, F.R. Balkwill, Expression and regulation of tumor necrosis factor α in normal and malignant ovarian epithelium, Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0303.
- [33] V. Michalaki, K. Syrigos, P. Charles, J. Waxman, Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-α correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer, Br. J. Cancer. 90 (2004) 2312–2316. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601814.
- [34] S. Yuan, P. Carter, M. Bruzelius, M. Vithayathil, S. Kar, A.M. Mason, A. Lin, S. Burgess, S.C. Larsson, Effects of tumour necrosis factor on cardiovascular disease and cancer: A two-sample Mendelian randomization study, EBioMedicine. 59 (2020) 102956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102956.
- [35] R.E. Rossi, I. Parisi, E.J. Despott, A.K. Burroughs, J. O'Beirne, D. Conte, M.I. Hamilton, C.D. Murray, Anti-tumour necrosis factor agent and liver injury: Literature review, recommendations for management, World J. Gastroenterol. 20 (2014) 17352–17359. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i46.17352.
- [36] S. Zhao, J. Jiang, Y. Jing, W. Liu, X. Yang, X. Hou, L. Gao, L. Wei, The concentration of tumor necrosis factor-α determines its protective or damaging effect on liver injury by regulating Yap activity, Cell Death Dis. 11 (2020).

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2264-z.

- [37] M.J. Page, J. Bester, E. Pretorius, The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 1812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20220-8.
- [38] K. Benihoud, S. Esselin, D. Descamps, B. Jullienne, B. Salone, P. Bobé, D. Bonardelle, E. Connault, P. Opolon, I. Saggio, M. Perricaudet, Respective roles of TNF-α and IL-6 in the immune response-elicited by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in mice, Gene Ther. 14 (2007) 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302885.
- [39] A. Masjedi, V. Hashemi, M. Hojjat-Farsangi, G. Ghalamfarsa, G. Azizi, M. Yousefi, F. Jadidi-Niaragh, The significant role of interleukin-6 and its signaling pathway in the immunopathogenesis and treatment of breast cancer, Biomed. Pharmacother. 108 (2018) 1415–1424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.177.
- [40] L. Song, M.A. Smith, P. Doshi, K. Sasser, W. Fulp, S. Altiok, E.B. Haura, Antitumor efficacy of the anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) antibody siltuximab in mouse xenograft models of lung cancer, J. Thorac. Oncol. 9 (2014) 974–982. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.000000000000193.
- [41] E. Beurel, R.S. Jope, Lipopolysaccharide-induced interleukin-6 production is controlled by glycogen synthase kinase-3 and STAT3 in the brain, J. Neuroinflammation. 6 (2009) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-9.
- [42] N.L. Sparkman, J.B. Buchanan, J.R.R. Heyen, J. Chen, J.L. Beverly, R.W. Johnson, Interleukin-6 facilitates lipopolysaccharide-induced disruption in working memory and expression of other proinflammatory cytokines in hippocampal neuronal cell layers, J. Neurosci. 26 (2006) 10709–10716. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3376-06.2006.
- [43] L. Forcina, C. Miano, B.M. Scicchitano, E. Rizzuto, M.G. Berardinelli, F. De Benedetti, L. Pelosi, A. Musarò, Increased Circulating Levels of Interleukin-6 Affect the Redox Balance in Skeletal Muscle, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2019 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3018584.
- [44] N. Koizumi, T. Yamaguchi, K. Kawabata, F. Sakurai, T. Sasaki, Y. Watanabe, T. Hayakawa, H. Mizuguchi, Fiber-Modified Adenovirus Vectors Decrease Liver Toxicity through Reduced IL-6 Production, J. Immunol. 178 (2007) 1767–1773. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.3.1767.
- [45] V. Kumar, J. Qin, Y. Jiang, R.G. Duncan, B. Brigham, S. Fishman, J.K. Nair, A. Akinc, S.A. Barros, P. V. Kasperkovitz, Shielding of lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery: Impact on physicochemical properties, cytokine induction, and efficacy,

Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. 3 (2014) e210. https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.61.

- [46] M. Martini, M.G. Testi, M. Pasetto, M.C. Picchio, G. Innamorati, M. Mazzocco, S. Ugel, S. Cingarlini, V. Bronte, P. Zanovello, M. Krampera, F. Mosna, T. Cestari, A.P. Riviera, N. Brutti, O. Barbieri, L. Matera, G. Tridente, M. Colombatti, S. Sartoris, IFN-γ-mediated upmodulation of MHC class I expression activates tumor-specific immune response in a mouse model of prostate cancer, Vaccine. 28 (2010) 3548–3557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.03.007.
- [47] F. Castro, A.P. Cardoso, R.M. Gonçalves, K. Serre, M.J. Oliveira, Interferongamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion, Front. Immunol. 9 (2018) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847.
- [48] L. Ni, J. Lu, Interferon gamma in cancer immunotherapy, Cancer Med. 7 (2018) 4509–4516. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.1700.
- [49] J.Y. Lee, K.E. Sullivan, Gamma interferon and lipopolysaccharide interact at the level of transcription to induce tumor necrosis factor alpha expression, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 2847–2852. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.5.2847-2852.2001.
- [50] Y.F. He, X.H. Wang, G.M. Zhang, H.T. Chen, H. Zhang, Z.H. Feng, Sustained lowlevel expression of interferon-γ promotes tumor development: Potential insights in tumor prevention and tumor immunotherapy, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 54 (2005) 891–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0654-1.
- [51] M. Mojic, K. Takeda, Y. Hayakawa, The dark side of IFN-γ: Its role in promoting cancer immunoevasion, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010089.
- [52] F.C. Lin, M. Karwan, B. Saleh, D.L. Hodge, T. Chan, K.C. Boelte, J.R. Keller, H.A. Young, IFN-γ causes aplastic anemia by altering hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell composition and disrupting lineage differentiation, Blood. 124 (2014) 3699–3708. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-549527.
- [53] D.L. Hodge, C. Berthet, V. Coppola, W. Kastenmüller, M.D. Buschman, P.M. Schaughency, H. Shirota, A.J. Scarzello, J.J. Subleski, M.R. Anver, J.R. Ortaldo, F. Lin, D.A. Reynolds, M.E. Sanford, P. Kaldis, L. Tessarollo, D.M. Klinman, H.A. Young, IFN-gamma AU-rich element removal promotes chronic IFN-gamma expression and autoimmunity in mice, J. Autoimmun. 53 (2014) 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2014.02.003.
- [54] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.

- [55] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [56] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 21CFR640 - Additinal Standards For Human Blodd and Blood Products, (2020).
- [57] Z.D. Li, X.J. Mo, S. Yan, D. Wang, B. Xu, J. Guo, T. Zhang, W. Hu, Y. Feng, X.N. Zhou, Z. Feng, Multiplex cytokine and antibody profile in cystic echinococcosis patients during a three-year follow-up in reference to the cyst stages, Parasites and Vectors. 13 (2020) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-020-4003-9.
- [58] M. Schirmer, V. Kumar, M.G. Netea, R.J. Xavier, The causes and consequences of variation in human cytokine production in health, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 54 (2018) 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2018.05.012.
- [59] S. Plianwong, B. Thapa, R.B. Kc, C. Kucharski, T. Rojanarata, H. Uludağ, Enabling Combinatorial siRNA Delivery against Apoptosis-Related Proteins with Linoleic Acid and α-Linoleic Acid Substituted Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimines, Pharm. Res. 37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-2770-9.
- [60] H.M. Aliabadi, K.C.R. Bahadur, E. Bousoik, R. Hall, A. Barbarino, B. Thapa, M. Coyle, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, A systematic comparison of lipopolymers for siRNA delivery to multiple breast cancer cell lines: In vitro studies, Acta Biomater. 102 (2020) 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.036.
- [61] R. Kc, B. Thapa, A. Ubeda, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, BCR-Abl Silencing by siRNA: A Potent Approach to Sensitize Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cells to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy., Stem Cells Dev. 28 (2019) 734–744. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2018.0196.
- [62] M.F. Cury-Boaventura, C. Pompéia, R. Curi, Comparative toxicity of oleic acid and linoleic acid on Jurkat cells, Clin. Nutr. 23 (2004) 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2003.12.004.
- [63] D. Meneksedag-Erol, R.B. Kc, T. Tang, H. Uludag, A Delicate Balance When Substituting a Small Hydrophobe onto Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine to Improve Its Nucleic Acid Delivery Efficiency, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 7 (2015) 24822–24832. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b07929.
- [64] T. Ramasamy, Z.S. Haidar, T.H. Tran, J.Y. Choi, J.H. Jeong, B.S. Shin, H.G. Choi, C.S. Yong, J.O. Kim, Layer-by-layer assembly of liposomal nanoparticles with PEGylated polyelectrolytes enhances systemic delivery of multiple anticancer drugs, Acta Biomater. 10 (2014) 5116–5127.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.08.021.

- [65] D.S. Shah, T. Sakthivel, I. Toth, A.T. Florence, A.F. Wilderspin, DNA transfection and transfected cell viability using amphipathic asymmetric dendrimers, Int. J. Pharm. 208 (2000) 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(00)00534-2.
- [66] D.M. Domański, B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, Influence of PAMAM dendrimers on human red blood cells, in: Bioelectrochemistry, 2004: pp. 189–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2003.09.023.
- [67] R.B. Sawant, S.K. Jathar, S.B. Rajadhyaksha, P.T. Kadam, Red cell hemolysis during processing and storage., Asian J. Transfus. Sci. 1 (2007) 47–51. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-6247.33446.
- [68] C. Zhang, Y. Zhao, E. Zhang, M. Jiang, D. Zhi, H. Chen, S. Cui, Y. Zhen, J. Cui, S. Zhang, Co-delivery of paclitaxel and anti-VEGF siRNA by tripeptide lipid nanoparticle to enhance the anti-tumor activity for lung cancer therapy, Drug Deliv. 27 (2020) 1397–1411. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2020.1827085.
- [69] Y.M. Thasneem, M.R. Rekha, S. Sajeesh, C.P. Sharma, Biomimetic mucin modified PLGA nanoparticles for enhanced blood compatibility, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 409 (2013) 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2013.07.004.
- [70] G. Suntharalingam, M.R. Perry, S. Ward, S.J. Brett, A. Castello-Cortes, M.D. Brunner, N. Panoskaltsis, Cytokine Storm in a Phase 1 Trial of the Anti-CD28 Monoclonal Antibody TGN1412, N. Engl. J. Med. 355 (2006) 1018–1028. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa063842.
- [71] R. Smolarczyk, T. Cichoń, A. Sochanik, S. Szala, Negligible induction of IFN-γ, IL-12 and TNF-α by DNA-PEI 750 kDa/albumin complexes, Cytokine. 29 (2005) 283– 287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2004.11.010.
- [72] S. Al-Lahham, H. Roelofsen, F. Rezaee, D. Weening, A. Hoek, R. Vonk, K. Venema, Propionic acid affects immune status and metabolism in adipose tissue from overweight subjects, Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 42 (2012) 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2362.2011.02590.x.
- [73] M. Hecker, N. Sommer, H. Voigtmann, O. Pak, A. Mohr, M. Wolf, I. Vadász, S. Herold, N. Weissmann, R.E. Morty, W. Seeger, K. Mayer, Impact of Short- and Medium-Chain Fatty Acids on Mitochondrial Function in Severe Inflammation, J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 38 (2014) 587–594. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148607113489833.
- [74] S. Joshi-Barve, S.S. Barve, K. Amancherla, L. Gobejishvili, D. Hill, M. Cave, P. Hote, C.J. McClain, Palmitic acid induces production of proinflammatory cytokine

interleukin-8 from hepatocytes, Hepatology. 46 (2007) 823-830. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21752.

- [75] H. Miao, L. Chen, L. Hao, X. Zhang, Y. Chen, Z. Ruan, H. Liang, Stearic acid induces proinflammatory cytokine production partly through activation of lactate-HIF1α pathway in chondrocytes, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13092.
- [76] R. Lappano, A. Sebastiani, F. Cirillo, D.C. Rigiracciolo, G.R. Galli, R. Curcio, R. Malaguarnera, A. Belfiore, A.R. Cappello, M. Maggiolini, The lauric acid-activated signaling prompts apoptosis in cancer cells, Cell Death Discov. 3 (2017) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.63.
- [77] W.S. Lim, M.S.Y. Gan, M.H.L. Ong, C.H. Chew, Lauric acid abolishes interferongamma (IFN-γ)-induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression in human macrophages, Asian Pacific J. Reprod. 4 (2015) 217–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjr.2015.06.005.
- [78] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [79] A. Gautam, C.L. Densmore, J.C. Waldrep, Pulmonary cytokine responses associated with PEI-DNA aerosol gene therapy, Gene Ther. 8 (2001) 254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301369.
- [80] M.E. Bonnet, P. Erbacher, A.L. Bolcato-Bellemin, Systemic delivery of DNA or siRNA mediated by linear polyethylenimine (L-PEI) does not induce an inflammatory response, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 2972–2982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9693-1.
- [81] A. Beyerle, M. Irmler, J. Beckers, T. Kissel, T. Stoeger, Toxicity pathway focused gene expression profiling of PEI-based polymers for pulmonary applications, Mol. Pharm. 7 (2010) 727–737. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp900278x.
- [82] T. Cheng, J. Miao, D. Kai, H. Zhang, Polyethylenimine-Mediated CpG Oligodeoxynucleotide Delivery Stimulates Bifurcated Cytokine Induction, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 4 (2018) 1013–1018. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00049.
- [83] A.W. Li, M.C. Sobral, S. Badrinath, Y. Choi, A. Graveline, A.G. Stafford, J.C. Weaver, M.O. Dellacherie, T.-Y. Shih, O.A. Ali, J. Kim, K.W. Wucherpfennig, D.J. Mooney, A facile approach to enhance antigen response for personalized cancer vaccination, Nat. Mater. 17 (2018) 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-018-

0028-2.

[84] A. Alshamsan, S. Hamdy, J. Samuel, A.O.S. El-Kadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, The induction of tumor apoptosis in B16 melanoma following STAT3 siRNA delivery with a lipid-substituted polyethylenimine, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 1420– 1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.11.003.
6. OVERALL CONCLUSIONS, DISCUSSION, LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE

DIRECTIONS

6.1 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION

RNAi is a promising technology for cancer treatment given its feasibility to customize and target the overexpressed genes aiding in cancer progression and drug resistance. This dissertation primarily focused on using RNAi technology to address breast cancer metastasis by targeting an overexpressed cell adhesion molecule (CAM), integrinβ1 (ITGB1) and an intracellular molecule, HSP90B1 and address CML drug resistance by silencing the upregulated integrin- β 1. The successful delivery of siRNA and the therapeutic outcome of silencing in each cancer was provided by lipid-modified low molecular weight PEI gene delivery systems, whose safety was the secondary focus of this thesis as they are crucial while heading into physiological applications. In Chapter 1, we summarized the success of siRNA-based therapies which was evident by the various clinical trials in different types of cancers highlighting its adaptability. A comprehensive understanding on the properties of PEI systems, the steps taken to modify the LMW PEI such as lipid grafting, inclusion of thioester linkage and disulfide cross-linking to achieve optimal gene delivery and addition of small anionic polymers like HA, PAA and DS to further improve their efficacy and the current status of its toxicity as well as immune response studies were provided. We further established the urgent need to address (i) breast cancer metastasis and the important role of cell adhesion molecules, particularly integrin- β 1 and the impact of HSP90B1 overexpression in disease progression, and to overcome (ii) CML drug resistance that are independent of BCR-ABL signaling, particularly the resistance provided by bone marrow stromal environment through integrin- β 1 mediated binding of leukemic cells.

As the overexpression of integrin- β 1 was of paramount importance for breast cancer metastasis based on literature proof, in Chapter 2, we targeted its expression using three polymers: 1.2PEI-LA (1.2PEI-LA6, linoleic acid), 1.2PEI-Lau (1.2PEI-Lau8, lauric acid), and 1.2PEI-taLA (1.2PEI-taLA6, alpha linoleic acid) in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. The highest siRNA uptake was observed with 1.2PEI-LA6 with better cytoplasmic localization which is advantageous for siRNA mediated mRNA degradation of the target. The surface and mRNA integrin- β 1 levels were strongly reduced by 50% and 90% respectively with a single treatment of 40 nM siRNA which was prolonged up to 9 days. As the major step in metastasis is the ability of breast cancer cells to attach at the distant site following migration, integrin- β 1 silencing significantly reduced the percentage of cells binding to FN (65%) and hBMSC (20%) following the treatment with 1.2PEI-LA6/siRNA complexes. Similar outcomes were achieved in their migration, as integrin- β 1 silencing established 85% and 50% inhibition in migration compared to no-treatment and CsiRNA respectively, using two different cell migration techniques (scratch assay and transwell migration assay). This study highlighted the importance of integrin- β 1 in breast cancer migration and the therapeutic effectiveness of 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer for siRNA delivery. Very minimal impact was observed in the viability of cancer cells following integrin- β 1 silencing which signifies the strong link between integrin- β 1 expression and migration rather on cancer cell viability as reported previously [1]. Given the various downstream signaling pathways activated by integrin- β 1, the functional outcome of siRNA treatment could have downregulated the expression of FAK, ERK, MAPK and JNK expression which in turn could have contributed to the migration inhibition of the cancer cells [2].

To further address breast cancer metastasis, we intended to identify additional CAMs in the model cell line MDA-MB-231 by screening a siRNA library targeting various cell adhesion and cytoskeleton genes (496 genes) in Chapter 3. siRNA delivery was carried out by the successful 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer with migration studies by scratch assay and cell viability by MTT assay. The siRNA library constituted various CAMs like cadherins (CDH), protocadherins (PCDH), selectins and all the α - integrins along with some heat shock family of proteins, and other cytoskeletal genes. Initial findings revealed a significant reduction in migration following integrin- $\alpha 4$ (ITGA4), integrin- $\alpha 6$ (ITGA6) and integrin- αX (ITGAX) silencing and growth inhibition by CDH9 and HSP90B1. For further target validation studies, we successfully employed HA as additives during PEI/siRNA complex preparation having shown its benefit in higher silencing of CDC20 in a previous study [3]. A weight/weight ratio of 1:5:0.15 i.e., siRNA:PEI:HA was established as the optimal formulation to inhibit growth and migration with HSP90B1 silencing. The other targets (ITGA4, ITGA6 and ITGAX) failed in validation studies whereas CDH9 expression was reported to be essential to inhibit breast cancer progression [4], hence they were not pursued further. Increase in HA or polymer concentration hampered the efficacy, highlighting the need for careful optimization of siRNA/PEI/HA formulation. The high performance of HA additive complexes was attributed to enhanced dissociation, increased cytoplasmic availability along with the high presence of CD44 receptors in MDA-MB-231 cells [5]. Similar to the strong (90%) silencing of integrin- β 1, we obtained equivalent reduction of HSP90B1 (~80%) mRNA levels following HSP90B1 siRNA treatment with 1.2PEI-LA6 polymer. Interestingly, treatment with HSP90B1 siRNA also decreased the expression of integrin- β 1 and CDC20 at the mRNA level which can be explained by the

presence of various client proteins under HSP90B1 which includes integrins [6]. Furthermore, combinational siRNA delivery against integrin- β 1 and HSP90B1 was established by significant reduction in the migration of breast cancer cells showing the benefit of silencing an upregulated CAM and an intracellular molecule for breast cancer treatment.

To address the BCR-ABL independent resistance observed at the bone marrow niche by integrin-β1 mediated binding of chronic myeloid leukemia cells, siRNA against integrin- β 1 was successfully delivered using PEI delivery systems as shown in Chapter 4. Screening of a PEI library containing unmodified and disulfide (-SS-) cross-linked lipid substituted delivery agents were established in K562 CML cells. The presence of -SS- link would help to achieve enhanced intracellular release due to the reducing environment inside the cell by glutathione as they are higher in the intracellular compartment in comparison to the extracellular space, however we did not observe any benefit of -SSlinked systems in our study. This could be possibly due to the higher size caused by lipid modification in 1.2 kDa PEI, in contrast to 0.8 Da PEI which were used for -SSmodification that showed beneficial effect in a different study [7]. FN binding studies showed strong attachment of K562 cells which confirmed the presence of CAMs and further evaluation established integrin- β 1 to be upregulated and possible reason for its binding to bone stromal cells. In this study, cell surface integrin- β 1 were detected in K562 cells but were much lower in comparison to MDA-MB-231 cells and integrin- β 1 silencing was attained at surface and mRNA levels. Silencing was established by 1.2 PEI-t α LA6 and 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss polymers. The functional benefit of integrin- β 1 silencing was evident by the decreased binding and increased detachment of K562 cells to/from hBMSC which

would benefit in the easy access and targeting by tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Moreover, silencing of integrin- β 1 along with BCR-ABL was beneficial to reduce the proliferation of K562 cells which was assessed by the number of colonies formed. Hence the therapeutic outcome of silencing specific genes using PEI delivery systems in two types of cancers, breast cancer as a model for solid and CML as a model for liquid cancer was established.

In Chapter 5, the toxicity and cytokine stimulation by various PEI-based delivery systems including 1.2PEI-LA6, 1.2PEI-taLA6 and 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss that were used for breast cancer and CML studies were demonstrated in vitro. From the leading 7 polymers used in this study, 1.2PEI-PrA1 (propionic acid) was the only polymer that showed dose dependent (polymer:pDNA - weight/weight ratio) increase in Jurkat and PBMC toxicity. We demonstrated the importance of polymer to nucleic acid (pDNA) ratio on the toxicity observed in T-lymphocytes. The extent of human red blood cell lysis by the polyplexes (polymer:pDNA) and polymer alone revealed that some linoleic acid substitutions caused hemolysis, however all other polymers displayed safe levels of lysis. Free linoleic acid is known to be toxic at very high concentrations, but in our study linoleic acid was conjugated to PEI and not free, however further studies are required to decipher the reason for the toxicity. We also demonstrated the lowered toxicity in polyacrylic acid additive treatments, possibly due to the decrease in surface charge reducing the lysis activity on the cell membrane [3,8]. Similarly, cytokine response was demonstrated to be lowered in certain treatment groups with additive complex treatments. The TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ cytokine stimulation by 1.2PEI-LA6, 1.2PEI-taLA6 and 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss was negligible in comparison to the positive controls PMA/IO in two different PBMCs. Among the 7 PEI delivery agents studied, only 0.6PEI-Lau4 exhibited some stimulation in all three

cytokines, however the upregulation remained minimal when compared to the positive controls. We also showed that the nucleic acid concentration as well as the ratio does not affect the cytokine secretion from studies with 4 different PBMCs. PBMC-4 appeared to be highly sensitive for cytokine secretion for all the treatments including controls, which can be explained by the inherent variations in cytokine production among humans [9]. Furthermore, the difference in the type of lipid substitution and the amount of substituent did not influence the cytokine secretion. However, some of the disulfide cross-linked thioester alpha linoleic polymers showed an increase in cytokine mRNA levels, especially IL-6 and IFN- γ , but no upregulation was recorded in the protein levels with 1.2PEI-t α LA6-ss polymer. Altogether, the safety of the lipid substituted LMW-PEI gene delivery agents used for breast cancer and CML treatment were demonstrated with an emphasize on the careful optimization of polymer:nucleic acid ratio.

6.2 LIMITATIONS

In the intracellular localization studies of polymer/siRNA complexes using confocal microscopy with MDA-MB-231 cells in **Chapter 2**, use of a cytoplasm staining dye could have provided a better visualization on the exact location of the complexes by their co-localization with the cytoplasm. Also, a non-specific PE-labeled antibody as a control while evaluating the cell surface levels of integrin- β 1 could have been used. Similarly, controls to negate the possible interaction between FN and the PEI polymers or the influence of polymers in the FN binding study could have been employed as the binding ability was >100% for CsiRNA treatments. Extended evaluation of migration (48 hours) in scratch assay could have been performed in addition to 24 hours. Other TNBC cell lines like BT20 and MDA-MB-435 could have been employed to confirm the therapeutic benefit of integrin-β1 silencing for breast cancer treatment.

For the library screening studies in **Chapter 3**, specialized 96 well plate-setup that helps to attain uniform wounds in all the wells could have been utilized to avoid well to well variation, as wound/scratches were created manually for all the wells. Additionally, a rapid microscopic imaging system to capture the wounds in the 96 well plate could have helped to acquire the migration information for a longer time point like 48 hours (as migration was calculated only for 24 hours). Use of pooled siRNAs targeting various regions of the target gene could have also been used in the validation studies. ITGA4, ITGA6 and ITGAX silencing showed migration inhibition in the library screening (which had 3 different siRNAs pooled together for each gene) but failed to elicit a therapeutic outcome in the validation studies where a single dicer substrate siRNA (DsiRNA) was used. However, the DsiRNA for HSP90B1 provided functional outcome and the decrease in HSP90B1 mRNA levels could have been confirmed at the protein level using western blot. The successful inhibition in migration following the combinational knockdown of integrin- β 1 + HSP90B1 could have been potentially confirmed by performing an invasion assay using transwell inserts.

In **Chapter 4**, an additional CML cell line, KU812 attained from a 38-year-old male in blast crisis could have helped to validate the effect of integrin- β 1 silencing for CML treatment in addition to K562 cell line (attained from a 53-year-old female in blast crisis).

Additional cell viability methods to understand the toxicity of the complexes in **Chapter 5** for Jurkat and PBMC, might have helped to validate the findings. The

272

immediate use of RBCs following isolation from whole blood could have potentially helped to avoid differences in hemolysis studies caused due to varying storage times of RBC before use. Use of additional PBMCs (~10) to study the cytokine stimulation ability of the 7 lead polymers might have provided a more detailed confirmation of the findings. Evaluation of the cytokine mRNA levels to PEIs having different type of lipid substitutions and varying number of substituents could have been additionally confirmed at the protein level.

6.3 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

6.3.1 Future directions to address breast cancer metastasis

The siRNA delivery agents were able to achieve 90% silencing of integrin- β 1 mRNA levels, however at the cell surface we observed 50% inhibition, reflecting the presence of integrin- β 1 on the cell membrane despite attaining high mRNA reduction. Therefore, a combination of integrin- β 1-blocking antibody or peptide at low concentrations along with siRNA treatment could result in much higher impact in migration and binding to FN and hBMSC [10–13]. Inclusion of additives like HA or PAA can be explored to determine whether they help in increasing much higher silencing of integrin- β 1 at the cell surface [3]. In addition, targeting of other β integrins like β 3, β 4 and β 5 can provide additional edge, as their decreased availability can impact the heterodimerization with the wider range of α - subunits [14–16]. Targeting of other CAMs like protocadherins that are strongly linked to migration and invasiveness of breast cancer [17] can be also employed with effective PEI/siRNA delivery systems which has been established in this dissertation. Combinational silencing of integrin- β 1 and HSP90B1 showed significant decrease in the

migration of breast cancer cells. Similar strategies of combinational silencing of integrin- β 1 with apoptosis related protein (BCL2L12), cell division related protein (CDC20) and phosphatase protein (PPP1R7) can be employed [5,18]. Although the overexpression of integrin-\u00b31 and HSP90B1 in various breast cancer cell lines and breast cancer patient samples have been reported by other research groups, the impact of silencing these targets in normal breast cells would provide stronger evidence on their specificity and help to negate any non-specific toxicity. Ex vivo cultured breast cancer patient samples can also be used to validate the therapeutic silencing of integrin- β 1 and HSP90B1 [19]. Additionally, 3D cell cultures which mimic the tumor microenvironment could provide a better understanding on the distribution, and efficacy of PEI delivery systems as well as the therapeutic benefit of silencing these targets [20]. In vivo evaluation in clinically relevant animal models representing bone or brain metastatic breast cancers, especially given the brain metastasis governance and survival benefit of HSP90B1 expression, silencing in combination with integrin- β 1 will be essential to further these findings. The highly metastatic triple negative breast cancer MBA-MB-231 cell line can be used to attain breast cancer xenografts in mice [21]. Furthermore, HSP90B1 silencing by these PEI delivery systems can be employed in combination with HSP90 inhibitors which would help to reduce the dose of the inhibitor and ultimately lower the side effects observed in clinical trials [22].

6.3.2 Future directions to address CML drug resistance

Antibody mediated evaluation of cell surface integrin expression on K562 cells would help to further confirm the findings from mRNA quantification. Though we established resistance to BCR-ABL siRNA treatment when K562 cells were cultured on FN through colony formation assay, we could not develop BCR-ABL independent-TKI (drug) resistant cell lines. Hence development of CML cells that are dependent on hBMSC attachment for survival would be vital to evaluate the therapeutic outcome of integrin- β 1 silencing. Although we established 50% reduction at the cell surface and mRNA levels of integrin- β 1, superior PEI delivery agents can be designed to achieve better silencing and additives can be included to enhance the efficiency. Similar to the breast cancer studies reported here, other integrins can also be explored to benefit CML attachment and detachment from hBMSC to aid in TKI treatment [23]. In addition to *in vitro* studies, CML patient samples responding to TKI treatment and those experiencing resistance could be cultured to study integrin- β 1 silencing in combination with BCR-ABL and TKI treatment [24]. CML *in vivo* drug resistant models can be used to perform final evaluation of combinational silencing and their benefit to address bone marrow environment induced drug resistance.

6.3.3 Future directions to better understand and engineer safe PEI gene delivery systems

Having shown a strong correlation between surface charge of nanoparticles and RBC lysis [8], additives other than HA or PAA like chondroitin sulfate (CS) can be explored. CS have been successfully used as polyplex coatings to enhance the transfection efficiency for peptide mediated gene delivery [25], hence they can also be explored for PEI delivery systems to increase the efficiency as well as minimize the chance of RBC lysis. Evaluation of polyplex size, surface charge along with the intracellular localization, and uptake pathway of the polyplexes could provide a better understanding on any correlation

to cytokine secretion. Furthermore, the lipids used in PEI substitution could be studied independently for their ability to cause toxicity, and immune response *in vitro* as this information will help in a better understanding of their safety [26]. Studies on the *in vivo* biodistribution, organ toxicity, and immune response of the PEI gene delivery is needed to understand their pharmacokinetics and absolute safety which are inevitable information for their advancement. Other RNAi methods can also be employed for target gene silencing. Regulation of several integrins by specific miRNA unlocks their therapeutic potential, as many targets can be downregulated for cancer treatment [27]. Similar applications can be explored in targeting HSP90 proteins for cancer treatment [28]. The findings of this thesis work provide the safety information of the lipid modified LMW PEI delivery systems and the therapeutic proof of silencing targets for the treatment of two different cancer types. Such PEI/siRNA therapy can also be deployed for other types of cancers.

6.4 REFERENCES

- A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, C.-X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2013) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.
- [2] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, a Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 Expression in Bone-metastasizing Cancer Cells by Type I Collagen through Integrin {alpha}1{beta}1 and {alpha}2{beta}1-p38 MAPK Signaling, Anticancer Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313. https://doi.org/31/4/1307 [pii].
- M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [4] G. Yan, V. Chen, X. Lu, S. Lu, A signal-based method for finding driver modules of breast cancer metastasis to the lung, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09951-2.
- [5] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [6] B. Liu, Z. Li, Endoplasmic reticulum HSP90bl (gp96, grp94) optimizes B-cell function via chaperoning integrin and TLR but not immunoglobulin, Blood. 112 (2008) 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-143107.
- [7] Q. Peng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimines (PEI) prepared via thiolation of low molecular weight PEI as highly efficient gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 499–506. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc7003236.
- [8] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.
- [9] M. Schirmer, V. Kumar, M.G. Netea, R.J. Xavier, The causes and consequences of variation in human cytokine production in health, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 54 (2018) 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2018.05.012.
- [10] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A. Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti-α5β1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014) 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.

- [11] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-Integrin Circumvents the Antiproliferative Effects of Trastuzumab in Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2-Positive Breast Cancer, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1591.
- [12] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S. a Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [13] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen, Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [14] M.H. Ross, A.K. Esser, G.C. Fox, A.H. Schmieder, X. Yang, G. Hu, D. Pan, X. Su, Y. Xu, D. V Novack, T. Walsh, G.A. Colditz, G.H. Lukaszewicz, E. Cordell, J. Novack, J.A.J. Fitzpatrick, D.L. Waning, K.S. Mohammad, T.A. Guise, G.M. Lanza, K.N. Weilbaecher, Bone-Induced Expression of Integrin β3 Enables Targeted Nanotherapy of Breast Cancer Metastases., Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 6299– 6312. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1225.
- [15] A. Bianchi-Smiraglia, S. Paesante, A. V. Bakin, Integrin β5 contributes to the tumorigenic potential of breast cancer cells through the Src-FAK and MEK-ERK signaling pathways, Oncogene. 32 (2013) 3049–3058. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.320.
- [16] M. Abdel-Ghany, H.C. Cheng, R.C. Elble, B.U. Pauli, The Breast Cancer β4 Integrin and Endothelial Human CLCA2 Mediate Lung Metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 25438–25446. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100478200.
- [17] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [18] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [19] T. Nishikata, M. Ishikawa, T. Matsuyama, K. Takamatsu, T. Fukuhara, Y. Konishi, Primary culture of breast cancer: A model system for epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells, Anticancer Res. 33 (2013) 2867–2874.
- [20] R. Edmondson, J.J. Broglie, A.F. Adcock, L. Yang, Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors, Assay Drug Dev. Technol. 12 (2014) 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573.
- [21] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M.

Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.

- [22] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [23] J.S. Damiano, L. a Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leuk. Off. J. Leuk. Soc. Am. Leuk. Res. Fund, U.K. 15 (2001) 1232– 1239. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [24] C.J. Clarke, T.L. Holyoake, Preclinical approaches in chronic myeloid leukemia: from cells to systems, Exp. Hematol. 47 (2017) 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2016.11.005.
- [25] D. Nisakar, M. Vij, T. Pandey, P. Natarajan, R. Sharma, S. Mishra, M. Ganguli, Deciphering the Role of Chondroitin Sulfate in Increasing the Transfection Efficiency of Amphipathic Peptide-Based Nanocomplexes, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 5 (2019) 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00069.
- [26] M.F. Cury-Boaventura, C. Pompéia, R. Curi, Comparative toxicity of oleic acid and linoleic acid on Jurkat cells, Clin. Nutr. 23 (2004) 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2003.12.004.
- [27] W. Chen, M.C. Harbeck, W. Zhang, J.R. Jacobson, MicroRNA regulation of integrins, Transl. Res. 162 (2013) 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2013.06.008.
- [28] S.K. Pore, A. Choudhary, B. Rathore, A. Ganguly, P. Sujitha, C. Ganesh Kumar, S.B. Agawane, J.M. Kumar, V. Scaria, B. Pillai, R. Banerjee, Hsp90-targeted miRNA-liposomal formulation for systemic antitumor effect, Biomaterials. 34 (2013) 6804–6817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.05.054.

REFERENCES

A. REFERENCES CHAPTER 1

- [1] Cooper GM, The Development and Causes of Cancer, in: Cell A Mol. Approach. 2nd Ed., Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates, 2000.
- [2] Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Statistics; 2019, (n.d.).
- [3] M. Arruebo, N. Vilaboa, B. Sáez-Gutierrez, J. Lambea, A. Tres, M. Valladares, A. González-Fernández, Assessment of the evolution of cancer treatment therapies, Cancers (Basel). 3 (2011) 3279–3330. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3033279.
- [4] A. Fire, S. Xu, M.K. Montgomery, S.A. Kostas, S.E. Driver, C.C. Mello, Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans, Nature. 391 (1998) 806–811. https://doi.org/10.1038/35888.
- [5] S.M. Elbashir, J. Harborth, W. Lendeckel, A. Yalcin, K. Weber, T. Tuschl, Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells, Nature. 411 (2001) 494–498. https://doi.org/10.1038/35078107.
- [6] X. Chen, L.S. Mangala, C. Rodriguez-Aguayo, X. Kong, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, RNA interference-based therapy and its delivery systems, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 37 (2018) 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-017-9717-6.
- [7] D.H. Kim, J.J. Rossi, Strategies for silencing human disease using RNA interference., Nat. Rev. Genet. 8 (2007) 173–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2006.
- [8] J.M. Walker, W. Min, RNA Interference, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-588-0.
- [9] G.L. Huang, J. Sun, Y. Lu, Y. Liu, H. Cao, H. Zhang, G.A. Calin, MiR-200 family and cancer: From a meta-analysis view, Mol. Aspects Med. 70 (2019) 57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2019.09.005.
- [10] Y. Peng, C.M. Croce, The role of microRNAs in human cancer, Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 1 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2015.4.
- [11] J.S. Vorhies, D.D. Rao, N. Senzer, J. Nemunaitis, siRNA Versus shRNA for Personalized Cancer Therapy: Mechanisms and Applications., Springer New York, New York, NY, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6102-0.
- [12] Z. Peng, C. Wang, E. Fang, X. Lu, G. Wang, Q. Tong, Co-delivery of doxorubicin and SATB1 shRNA by Thermosensitive Magnetic Cationic Liposomes for Gastric Cancer Therapy, PLoS One. 9 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092924.
- [13] Q. Hu, W. Li, X. Hu, Q. Hu, J. Shen, X. Jin, J. Zhou, G. Tang, P.K. Chu, Synergistic

treatment of ovarian cancer by co-delivery of survivin shRNA and paclitaxel via supramolecular micellar assembly, Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 6580–6591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.05.060.

- [14] E. Kim, Y. Jung, H. Choi, J. Yang, J.S. Suh, Y.M. Huh, K. Kim, S. Haam, Prostate cancer cell death produced by the co-delivery of Bcl-xL shRNA and doxorubicin using an aptamer-conjugated polyplex, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 4592–4599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.02.030.
- [15] W.M. Pardridge, shRNA and siRNA delivery to the brain, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 59 (2007) 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.03.008.
- [16] H. Bai, G.M.S. Lester, L.C. Petishnok, D.A. Dean, Cytoplasmic transport and nuclear import of plasmid DNA, Biosci. Rep. 37 (2017) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20160616.
- [17] D. Grimm, K.L. Streetz, C.L. Jopling, T.A. Storm, K. Pandey, C.R. Davis, P. Marion, F. Salazar, M.A. Kay, Fatality in mice due to oversaturation of cellular microRNA/short hairpin RNA pathways, Nature. 441 (2006) 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04791.
- [18] A.L. Jackson, J. Burchard, J. Schelter, B.N. Chau, M. Cleary, L. Lim, P.S. Linsley, Widespread siRNA "off-target" transcript silencing mediated by seed region sequence complementarity, Rna. 12 (2006) 1179–1187. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.25706.
- [19] D. Adams, A. Gonzalez-Duarte, W.D. O'Riordan, C.-C. Yang, M. Ueda, A. V. Kristen, I. Tournev, H.H. Schmidt, T. Coelho, J.L. Berk, K.-P. Lin, G. Vita, S. Attarian, V. Planté-Bordeneuve, M.M. Mezei, J.M. Campistol, J. Buades, T.H. Brannagan, B.J. Kim, J. Oh, Y. Parman, Y. Sekijima, P.N. Hawkins, S.D. Solomon, M. Polydefkis, P.J. Dyck, P.J. Gandhi, S. Goyal, J. Chen, A.L. Strahs, S. V. Nochur, M.T. Sweetser, P.P. Garg, A.K. Vaishnaw, J.A. Gollob, O.B. Suhr, Patisiran, an RNAi Therapeutic, for Hereditary Transthyretin Amyloidosis, N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (2018) 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1716153.
- [20] J.M. Benitez-Del-Castillo, J. Moreno-Montañés, I. Jiménez-Alfaro, F.J. Muñoz-Negrete, K. Turman, K. Palumaa, B. Sádaba, M.V. González, V. Ruz, B. Vargas, C. Pañeda, T. Martínez, A.M. Bleau, A.I. Jimenez, Safety and efficacy clinical trials for SYL1001, a novel short interfering RNA for the treatment of dry eye disease, Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 57 (2016) 6447–6454. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.16-20303.
- [21] K.K. Ray, U. Landmesser, L.A. Leiter, D. Kallend, R. Dufour, M. Karakas, T. Hall, R.P.T. Troquay, T. Turner, F.L.J. Visseren, P. Wijngaard, R.S. Wright, J.J.P.

Kastelein, Inclisiran in Patients at High Cardiovascular Risk with Elevated LDL Cholesterol, N. Engl. J. Med. 376 (2017) 1430–1440. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1615758.

- [22] A. Liebow, X. Li, T. Racie, J. Hettinger, B.R. Bettencourt, N. Najafian, P. Haslett, K. Fitzgerald, R.P. Holmes, D. Erbe, W. Querbes, J. Knight, An investigational RNAi therapeutic targeting glycolate oxidase reduces oxalate production in models of primary hyperoxaluria, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28 (2017) 494–503. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2016030338.
- [23] B. Schultheis, D. Strumberg, A. Santel, C. Vank, F. Gebhardt, O. Keil, C. Lange, K. Giese, J. Kaufmann, M. Khan, J. Drevs, First-in-human phase I study of the liposomal RNA interference therapeutic Atu027 in patients with advanced solid tumors, J. Clin. Oncol. 32 (2014) 4141–4148. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.55.0376.
- [24] B. Schultheis, D. Strumberg, J. Kuhlmann, M. Wolf, K. Link, T. Seufferlein, J. Kaufmann, F. Gebhardt, N. Bruyniks, U. Pelzer, A phase Ib/IIa study of combination therapy with gemcitabine and Atu027 in patients with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma., J. Clin. Oncol. 34 (2016) 385–385. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4 suppl.385.
- [25] T. Golan, E.Z. Khvalevsky, A. Hubert, R.M. Gabai, N. Hen, A. Segal, A. Domb, G. Harari, E. Ben David, S. Raskin, Y. Goldes, E. Goldin, R. Eliakim, M. Lahav, Y. Kopleman, A. Dancour, A. Shemi, E. Galun, RNAi therapy targeting KRAS in combination with chemotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer patients, Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 24560–24570. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4183.
- [26] M.J. Wagner, R. Mitra, M.J. Mcarthur, W. Baze, K. Barnhart, S.Y. Wu, C. Rodriguez-Aguayo, X. Zhang, R.L. Coleman, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, Preclinical mammalian safety studies of EPHARNA (DOPC Nanoliposomal EphA2-Targeted siRNA), Mol. Cancer Ther. 16 (2017) 1114–1123. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0541.
- [27] P. Triozzi, M. Kooshki, A. Alistar, R. Bitting, A. Neal, G. Lametschwandtner, H. Loibner, Phase I clinical trial of adoptive cellular immunotherapy with APN401 in patients with solid tumors, J. Immunother. Cancer. 3 (2015) P175. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-1426-3-s2-p175.
- [28] M.J. Demeure, T. Armaghany, S. Ejadi, R.K. Ramanathan, A. Elfiky, J.R. Strosberg, D.C. Smith, T. Whitsett, W.S. Liang, S. Sekar, J.D. Carpten, P. Fredlund, D. Niforos, A. Dye, S. Gahir, S.C. Semple, M.M. Kowalski, A phase I/II study of TKM-080301, a PLK1-targeted RNAi in patients with adrenocortical cancer (ACC)., J. Clin. Oncol. 34 (2016) 2547. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.2547.

- [29] A.M. Varghese, C. Ang, C.J. Dimaio, M.M. Javle, M. Gutierrez, N. Yarom, S.M. Stemmer, T. Golan, R. Geva, V. Semenisty, I. Khamaysi, R. Ligresti, S. Rotkopf, R. Gabai-Malka, E. Galun, A. Shemi, M. Schattner, E.M. O'Reilly, A phase II study of siG12D-LODER in combination with chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer (PROTACT)., J. Clin. Oncol. 38 (2020) TPS4672–TPS4672. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15 suppl.TPS4672.
- [30] B. Thapa, R. Kc, M. Bahniuk, J. Schmitke, M. Hitt, A. Lavasanifar, O. Kutsch, D.W. Seol, H. Uludag, Breathing New Life into TRAIL for Breast Cancer Therapy: Co-Delivery of pTRAIL and Complementary siRNAs Using Lipopolymers, Hum. Gene Ther. 30 (2019) 1531–1546. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2019.096.
- [31] A. Babu, Q. Wang, R. Muralidharan, M. Shanker, A. Munshi, R. Ramesh, Chitosan coated polylactic acid nanoparticle-mediated combinatorial delivery of cisplatin and siRNA/Plasmid DNA chemosensitizes cisplatin-resistant human ovarian cancer cells, Mol. Pharm. 11 (2014) 2720–2733. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp500259e.
- [32] Y. Huang, Q. Cheng, J.L. Ji, S. Zheng, L. Du, L. Meng, Y. Wu, D. Zhao, X. Wang, L. Lai, H. Cao, K. Xiao, S. Gao, Z. Liang, Pharmacokinetic behaviors of intravenously administered siRNA in glandular tissues, Theranostics. 6 (2016) 1528–1541. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.15246.
- [33] Y. Huang, J. Hong, S. Zheng, Y. Ding, S. Guo, H. Zhang, X. Zhang, Q. Du, Z. Liang, Elimination pathways of systemically delivered siRNA, Mol. Ther. 19 (2011) 381– 385. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.266.
- [34] D. Vocelle, C. Chan, S.P. Walton, Endocytosis Controls siRNA Efficiency: Implications for siRNA Delivery Vehicle Design and Cell-Specific Targeting, Nucleic Acid Ther. 30 (2020) 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1089/nat.2019.0804.
- [35] D.W. Bartlett, M.E. Davis, Effect of siRNA nuclease stability on the in vitro and in vivo kinetics of siRNA-mediated gene silencing., Biotechnol. Bioeng. 97 (2007) 909–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21285.
- [36] B. Mansoori, A. Mohammadi, S. Shir Jang, B. Baradaran, Mechanisms of immune system activation in mammalians by small interfering RNA (siRNA), Artif. Cells, Nanomedicine Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 1589–1596. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2015.1102738.
- [37] E. Huntzinger, E. Izaurralde, Gene silencing by microRNAs: Contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay, Nat. Rev. Genet. 12 (2011) 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2936.
- [38] J.E. Zuckerman, M.E. Davis, Clinical experiences with systemically therapeutics in cancer, Nat. Publ. Gr. 14 (2015) 843–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4685.

- [39] A.L. Jackson, P.S. Linsley, Recognizing and avoiding siRNA off-target effects for target identification and therapeutic application., Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9 (2010) 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3010.
- [40] D. Kim, M.A. Behlke, S.D. Rose, M. Chang, S. Choi, J.J. Rossi, Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy., Nat. Biotechnol. 23 (2005) 222–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1051.
- [41] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8 1.
- [42] M.A.G. Raja, H. Katas, M.W. Amjad, Design, mechanism, delivery and therapeutics of canonical and Dicer-substrate siRNA., Asian J. Pharm. Sci. 14 (2019) 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2018.12.005.
- [43] R. Bholakant, H. Qian, J. Zhang, X. Huang, D. Huang, J. Feijen, Y. Zhong, W. Chen, Recent Advances of Polycationic siRNA Vectors for Cancer Therapy, Biomacromolecules. 21 (2020) 2966–2982. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.0c00438.
- [44] O. Boussif, F. Lezoualc'h, M.A. Zanta, M.D. Mergny, D. Scherman, B. Demeneix, J.P. Behr, A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7297–301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.16.7297.
- [45] A. Zakeri, M.A.J. Kouhbanani, N. Beheshtkhoo, V. Beigi, S.M. Mousavi, S.A.R. Hashemi, A. Karimi Zade, A.M. Amani, A. Savardashtaki, E. Mirzaei, S. Jahandideh, A. Movahedpour, Polyethylenimine-based nanocarriers in co-delivery of drug and gene: a developing horizon, Nano Rev. Exp. 9 (2018) 1488497. https://doi.org/10.1080/20022727.2018.1488497.
- [46] N.D. Sonawane, F.C. Szoka, A.S. Verkman, Chloride Accumulation and Swelling in Endosomes Enhances DNA Transfer by Polyamine-DNA Polyplexes, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 44826–44831. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M308643200.
- [47] M. Günther, J. Lipka, A. Malek, D. Gutsch, W. Kreyling, A. Aigner, Polyethylenimines for RNAi-mediated gene targeting in vivo and siRNA delivery to the lung, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77 (2011) 438–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.11.007.
- [48] P. Zhang, N. Xu, L. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Wang, K. Li, Z. Zeng, X. Wang, X. Zhang, C. Bai, A linear polyethylenimine mediated siRNA-based therapy targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor in SPC-A1 xenograft mice., Transl. Respir. Med. 1 (2013) 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2213-0802-1-2.

- [49] T. Bieber, H.P. Elsässer, Preparation of a low molecular weight polyethylenimine for efficient cell transfection, Biotechniques. 30 (2001) 74–81. https://doi.org/10.2144/01301st03.
- [50] M. Rezaee, L. Gholami, M.S. Gildeh, M. Ramezani, R. Kazemi Oskuee, Charge reduction: an efficient strategy to reduce toxicity and increase the transfection efficiency of high molecular weight polyethylenimine, J. Pharm. Investig. 49 (2019) 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-018-0388-2.
- [51] K. Kunath, A. Von Harpe, D. Fischer, H. Petersen, U. Bickel, K. Voigt, T. Kissel, Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery: Comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine, J. Control. Release. 89 (2003) 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00076-2.
- [52] D. Meneksedag-Erol, R.B. Kc, T. Tang, H. Uludag, A Delicate Balance When Substituting a Small Hydrophobe onto Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine to Improve Its Nucleic Acid Delivery Efficiency, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 7 (2015) 24822–24832. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b07929.
- [53] B. Thapa, S. Plianwong, K. Remant Bahadur, B. Rutherford, H. Uludai, Small hydrophobe substitution on polyethylenimine for plasmid DNA delivery: Optimal substitution is critical for effective delivery, Acta Biomater. 33 (2016) 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.025.
- [54] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, P. Mahdipoor, C.Y.M. Hsu, H. Uludağ, Effective downregulation of Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP) by siRNA delivery using lipid-substituted aliphatic polymers, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 81 (2012) 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.01.011.
- [55] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludağ, Impact of Lipid Substitution on Assembly and Delivery of siRNA by Cationic Polymers, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 662–672. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201000402.
- [56] H.M. Aliabadi, K.C.R. Bahadur, E. Bousoik, R. Hall, A. Barbarino, B. Thapa, M. Coyle, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, A systematic comparison of lipopolymers for siRNA delivery to multiple breast cancer cell lines: In vitro studies, Acta Biomater. 102 (2020) 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.036.
- [57] A. Falamarzian, H.M. Aliabadi, O. Molavi, J.M. Seubert, A. Lavasanifar, R. Lai, H. Uluda, Effective down-regulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) by polyplexes of siRNA and lipid-substituted polyethyleneimine for sensitization of breast tumor cells to conventional chemotherapy, 3 (2013) 3216–

3228. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34992.

- [58] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [59] J. Valencia-Serna, H. Gul-Uludag, P. Mahdipoor, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, Investigating siRNA delivery to chronic myeloid leukemia K562 cells with lipophilic polymers for therapeutic BCR-ABL down-regulation, J. Control. Release. 172 (2013) 495– 503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.05.014.
- [60] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [61] S. Plianwong, B. Thapa, R.B. Kc, C. Kucharski, T. Rojanarata, H. Uludağ, Enabling Combinatorial siRNA Delivery against Apoptosis-Related Proteins with Linoleic Acid and α-Linoleic Acid Substituted Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimines, Pharm. Res. 37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-2770-9.
- [62] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [63] H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, Polymeric delivery of siRNA for dual silencing of Mcl-1 and P-glycoprotein and apoptosis induction in drug-resistant breast cancer cells., Cancer Gene Ther. 20 (2013) 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2013.8.
- [64] M.B. Parmar, B.E. Arteaga Ballesteros, T. Fu, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Multiple siRNA delivery against cell cycle and anti-apoptosis proteins using lipid-substituted polyethylenimine in triplenegative breast cancer and nonmalignant cells, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A. 104 (2016) 3031–3044. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35846.
- [65] H. Gul-Uludağ, J. Valencia-Serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-Curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, H. Uludağ, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34+ acute myeloid leukemia cells., Leuk. Res. 38 (2014) 1299–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [66] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.

- [67] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [68] R. Cheng, F. Feng, F. Meng, C. Deng, J. Feijen, Z. Zhong, Glutathione-responsive nano-vehicles as a promising platform for targeted intracellular drug and gene delivery, J. Control. Release. 152 (2011) 2–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.01.030.
- [69] K. Park, S.W. Hong, W. Hur, M.Y. Lee, J.A. Yang, S.W. Kim, S.K. Yoon, S.K. Hahn, Target specific systemic delivery of TGF-β siRNA/(PEI-SS)-g-HA complex for the treatment of liver cirrhosis, Biomaterials. 32 (2011) 4951–4958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.03.044.
- [70] L. Zhang, Z. Chen, Y. Li, Dual-degradable disulfide-containing PEI-Pluronic/DNA polyplexes: Transfection efficiency and balancing protection and DNA release, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 8 (2013) 3689–3701. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S49595.
- [71] F.M. Veronese, A. Mero, The impact of PEGylation on biological therapies., BioDrugs. 22 (2008) 315–29. https://doi.org/10.2165/00063030-200822050-00004.
- [72] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [73] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [74] G. Calixto, A.C. Yoshii, H. Rocha E Silva, B. Stringhetti Ferreira Cury, M. Chorilli, Polyacrylic acid polymers hydrogels intended to topical drug delivery: Preparation and characterization, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 20 (2015) 490–496. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2014.882941.
- [75] J.H. Ke, T.H. Young, Multilayered polyplexes with the endosomal buffering polycation in the core and the cell uptake-favorable polycation in the outer layer for enhanced gene delivery, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 9366–9372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.066.

- [76] W.C. Tseng, T.Y. Fang, L.Y. Su, C.H. Tang, Dependence of transgene expression and the relative buffering capacity of dextran-grafted polyethylenimine, Mol. Pharm. 2 (2005) 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp050007t.
- [77] D. Jiang, A.K. Salem, Optimized dextran-polyethylenimine conjugates are efficient non-viral vectors with reduced cytotoxicity when used in serum containing environments., Int. J. Pharm. 427 (2012) 71–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.10.032.
- [78] W.C. Tseng, C.H. Tang, T.Y. Fang, The role of dextran conjugation in transfection mediated by dextran-grafted polyethylenimine, J. Gene Med. 6 (2004) 895–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.572.
- [79] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Size matters: Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly(ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45 (1999) 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::AID-JBM15>3.0.CO;2-Q.
- [80] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Poly(ethylenimine)-mediated gene delivery affects endothelial cell function and viability, Biomaterials. 22 (2001) 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(00)00203-9.
- [81] H. Lv, S. Zhang, B. Wang, S. Cui, J. Yan, Toxicity of cationic lipids and cationic polymers in gene delivery, J. Control. Release. 114 (2006) 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.04.014.
- [82] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [83] R. Kazemi Oskuee, M. Dabbaghi, L. Gholami, S. Taheri-Bojd, M. Balali-Mood, S.H. Mousavi, B. Malaekeh-Nikouei, Investigating the influence of polyplex size on toxicity properties of polyethylenimine mediated gene delivery, Life Sci. 197 (2018) 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.02.008.
- [84] E. Fröhlich, The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 7 (2012) 5577–5591. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S36111.
- [85] D.M. Domański, B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, Influence of PAMAM dendrimers on human red blood cells, in: Bioelectrochemistry, 2004: pp. 189–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2003.09.023.
- [86] P.W. Buehler, F. D'Agnillo, Toxicological consequences of extracellular hemoglobin: Biochemical and physiological perspectives, Antioxidants Redox

Signal. 12 (2010) 275–291. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2799.

- [87] A.J. Schroit, J.W. Madsen, Y. Tanaka, In vivo recognition and clearance of red blood cells containing phosphatidylserine in their plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 5131–5138.
- [88] B.C. Evans, C.E. Nelson, S.S. Yu, K.R. Beavers, A.J. Kim, H. Li, H.M. Nelson, T.D. Giorgio, C.L. Duvall, Ex vivo red blood cell hemolysis assay for the evaluation of pH-responsive endosomolytic agents for cytosolic delivery of biomacromolecular drugs., J. Vis. Exp. (2013) 7–11. https://doi.org/10.3791/50166.
- [89] T. Ramasamy, Z.S. Haidar, T.H. Tran, J.Y. Choi, J.H. Jeong, B.S. Shin, H.G. Choi, C.S. Yong, J.O. Kim, Layer-by-layer assembly of liposomal nanoparticles with PEGylated polyelectrolytes enhances systemic delivery of multiple anticancer drugs, Acta Biomater. 10 (2014) 5116–5127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.08.021.
- [90] R. Wadhwa, T. Aggarwal, N. Thapliyal, A. Kumar, Priya, P. Yadav, V. Kumari, B.S.C. Reddy, P. Chandra, P.K. Maurya, Red blood cells as an efficient in vitro model for evaluating the efficacy of metallic nanoparticles., 3 Biotech. 9 (2019) 279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-019-1807-4.
- [91] D.S. Shah, T. Sakthivel, I. Toth, A.T. Florence, A.F. Wilderspin, DNA transfection and transfected cell viability using amphipathic asymmetric dendrimers, Int. J. Pharm. 208 (2000) 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(00)00534-2.
- [92] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.
- [93] W. Ai, H. Li, N. Song, L. Li, H. Chen, Optimal method to stimulate cytokine production and its use in immunotoxicity assessment, Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 10 (2013) 3834–3842. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10093834.
- [94] J.R. Tisoncik, M.J. Korth, C.P. Simmons, J. Farrar, T.R. Martin, M.G. Katze, Into the Eye of the Cytokine Storm, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76 (2012) 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.05015-11.
- [95] J. Garcia Borrega, P. Gödel, M.A. Rüger, Ö.A. Onur, A. Shimabukuro-Vornhagen, M. Kochanek, B. Böll, In the eye of the storm: Immune-mediated toxicities associated with car-t cell therapy, HemaSphere. 3 (2019) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1097/HS9.000000000000191.
- [96] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and

Research, Guidance for industry: Immunogenicity assessment for therapeutic protein products, FDA Maryl. (2014).

- [97] M.E. Bonnet, P. Erbacher, A.L. Bolcato-Bellemin, Systemic delivery of DNA or siRNA mediated by linear polyethylenimine (L-PEI) does not induce an inflammatory response, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 2972–2982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9693-1.
- [98] M. Grzelinski, B. Urban-Klein, T. Martens, K. Lamszus, U. Bakowsky, S. Höbel, F. Czubayko, A. Aigner, RNA interference-mediated gene silencing of pleiotrophin through polyethylenimine-complexed small interfering RNAs in vivo exerts antitumoral effects in glioblastoma xenografts, Hum. Gene Ther. 17 (2006) 751–766. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2006.17.751.
- [99] S. Kawakami, Y. Ito, P. Charoensit, F. Yamashita, M. Hashida, Evaluation of proinflammatory cytokine production induced by linear and branched polyethylenimine/plasmid DNA complexes in mice, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 317 (2006) 1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.100669.
- [100] A. Gautam, C.L. Densmore, J.C. Waldrep, Pulmonary cytokine responses associated with PEI-DNA aerosol gene therapy, Gene Ther. 8 (2001) 254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301369.
- [101] R.E. Rossi, I. Parisi, E.J. Despott, A.K. Burroughs, J. O'Beirne, D. Conte, M.I. Hamilton, C.D. Murray, Anti-tumour necrosis factor agent and liver injury: Literature review, recommendations for management, World J. Gastroenterol. 20 (2014) 17352–17359. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i46.17352.
- [102] S. Zhao, J. Jiang, Y. Jing, W. Liu, X. Yang, X. Hou, L. Gao, L. Wei, The concentration of tumor necrosis factor-α determines its protective or damaging effect on liver injury by regulating Yap activity, Cell Death Dis. 11 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2264-z.
- [103] M.J. Page, J. Bester, E. Pretorius, The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 1812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20220-8.
- [104] A. Ferrajoli, M.J. Keating, T. Manshouri, F.J. Giles, A. Dey, Z. Estrov, C.A. Koller, R. Kurzrock, D.A. Thomas, S. Faderl, S. Lerner, S. O'Brien, M. Albitar, The clinical significance of tumor necrosis factor-α plasma level in patients having chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Blood. 100 (2002) 1215–1219. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v100.4.1215.h81602001215_1215_1219.
- [105] P.W. Szlosarek, M.J. Grimshaw, H. Kulbe, J.L. Wilson, G.D. Wilbanks, F. Burke, F.R. Balkwill, Expression and regulation of tumor necrosis factor α in normal and

malignant ovarian epithelium, Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0303.

- [106] V. Michalaki, K. Syrigos, P. Charles, J. Waxman, Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-α correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer, Br. J. Cancer. 90 (2004) 2312–2316. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601814.
- [107] S. Yuan, P. Carter, M. Bruzelius, M. Vithayathil, S. Kar, A.M. Mason, A. Lin, S. Burgess, S.C. Larsson, Effects of tumour necrosis factor on cardiovascular disease and cancer: A two-sample Mendelian randomization study, EBioMedicine. 59 (2020) 102956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102956.
- [108] A.W. Li, M.C. Sobral, S. Badrinath, Y. Choi, A. Graveline, A.G. Stafford, J.C. Weaver, M.O. Dellacherie, T.-Y. Shih, O.A. Ali, J. Kim, K.W. Wucherpfennig, D.J. Mooney, A facile approach to enhance antigen response for personalized cancer vaccination, Nat. Mater. 17 (2018) 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-018-0028-2.
- [109] A. Alshamsan, S. Hamdy, J. Samuel, A.O.S. El-Kadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, The induction of tumor apoptosis in B16 melanoma following STAT3 siRNA delivery with a lipid-substituted polyethylenimine, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 1420– 1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.11.003.
- [110] E. Beurel, R.S. Jope, Lipopolysaccharide-induced interleukin-6 production is controlled by glycogen synthase kinase-3 and STAT3 in the brain, J. Neuroinflammation. 6 (2009) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-9.
- [111] N.L. Sparkman, J.B. Buchanan, J.R.R. Heyen, J. Chen, J.L. Beverly, R.W. Johnson, Interleukin-6 facilitates lipopolysaccharide-induced disruption in working memory and expression of other proinflammatory cytokines in hippocampal neuronal cell layers, J. Neurosci. 26 (2006) 10709–10716. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3376-06.2006.
- [112] L. Forcina, C. Miano, B.M. Scicchitano, E. Rizzuto, M.G. Berardinelli, F. De Benedetti, L. Pelosi, A. Musarò, Increased Circulating Levels of Interleukin-6 Affect the Redox Balance in Skeletal Muscle, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2019 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3018584.
- [113] M. Rodrigo Garzón, P. Berraondo, J. Crettaz, L. Ochoa, M. Vera, J.J. Lasarte, A. Vales, N. Van Rooijen, J. Ruiz, J. Prieto, J. Zulueta, G. González-Aseguinolaza, Induction of gp120-specific protective immune responses by genetic vaccination with linear polyethylenimine-plasmid complex, Vaccine. 23 (2005) 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.09.009.

- [114] S. Ferrari, A. Pettenazzo, N. Garbati, F. Zacchello, J.P. Behr, M. Scarpa, Polyethylenimine shows properties of interest for cystic fibrosis gene therapy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gene Struct. Expr. 1447 (1999) 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4781(99)00153-0.
- [115] F.C. Lin, M. Karwan, B. Saleh, D.L. Hodge, T. Chan, K.C. Boelte, J.R. Keller, H.A. Young, IFN-γ causes aplastic anemia by altering hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell composition and disrupting lineage differentiation, Blood. 124 (2014) 3699–3708. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-549527.
- [116] J.Y. Lee, K.E. Sullivan, Gamma interferon and lipopolysaccharide interact at the level of transcription to induce tumor necrosis factor alpha expression, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 2847–2852. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.5.2847-2852.2001.
- [117] D.L. Hodge, C. Berthet, V. Coppola, W. Kastenmüller, M.D. Buschman, P.M. Schaughency, H. Shirota, A.J. Scarzello, J.J. Subleski, M.R. Anver, J.R. Ortaldo, F. Lin, D.A. Reynolds, M.E. Sanford, P. Kaldis, L. Tessarollo, D.M. Klinman, H.A. Young, IFN-gamma AU-rich element removal promotes chronic IFN-gamma expression and autoimmunity in mice, J. Autoimmun. 53 (2014) 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2014.02.003.
- [118] Y.F. He, X.H. Wang, G.M. Zhang, H.T. Chen, H. Zhang, Z.H. Feng, Sustained lowlevel expression of interferon-γ promotes tumor development: Potential insights in tumor prevention and tumor immunotherapy, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 54 (2005) 891–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0654-1.
- [119] M. Mojic, K. Takeda, Y. Hayakawa, The dark side of IFN-γ: Its role in promoting cancer immunoevasion, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010089.
- [120] A. Masjedi, V. Hashemi, M. Hojjat-Farsangi, G. Ghalamfarsa, G. Azizi, M. Yousefi, F. Jadidi-Niaragh, The significant role of interleukin-6 and its signaling pathway in the immunopathogenesis and treatment of breast cancer, Biomed. Pharmacother. 108 (2018) 1415–1424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.177.
- [121] L. Song, M.A. Smith, P. Doshi, K. Sasser, W. Fulp, S. Altiok, E.B. Haura, Antitumor efficacy of the anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) antibody siltuximab in mouse xenograft models of lung cancer, J. Thorac. Oncol. 9 (2014) 974–982. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.000000000000193.
- [122] V. Kumar, J. Qin, Y. Jiang, R.G. Duncan, B. Brigham, S. Fishman, J.K. Nair, A. Akinc, S.A. Barros, P. V. Kasperkovitz, Shielding of lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery: Impact on physicochemical properties, cytokine induction, and efficacy, Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids. 3 (2014) e210. https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.61.

- [123] K. Benihoud, S. Esselin, D. Descamps, B. Jullienne, B. Salone, P. Bobé, D. Bonardelle, E. Connault, P. Opolon, I. Saggio, M. Perricaudet, Respective roles of TNF-α and IL-6 in the immune response-elicited by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in mice, Gene Ther. 14 (2007) 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302885.
- [124] A.G. Waks, E.P. Winer, Breast Cancer Treatment, JAMA. 321 (2019) 288. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323.
- [125] D. Barkan, H. Kleinman, J.L. Simmons, H. Asmussen, A.K. Kamaraju, M.J. Hoenorhoff, Z.Y. Liu, S. V. Costes, E.H. Cho, S. Lockett, C. Khanna, A.F. Chambers, J.E. Green, Inhibition of metastatic outgrowth from single dormant tumor cells by targeting the cytoskeleton, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 6241–6250. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6849.
- [126] Y. Sun, L. Ma, The emerging molecular machinery and therapeutic targets of metastasis, 36 (2015) 349–359.
- [127] J.Y. Krzeszinski, Y. Wan, New therapeutic targets for cancer bone metastasis, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 36 (2015) 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.04.006.
- [128] G. Bendas, L. Borsig, Cancer cell adhesion and metastasis: Selectins, integrins, and the inhibitory potential of heparins, Int. J. Cell Biol. 2012 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/676731.
- [129] L. Shapiro, W.I. Weis, Structure and biochemistry of cadherins and catenins., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1 (2009) 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003053.
- [130] D.M. Li, Y.M. Feng, Signaling mechanism of cell adhesion molecules in breast cancer metastasis: Potential therapeutic targets, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 128 (2011) 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1499-x.
- [131] P.J. Kowalski, M.A. Rubin, C.G. Kleer, E-cadherin expression in primary carcinomas of the breast and its distant metastases, Breast Cancer Res. 5 (2003) 217–222. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr651.
- [132] E. Matteucci, E. Ridolfi, M.A. Desiderio, Hepatocyte growth factor differently influences Met-E-cadherin phosphorylation and downstream signaling pathway in two models of breast cells, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 63 (2006) 2016–2026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6137-0.
- [133] R.B. Hazan, G.R. Phillips, R.F. Qiao, L. Norton, S.A. Aaronson, Exogenous expression of N-cadherin in breast cancer cells induces cell migration, invasion, and

metastasis, J. Cell Biol. 148 (2000) 779-790. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.148.4.779.

- [134] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [135] X. Yin, T. Xiang, J. Mu, H. Mao, L. Li, X. Huang, C. Li, Y. Feng, X. Luo, Y. Wei, W. Peng, G. Ren, Q. Tao, Protocadherin 17 functions as a tumor suppressor suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling and cell metastasis and is frequently methylated in breast cancer, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 51720–51732. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10102.
- [136] G. Berx, F. van Roy, Involvement of members of the cadherin superfamily in cancer., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003129.
- [137] D.S. Harburger, D.A. Calderwood, Integrin signalling at a glance, J. Cell Sci. 122 (2009) 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.018093.
- [138] C.K. Miranti, J.S. Brugge, Sensing the environment: a historical perspective on integrin signal transduction., Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) E83–E90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0402-e83.
- [139] R.O. Hynes, Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines., Cell. 110 (2002) 673–87.
- [140] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [141] P.B. dos Santos, J.S. Zanetti, a Ribeiro-Silva, E.I. Beltrao, Beta 1 integrin predicts survival in breast cancer: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study, Diagn Pathol. 7 (2012) 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-7-104.
- [142] D. Barkan, L.H. El Touny, A.M. Michalowski, J.A. Smith, I. Chu, A.S. Davis, J.D. Webster, S. Hoover, R.M. Simpson, J. Gauldie, J.E. Green, Metastatic growth from dormant cells induced by a Col-I-enriched fibrotic environment, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 5706–5716. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2356.
- [143] D.E. White, N. a Kurpios, D. Zuo, J. a Hassell, S. Blaess, U. Mueller, W.J. Muller, Targeted disruption of beta1-integrin in a transgenic mouse model of human breast cancer reveals an essential role in mammary tumor induction., Cancer Cell. 6 (2004) 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.06.025.
- [144] A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, C.-X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from

a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2013) 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.

- [145] P. Nisticò, F. Di Modugno, S. Spada, M.J. Bissell, β1 and β4 integrins: from breast development to clinical practice., Breast Cancer Res. 16 (2014) 459.
- [146] J. Nam, K.M. Ahmed, S. Costes, H. Zhang, Y. Onodera, A.B. Olshen, K.C. Hatanaka, R. Kinoshita, M. Ishikawa, H. Sabe, H. Shirato, C.C. Park, b 1-integrin via NF- B signaling is essential for acquisition of invasiveness in a model of radiation treated in situ breast cancer, (2013) 1–15.
- [147] L. Huck, S.M. Pontier, D.M. Zuo, W.J. Muller, beta1-integrin is dispensable for the induction of ErbB2 mammary tumors but plays a critical role in the metastatic phase of tumor progression., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2010) 15559–64. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1003034107.
- [148] S. Hou, T. Isaji, Q. Hang, S. Im, T. Fukuda, J. Gu, Distinct effects of β1 integrin on cell proliferation and cellular signaling in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 18430. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18430.
- [149] O. Pontiggia, R. Sampayo, D. Raffo, A. Motter, R. Xu, M.J. Bissell, E.B. De Kier Joffe, M. Simian, The tumor microenvironment modulates tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer: A role for soluble stromal factors and fibronectin through β1 integrin, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 133 (2012) 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1766-x.
- [150] J.M. Nam, Y. Onodera, M.J. Bissell, C.C. Park, Breast cancer cells in threedimensional culture display an enhanced radioresponse after coordinate targeting of integrin alpha5beta1 and fibronectin, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 5238–5248. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2319.
- [151] F. Aoudjit, K. Vuori, Integrin signaling inhibits paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells., Oncogene. 20 (2001) 4995–5004. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1204554.
- [152] A. V. Taubenberger, V.M. Quent, L. Thibaudeau, J.A. Clements, D.W. Hutmacher, Delineating breast cancer cell interactions with engineered bone microenvironments, J. Bone Miner. Res. 28 (2013)1399-1411. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.1875.
- [153] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, a Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 Expression in Bone-metastasizing Cancer Cells by Type I Collagen through Integrin {alpha}1{beta}1 and {alpha}2{beta}1-p38 MAPK Signaling, Anticancer Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313. https://doi.org/31/4/1307 [pii].

- [154] Y.H. Soung, J.L. Clifford, J. Chung, Crosstalk between integrin and receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in breast carcinoma progression, BMB Rep. 43 (2010) 311–318. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2010.43.5.311.
- [155] N. Rucci, M. Capulli, O.K. Olstad, P. Onnerfjord, V. Tillgren, K.M. Gautvik, D. Heinegard, A. Teti, The α2β1 binding domain of chondroadherin inhibits breast cancer-induced bone metastases and impairs primary tumour growth: A preclinical study, Cancer Lett. 358 (2015) 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.032.
- [156] A. Lundström, J. Holmbom, C. Lindqvist, T. Nordström, The role of alpha2 beta1 and alpha3 beta1 integrin receptors in the initial anchoring of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells to cortical bone matrix., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250 (1998) 735–40. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9389.
- [157] A. Nista, C. Leonetti, G. Bernardini, M. Mattioni, A. Santoni, Functional role of alpha4beta1 and alpha5beta1 integrin fibronectin receptors expressed on adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cells., Int. J. Cancer. 72 (1997) 133–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19970703)72:1<133::AID-IJC19>3.0.CO;2-K [pii].
- [158] M.H. Ross, A.K. Esser, G.C. Fox, A.H. Schmieder, X. Yang, G. Hu, D. Pan, X. Su, Y. Xu, D. V Novack, T. Walsh, G.A. Colditz, G.H. Lukaszewicz, E. Cordell, J. Novack, J.A.J. Fitzpatrick, D.L. Waning, K.S. Mohammad, T.A. Guise, G.M. Lanza, K.N. Weilbaecher, Bone-Induced Expression of Integrin β3 Enables Targeted Nanotherapy of Breast Cancer Metastases., Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 6299– 6312. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1225.
- [159] J.F. Harms, D.R. Welch, R.S. Samant, L.A. Shevde, M.E. Miele, G.R. Babu, S.F. Goldberg, V.R. Gilman, D.M. Sosnowski, D.A. Campo, C. V. Gay, L.R. Budgeon, R. Mercer, J. Jewell, A.M. Mastro, H.J. Donahue, N. Erin, M.T. Debies, W.J. Meehan, A.L. Jones, G. Mbalaviele, A. Nickols, N.D. Christensen, R. Melly, L.N. Beck, J. Kent, R.K. Rader, J.J. Kotyk, M.D. Pagel, W.F. Westlin, D.W. Griggs, A small molecule antagonist of the αvβ3 integrin suppresses MDA-MB-435 skeletal metastasis, Clin. Exp. Metastasis. 21 (2004) 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:CLIN.0000024763.69809.64.
- [160] B. Pan, J. Guo, Q. Liao, Y. Zhao, β1 and β3 integrins in breast, prostate and pancreatic cancer: A novel implication (Review), Oncol. Lett. 15 (2018) 5412–5416. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.8076.
- [161] B. Bierie, S.E. Pierce, C. Kroeger, D.G. Stover, D.R. Pattabiraman, P. Thiru, J.L. Donaher, F. Reinhardt, C.L. Chaffer, Z. Keckesova, R.A. Weinberg, Integrin-β4 identifies cancer stem cell-enriched populations of partially mesenchymal carcinoma cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114 (2017) E2337–E2346.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618298114.

- [162] R.L. Stewart, K.L. O'Connor, Clinical significance of the integrin α6β4 in human malignancies, Lab. Investig. 95 (2015) 976–986. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2015.82.
- [163] V. Folgiero, P. Avetrani, G. Bon, S.E. Di Carlo, A. Fabi, C. Nisticò, P. Vici, E. Melucci, S. Buglioni, L. Perracchio, I. Sperduti, L. Rosanò, A. Sacchi, M. Mottolese, R. Falcioni, Induction of ErbB-3 expression by α6β4 integrin contributes to tamoxifen resistance in ERβ-1-negative breast carcinomas, PLoS One. 3 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001592.
- [164] S. Lu, K. Simin, A. Khan, A.M. Mercurio, Analysis of integrin β4 expression in human breast cancer: Association with basal-like tumors and prognostic significance, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (2008) 1050–1058. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4116.
- [165] A.F. Vieira, A.S. Ribeiro, M.R. Dionísio, B. Sousa, A.R. Nobre, A. Albergaria, A. Santiago-Gómez, N. Mendes, R. Gerhard, F. Schmitt, R.B. Clarke, J. Paredes, P-cadherin signals through the laminin receptor α6β4 integrin to induce stem cell and invasive properties to basal-like breast cancer cells, Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 679–692. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.1459.
- [166] M. Abdel-Ghany, H.C. Cheng, R.C. Elble, B.U. Pauli, The Breast Cancer β4 Integrin and Endothelial Human CLCA2 Mediate Lung Metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 25438–25446. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100478200.
- [167] A. Bianchi-Smiraglia, S. Paesante, A. V. Bakin, Integrin β5 contributes to the tumorigenic potential of breast cancer cells through the Src-FAK and MEK-ERK signaling pathways, Oncogene. 32 (2013) 3049–3058. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.320.
- [168] E.A. Wayner, R.A. Orlando, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins ανβ3 and ανβ5 contribute to cell attachment to vitronectin but differentially distribute on the cell surface, J. Cell Biol. 113 (1991) 919–929. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.113.4.919.
- [169] J.M. Ricono, M. Huang, L.A. Barnes, S.K. Lau, S.M. Weis, D. David, S.K. Hanks, D.A. Cheresh, Specific crosstalk between EGFR and integrin αvβ5 promotes carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis, 69 (2010) 1383–1391.
- [170] Q. Cheng, J.T. Chang, J. Geradts, L.M. Neckers, T. Haystead, N.L. Spector, H.K. Lyerly, Amplification and high-level expression of heat shock protein 90 marks aggressive phenotypes of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 negative breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. 14 (2012) 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3168.

- [171] L.S. Kim, J.H. Kim, Heat shock protein as molecular targets for breast cancer therapeutics, J. Breast Cancer. 14 (2011) 167–174. https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2011.14.3.167.
- [172] D.R. Ciocca, S.K. Calderwood, Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. Targeting heat shock proteins in cancer. Heat shock proteins in obesity: links to cardiovascular disease., Cell Stress Chaperones. 10 (2005) 86–103.
- [173] B.X. Wu, F. Hong, Y. Zhang, E. Ansa-Addo, Z. Li, GRP94/gp96 in Cancer: Biology, Structure, Immunology, and Drug Development, in: Adv. Cancer Res., 1st ed., Elsevier Inc., 2016: pp. 165–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.acr.2015.09.001.
- [174] A.S. Sreedhar, É. Kalmár, P. Csermely, Y.F. Shen, Hsp90 isoforms: Functions, expression and clinical importance, FEBS Lett. 562 (2004) 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(04)00229-7.
- [175] Z. Milicevic, D. Bogojevic, M. Mihailovic, M. Petrovic, Z. Krivokapic, Molecular characterization of hsp90 isoforms in colorectal cancer cells and its association with tumour progression, Int. J. Oncol. 32 (2008) 1169–1178. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo_32_6_1169.
- [176] A.E. Rodríguez-Vicente, D. Quwaider, R. Benito, I. Misiewicz-Krzeminska, M. Hernández-Sánchez, A.G. de Coca, R. Fisac, J.M. Alonso, C. Zato, J.F. de Paz, J.L. García, M.E. Sarasquete, J.Á. Hernández, J.M. Corchado, M. González, N.C. Gutiérrez, J.M. Hernández-Rivas, MicroRNA-223 is a novel negative regulator of HSP90B1 in CLL, BMC Cancer. 15 (2015) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1212-2.
- [177] Y.R. Xu, Z.W. Chen, G.H. Zhang, Y.F. Xi, R.F. Sun, X.G. Wang, W.Y. Wang, F. Chai, X.F. Li, HSP90B1 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in NSCLC patients, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14321–14328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5304-7.
- [178] G. Li, M. Cai, D. Fu, K. Chen, M. Sun, Z. Cai, B. Cheng, Heat shock protein 90B1 plays an oncogenic role and is a target of microRNA-223 in human osteosarcoma, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 30 (2012) 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1159/000343336.
- [179] S.Z. Usmani, R.D. Bona, G. Chiosis, Z. Li, The anti-myeloma activity of a novel purine scaffold HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 is via inhibition of both HSP90A and HSP90B1, J. Hematol. Oncol. 3 (2010) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8722-3-40.
- [180] L.C. Cerchietti, E.C. Lopes, S.N. Yang, K. Hatzi, K.L. Bunting, L.A. Tsikitas, A. Mallik, A.I. Robles, J. Walling, L. Varticovski, R. Shaknovich, K.N. Bhalla, G. Chiosis, A. Melnick, A purine scaffold Hsp90 inhibitor destabilizes BCL-6 and has

specific antitumor activity in BCL-6-dependent B cell lymphomas., Nat. Med. 15 (2009) 1369–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2059.

- [181] M. Breinig, E. Caldas-Lopes, B. Goeppert, M. Malz, R. Rieker, F. Bergmann, P. Schirmacher, M. Mayer, G. Chiosis, M.A. Kern, Targeting heat shock protein 90 with non-quinone inhibitors: a novel chemotherapeutic approach in human hepatocellular carcinoma., Hepatology. 50 (2009) 102–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22912.
- [182] T.R. Cawthorn, J.C. Moreno, M. Dharsee, D. Tran-Thanh, S. Ackloo, P.H. Zhu, G. Sardana, J. Chen, P. Kupchak, L.M. Jacks, N.A. Miller, B.J. Youngson, V. Iakovlev, C.J. Guidos, K.A. Vallis, K.R. Evans, D. McCready, W.L. Leong, S.J. Done, Proteomic analyses reveal high expression of decorin and endoplasmin (HSP90B1) are associated with breast cancer metastasis and decreased survival, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030992.
- [183] S. Liu, R. Li, S. Zuo, R. Luo, W. Fang, Y. Xie, GRP94 overexpression as an indicator of unfavorable outcomes in breast cancer patients., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 11 (2018) 3061–3067.
- [184] N. Santana-Codina, A. Marcé-Grau, L. Muixí, C. Nieva, M. Marro, D. Sebastián, J.P. Muñoz, A. Zorzano, A. Sierra, Grp94 is involved in the lipid phenotype of brain metastatic cells, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163883.
- [185] B. Nami, A. Ghasemi-Dizgah, A. Vaseghi, Overexpression of molecular chaperons GRP78 and GRP94 in CD44(hi)/CD24(lo) breast cancer stem cells., Bioimpacts. 6 (2016) 105–10. https://doi.org/10.15171/bi.2016.16.
- [186] N. Dejeans, C. Glorieux, S. Guenin, R. Beck, B. Sid, R. Rousseau, B. Bisig, P. Delvenne, P. Buc Calderon, J. Verrax, Overexpression of GRP94 in breast cancer cells resistant to oxidative stress promotes high levels of cancer cell proliferation and migration: Implications for tumor recurrence, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (2012) 993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.12.019.
- [187] A.H. Stegh, S. Kesari, J.E. Mahoney, H.T. Jenq, K.L. Forloney, A. Protopopov, D.N. Louis, L. Chin, R.A. DePinho, Bcl2L12-mediated inhibition of effector caspase-3 and caspase-7 via distinct mechanisms in glioblastoma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 10703–10708. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712034105.
- [188] Y. Hong, J. Yang, W. Wu, W. Wang, X. Kong, Y. Wang, X. Yun, H. Zong, Y. wei, S. Zhang, J. Gu, Knockdown of BCL2L12 leads to cisplatin resistance in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis. 1782 (2008) 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.09.008.
- [189] M.T. Lee, S.M. Ho, P. Tarapore, I. Chung, Y.K. Leung, Estrogen receptor β isoform 5 confers sensitivity of breast cancer cell lines to chemotherapeutic agent-induced apoptosis through interaction with Bcl2L12, Neoplasia (United States). 15 (2013) 1262–1271. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.131184.
- [190] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [191] S. Cheng, V. Castillo, D. Sliva, CDC20 associated with cancer metastasis and novel mushroom-derived CDC20 inhibitors with antimetastatic activity, Int. J. Oncol. 54 (2019) 2250–2256. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2019.4791.
- [192] Z. Wang, L. Wan, J. Zhong, H. Inuzuka, P. Liu, F.H. Sarkar, W. Wei, Cdc20: A Potential Novel Therapeutic Target for Cancer Treatment, Curr. Pharm. Des. 19 (2013) 3210–3214. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612811319180005.
- [193] T.-A. Moo, R. Sanford, C. Dang, M. Morrow, Overview of Breast Cancer Therapy., PET Clin. 13 (2018) 339–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpet.2018.02.006.
- [194] K.M. Mrozik, O.W. Blaschuk, C.M. Cheong, A.C.W. Zannettino, K. Vandyke, Ncadherin in cancer metastasis, its emerging role in haematological malignancies and potential as a therapeutic target in cancer, BMC Cancer. 18 (2018) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4845-0.
- [195] T.Y. Na, L. Schecterson, A.M. Mendonsa, B.M. Gumbiner, The functional activity of E-cadherin controls tumor cell metastasis at multiple steps, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 117 (2020) 5931–5937. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1918167117.
- [196] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk, L.H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell Res. 230 (1997) 111–20. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [197] C.C. Park, H. Zhang, M. Pallavicini, J.W. Gray, F. Baehner, C.J. Park, M.J. Bissell, β1 Integrin Inhibitory Antibody Induces Apoptosis of Breast Cancer Cells, Inhibits Growth, and Distinguishes Malignant From Normal Phenotype in Three Dimensional Cultures and in Vivo, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3071.
- [198] D.E. White, W.J. Muller, Multifaceted roles of integrins in breast cancer metastasis,
 J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. 12 (2007) 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-007-9045-5.
- [199] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A.

Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti- α 5 β 1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014) 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.

- [200] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-Integrin Circumvents the Antiproliferative Effects of Trastuzumab in Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2-Positive Breast Cancer, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1591.
- [201] F. Wang, V.M. Weaver, O.W. Petersen, C.A. Larabell, S. Dedhar, P. Briand, R. Lupu, M.J. Bissell, Reciprocal interactions between β1-integrin and epidermal growth factor receptor in three-dimensional basement membrane breast cultures: A different perspective in epithelial biology, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95 (1998) 14821–14826. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.25.14821.
- [202] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S. a Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [203] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen, Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [204] Y. Zhao, R. Bachelier, I. Treilleux, P. Pujuguet, O. Peyruchaud, R. Baron, P. Clément-Lacroix, P. Clézardin, Tumor αvβ3 integrin is a therapeutic target for breast cancer bone metastases, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 5821–5830. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4499.
- [205] I.W. Cheuk, M.T. Siu, J.C. Ho, J. Chen, V.Y. Shin, A. Kwong, ITGAV targeting as a therapeutic approach for treatment of metastatic breast cancer., Am. J. Cancer Res. 10 (2020) 211–223.
- [206] E. Caldas-Lopes, L. Cerchietti, J.H. Ahn, C.C. Clement, A.I. Robles, A. Rodina, K. Moulick, T. Taldone, A. Gozman, Y. Guo, N. Wu, E. de Stanchina, J. White, S.S. Gross, Y. Ma, L. Varticovski, A. Melnick, G. Chiosis, Hsp90 inhibitor PU-H71, a multimodal inhibitor of malignancy, induces complete responses in triple-negative breast cancer models., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 8368–73. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903392106.

- [207] Ş. Kale, A.F. Korcum, E. Dündar, N. Erin, HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 increases radiosensitivity of breast cancer cells metastasized to visceral organs and alters the levels of inflammatory mediators., Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 393 (2020) 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-019-01725-z.
- [208] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [209] X. Chen, P. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Li, L. Fu, H. Fu, J. Zhu, Z. Chen, W. Zhu, C. Xie, L. Lou, DCZ3112, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, exerts potent antitumor activity against HER2-positive breast cancer through disruption of Hsp90-Cdc37 interaction, Cancer Lett. 434 (2018) 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.07.012.
- [210] P.-C. Zhang, X. Liu, M.-M. Li, Y.-Y. Ma, H.-T. Sun, X.-Y. Tian, Y. Wang, M. Liu, L.-S. Fu, Y.-F. Wang, H.-Y. Chen, Z. Liu, AT-533, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, inhibits breast cancer growth and HIF-1α/VEGF/VEGFR-2-mediated angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, Biochem. Pharmacol. 172 (2020) 113771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2019.113771.
- [211] E.M. Gartner, P. Silverman, M. Simon, L. Flaherty, J. Abrams, P. Ivy, P.M. Lorusso, A phase II study of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin in metastatic or locally advanced, unresectable breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 131 (2012) 933–937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1866-7.
- [212] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M. Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.
- [213] P. Buc Calderon, A.L. Sennesael, C. Glorieux, Glucose-regulated protein of 94 kDa contributes to the development of an aggressive phenotype in breast cancer cells, Biomed. Pharmacother. 105 (2018) 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.05.106.
- [214] Y. Ben-Neriah, G.Q. Daley, A.M. Mes-Masson, O.N. Witte, D. Baltimore, The chronic myelogenous leukemia-specific P210 protein is the product of the bcr/abl hybrid gene., Science. 233 (1986) 212–4.
- [215] C. Sirard, P. Laneuville, J.E. Dick, Expression of bcr-abl abrogates factor-dependent

growth of human hematopoietic M07E cells by an autocrine mechanism., Blood. 83 (1994) 1575–85.

- [216] N. Cambier, R. Chopra, A. Strasser, D. Metcalf, A.G. Elefanty, BCR-ABL activates pathways mediating cytokine independence and protection against apoptosis in murine hematopoietic cells in a dose-dependent manner., Oncogene. 16 (1998) 335– 48. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201490.
- [217] B.J. Druker, F. Guilhot, S.G. O'Brien, I. Gathmann, H. Kantarjian, N. Gattermann, M.W.N. Deininger, R.T. Silver, J.M. Goldman, R.M. Stone, F. Cervantes, A. Hochhaus, B.L. Powell, J.L. Gabrilove, P. Rousselot, J. Reiffers, J.J. Cornelissen, T. Hughes, H. Agis, T. Fischer, G. Verhoef, J. Shepherd, G. Saglio, A. Gratwohl, J.L. Nielsen, J.P. Radich, B. Simonsson, K. Taylor, M. Baccarani, C. So, L. Letvak, R.A. Larson, Five-Year Follow-up of Patients Receiving Imatinib for Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 355 (2006)2408-2417. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa062867.
- [218] A. Hochhaus, R.A. Larson, F. Guilhot, J.P. Radich, S. Branford, T.P. Hughes, M. Baccarani, M.W. Deininger, F. Cervantes, S. Fujihara, C.-E. Ortmann, H.D. Menssen, H. Kantarjian, S.G. O'Brien, B.J. Druker, Long-Term Outcomes of Imatinib Treatment for Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 376 (2017) 917–927. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1609324.
- [219] H. Kantarjian, N.P. Shah, A. Hochhaus, J. Cortes, S. Shah, M. Ayala, B. Moiraghi, Z. Shen, J. Mayer, R. Pasquini, H. Nakamae, F. Huguet, C. Boqué, C. Chuah, E. Bleickardt, M.B. Bradley-Garelik, C. Zhu, T. Szatrowski, D. Shapiro, M. Baccarani, Dasatinib versus Imatinib in Newly Diagnosed Chronic-Phase Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 362 (2010) 2260–2270. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1002315.
- [220] H. Kantarjian, F. Giles, L. Wunderle, K. Bhalla, S. O'Brien, B. Wassmann, C. Tanaka, P. Manley, P. Rae, W. Mietlowski, K. Bochinski, A. Hochhaus, J.D. Griffin, D. Hoelzer, M. Albitar, M. Dugan, J. Cortes, L. Alland, O.G. Ottmann, Nilotinib in Imatinib-Resistant CML and Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive ALL, N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2542–2551. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa055104.
- [221] M. Talpaz, N.P. Shah, H. Kantarjian, N. Donato, J. Nicoll, R. Paquette, J. Cortes, S. O'Brien, C. Nicaise, E. Bleickardt, M.A. Blackwood-Chirchir, V. Iyer, T.-T. Chen, F. Huang, A.P. Decillis, C.L. Sawyers, Dasatinib in imatinib-resistant Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias., N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2531–41. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa055229.
- [222] G. Saglio, D.-W. Kim, S. Issaragrisil, P. le Coutre, G. Etienne, C. Lobo, R. Pasquini, R.E. Clark, A. Hochhaus, T.P. Hughes, N. Gallagher, A. Hoenekopp, M. Dong, A.

Haque, R.A. Larson, H.M. Kantarjian, ENESTnd Investigators, Nilotinib versus imatinib for newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia., N. Engl. J. Med. 362 (2010) 2251–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0912614.

- [223] E. Jabbour, H. Kantarjian, Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2016 update on diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring, Am. J. Hematol. 91 (2016) 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.24275.
- [224] D. Milojkovic, J.F. Apperley, Mechanisms of resistance to imatinib and secondgeneration tyrosine inhibitors in chronic myeloid leukemia, Clin. Cancer Res. 15 (2009) 7519–7527. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1068.
- [225] M.E. Gorre, M. Mohammed, K. Ellwood, N. Hsu, R. Paquette, P.N. Rao, C.L. Sawyers, Clinical resistance to STI-571 cancer therapy caused by BCR-ABL gene mutation or amplification., Science. 293 (2001) 876–80. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1062538.
- [226] F. Lussana, T. Intermesoli, P. Stefanoni, A. Rambaldi, Mechanisms of Resistance to Targeted Therapies in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, in: Handbook o, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2017_81.
- [227] J.E. Cortes, H. Kantarjian, N.P. Shah, D. Bixby, M.J. Mauro, I. Flinn, T. O'Hare, S. Hu, N.I. Narasimhan, V.M. Rivera, T. Clackson, C.D. Turner, F.G. Haluska, B.J. Druker, M.W.N. Deininger, M. Talpaz, Ponatinib in Refractory Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive Leukemias, N. Engl. J. Med. 367 (2012) 2075–2088. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1205127.
- [228] M. Azam, R.R. Latek, G.Q. Daley, D. Barila, G. Superti-Furga, C. Barthe, P. Cony-Makhoul, J.V. Melo, J.R. Mahon, J.M. Bradshaw, V. Mitaxov, G. Waksman, S. Branford, Z. Rudzki, S. Walsh, A. Grigg, C. Arthur, K. Taylor, R. Herrmann, K.P. Lynch, T.P. Hughes, B.B. Brasher, S. Roumiantsev, R.A. Van Etten, P. Cicchetti, A.J. Ridley, Y. Zheng, R.A. Cerione, D. Baltimore, A.S. Corbin, E. Buchdunger, F. Pascal, B.J. Druker, Z. Dai, A.M. Pendergast, G.Q. Daley, D. Baltimore, G.Q. Daley, R.A. Van Etten, D. Baltimore, B.J. Druker, C.L. Sawyers, H. Kantarjian, D.J. Resta, S.F. Reese, J.M. Ford, R. Capdeville, M. Talpaz, E.A. Emini, E. Fainstein, M. Einat, E. Gokkel, C. Marcelle, C.M. Croce, R.P. Gale, E. Canaani, M.L. Gishizky, J. Johnson-White, O.N. Witte, S. Gonfloni, J.C. Williams, K. Hattula, A. Weijland, R.K. Wierenga, G. Superti-Furga, S. Gonfloni, F. Frischknecht, M. Way, G. Superti-Furga, S. Gonfloni, A. Weijland, J. Kretzschmar, G. Superti-Furga, M.E. Gorre, M. Mohammed, K. Ellwood, N. Hsu, R. Paquette, P.N. Rao, C.L. Sawyers, O. Hantschel, B. Nagar, S. Guettler, J. Kretzschmar, K. Dorey, J. Kuriyan, G. Superti-Furga, A. Hochhaus, S. Kreil, A. Corbin, P. La Rosee, T. Lahaye, U. Berger, N.C. Cross, W. Linkesch, B.J. Druker, R. Hehlmann, et al., W.K. Hofmann, L.C.

Jones, N.A. Lemp, S. de Vos, H. Gschaidmeier, D. Hoelzer, O.G. Ottmann, H.P. Koeffler, R.R. Hoover, F.X. Mahon, J.V. Melo, G.Q. Daley, M. Huse, J. Kuriyan, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, S. O'Brien, F. Giles, G. Garcia-Manero, S. Faderl, D. Thomas, S. Jeha, M.B. Rios, L. Letvak, et al., E.Y. Koh, T. Chen, G.Q. Daley, S. Li, R.L. Ilaria, R.P. Million, G.Q. Daley, R.A. Van Etten, B.J. Mayer, D. Baltimore, B. Nagar, W.G. Bornmann, P. Pellicena, T. Schindler, D.R. Veach, W.T. Miller, B. Clarkson, J. Kuriyan, B. Nagar, O. Hantschel, M.A. Young, K. Scheffzek, D. Veach, W. Bornmann, B. Clarkson, G. Superti-Furga, J. Kuriyan, H.J. Nam, W.G. Haser, T.M. Roberts, C.A. Frederick, A. Nicholls, K.A. Sharp, B. Honig, Z. Otwinowski, S. Panni, L. Dente, G. Cesareni, A.M. Pendergast, A.J. Muller, M.H. Havlik, Y. Maru, O.N. Witte, H. Pluk, K. Dorey, G. Superti-Furga, C. Roche-Lestienne, V. Soenen-Cornu, N. Grardel-Duflos, J.L. Lai, N. Philippe, T. Facon, P. Fenaux, C. Preudhomme, S. Roumiantsev, N.P. Shah, M.E. Gorre, J. Nicoll, B.B. Brasher, C.L. Sawyers, R.A. Van Etten, C.L. Sawyers, A. Hochhaus, E. Feldman, J.M. Goldman, C.B. Miller, O.G. Ottmann, C.A. Schiffer, M. Talpaz, F. Guilhot, M.W. Deininger, et al., T. Schindler, W. Bornmann, P. Pellicena, W.T. Miller, B. Clarkson, J. Kuriyan, N. Shah, J. Nicoll, B. Nagar, M. Gorre, R. Paquette, J. Kuriyan, C. Sawyers, L.K. Shawyer, D. Slamon, A. Ullrich, J.D. Thompson, T.J. Gibson, F. Plewniak, F. Jeanmougin, D.G. Higgins, R.A. Van Etten, J. Debnath, H. Zhou, J.M. Casasnovas, N. von Bubnoff, F. Schneller, C. Peschel, J. Duyster, S.T. Wen, R.A. Van Etten, D. Wisniewski, C.L. Lambek, C. Liu, A. Strife, D.R. Veach, B. Nagar, M.A. Young, T. Schindler, W.G. Bornmann, J.R. Bertino, et al., W. Xu, S.C. Harrison, M.J. Eck, W. Xu, A. Doshi, M. Lei, M.J. Eck, S.C. Harrison, M.A. Young, S. Gonfloni, G. Superti-Furga, B. Roux, J. Kuriyan, Mechanisms of autoinhibition and STI-571/imatinib resistance revealed by mutagenesis of BCR-ABL., Cell. 112 (2003) 831-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00190-9.

- [229] D.W. Sherbenou, O. Hantschel, I. Kaupe, S. Willis, T. Bumm, L.P. Turaga, T. Lange, K. Dao, R.D. Press, B.J. Druker, G. Superti-Furga, M.W. Deininger, BCR-ABL SH3-SH2 domain mutations in chronic myeloid leukemia patients on imatinib., Blood. 116 (2010) 3278–85. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-10-183665.
- [230] J. Elias, P. Sameer A, K. Hagop, C. Jorge, Chronic myeloid leukemia: mechanisms of resistance and treatment, Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am. 25 (2011) 981–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hoc.2011.09.004.Chronic.
- [231] A. Slupianek, R. Falinski, P. Znojek, T. Stoklosa, S. Flis, V. Doneddu, D. Pytel, E. Synowiec, J. Blasiak, A. Bellacosa, T. Skorski, BCR-ABL1 kinase inhibits uracil DNA glycosylase UNG2 to enhance oxidative DNA damage and stimulate genomic instability, Leukemia. 27 (2013) 629–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.294.

- [232] M. Koptyra, R. Falinski, M.O. Nowicki, T. Stoklosa, I. Majsterek, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, J. Blasiak, T. Skorski, BCR/ABL kinase induces self-mutagenesis via reactive oxygen species to encode imatinib resistance., Blood. 108 (2006) 319–27. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2815.
- [233] X. Jiang, K.M. Saw, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Instability of BCR-ABL gene in primary and cultured chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 99 (2007) 680–693. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djk150.
- [234] N. Von Bubnoff, D.R. Veach, H. Van Der Kuip, W.E. Aulitzky, J. Sänger, P. Seipel, W.G. Bornmann, C. Peschel, B. Clarkson, J. Duyster, A cell-based screen for resistance of Bcr-Abl-positive leukemia identifies the mutation pattern for PD166326, an alternative Abl kinase inhibitor, Blood. 105 (2005) 1652–1659. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-06-2445.
- [235] L.J. Campbell, C. Patsouris, K.C. Rayeroux, K. Somana, E.H. Januszewicz, J. Szer, BCR/ABL amplification in chronic myelocytic leukemia blast crisis following imatinib mesylate administration, Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 139 (2002) 30–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4608(02)00615-5.
- [236] C. Tang, L. Schafranek, D.B. Watkins, W.T. Parker, S. Moore, J.A. Prime, D.L. White, T.P. Hughes, Tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia cell lines: investigating resistance pathways, Leuk. Lymphoma. 52 (2011) 2139–2147. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2011.591013.
- [237] R.D. Press, S.G. Willis, J. Laudadio, M.J. Mauro, M.W.N. Deininger, Determining the rise in BCR-ABL RNA that optimally predicts a kinase domain mutation in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia on imatinib., Blood. 114 (2009) 2598–605. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-08-173674.
- [238] D. Gadzicki, N. Von Neuhoff, D. Steinemann, M. Just, G. Büsche, H. Kreipe, L. Wilkens, B. Schlegelberger, BCR-ABL gene amplification and overexpression in a patient with chronic myeloid leukemia treated with imatinib, Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 159 (2005) 164–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2004.09.021.
- [239] C. Roche-Lestienne, V. Soenen-Cornu, N. Grardel-Duflos, J.L. Laï, N. Philippe, T. Facon, P. Fenaux, C. Preudhomme, Several types of mutations of the Abl gene can be found in chronic myeloid leukemia patients resistant to STI571, and they can pre-exist to the onset of treatment, Blood. 100 (2002) 1014–1018. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V100.3.1014.
- [240] S. Vaidya, B.R. Vundinti, C. Shanmukhaiah, P. Chakrabarti, K. Ghosh, Evolution of BCR/ABL gene mutation in CML is time dependent and dependent on the

pressure exerted by tyrosine kinase inhibitor, PLoS One. 10 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114828.

- [241] I.K. Hariharan, J.M. Adams, S. Cory, bcr-abl oncogene renders myeloid cell line factor independent: potential autocrine mechanism in chronic myeloid leukemia., Oncogene Res. 3 (1988) 387–99.
- [242] X. Jiang, A. Lopez, T. Holyoake, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Autocrine production and action of IL-3 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in chronic myeloid leukemia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96 (1999) 12804–12809. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.22.12804.
- [243] Y. Wang, D. Cai, C. Brendel, C. Barett, P. Erben, P.W. Manley, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, A. Burchert, Adaptive secretion of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) mediates imatinib and nilotinib resistance in BCR/ABL+ progenitors via JAK-2/STAT-5 pathway activation., Blood. 109 (2007) 2147–55. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-08-040022.
- [244] A.B. Lyons, T.P. Hughes, P. Viboonjuntra, Production of GM-CSF by CML Cells Can Modulate the Anti-Proliferative and Pro-Apoptotic Effects of Imatinib on CML CD34⁺ Cells., Blood. 106 (2005) 2865 LP – 2865.
- [245] A. Burchert, Y. Wang, D. Cai, N. von Bubnoff, P. Paschka, S. Müller-Brüsselbach, O.G. Ottmann, J. Duyster, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, Compensatory PI3kinase/Akt/mTor activation regulates im'atinib resistance development, Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403898.
- [246] M. Wagle, A.M. Eiring, M. Wongchenko, S. Lu, Y. Guan, Y. Wang, M. Lackner, L. Amler, G. Hampton, M.W. Deininger, T. O'Hare, Y. Yan, A role for FOXO1 in BCR-ABL1-independent tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Leukemia. 30 (2016) 1493–1501. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.51.
- [247] J. Wu, F. Meng, L.Y. Kong, Z. Peng, Y. Ying, W.G. Bornmann, B.G. Darnay, B. Lamothe, H. Sun, M. Talpaz, N.J. Donato, Association between imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL mutation-negative leukemia and persistent activation of LYN kinase, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100 (2008) 926–939. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn188.
- [248] L. Ma, Y. Shan, R. Bai, L. Xue, C.A. Eide, J. Ou, L.J. Zhu, L. Hutchinson, J. Cerny, H.J. Khoury, Z. Sheng, B.J. Druker, S. Li, M.R. Green, A therapeutically targetable mechanism of BCR-ABL-independent imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia., Sci. Transl. Med. 6 (2014) 252ra121. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3009073.
- [249] Y. Zhu, L. Lu, C. Qiao, Y. Shan, H. Li, S. Qian, M. Hong, H. Zhao, J. Li, Z. Yang, Y. Chen, Targeting PFKFB3 sensitizes chronic myelogenous leukemia cells to

tyrosine kinase inhibitor, Oncogene. 37 (2018) 2837–2849. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0157-8.

- [250] A.Z. Karabay, A. Koc, T. Ozkan, Y. Hekmatshoar, B. Altinok Gunes, A. Sunguroglu, Z. Buyukbingol, A. Atalay, F. Aktan, Expression analysis of Akirin-2, NFκB-p65 and β-catenin proteins in imatinib resistance of chronic myeloid leukemia., Hematology. 0 (2018) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/10245332.2018.1488795.
- [251] A. Chorzalska, N. Ahsan, R.S.P. Rao, K. Roder, X. Yu, J. Morgan, A. Tepper, S. Hines, P. Zhang, D.O. Treaba, T.C. Zhao, A.J. Olszewski, J.L. Reagan, O. Liang, P.A. Gruppuso, P.M. Dubielecka, Overexpression of Tpl2 is linked to imatinib resistance and activation of MEK-ERK and NF-κB pathways in a model of chronic myeloid leukemia., Mol. Oncol. 12 (2018) 630–647. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12186.
- [252] Q.H. Min, X.Z. Wang, J. Zhang, Q.G. Chen, S.Q. Li, X.Q. Liu, J. Li, J. Liu, W.M. Yang, Y.H. Jiang, Y.M. Xu, J. Lin, Q.F. Gao, F. Sun, L. Zhang, B. Huang, Exosomes derived from imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells mediate a horizontal transfer of drug-resistant trait by delivering miR-365, Exp. Cell Res. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.12.001.
- [253] S. Angelini, S. Soverini, G. Ravegnini, M. Barnett, E. Turrini, M. Thornquist, F. Pane, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, J. Radich, D.W. Kim, G. Saglio, D. Cilloni, I. Iacobucci, G. Perini, R. Woodman, G. Cantelli-Forti, M. Baccarani, P. Hrelia, G. Martinelli, Association between imatinib transporters and metabolizing enzymes genotype and response in newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia patients receiving imatinib therapy, Haematologica. 98 (2013) 193–200. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.066480.
- [254] D.L. White, V.A. Saunders, P. Dang, J. Engler, T.P. Hughes, OCT-1 activity measurement provides a superior imatinib response predictor than screening for single-nucleotide polymorphisms of OCT-1., Leukemia. 24 (2010) 1962–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.188.
- [255] J. Vine, S.B. Cohen, R. Ruchlemer, N. Goldschmidt, M. Levin, D. Libster, A. Gural, M.E. Gatt, D. Lavie, D. Ben-Yehuda, D. Rund, Polymorphisms in the human organic cation transporter and the multidrug resistance gene: correlation with imatinib levels and clinical course in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia, Leuk. Lymphoma. 55 (2014) 2525–2531. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2014.893307.
- [256] S. Dulucq, S. Bouchet, B. Turcq, E. Lippert, G. Etienne, J. Reiffers, M. Molimard, M. Krajinovic, F.-X. Mahon, Multidrug resistance gene (MDR1) polymorphisms are associated with major molecular responses to standard-dose imatinib in chronic

myeloid leukemia., Blood. 112 (2008) 2024–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-147744.

- [257] S. Shukla, A.P. Skoumbourdis, M.J. Walsh, A.M.S. Hartz, K.L. Fung, C. Wu, M.M. Gottesman, B. Bauer, C.J. Thomas, S. V Ambudkar, Synthesis and characterization of a BODIPY conjugate of the BCR-ABL kinase inhibitor Tasigna (nilotinib): evidence for transport of Tasigna and its fluorescent derivative by ABC drug transporters., Mol. Pharm. 8 (2011) 1292–302. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp2001022.
- [258] L.N. Eadie, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, Patients with low OCT-1 activity and high ABCB1 fold rise have poor long-term outcomes in response to tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy., Leukemia. 32 (2018) 2288–2291. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-018-0101-5.
- [259] D.L. White, P. Dang, J. Engler, A. Frede, S. Zrim, M. Osborn, V.A. Saunders, P.W. Manley, T.P. Hughes, Functional activity of the OCT-1 protein is predictive of long-term outcome in patients with chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia treated with imatinib, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (2010) 2761–2767. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.26.5819.
- [260] X. Jiang, Y. Zhao, C. Smith, M. Gasparetto, A. Turhan, A. Eaves, C. Eaves, Chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells possess multiple unique features of resistance to BCR-ABL targeted therapies, Leukemia. 21 (2007) 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404609.
- [261] J.R. Engler, a Frede, V. a Saunders, a C.W. Zannettino, T.P. Hughes, D.L. White, Chronic myeloid leukemia CD34+ cells have reduced uptake of imatinib due to low OCT-1 activity., Leukemia. 24 (2010) 765–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.16.
- [262] N.E. Jordanides, H.G. Jorgensen, T.L. Holyoake, J.C. Mountford, Functional ABCG2 is overexpressed on primary CML CD34+ cells and is inhibited by imatinib mesylate, Blood. 108 (2006) 1370–1373. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-02-003145.
- [263] E.R. Lepper, K. Nooter, J. Verweij, M.R. Acharya, W.D. Figg, A. Sparreboom, Mechanisms of resistance to anticancer drugs: the role of the polymorphic ABC transporters ABCB1 and ABCG2, Pharmacogenomics. 6 (2005) 115–138. https://doi.org/10.1517/14622416.6.2.115.
- [264] A.A. Wylie, J. Schoepfer, W. Jahnke, S.W. Cowan-Jacob, A. Loo, P. Furet, A.L. Marzinzik, X. Pelle, J. Donovan, W. Zhu, S. Buonamici, A.Q. Hassan, F. Lombardo, V. Iyer, M. Palmer, G. Berellini, S. Dodd, S. Thohan, H. Bitter, S. Branford, D.M. Ross, T.P. Hughes, L. Petruzzelli, K.G. Vanasse, M. Warmuth, F. Hofmann, N.J. Keen, W.R. Sellers, The allosteric inhibitor ABL001 enables dual targeting of BCR-

ABL1, Nature. 543 (2017) 733–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21702.

- [265] E.J. Jabbour, J.E. Cortes, H.M. Kantarjian, Resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibition therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia: a clinical perspective and emerging treatment options., Clin. Lymphoma. Myeloma Leuk. 13 (2013) 515–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2013.03.018.
- [266] T. Lahaye, B. Riehm, U. Berger, P. Paschka, M.C. Müller, S. Kreil, K. Merx, U. Schwindel, C. Schoch, R. Hehlmann, A. Hochhaus, Response and resistance in 300 patients with BCR-ABL-positive leukemias treated with imatinib in a single center: A 4.5-year follow-up, Cancer. 103 (2005) 1659–1669. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20922.
- [267] M. Schmidt, J. Rinke, V. Schäfer, S. Schnittger, A. Kohlmann, E. Obstfelder, C. Kunert, J. Ziermann, N. Winkelmann, E. Eigendorff, T. Haferlach, C. Haferlach, A. Hochhaus, T. Ernst, Molecular-defined clonal evolution in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia independent of the BCR-ABL status, Leukemia. 28 (2014) 2292–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.272.
- [268] M.M. Behzad, S. Shahrabi, K. Jaseb, J. Bertacchini, N. Ketabchi, N. Saki, Aberrant DNA Methylation in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia: Cell Fate Control, Prognosis, and Therapeutic Response, Biochem. Genet. 56 (2018) 149–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10528-018-9841-1.
- [269] M.H. Elias, H. Azlan, S. Sulong, A.A. Baba, R. Ankathil, Aberrant DNA methylation at HOXA4 and HOXA5 genes are associated with resistance to imatinib mesylate among chronic myeloid leukemia patients, Cancer Rep. 1 (2018) e1111. https://doi.org/10.1002/cnr2.1111.
- [270] J. Jelinek, V. Gharibyan, M.R.H. Estecio, K. Kondo, R. He, W. Chung, Y. Lu, N. Zhang, S. Liang, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, J.P.J. Issa, Aberrant DNA methylation is associated with disease progression, resistance to imatinib and shortened survival in chronic myelogenous leukemia, PLoS One. 6 (2011) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022110.
- [271] W.O. Pereira, D.D. De Carvalho, M.E. Zenteno, B.F. Ribeiro, J.F. Jacysyn, L.R. Sardinha, M.A. Zanichelli, N. Hamerschlak, G.E. Jones, K.B. Pagnano, F.A. Castro, Y. Calle, G.P. Amarante-Mendes, BCR-ABL1-induced downregulation of WASP in chronic myeloid leukemia involves epigenetic modification and contributes to malignancy, Cell Death Dis. 8 (2017) e3114-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.458.
- [272] E. Arrigoni, M. Del Re, S. Galimberti, G. Restante, E. Rofi, S. Crucitta, C. Baratè, M. Petrini, R. Danesi, A. Di Paolo, Concise Review: Chronic Myeloid Leukemia:

Stem Cell Niche and Response to Pharmacologic Treatment, Stem Cells Transl. Med. 7 (2018) 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0175.

- [273] D. Wei, T. Lu, D. Ma, K. Yu, T. Zhang, J. Xiong, W. Wang, Z. Zhang, Q. Fang, J. Wang, Synergistic activity of imatinib and AR-42 against chronic myeloid leukemia cells mainly through HDAC1 inhibition., Life Sci. 211 (2018) 224–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.09.040.
- [274] E. Farhadi, F. Zaker, M. Safa, M.R. Rezvani, miR-101 sensitizes K562 cell line to imatinib through Jak2 downregulation and inhibition of NF-κB target genes, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14117–14128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5205-9.
- [275] Y.X. Liu, L. Wang, W.J. Liu, H.T. Zhang, J.H. Xue, Z.W. Zhang, C.J. Gao, MIR-124-3p/B4GALT1 axis plays an important role in SOCS3-regulated growth and chemo-sensitivity of CML, J. Hematol. Oncol. 9 (2016) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-016-0300-3.
- [276] W. Liu, J. He, Y. Yang, Q. Guo, F. Gao, Upregulating miR-146a by physcion reverses multidrug resistance in human chronic myelogenous leukemia K562/ADM cells, Am. J. Cancer Res. 6 (2016) 2547–2560.
- [277] L. Zhao, Y. Li, X. Song, H. Zhou, N. Li, Y. Miao, L. Jia, Upregulation of miR-181c inhibits chemoresistance by targeting ST8SIA4 in chronic myelocytic leukemia, Oncotarget. 7 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70742-6 20.
- [278] D. Joshi, S. Chandrakala, S. Korgaonkar, K. Ghosh, B.R. Vundinti, Downregulation of miR-199b associated with imatinib drug resistance in 9q34.1 deleted BCR/ABL positive CML patients, Gene. 542 (2014) 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2014.03.049.
- [279] M. Kaehler, J. Ruemenapp, D. Gonnermann, I. Nagel, O. Bruhn, S. Haenisch, O. Ammerpohl, D. Wesch, I. Cascorbi, H. Bruckmueller, MicroRNA-212/ABCG2-axis contributes to development of imatinib-resistance in leukemic cells., Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 92018–92031. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.21272.
- [280] C. Nishioka, T. Ikezoe, J. Yang, A. Nobumoto, M. Tsuda, A. Yokoyama, Downregulation of miR-217 correlates with resistance of ph+ leukemia cells to ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors, Cancer Sci. 105 (2014) 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12339.
- [281] L. Zhao, Y. Shan, B. Liu, Y. Li, L. Jia, Functional screen analysis reveals miR-3142 as central regulator in chemoresistance and proliferation through activation of the PTEN-AKT pathway in CML, Cell Death Dis. 8 (2017) e2830. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.223.

- [282] I. Soltani, K. Douzi, H. Gharbi, I. Benhassine, M. Teber, H. Amouri, H. Ben Hadj Othman, A. Farrah, R. Ben Lakhel, S. Abbes, S. Menif, Downregulation of miR-451 in Tunisian chronic myeloid leukemia patients: potential implication in imatinib resistance, Hematology. 22 (2017) 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/10245332.2016.1252020.
- [283] H. Yang, J. Zhang, J. Li, F. Zhao, Y. Shen, X. Xing, Overexpression of miR-574-3p suppresses proliferation and induces apoptosis of chronic myeloid leukemia cells via targeting IL6/JAK/STAT3 pathway., Exp. Ther. Med. 16 (2018) 4296–4302. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2018.6700.
- [284] Y. Li, L. Zhao, N. Li, Y. Miao, H. Zhou, L. Jia, MiR-9 regulates the multidrug resistance of chronic myelogenous leukemia by targeting ABCB1, Oncol. Rep. 37 (2017) 2193–2200. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2017.5464.
- [285] M. Copland, A. Hamilton, L.J. Elrick, J.W. Baird, E.K. Allan, N. Jordanides, M. Barow, J.C. Mountford, T.L. Holyoake, Dasatinib (BMS-354825) targets an earlier progenitor population than imatinib in primary CML but does not eliminate the quiescent fraction, Blood. 107 (2006) 4532–4539. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2947.
- [286] C.H.M. Jamieson, L.E. Ailles, S.J. Dylla, M. Muijtjens, C. Jones, J.L. Zehnder, J. Gotlib, K. Li, M.G. Manz, A. Keating, C.L. Sawyers, I.L. Weissman, Granulocyte– Macrophage Progenitors as Candidate Leukemic Stem Cells in Blast-Crisis CML, N. Engl. J. Med. 351 (2004) 657–667. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa040258.
- [287] S.M. Graham, H.G. Jørgensen, E. Allan, C. Pearson, M.J. Alcorn, L. Richmond, T.L. Holyoake, Primitive, quiescent, Philadelphia-positive stem cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia are insensitive to STI571 in vitro., Blood. 99 (2002) 319–25. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.1.319.
- [288] A.S. Corbin, A. Agarwal, M. Loriaux, J. Cortes, M.W. Deininger, B.J. Druker, Human chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells are insensitive to imatinib despite inhibition of BCR-ABL activity., J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 396–409. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI35721.
- [289] A. Hamilton, G.V. Helgason, M. Schemionek, B. Zhang, S. Myssina, E.K. Allan, F.E. Nicolini, C. Müller-Tidow, R. Bhatia, V.G. Brunton, S. Koschmieder, T.L. Holyoake, Chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells are not dependent on Bcr-Abl kinase activity for their survival., Blood. 119 (2012) 1501–10. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326843.
- [290] K. Bartolovic, S. Balabanov, U. Hartmann, M. Komor, A.M. Boehmler, H.-J. Bühring, R. Möhle, D. Hoelzer, L. Kanz, W.-K. Hofmann, T.H. Brümmendorf,

Inhibitory effect of imatinib on normal progenitor cells in vitro., Blood. 103 (2004) 523–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-05-1535.

- [291] M. Chen, P. Gallipoli, D. Degeer, I. Sloma, D.L. Forrest, M. Chan, D. Lai, H. Jorgensen, A. Ringrose, H.M. Wang, K. Lambie, H. Nakamoto, K.M. Saw, A. Turhan, R. Arlinghaus, J. Paul, J. Stobo, M.J. Barnett, A. Eaves, C.J. Eaves, T.L. Holyoake, X. Jiang, Targeting primitive chronic myeloid leukemia cells by effective inhibition of a new AHI-1-BCR-ABL-JAK2 complex, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 105 (2013) 405–423. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djt006.
- [292] X. Liu, K. Rothe, R. Yen, C. Fruhstorfer, T. Maetzig, M. Chen, D.L. Forrest, R.K. Humphries, X. Jiang, A novel AHI-1-BCR-ABL-DNM2 complex regulates leukemic properties of primitive CML cells through enhanced cellular endocytosis and ROS-mediated autophagy, Leukemia. 31 (2017) 2376–2387. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2017.108.
- [293] D. Lai, M. Chen, J. Su, X. Liu, K. Rothe, K. Hu, D.L. Forrest, C.J. Eaves, G.B. Morin, X. Jiang, PP2A inhibition sensitizes cancer stem cells to ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors in BCR-ABL+ human leukemia, Sci. Transl. Med. 10 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aan8735.
- [294] H. Lin, M. Chen, K. Rothe, M. V. Lorenzi, A. Woolfson, X. Jiang, Selective JAK2/ABL dual inhibition therapy effectively eliminates TKI-insensitive CML stem/progenitor cells, Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 8637–8650. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2353.
- [295] M. Chen, A.G. Turhan, H. Ding, Q. Lin, K. Meng, X. Jiang, Targeting BCR-ABL+ stem/progenitor cells and BCR-ABL-T315I mutant cells by effective inhibition of the BCR-ABL-Tyr177-GRB2 complex., Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 43662–43677. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18216.
- [296] T.L. Holyoake, D. Vetrie, The chronic myeloid leukemia stem cell: stemming the tide of persistence., Blood. 129 (2017) 1595–1606. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-09-696013.
- [297] F. Pellicano, T.L. Holyoake, Assembling defenses against therapy-resistant leukemic stem cells: Bcl6 joins the ranks:, J. Exp. Med. 208 (2011) 2155–2158. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20112087.
- [298] R.M. Lemoli, V. Salvestrini, E. Bianchi, F. Bertolini, M. Fogli, M. Amabile, A. Tafuri, S. Salati, R. Zini, N. Testoni, C. Rabascio, L. Rossi, I. Martin-Padura, F. Castagnetti, P. Marighetti, G. Martinelli, M. Baccarani, S. Ferrari, R. Manfredini, Molecular and functional analysis of the stem cell compartment of chronic myelogenous leukemia reveals the presence of a CD34- cell population with

intrinsic resistance to imatinib., Blood. 114 (2009) 5191–5200. https://doi.org/blood-2008-08-176016 [pii]\r10.1182/blood-2008-08-176016.

- [299] R.R. Nair, J. Tolentino, L.A. Hazlehurst, The bone marrow microenvironment as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease in CML, Biochem. Pharmacol. 80 (2010) 602–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2010.04.003.
- [300] E. Traer, N. Javidi-Sharifi, A. Agarwal, J. Dunlap, I. English, J. Martinez, J.W. Tyner, M. Wong, B.J. Druker, Ponatinib overcomes FGF2-mediated resistance in CML patients without kinase domain mutations, Blood. 123 (2014) 1516–1524. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-07-518381.
- [301] X. Zhang, H. Tu, Y. Yang, Q. Wan, L. Fang, Q. Wu, J. Li, High IL-7 levels in the bone marrow microenvironment mediate imatinib resistance and predict disease progression in chronic myeloid leukemia, Int. J. Hematol. 104 (2016) 358–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-016-2028-9.
- [302] C.-R. Lee, J.-A. Kang, H.-E. Kim, Y. Choi, T. Yang, S.-G. Park, Secretion of IL-1β from imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells contributes to BCR-ABL mutation-independent imatinib resistance., FEBS Lett. 590 (2016) 358–68. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12057.
- [303] T. Schmidt, B.K. Masouleh, S. Loges, S. Cauwenberghs, P. Fraisl, C. Maes, B. Jonckx, K. De Keersmaecker, M. Kleppe, M. Tjwa, T. Schenk, S. Vinckier, R. Fragoso, M. De Mol, K. Beel, S. Dias, C. Verfaillie, R.E. Clark, T.H. Brümmendorf, P. Vandenberghe, S. Rafii, T. Holyoake, A. Hochhaus, J. Cools, M. Karin, G. Carmeliet, M. Dewerchin, P. Carmeliet, Loss or inhibition of stromal-derived PIGF prolongs survival of mice with imatinib-resistant Bcr-Abl1+ leukemia, Cancer Cell. 19 (2011) 740–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.007.
- [304] X. Li, H. Miao, Y. Zhang, W. Li, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, L. Zhao, Q. Guo, Bone marrow microenvironment confers imatinib resistance to chronic myelogenous leukemia and oroxylin A reverses the resistance by suppressing Stat3 pathway, Arch. Toxicol. 89 (2015) 121–136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-014-1226-6.
- [305] P. Liu, D. Ma, Z. Yu, N. Zhe, M. Ren, P. Wang, M. Yu, J. Huang, Q. Fang, J. Wang, Overexpression of heme oxygenase-1 in bone marrow stromal cells promotes microenvironment-mediated imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Biomed. Pharmacother. 91 (2017) 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.04.076.
- [306] M. Yamamoto-Sugitani, J. Kuroda, E. Ashihara, H. Nagoshi, T. Kobayashi, Y. Matsumoto, N. Sasaki, Y. Shimura, M. Kiyota, R. Nakayama, K. Akaji, T. Taki, N. Uoshima, Y. Kobayashi, S. Horiike, T. Maekawa, M. Taniwaki, Galectin-3 (Gal-3)

induced by leukemia microenvironment promotes drug resistance and bone marrow lodgment in chronic myelogenous leukemia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108 (2011) 17468–17473. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1111138108.

- [307] H. van der Kuip, A.W. Goetz, C. Miething, J. Duyster, W.E. Aulitzky, Adhesion to fibronectin selectively protects Bcr-Abl+ cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis., Blood. 98 (2001) 1532–41. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V98.5.1532.
- [308] F.A. Fierro, A. Taubenberger, P.H. Puech, G. Ehninger, M. Bornhauser, D.J. Muller, T. Illmer, BCR/ABL Expression of Myeloid Progenitors Increases β1-Integrin Mediated Adhesion to Stromal Cells, J. Mol. Biol. 377 (2008) 1082–1093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.01.085.
- [309] L.A. Hazlehurst, R.F. Argilagos, W.S. Dalton, β1 integrin mediated adhesion increases Bim protein degradation and contributes to drug resistance in leukaemia cells, Br. J. Haematol. 136 (2007) 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06435.x.
- [310] Y. Tabe, L. Jin, Y. Tsutsumi-Ishii, Y. Xu, T. McQueen, W. Priebe, G.B. Mills, A. Ohsaka, I. Nagaoka, M. Andreeff, M. Konopleva, Activation of integrin-linked kinase is a critical prosurvival pathway induced in leukemic cells by bone marrow-derived stromal cells, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 684–694. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3166.
- [311] A. Puissant, M. Dufies, N. Fenouille, I. Ben Sahra, A. Jacquel, G. Robert, T. Cluzeau, M. Deckert, M. Tichet, Y. Chéli, J.P. Cassuto, S. Raynaud, L. Legros, J.M. Pasquet, F.X. Mahon, F. Luciano, P. Auberger, Imatinib triggers mesenchymal-like conversion of CML cells associated with increased aggressiveness, J. Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2012) 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjs010.
- [312] B. Zhang, M. Li, T. McDonald, T.L. Holyoake, R.T. Moon, D. Campana, L. Shultz, R. Bhatia, Microenvironmental protection of CML stem and progenitor cells from tyrosine kinase inhibitors through N-cadherin and Wnt-beta-catenin signaling., Blood. 121 (2013) 1824–1838. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-02-412890.
- [313] F. Vianello, F. Villanova, V. Tisato, S. Lymperi, K.K. Ho, A.R. Gomes, D. Marin, D. Bonnet, J. Apperley, E.W.F. Lam, F. Dazzi, Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells non-selectively protect chronic myeloid leukemia cells from imatinib-induced apoptosis via the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis, Haematologica. 95 (2010) 1081–1089. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2009.017178.
- [314] M. Zöller, CD44, hyaluronan, the hematopoietic stem cell, and leukemia-initiating cells, Front. Immunol. 6 (2015) 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00235.
- [315] K.P. Ng, A. Manjeri, K.L. Lee, W. Huang, S.Y. Tan, C.T.H. Chuah, L. Poellinger,

S.T. Ong, Physiologic hypoxia promotes maintenance of CML stem cells despite effective BCR-ABL1 inhibition, Blood. 123 (2014) 3316–3326. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-07-511907.

- [316] V.M. Rumjanek, R.S. Vidal, R.C. Maia, Multidrug resistance in chronic myeloid leukaemia: how much can we learn from MDR–CML cell lines?, Biosci. Rep. 33 (2013) 875–888. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20130067.
- [317] D.O. Okumu, M.P. East, M. Levine, L.E. Herring, R. Zhang, T.S.K. Gilbert, D.W. Litchfield, Y. Zhang, L.M. Graves, BIRC6 mediates imatinib resistance independently of Mcl-1, PLoS One. 12 (2017) 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177871.
- [318] L.C. Crowley, B.M. Elzinga, G.C. O'Sullivan, S.L. McKenna, Autophagy induction by Bcr-Abl-expressing cells facilitates their recovery from a targeted or nontargeted treatment, Am. J. Hematol. 86 (2011) 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.21914.
- [319] X. Zeng, H. Zhao, Y. Li, J. Fan, Y. Sun, S. Wang, Z. Wang, P. Song, D. Ju, Targeting Hedgehog signaling pathway and autophagy overcomes drug resistance of BCR-ABLpositive chronic myeloid leukemia, Autophagy. 11 (2015) 355–372. https://doi.org/10.4161/15548627.2014.994368.
- [320] E.M. Kuntz, P. Baquero, A.M. Michie, K. Dunn, S. Tardito, T.L. Holyoake, G.V. Helgason, E. Gottlieb, Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation eradicates therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, Nat. Med. 23 (2017) 1234–1240. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4399.
- [321] H.-U. Klein, S. Flis, T. Lange, E. Bolton-Gillespie, L. Kerstiens, T. Skorski, I. Seferynska, T. Stoklosa, G. Hoser, M. Koptyra, H. Modi, S. Koschmieder, M.C. Müller, J. Maier, T.L. Holyoake, M. Schemionek, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, R. Bhatia, H.-U. Klein, S. Flis, G. Hoser, T. Lange, M. Nieborowska-Skorska, J. Maier, L. Kerstiens, M. Koptyra, M.C. Müller, H. Modi, T. Stoklosa, I. Seferynska, R. Bhatia, T.L. Holyoake, S. Koschmieder, T. Skorski, Genomic instability may originate from imatinib-refractory chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells., Blood. 121 (2013) 4175–83. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-11-466938.
- [322] A. Hochhaus, P. La Rosée, Imatinib therapy in chronic myelogenous leukemia: Strategies to avoid and overcome resistance, Leukemia. 18 (2004) 1321–1331. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403426.
- [323] R. Alves, A.R. Fonseca, A.C. Gonçalves, M. Ferreira-Teixeira, J. Lima, A.M. Abrantes, V. Alves, P. Rodrigues-Santos, L. Jorge, E. Matoso, I.M. Carreira, M.F. Botelho, A.B. Sarmento-Ribeiro, Drug transporters play a key role in the complex process of Imatinib resistance in vitro, Leuk. Res. 39 (2015) 355–360.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.12.008.

- [324] R. Ren, The molecular mechanism of chronic myelogenous leukemia and its therapeutic implications: Studies in a murine model, Oncogene. 21 (2002) 8629– 8642. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206090.
- [325] K. Yang, L. wu Fu, Mechanisms of resistance to BCR-ABL TKIs and the therapeutic strategies: A review, Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 93 (2015) 27–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.11.001.
- [326] P. Valent, Targeting the JAK2-STAT5 pathway in CML, Blood. 124 (2014) 1386– 1388. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-07-585943.
- [327] K. V. Gleixner, M. Schneeweiss, G. Eisenwort, D. Berger, H. Herrmann, K. Blatt, G. Greiner, K. Byrgazov, G. Hoermann, M. Konopleva, I. Waliul, A.A. Cumaraswamy, P.T. Gunning, H. Maeda, R. Moriggl, M. Deininger, T. Lion, M. Andreeff, P. Valent, Combined targeting of STAT3 and STAT5: A novel approach to overcome drug resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia, Haematologica. 102 (2017) 1519–1529. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2016.163436.
- [328] A.M. Eiring, B.D.G. Page, I.L. Kraft, C.C. Mason, N.A. Vellore, D. Resetca, M.S. Zabriskie, T.Y. Zhang, J.S. Khorashad, A.J. Engar, K.R. Reynolds, D.J. Anderson, A. Senina, A.D. Pomicter, C.C. Arpin, S. Ahmad, W.L. Heaton, S.K. Tantravahi, A. Todic, R. Colaguori, R. Moriggl, D.J. Wilson, R. Baron, T. O'Hare, P.T. Gunning, M.W. Deininger, Combined STAT3 and BCR-ABL1 inhibition induces synthetic lethality in therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia, Leukemia. 29 (2015) 586–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.245.
- [329] R. Mitchell, L.E.M. Hopcroft, P. Baquero, E.K. Allan, K. Hewit, D. James, G. Hamilton, A. Mukhopadhyay, J. O'Prey, A. Hair, J. V Melo, E. Chan, K.M. Ryan, V. Maguer-Satta, B.J. Druker, R.E. Clark, S. Mitra, P. Herzyk, F.E. Nicolini, P. Salomoni, E. Shanks, B. Calabretta, T.L. Holyoake, G.V. Helgason, Targeting BCR-ABL-Independent TKI Resistance in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia by mTOR and Autophagy Inhibition, JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 110 (2017) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx236.
- [330] R. Ciarcia, S. Damiano, S. Montagnaro, U. Pagnini, A. Ruocco, G. Caparrotti, D. D'Angelo, S. Boffo, F. Morales, F. Rizzolio, S. Florio, A. Giordano, Combined effects of PI3K and SRC kinase inhibitors with imatinib on intracellular calcium levels, autophagy, and apoptosis in CML-PBL cells, Cell Cycle. 12 (2013) 2839–2848. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.25920.
- [331] P. Tseng, H. Lin, J. Zhu, K.-F. Chen, E.M. Hade, D.C. Young, J.C. Byrd, M. Grever, K. Johnson, B.J. Druker, C. Chen, Synergistic interactions between imatinib

mesylate and the novel phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 inhibitor OSU-03012 in overcoming imatinib mesylate resistance., Blood. 105 (2005) 4021–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-07-2967.

- [332] E. Jabbour, H. Kantarjian, Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2018 update on diagnosis, therapy and monitoring, Am. J. Hematol. 93 (2018) 442–459. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25011.
- [333] F.E. Nicolini, G.W. Basak, D.W. Kim, E. Olavarria, J. Pinilla-Ibarz, J.F. Apperley, T. Hughes, D. Niederwieser, M.J. Mauro, C. Chuah, A. Hochhaus, G. Martinelli, M. DerSarkissian, M.S. Duh, L.J. McGarry, H.M. Kantarjian, J.E. Cortes, Overall survival with ponatinib versus allogeneic stem cell transplantation in Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias with the T315I mutation, Cancer. 123 (2017) 2875–2880. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30558.
- [334] E. Weisberg, A.K. Azab, P.W. Manley, A.L. Kung, A.L. Christie, R. Bronson, I.M. Ghobrial, J.D. Griffin, Inhibition of CXCR4 in CML cells disrupts their interaction with the bone marrow microenvironment and sensitizes them to nilotinib., Leukemia. 26 (2012) 985–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2011.360.
- [335] B. Zhang, S. Chu, P. Agarwal, V.L. Campbell, L. Hopcroft, H.G. Jørgensen, A. Lin, K. Gaal, T.L. Holyoake, R. Bhatia, Inhibition of interleukin-1 signaling enhances elimination of tyrosine kinase inhibitor-treated CML stem cells, Blood. 128 (2016) 2671–2682. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-11-679928.
- [336] P. Podkalicka, O. Mucha, A. Józkowicz, J. Dulak, A. Łoboda, Heme oxygenase inhibition in cancers: possible tools and targets., Contemp. Oncol. (Poznan, Poland). 22 (2018) 23–32. https://doi.org/10.5114/wo.2018.73879.
- [337] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.

B. REFERENCES CHAPTER 2

- Canadian cancer society's advisory committee on cancer statistics. Canadian cancer statistics 2015. Toronto, ON: Canadian cancer society, www.cancer.ca/statistics. Last access: July 2016.
- J.Y. Krzeszinski, Y. Wan, New therapeutic targets for cancer bone metastasis., Trends. Pharmacol. Sci. 36 (2015) 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.04.006.
- J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748.
- [4] R.O. Hynes, Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines., Cell. 110 (2002) 673–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00971-6.
- [5] C.K. Miranti, J.S. Brugge, Sensing the environment: a historical perspective on integrin signal transduction., Nat. Cell. Biol. 4 (2002) E83–E90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0402-e83.
- [6] D. Barkan, L.H. El Touny, A.M. Michalowski, J.A. Smith, I. Chu, A.S. Davis, J.D. Webster, S. Hoover, R.M. Simpson, J. Gauldie, J.E. Green, Metastatic growth from dormant cells induced by a Col-I-enriched fibrotic environment., Cancer. Res. 70 (2010) 5706–5716. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2356.
- [7] D. Barkan, H. Kleinman, J.L. Simmons, H. Asmussen, A.K. Kamaraju, M.J. Hoenorhoff, Z.Y. Liu, S.V. Costes, E.H. Cho, S. Lockett, C. Khanna, A.F. Chambers, J.E. Green, Inhibition of metastatic outgrowth from single dormant tumor cells by targeting the cytoskeleton., Cancer. Res. 68 (2008) 6241–6250. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6849.
- [8] F. Wang, R.K. Hansen, D. Radisky, T. Yoneda, M.H. Barcellos-Hoff, O.W. Petersen, E.A. Turley, M.J. Bissell, Phenotypic reversion or death of cancer cells by altering signaling pathways in three-dimensional contexts., J. Natl. Cancer. Inst. 94 (2002) 1494–1503. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/94.19.1494.
- [9] P.B. dos Santos, J.S. Zanetti, A. Ribeiro-Silva, and E.I. Beltrao, Beta 1 integrin predicts survival in breast cancer: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study., Diagn. Pathol. 7 (2012) 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-7-104.
- [10] E. S. Yao, H. Zhang, Y. Y. Chen, B. Lee, K. Chew, D. Moore, and C. Park, Increased β1 integrin is associated with decreased survival in invasive breast cancer., Cancer. Res. 67 (2007) 659–664. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2768.
- [11] H. Lahlou, W.J. Muller, β1-integrins signaling and mammary tumor progression in

transgenic mouse models: implications for human breast cancer., Breast. Cancer. Res. 13 (2011) 229. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2905.

- [12] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A. Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti-α5β1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors., Cancer. Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014) 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.
- [13] S. Hou, T. Isaji, Q. Hang, S. Im, T. Fukuda, J. Gu, Distinct effects of β1 integrin on cell proliferation and cellular signaling in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells., Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 18430. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18430.
- [14] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-integrin circumvents the antiproliferative effects of trastuzumab in human epidermal growth factor receptor-2-positive breast cancer., Cancer. Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-09-1591.
- [15] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S.A. Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer. Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [16] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen., Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621-1626. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [17] D.E. White, N.A. Kurpios, D. Zuo, J.A. Hassell, S. Blaess, U. Mueller, and W.J. Muller, Targeted disruption of β1-integrin in a transgenic mouse model of human breast cancer reveals an essential role in mammary tumor induction., Cancer. Cell. 6 (2004) 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.06.025.
- [18] O. Pontiggia, R. Sampayo, D. Raffo, A. Motter, R. Xu, M.J. Bissell, E.B. Joffé, M. Simian, The tumor microenvironment modulates tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer: a role for soluble stromal factors and fibronectin through β1 integrin., Breast. Cancer. Res. Treat. 133 (2012) 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1766-x.
- [19] J.M. Nam, Y. Onodera, M.J. Bissell, C.C. Park, Breast cancer cells in threedimensional culture display an enhanced radioresponse after coordinate targeting of integrin α5β1 and fibronectin., Cancer. Res. 70 (2010) 5238–5248.

https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2319.

- [20] A. Nista, C. Leonetti, G. Bernardini, M. Mattioni, A. Santoni, Functional role of α4β1 and α5β1 integrin fibronectin receptors expressed on adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cells., Int. J. Cancer. 72 (1997) 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19970703)72:1<133::aid-ijc19>3.0.co;2-k.
- [21] P.S. Steeg, Targeting metastasis., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 16 (2016) 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.25.
- [22] L. Thibaudeau, A.V. Taubenberger, C. Theodoropoulos, B.M. Holzapfer, O. Ramuz, M. Straub, D.W. Hutmacher, New mechanistic insights of integrin β1 in breast cancer bone colonization., Oncotarget. 6 (2014) 332–344. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2788.
- [23] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods. Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8 1.
- [24] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. Uludağ, Targeting cell cycle proteins in breast cancer cells with siRNA by using lipid-substituted polyethylenimines., Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [25] H. Jiang, C. Secretan, T. Gao, K. Bagnall, G. Korbutt, J. Lakey, N.M. Jomha, The development of osteoblasts from stem cells to supplement fusion of the spine during surgery for AIS., Stud. Health. Technol. Inform. 123 (2006) 467–472.
- [26] K. C. Remant Bahadur, B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Lavasanifar, and H. Uludağ, Lipid substitution on low molecular weight (0.6-2.0 kDa) polyethylenimine leads to a higher zeta potential of plasmid DNA and enhances transgene expression., Acta. Biomater. 7 (2011) 2209–2217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.01.027.
- [27] R. Bahadur K. C. and H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–892. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [28] M.J. Humphries, Cell adhesion assays., Methods. Mol. Biol. 522 (2009) 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-413-1_14.
- [29] H. Gul-Uludağ, J. Valencia-Serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-Curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, and H. Uludağ, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34+ acute myeloid leukemia cells., Leuk. Res. 38 (2014) 1299–1308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [30] X. Wang, X. Wang, R.K. Varma, L. Beauchamp, S. Magdaleno, and T.J. Sendera,

Selection of hyperfunctional siRNAs with improved potency and specificity., Nucleic. Acids. Res. 37 (2009) e152. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp864.

- [31] L. Wei-Siong, G. Mary-Shi-Ying, O. Melissa-Hui-Ling, C. Choy-Hoong, Lauric acid abolishes interferon-gamma (IFN-γ)-induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression in human macrophages., Asian. Pac. J. Reprod. 4 (2015) 217-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjr.2015.06.005.
- [32] L. Zhao, M.J. Kwon, S. Huang, J.Y. Lee, K. Fukase, N. Inohara, D.H. Hwang, Differential modulation of Nods signaling pathways by fatty acids in human colonic epithelial HCT116 cells., J. Biol. Chem. 282(2007) 11618-11628. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M608644200.
- [33] D.E. White and W.J. Muller, Multifaceted roles of integrins in breast cancer metastasis., J. Mammary. Gland. Biol. Neoplasia. 12 (2007) 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-007-9045-5.
- [34] C.C. Park, H.J. Zhang, E.S. Yao, C.J. Park, and M.J. Bissell, β1 Integrin Inhibition Dramatically Enhances Radiotherapy Efficacy in Human Breast Cancer Xenografts., Cancer. Res. 68 (2008) 4398–4405. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6390.
- [35] A. Lundström, J. Holmbom, C. Lindqvist, and T. Nordström, The role of α2β1 and α3β1 integrin receptors in the initial anchoring of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells to cortical bone matrix,. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250 (1998) 735–740. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9389.
- [36] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, and A. Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 expression in bone-metastasizing cancer cells by type I collagen through integrin α1β1 and α2β1-p38 MAPK Signaling., Anticancer. Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313.
- [37] D.H. Kim and J.J. Rossi, Strategies for silencing human disease using RNA interference., Nat. Rev. Genet. 8 (2007) 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2006.
- [38] K.C. Remant Bahadur, C. Kucharski, and H. Uludağ, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells., J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [39] C.Y.M Hsu and H. Uludağ, Cellular uptake pathways of lipid-modified cationic polymers in gene delivery to primary cells., Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 7834–7848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.093.

- [40] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, P. Mahdipoor, C.Y.M. Hsu, and H. Uludağ, Effective down-regulation of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) by siRNA delivery using lipid-substituted aliphatic polymers., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 81 (2012) 33– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.01.011.
- [41] H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludag, Impact of lipid substitution on assembly and delivery of siRNA by cationic polymers., Macromol.Biosci.11(2011)662-672.https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ mabi. 2010 00402.
- [42] S.P. Persengiev, X. Zhu, and M.R. Green, Nonspecific, concentration-dependent stimulation and repression of mammalian gene expression by small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)., RNA. 10 (2004) 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna5160904.
- [43] D. Semizarov, L. Frost, A. Sarthy, P. Kroeger, D.N. Halbert, and S.W. Fesik, Specificity of short interfering RNA determined through gene expression signatures., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 100 (2003) 6347–6352. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1131959100.
- [44] B. Landry, H. Gül- Uludağ, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, and H. Uludağ, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia., J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [45] C. Sun, T. Tang, and H. Uludag, A molecular dynamics simulation study on the effect of lipid substitution on polyethylenimine mediated siRNA complexation., Biomaterials.34(2013)2822–2833.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01.011.
- [46] A. Falamarzian, H.M. Aliabadi, O. Molavi, J.M. Seubert, R. Lai, H. Uludağ, A. Lavasanifar, Effective down-regulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) by polyplexes of siRNA and lipid-substituted polyethyleneimine for sensitization of breast tumor cells to conventional chemotherapy., J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 102 (2014) 3216–3228. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34992.
- [47] A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, and C.X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2014) 5477– 5482. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.
- [48] P. Nisticò, F. Di. Modugno, S. Spada, and M.J. Bissell, β1 and β4 integrins: from breast development to clinical practice., Breast. Cancer. Res. 16 (2014) 459. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-014-0459-x.

- [49] N. Rucci, M. Capulli, O.K. Olstad, P. Önnerfjord, V. Tillgren, K.M. Gautvik, D. Heinegård, and A. Teti, The α2β1 binding domain of chondroadherin inhibits breast cancer-induced bone metastases and impairs primary tumour growth: a preclinical study., Cancer.Lett.358(2015) 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.03 2.
- [50] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk , L. H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell. Res. 230 (1997) 111-120. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [51] C.C. Park, H. Zhang, M. Pallavicini, J.W. Gray, F. Baehner, C.J. Park, and M. J. Bissell, β1 integrin inhibitory antibody induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells, inhibits growth, and distinguishes malignant from normal phenotype in three dimensional cultures and in vivo., Cancer. Res. 66 (2006) 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3071
- [52] L. Huck, S.M. Pontier, D.M. Zuo, and W.J. Muller, β1-integrin is dispensable for the induction of ErbB2 mammary tumors but plays a critical role in the metastatic phase of tumor progression., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 107 (2010) 15559–15564. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1003034107.
- [53] F. Aoudjit and K. Vuori, Integrin signaling inhibits paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells., Oncogene. 20 (2001) 4995–5004.https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc. 1204554.

C. REFERENCES CHAPTER 3

- [1] D.R. Brenner, H.K. Weir, A.A. Demers, L.F. Ellison, C. Louzado, A. Shaw, D. Turner, R.R. Woods, L.M. Smith, Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020., CMAJ. 192 (2020) E199–E205. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.191292.
- [2] A.G. Waks, E.P. Winer, Breast Cancer Treatment, JAMA. 321 (2019) 288. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323.
- [3] J. Mehanna, F.G.H. Haddad, R. Eid, M. Lambertini, H.R. Kourie, Triple-negative breast cancer: Current perspective on the evolving therapeutic landscape, Int. J. Womens. Health. 11 (2019) 431–437. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S178349.
- [4] Y. Sun, L. Ma, The emerging molecular machinery and therapeutic targets of metastasis, 36 (2015) 349–359.
- [5] G. Bendas, L. Borsig, Cancer cell adhesion and metastasis: Selectins, integrins, and the inhibitory potential of heparins, Int. J. Cell Biol. 2012 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/676731.
- [6] R. Singhai, V.W. Patil, S.R. Jaiswal, S.D. Patil, M.B. Tayade, A. V. Patil, E-Cadherin as a diagnostic biomarker in breast cancer., N. Am. J. Med. Sci. 3 (2011) 227–33. https://doi.org/10.4297/najms.2011.3227.
- [7] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [8] X. Yin, T. Xiang, J. Mu, H. Mao, L. Li, X. Huang, C. Li, Y. Feng, X. Luo, Y. Wei, W. Peng, G. Ren, Q. Tao, Protocadherin 17 functions as a tumor suppressor suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling and cell metastasis and is frequently methylated in breast cancer, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 51720–51732. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10102.
- [9] S. Li, S. Li, Y. Sun, L. Li, The expression of β-catenin in different subtypes of breast cancer and its clinical significance, Tumor Biol. 35 (2014) 7693–7698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-1975-0.
- [10] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [11] C.M. Fife, J.A. McCarroll, M. Kavallaris, Movers and shakers: Cell cytoskeleton in cancer metastasis, Br. J. Pharmacol. 171 (2014) 5507–5523. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12704.
- [12] B. Hu, L. Zhong, Y. Weng, L. Peng, Y. Huang, Y. Zhao, X.J. Liang, Therapeutic siRNA: state of the art, Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 5 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0207-x.

- [13] P.N. Hawkins, D. Ph, F.M. Sci, T. Mant, J. Perez, J. Chiesa, S. Warrington, E. Tranter, M. Munisamy, R. Falzone, J. Harrop, J. Cehelsky, B.R. Bettencourt, D. Ph, M. Geissler, J.S. Butler, D. Ph, A. Sehgal, D. Ph, R.E. Meyers, D. Ph, Q. Chen, D. Ph, T. Borland, R.M. Hutabarat, D. Ph, V.A. Clausen, D. Ph, R. Alvarez, D. Ph, K. Fitzgerald, D. Ph, C. Gamba-vitalo, D. Ph, S. V Nochur, D. Ph, Safety and Efficacy of RNAi Therapy for Transthyretin Amyloidosis, (2013) 819–829. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1208760.
- [14] H. Uludag, A. Ubeda, A. Ansari, At the intersection of biomaterials and gene therapy: Progress in non-viral delivery of nucleic acids, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7 (2019) 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00131.
- [15] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [16] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [17] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [18] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo., Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.
- [19] R. Kc, B. Thapa, A. Ubeda, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, BCR-Abl Silencing by siRNA: A Potent Approach to Sensitize Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cells to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy., Stem Cells Dev. 28 (2019) 734–744. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2018.0196.
- [20] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [21] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [22] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [23] M. Rouanet, M. Lebrin, F. Gross, B. Bournet, P. Cordelier, L. Buscail, Gene

Therapy for Pancreatic Cancer: Specificity, Issues and Hopes., Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18061231.

- [24] A.N. Meleshko, N.A. Petrovskaya, N. Savelyeva, K.P. Vashkevich, S.N. Doronina, N. V. Sachivko, Phase I clinical trial of idiotypic DNA vaccine administered as a complex with polyethylenimine to patients with B-cell lymphoma, Hum. Vaccines Immunother. 13 (2017) 1398–1403. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2017.1285477.
- [25] C.Y.M. Hsu, H. Uludaĝ, Cellular uptake pathways of lipid-modified cationic polymers in gene delivery to primary cells, Biomaterials. 33 (2012) 7834–7848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.093.
- [26] L.C. Rose, C. Kucharski, H. Uludaĝ, Protein expression following non-viral delivery of plasmid DNA coding for basic FGF and BMP-2 in a rat ectopic model, Biomaterials.
 33 (2012) 3363–3374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.01.031.
- [27] B. Sahin, J. Fife, M.B. Parmar, J. Valencia-Serna, H. Gul-Uludağ, X. Jiang, M. Weinfeld, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, siRNA therapy in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma cells using polymeric carriers., Biomaterials. 35 (2014) 9382–9394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.07.029.
- [28] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [29] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [30] G. Yan, V. Chen, X. Lu, S. Lu, A signal-based method for finding driver modules of breast cancer metastasis to the lung, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09951-2.
- [31] E. Pick, Y. Kluger, J.M. Giltnane, C. Moeder, R.L. Camp, D.L. Rimm, H.M. Kluger, High HSP90 expression is associated with decreased survival in breast cancer, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 2932–2937. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4511.
- [32] V. Condelli, F. Crispo, M. Pietrafesa, G. Lettini, D.S. Matassa, F. Esposito, M. Landriscina, F. Maddalena, HSP90 Molecular Chaperones, Metabolic Rewiring, and Epigenetics: Impact on Tumor Progression and Perspective for Anticancer Therapy, Cells. 8 (2019) 532. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8060532.
- [33] L.S. Kim, J.H. Kim, Heat shock protein as molecular targets for breast cancer therapeutics, J. Breast Cancer. 14 (2011) 167–174.

https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2011.14.3.167.

- [34] S. Takayama, J.C. Reed, S. Homma, Heat-shock proteins as regulators of apoptosis., Oncogene. 22 (2003) 9041–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207114.
- [35] A.E. Rodríguez-Vicente, D. Quwaider, R. Benito, I. Misiewicz-Krzeminska, M. Hernández-Sánchez, A.G. de Coca, R. Fisac, J.M. Alonso, C. Zato, J.F. de Paz, J.L. García, M.E. Sarasquete, J.Á. Hernández, J.M. Corchado, M. González, N.C. Gutiérrez, J.M. Hernández-Rivas, MicroRNA-223 is a novel negative regulator of HSP90B1 in CLL, BMC Cancer. 15 (2015) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1212-2.
- [36] Y.R. Xu, Z.W. Chen, G.H. Zhang, Y.F. Xi, R.F. Sun, X.G. Wang, W.Y. Wang, F. Chai, X.F. Li, HSP90B1 overexpression predicts poor prognosis in NSCLC patients, Tumor Biol. 37 (2016) 14321–14328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5304-7.
- [37] G. Li, M. Cai, D. Fu, K. Chen, M. Sun, Z. Cai, B. Cheng, Heat shock protein 90B1 plays an oncogenic role and is a target of microRNA-223 in human osteosarcoma, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 30 (2012) 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1159/000343336.
- [38] S.Z. Usmani, R.D. Bona, G. Chiosis, Z. Li, The anti-myeloma activity of a novel purine scaffold HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 is via inhibition of both HSP90A and HSP90B1, J. Hematol. Oncol. 3 (2010) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8722-3-40.
- [39] L.C. Cerchietti, E.C. Lopes, S.N. Yang, K. Hatzi, K.L. Bunting, L.A. Tsikitas, A. Mallik, A.I. Robles, J. Walling, L. Varticovski, R. Shaknovich, K.N. Bhalla, G. Chiosis, A. Melnick, A purine scaffold Hsp90 inhibitor destabilizes BCL-6 and has specific antitumor activity in BCL-6-dependent B cell lymphomas., Nat. Med. 15 (2009) 1369–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2059.
- [40] M. Breinig, E. Caldas-Lopes, B. Goeppert, M. Malz, R. Rieker, F. Bergmann, P. Schirmacher, M. Mayer, G. Chiosis, M.A. Kern, Targeting heat shock protein 90 with non-quinone inhibitors: a novel chemotherapeutic approach in human hepatocellular carcinoma., Hepatology. 50 (2009) 102–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.22912.
- [41] T.R. Cawthorn, J.C. Moreno, M. Dharsee, D. Tran-Thanh, S. Ackloo, P.H. Zhu, G. Sardana, J. Chen, P. Kupchak, L.M. Jacks, N.A. Miller, B.J. Youngson, V. Iakovlev, C.J. Guidos, K.A. Vallis, K.R. Evans, D. McCready, W.L. Leong, S.J. Done, Proteomic analyses reveal high expression of decorin and endoplasmin (HSP90B1) are associated with breast cancer metastasis and decreased survival, PLoS One. 7 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030992.
- [42] S. Liu, R. Li, S. Zuo, R. Luo, W. Fang, Y. Xie, GRP94 overexpression as an indicator of unfavorable outcomes in breast cancer patients., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 11 (2018) 3061–3067.
- [43] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M. Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra,

A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.

- [44] N. Santana-Codina, A. Marcé-Grau, L. Muixí, C. Nieva, M. Marro, D. Sebastián, J.P. Muñoz, A. Zorzano, A. Sierra, Grp94 is involved in the lipid phenotype of brain metastatic cells, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163883.
- [45] B. Nami, A. Ghasemi-Dizgah, A. Vaseghi, Overexpression of molecular chaperons GRP78 and GRP94 in CD44(hi)/CD24(lo) breast cancer stem cells., Bioimpacts. 6 (2016) 105–10. https://doi.org/10.15171/bi.2016.16.
- [46] N. Dejeans, C. Glorieux, S. Guenin, R. Beck, B. Sid, R. Rousseau, B. Bisig, P. Delvenne, P. Buc Calderon, J. Verrax, Overexpression of GRP94 in breast cancer cells resistant to oxidative stress promotes high levels of cancer cell proliferation and migration: Implications for tumor recurrence, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (2012) 993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.12.019.
- [47] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [48] X. Chen, P. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Li, L. Fu, H. Fu, J. Zhu, Z. Chen, W. Zhu, C. Xie, L. Lou, DCZ3112, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, exerts potent antitumor activity against HER2-positive breast cancer through disruption of Hsp90-Cdc37 interaction, Cancer Lett. 434 (2018) 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.07.012.
- [49] P.-C. Zhang, X. Liu, M.-M. Li, Y.-Y. Ma, H.-T. Sun, X.-Y. Tian, Y. Wang, M. Liu, L.-S. Fu, Y.-F. Wang, H.-Y. Chen, Z. Liu, AT-533, a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, inhibits breast cancer growth and HIF-1α/VEGF/VEGFR-2-mediated angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, Biochem. Pharmacol. 172 (2020) 113771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2019.113771.
- [50] E.M. Gartner, P. Silverman, M. Simon, L. Flaherty, J. Abrams, P. Ivy, P.M. Lorusso, A phase II study of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin in metastatic or locally advanced, unresectable breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 131 (2012) 933–937. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1866-7.
- [51] Z.Q. Lian, Q. Wang, W.P. Li, A.Q. Zhang, L. Wu, Screening of significantly hypermethylated genes in breast cancer using microarray-based methylated-CpG island recovery assay and identification of their expression levels, Int. J. Oncol. 41 (2012) 629–638. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2012.1464.
- [52] B. Garmy-Susini, C.J. Avraamides, J.S. Desgrosellier, M.C. Schmid, P. Foubert, L.G. Ellies, A.M. Lowy, S.L. Blair, S.R. Vandenberg, B. Datnow, H.Y. Wang, D.A. Cheresh, J. Varner, PI3Ka activates integrin α4β1 to establish a metastatic niche in lymph nodes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (2013) 9042–9047.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219603110.

- [53] T. Hu, R. Zhou, Y. Zhao, G. Wu, Integrin α6/Akt/Erk signaling is essential for human breast cancer resistance to radiotherapy, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep33376.
- [54] G. Bon, V. Folgiero, S. Di Carlo, A. Sacchi, R. Falcioni, Involvement of alpha6beta4 integrin in the mechanisms that regulate breast cancer progression., Breast Cancer Res. 9 (2007) 203. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr1651.
- [55] K. Arihiro, K. Inai, K. Kurihara, S. Takeda, N. Khatun, K. Kuroi, T. Toge, A role of VLA-6 laminin receptor in invasion of breast carcinoma, Pathol. Int. 43 (1993) 662–669. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.1993.tb02550.x.
- [56] K.A. Williams, M. Lee, Y. Hu, J. Andreas, S.J. Patel, S. Zhang, P. Chines, A. Elkahloun, S. Chandrasekharappa, J.S. Gutkind, A.A. Molinolo, N.P.S. Crawford, A Systems Genetics Approach Identifies CXCL14, ITGAX, and LPCAT2 as Novel Aggressive Prostate Cancer Susceptibility Genes, PLoS Genet. 10 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004809.
- [57] D.E. Stange, B. Radlwimmer, F. Schubert, F. Traub, A. Pich, G. Toedt, F. Mendrzyk, U. Lehmann, R. Eils, H. Kreipe, P. Lichter, High-resolution genomic profiling reveals association of chromosomal aberrations on 1q and 16p with histologic and genetic subgroups of invasive breast cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (2006) 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1633.
- [58] Ş. Kale, A.F. Korcum, E. Dündar, N. Erin, HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 increases radiosensitivity of breast cancer cells metastasized to visceral organs and alters the levels of inflammatory mediators., Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 393 (2020) 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-019-01725-z.
- [59] K. Liu, J. Chen, F. Yang, Z. Zhou, Y. Liu, Y. Guo, H. Hu, H. Gao, H. Li, W. Zhou, B. Qin, Y. Wang, BJ-B11, an Hsp90 Inhibitor, Constrains the Proliferation and Invasion of Breast Cancer Cells, Front. Oncol. 9 (2019) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01447.
- [60] K. Jhaveri, S. Chandarlapaty, D. Lake, T. Gilewski, M. Robson, S. Goldfarb, P. Drullinsky, S. Sugarman, C. Wasserheit-Leiblich, J. Fasano, M.E. Moynahan, G. D'Andrea, K. Lim, L. Reddington, S. Haque, S. Patil, L. Bauman, V. Vukovic, I. El-Hariry, C. Hudis, S. Modi, A phase II open-label study of ganetespib, a novel heat shock protein 90 inhibitor for patients with Metastatic breast cancer, Clin. Breast Cancer. 14 (2014) 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clbc.2013.12.012.
- [61] D. Kim, M.A. Behlke, S.D. Rose, M. Chang, S. Choi, J.J. Rossi, Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy., Nat. Biotechnol. 23 (2005) 222–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1051.
- [62] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.

- [63] E. Larsson, C. Sander, D. Marks, mRNA turnover rate limits siRNA and microRNA efficacy., Mol. Syst. Biol. 6 (2010) 433. https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2010.89.
- [64] D. Semizarov, L. Frost, A. Sarthy, P. Kroeger, D.N. Halbert, S.W. Fesik, Specificity of short interfering RNA determined through gene expression signatures, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 6347–6352. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1131959100.
- [65] C.M. Ferguson, D. Echeverria, M. Hassler, S. Ly, A. Khvorova, Cell Type Impacts Accessibility of mRNA to Silencing by RNA Interference., Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids. 21 (2020) 384–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2020.06.006.
- [66] P. Buc Calderon, A.L. Sennesael, C. Glorieux, Glucose-regulated protein of 94 kDa contributes to the development of an aggressive phenotype in breast cancer cells, Biomed. Pharmacother. 105 (2018) 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.05.106.
- [67] B. Liu, Z. Li, Endoplasmic reticulum HSP90bl (gp96, grp94) optimizes B-cell function via chaperoning integrin and TLR but not immunoglobulin, Blood. 112 (2008) 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-143107.
- [68] F. Hong, B. Liu, G. Chiosis, D.T. Gewirth, Z. Li, α7 helix region of αI domain is crucial for integrin binding to endoplasmic reticulum chaperone gp96 A potential therapeutic target for cancer metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (2013) 18243–18248. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.468850.

D. REFERENCES CHAPTER 4

- J. V. Melo, Chronic Myeloid Leukemia, Hematology. 2003 (2003) 132–152. doi:10.1182/asheducation-2003.1.132.
- [2] J.D. Rowley, Letter: A new consistent chromosomal abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukaemia identified by quinacrine fluorescence and Giemsa staining., Nature. 243 (1973) 290–3. doi:10.1038/243290a0.
- [3] H.M. Kantarjian, M. Talpaz, F. Giles, S.O. Brien, J. Cortes, New Insights into the Pathophysiology of Chronic Myeloid Leukemia OF, (2006) 913–924.
- [4] B.J. Druker, S. Tamura, E. Buchdunger, S. Ohno, G.M. Segal, S. Fanning, J. Zimmermann, N.B. Lydon, Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr–Abl positive cells, Nat. Med. 2 (1996) 561–566. doi:10.1038/nm0596-561.
- B.J. Druker, M. Talpaz, D.J. Resta, B. Peng, E. Buchdunger, J.M. Ford, N.B. Lydon,
 H. Kantarjian, R. Capdeville, S. Ohno-Jones, C.L. Sawyers, Efficacy and safety of
 a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia.,
 N. Engl. J. Med. 344 (2001) 1031–7. doi:10.1056/NEJM200104053441401.
- [6] G. Marcucci, D. Perrotti, M.A. Caligiuri, Understanding the Molecular Basis of Imatinib Mesylate Therapy in Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia and the Related Mechanisms of Resistance: Commentary re: A. N. Mohamed et al., The Effect of Imatinib Mesylate on Patients with Philadelphia Chromosome-positive, Clin. Cancer Res. 9 (2003) 1248–1252. http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/9/4/1248.full.
- M. Talpaz, N.P. Shah, H. Kantarjian, N. Donato, J. Nicoll, R. Paquette, J. Cortes, S. O'Brien, C. Nicaise, E. Bleickardt, M.A. Blackwood-Chirchir, V. Iyer, T.-T. Chen, F. Huang, A.P. Decillis, C.L. Sawyers, Dasatinib in imatinib-resistant Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias., N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2531–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa055229.
- [8] H. Kantarjian, F. Giles, L. Wunderle, K. Bhalla, S. O'Brien, B. Wassmann, C. Tanaka, P. Manley, P. Rae, W. Mietlowski, K. Bochinski, A. Hochhaus, J.D. Griffin, D. Hoelzer, M. Albitar, M. Dugan, J. Cortes, L. Alland, O.G. Ottmann, Nilotinib in Imatinib-Resistant CML and Philadelphia Chromosome–Positive ALL, N. Engl. J. Med. 354 (2006) 2542–2551. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa055104.
- [9] X. Xie, H. Zhang, Expert Opinion on Orphan Drugs Orphan drug development for targeting chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells, 8707 (2016). doi:10.1080/21678707.2016.1202820.

- [10] J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leukemia. 15 (2001) 1232–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11480565.
- [11] B.I. Lundell, J.B. McCarthy, N.L. Kovach, C.M. Verfaillie, Activation-dependent alpha5beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion to fibronectin decreases proliferation of chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitors and K562 cells., Blood. 87 (1996) 2450– 8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8630410.
- [12] F. Vianello, F. Villanova, V. Tisato, S. Lymperi, K.K. Ho, A.R. Gomes, D. Marin, D. Bonnet, J. Apperley, E.W.F. Lam, F. Dazzi, Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells non-selectively protect chronic myeloid leukemia cells from imatinib-induced apoptosis via the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis, Haematologica. 95 (2010) 1081–1089. doi:10.3324/haematol.2009.017178.
- [13] H. van der Kuip, A.W. Goetz, C. Miething, J. Duyster, W.E. Aulitzky, Adhesion to fibronectin selectively protects Bcr-Abl+ cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis., Blood. 98 (2001) 1532–41. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.5.1532.
- [14] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 10 (2010) 9–22. doi:10.1038/nrc2748\rnrc2748 [pii].
- [15] J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leukemia. 15 (2001) 1232–9. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [16] F.A. Fierro, A. Taubenberger, P.H. Puech, G. Ehninger, M. Bornhauser, D.J. Muller, T. Illmer, BCR/ABL Expression of Myeloid Progenitors Increases β1-Integrin Mediated Adhesion to Stromal Cells, J. Mol. Biol. 377 (2008) 1082–1093. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.01.085.
- [17] Y. Li, N. Clough, X. Sun, W. Yu, B.L. Abbott, C.J. Hogan, Z. Dai, Bcr-Abl induces abnormal cytoskeleton remodeling, beta1 integrin clustering and increased cell adhesion to fibronectin through the Abl interactor 1 pathway., J. Cell Sci. 120 (2007) 1436–46. doi:10.1242/jcs.03430.
- [18] R.R. Nair, J. Tolentino, L.A. Hazlehurst, The bone marrow microenvironment as a sanctuary for minimal residual disease in CML, Biochem. Pharmacol. 80 (2010) 602–612. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2010.04.003.
- [19] X. Li, H. Miao, Y. Zhang, W. Li, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, L. Zhao, Q. Guo, Bone marrow

microenvironment confers imatinib resistance to chronic myelogenous leukemia and oroxylin A reverses the resistance by suppressing Stat3 pathway, Arch. Toxicol. 89 (2015) 121–136. doi:10.1007/s00204-014-1226-6.

- [20] M. Amarzguioui, J.J. Rossi, Principles of Dicer substrate (D-siRNA) design and function., Methods Mol. Biol. 442 (2008) 3–10. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-191-8 1.
- [21] M.B. Parmar, H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, C. Kucharski, R. Maranchuk, J.C. Hugh, H. UludaÄŸ, Targeting Cell Cycle Proteins in Breast Cancer Cells with siRNA by Using Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 3 (2015) 1–14. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2015.00014.
- [22] H. Jiang, C. Secretan, T. Gao, K. Bagnall, G. Korbutt, J. Lakey, N.M. Jomha, The development of osteoblasts from stem cells to supplement fusion of the spine during surgery for AIS., Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 123 (2006) 467–72. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17108470.
- [23] K.C. Remant Bahadur, B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludag, Lipid substitution on low molecular weight (0.6-2.0 kDa) polyethylenimine leads to a higher zeta potential of plasmid DNA and enhances transgene expression, Acta Biomater. 7 (2011) 2209–2217. doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2011.01.027.
- [24] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. doi:10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [25] B. Landry, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Samuel, H. Gul-Uludag, X. Jiang, O. Kutsch, H. Uludag, Effective Non-Viral Delivery of siRNA to Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells with Lipid-Substituted Polyethylenimines, PLoS One. 7 (2012). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044197.
- [26] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. doi:10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [27] H. Gul-uludag, J. Valencia-serna, C. Kucharski, L.A. Marquez-curtis, X. Jiang, L. Larratt, A. Janowska-wieczorek, H. Uludag, Polymeric nanoparticle-mediated silencing of CD44 receptor in CD34 + acute myeloid leukemia cells, 38 (2014) 1299–1308. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.008.
- [28] M.J. Humphries, Cell adhesion assays., Methods Mol. Biol. 522 (2009) 203–10. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-413-1 14.
- [29] L.A. Hazlehurst, R.F. Argilagos, W.S. Dalton, β1 integrin mediated adhesion increases Bim protein degradation and contributes to drug resistance in leukaemia

cells, Br. J. Haematol. 136 (2007) 269–275. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06435.x.

- [30] M.D. Kelley, R. Phomakay, M. Lee, V. Niedzwiedz, R. Mayo, Retinoic acid receptor gamma impacts cellular adhesion, Alpha5Beta1 integrin expression and proliferation in K562 cells., PLoS One. 12 (2017) e0178116. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178116.
- [31] M. Järvinen, J. Ylänne, I. Virtanen, The effect of differentiation inducers on the integrin expression of K562 erythroleukemia cells., Cell Biol. Int. 17 (1993) 399– 408. doi:10.1006/cbir.1993.1078.
- [32] X. Meng, K. Cheng, O. Krohkin, a P. Mould, M.J. Humphries, W. Ens, K. Standing, J. a Wilkins, Evidence for the presence of a low-mass beta1 integrin on the cell surface., J. Cell Sci. 118 (2005) 4009–16. doi:10.1242/jcs.02520.
- [33] A. Dutta, T. Sen, A. Chatterjee, Culture of K562 human myeloid leukemia cells in presence of fibronectin expresses and secretes MMP-9 in serum-free culture medium., Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 3 (2010) 288–302.
- [34] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). doi:10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [35] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur KC, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery, Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. doi:10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [36] J. Valencia-Serna, P. Chevallier, R.B. Kc, G. Laroche, H. Uludağ, Fibronectinmodified surfaces for evaluating the influence of cell adhesion on sensitivity of leukemic cells to siRNA nanoparticles., Nanomedicine (Lond). 11 (2016) 1123–38. doi:10.2217/nnm.16.32.
- [37] A. Kumar, J. Bhattacharyya, B.G. Jaganathan, Adhesion to stromal cells mediates imatinib resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia through ERK and BMP signaling pathways, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 9535. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10373-3.
- [38] J.S. Damiano, A.E. Cress, L.A. Hazlehurst, A.A. Shtil, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR): role of integrins and resistance to apoptosis in human myeloma cell lines., Blood. 93 (1999) 1658–67. doi:10.1016/0014-4827(72)90265-0.
- [39] W. Guo-Bao, C. Xiao-Qin, G. Qi-Rong, L. Jie, L. Gui-Nan, L. Yue, Arsenic Trioxide overcomes cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance through downregulating the expression of beta(1)-integrin in K562 chronic myelogenous
leukemia cell line., Leuk. Lymphoma. 51 (2010) 1090–7. doi:10.3109/10428191003746315.

- [40] D. Van der Velde-Zimmermann, M.A. Verdaasdonk, L.H. Rademakers, R.A. De Weger, J.G. Van den Tweel, P. Joling, Fibronectin distribution in human bone marrow stroma: matrix assembly and tumor cell adhesion via alpha5 beta1 integrin., Exp. Cell Res. 230 (1997) 111–20. doi:10.1006/excr.1996.3405.
- [41] R. Salgia, J.L. Li, D.S. Ewaniuk, W. Pear, E. Pisick, S.A. Burky, T. Ernst, M. Sattler, L.B. Chen, J.D. Griffin, BCR/ABL induces multiple abnormalities of cytoskeletal function, J. Clin. Invest. 100 (1997) 46–57. doi:10.1172/JCI119520.
- [42] R.T. Williams, W. Den Besten, C.J. Sherr, Cytokine-dependent imatinib resistance in mouse BCR-ABL+, Arf-null lymphoblastic leukemia, Genes Dev. 21 (2007) 2283–2287. doi:10.1101/gad.1588607.
- [43] N.N. Bewry, R.R. Nair, M.F. Emmons, D. Boulware, J. Pinilla-Ibarz, L. a Hazlehurst, Stat3 contributes to resistance toward BCR-ABL inhibitors in a bone marrow microenvironment model of drug resistance., Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (2008) 3169–75. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0314.
- [44] A. Burchert, Y. Wang, D. Cai, N. von Bubnoff, P. Paschka, S. Müller-Brüsselbach, O.G. Ottmann, J. Duyster, A. Hochhaus, A. Neubauer, Compensatory PI3kinase/Akt/mTor activation regulates im'atinib resistance development, Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1774–1782. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403898.
- [45] J. Dengler, N. von Bubnoff, T. Decker, C. Peschel, J. Duyster, Combination of imatinib with rapamycin or RAD001 acts synergistically only in Bcr-Abl-positive cells with moderate resistance to imatinib., Leukemia. 19 (2005) 1835–8. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403848.
- [46] J.S. Damiano, L.A. Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR / ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and □ irradiation, (2001) 1232–1239.
- [47] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, PEI and its derivatives for gene therapy, in: Polym. Nanomater. Gene Ther., Elsevier, 2016: pp. 29–54. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-100520-0.00002-3.
- [48] Q. Peng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimines (PEI) prepared via thiolation of low molecular weight PEI as highly efficient gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 499–506. doi:10.1021/bc7003236.
- [49] C.-S. Cho, Design and Development of Degradable Polyethylenimines for Delivery

of DNA and Small Interfering RNA: An Updated Review, ISRN Mater. Sci. 2012 (2012) 1–24. doi:10.5402/2012/798247.

- [50] Q. Peng, C. Hu, J. Cheng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Influence of disulfide density and molecular weight on disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimine as gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 20 (2009) 340–346. doi:10.1021/bc800451j.
- [51] N.J. Sarma, A. Takeda, N.R. Yaseen, Colony Forming Cell (CFC) Assay for Human Hematopoietic Cells, J. Vis. Exp. (2010) 3–7. doi:10.3791/2195.
- [52] J.S. Damiano, L. a Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leuk. Off. J. Leuk. Soc. Am. Leuk. Res. Fund, U.K. 15 (2001) 1232– 1239. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [53] R. Bhatia, C.M. Verfaillie, Inhibition of BCR-ABL expression with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides restores beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion and proliferation inhibition in chronic myelogenous leukemia hematopoietic progenitors., Blood. 91 (1998) 3414–22. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9558400.

E. REFERENCES CHAPTER 5

- R. Mohammadinejad, A. Dehshahri, V. Sagar Madamsetty, M. Zahmatkeshan, S. Tavakol, P. Makvandi, D. Khorsandi, A. Pardakhty, M. Ashrafizadeh, E. Ghasemipour Afshar, A. Zarrabi, In vivo gene delivery mediated by non-viral vectors for cancer therapy., J. Control. Release. 325 (2020) 249–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.06.038.
- R. Kircheis, L. Wightman, E. Wagner, Design and gene delivery activity of modified polyethylenimines., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 53 (2001) 341–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(01)00202-2.
- [3] D.W. Pack, A.S. Hoffman, S. Pun, P.S. Stayton, DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF POLYMERS FOR GENE DELIVERY, 4 (2005) 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1775.
- [4] A. Elouahabi, J.M. Ruysschaert, Formation and intracellular trafficking of lipoplexes and polyplexes, Mol. Ther. 11 (2005) 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.12.006.
- [5] C.E. Thomas, A. Ehrhardt, M.A. Kay, Progress and problems with the use of viral vectors for gene therapy, Nat. Rev. Genet. 4 (2003) 346–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1066.
- [6] O. Boussif, F. Lezoualc'h, M.A. Zanta, M.D. Mergny, D. Scherman, B. Demeneix, J.P. Behr, A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7297–301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.16.7297.
- [7] M. Rodrigo Garzón, P. Berraondo, J. Crettaz, L. Ochoa, M. Vera, J.J. Lasarte, A. Vales, N. Van Rooijen, J. Ruiz, J. Prieto, J. Zulueta, G. González-Aseguinolaza, Induction of gp120-specific protective immune responses by genetic vaccination with linear polyethylenimine-plasmid complex, Vaccine. 23 (2005) 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.09.009.
- [8] P. Zhang, N. Xu, L. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Wang, K. Li, Z. Zeng, X. Wang, X. Zhang, C. Bai, A linear polyethylenimine mediated siRNA-based therapy targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor in SPC-A1 xenograft mice., Transl. Respir. Med. 1 (2013) 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2213-0802-1-2.
- [9] S. Kawakami, Y. Ito, P. Charoensit, F. Yamashita, M. Hashida, Evaluation of proinflammatory cytokine production induced by linear and branched polyethylenimine/plasmid DNA complexes in mice, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 317 (2006) 1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.100669.

- [10] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Size matters: Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly(ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45 (1999) 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::AID-JBM15>3.0.CO;2-Q.
- [11] K. Kunath, A. Von Harpe, D. Fischer, H. Petersen, U. Bickel, K. Voigt, T. Kissel, Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery: Comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine, J. Control. Release. 89 (2003) 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00076-2.
- H.M. Aliabadi, B. Landry, R.K. Bahadur, A. Neamnark, O. Suwantong, H. Uludağ, Impact of Lipid Substitution on Assembly and Delivery of siRNA by Cationic Polymers, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 662–672. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201000402.
- [13] B. Thapa, R. Kc, M. Bahniuk, J. Schmitke, M. Hitt, A. Lavasanifar, O. Kutsch, D.W. Seol, H. Uludag, Breathing New Life into TRAIL for Breast Cancer Therapy: Co-Delivery of pTRAIL and Complementary siRNAs Using Lipopolymers, Hum. Gene Ther. 30 (2019) 1531–1546. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2019.096.
- [14] K.C. Remant, B. Thapa, J. Valencia-Serna, S.S. Domun, C. Dimitroff, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, Cholesterol grafted cationic lipopolymers: Potential siRNA carriers for selective chronic myeloid leukemia therapy, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A. 108 (2020) 565–580. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.36837.
- [15] B. Thapa, S. Plianwong, K. Remant Bahadur, B. Rutherford, H. Uludal, Small hydrophobe substitution on polyethylenimine for plasmid DNA delivery: Optimal substitution is critical for effective delivery, Acta Biomater. 33 (2016) 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.025.
- [16] T. Bettinger, R.C. Carlisle, M.L. Read, M. Ogris, L.W. Seymour, Peptide-mediated RNA delivery: A novel approach for enhanced transfection of primary and postmitotic cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) 3882–3891. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/29.18.3882.
- [17] L.C. Rose, R. Fitzsimmons, P. Lee, R. Krawetz, D.E. Rancourt, H. Uludağ, Effect of basic fibroblast growth factor in mouse embryonic stem cell culture and osteogenic differentiation., J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 7 (2013) 371–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.532.
- [18] M.B. Parmar, B.E. Arteaga Ballesteros, T. Fu, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Multiple siRNA delivery against cell cycle and anti-apoptosis proteins using lipid-substituted polyethylenimine in triple-

negative breast cancer and nonmalignant cells, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A. 104 (2016) 3031–3044. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35846.

- [19] J. Valencia-Serna, H.M. Aliabadi, A. Manfrin, M. Mohseni, X. Jiang, H. Uludag, siRNA/lipopolymer nanoparticles to arrest growth of chronic myeloid leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 130 (2018) 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.06.018.
- [20] B. Landry, H. Gül-Uludal, S. Plianwong, C. Kucharski, Z. Zak, M.B. Parmar, O. Kutsch, H. Jiang, J. Brandwein, H. Uludal, Targeting CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by lipopolymer complexes of siRNA in acute myeloid leukemia, J. Control. Release. 224 (2016) 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.052.
- [21] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [22] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [23] H.M. Aliabadi, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, Polymeric delivery of siRNA for dual silencing of Mcl-1 and P-glycoprotein and apoptosis induction in drug-resistant breast cancer cells., Cancer Gene Ther. 20 (2013) 169–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2013.8.
- [24] D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, C. Kucharski, M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, Polymeric Delivery of siRNA against Integrin-β1 (CD29) to Reduce Attachment and Migration of Breast Cancer Cells, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201600430.
- [25] L.C. Rose, C. Kucharski, H. Uludaĝ, Protein expression following non-viral delivery of plasmid DNA coding for basic FGF and BMP-2 in a rat ectopic model, Biomaterials.
 33 (2012) 3363–3374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.01.031.
- [26] E.P. Rondon, H.A. Benabdoun, F. Vallières, M.S. Petrônio, M.J. Tiera, M. Benderdour, J.C. Fernandes, Evidence supporting the safety of pegylated diethylaminoethyl-chitosan polymer as a nanovector for gene therapy applications, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 15 (2020) 6183–6200. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S252397.
- [27] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to

understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.

- [28] P.W. Buehler, F. D'Agnillo, Toxicological consequences of extracellular hemoglobin: Biochemical and physiological perspectives, Antioxidants Redox Signal. 12 (2010) 275–291. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2799.
- [29] A.J. Schroit, J.W. Madsen, Y. Tanaka, In vivo recognition and clearance of red blood cells containing phosphatidylserine in their plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 5131–5138.
- [30] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Guidance for industry: Immunogenicity assessment for therapeutic protein products, FDA Maryl. (2014).
- [31] A. Ferrajoli, M.J. Keating, T. Manshouri, F.J. Giles, A. Dey, Z. Estrov, C.A. Koller, R. Kurzrock, D.A. Thomas, S. Faderl, S. Lerner, S. O'Brien, M. Albitar, The clinical significance of tumor necrosis factor-α plasma level in patients having chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Blood. 100 (2002) 1215–1219. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v100.4.1215.h81602001215 1215 1219.
- [32] P.W. Szlosarek, M.J. Grimshaw, H. Kulbe, J.L. Wilson, G.D. Wilbanks, F. Burke, F.R. Balkwill, Expression and regulation of tumor necrosis factor α in normal and malignant ovarian epithelium, Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0303.
- [33] V. Michalaki, K. Syrigos, P. Charles, J. Waxman, Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-α correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer, Br. J. Cancer. 90 (2004) 2312–2316. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601814.
- [34] S. Yuan, P. Carter, M. Bruzelius, M. Vithayathil, S. Kar, A.M. Mason, A. Lin, S. Burgess, S.C. Larsson, Effects of tumour necrosis factor on cardiovascular disease and cancer: A two-sample Mendelian randomization study, EBioMedicine. 59 (2020) 102956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102956.
- [35] R.E. Rossi, I. Parisi, E.J. Despott, A.K. Burroughs, J. O'Beirne, D. Conte, M.I. Hamilton, C.D. Murray, Anti-tumour necrosis factor agent and liver injury: Literature review, recommendations for management, World J. Gastroenterol. 20 (2014) 17352–17359. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i46.17352.
- [36] S. Zhao, J. Jiang, Y. Jing, W. Liu, X. Yang, X. Hou, L. Gao, L. Wei, The concentration of tumor necrosis factor-α determines its protective or damaging effect on liver injury by regulating Yap activity, Cell Death Dis. 11 (2020).

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2264-z.

- [37] M.J. Page, J. Bester, E. Pretorius, The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 1812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20220-8.
- [38] K. Benihoud, S. Esselin, D. Descamps, B. Jullienne, B. Salone, P. Bobé, D. Bonardelle, E. Connault, P. Opolon, I. Saggio, M. Perricaudet, Respective roles of TNF-α and IL-6 in the immune response-elicited by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in mice, Gene Ther. 14 (2007) 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302885.
- [39] A. Masjedi, V. Hashemi, M. Hojjat-Farsangi, G. Ghalamfarsa, G. Azizi, M. Yousefi, F. Jadidi-Niaragh, The significant role of interleukin-6 and its signaling pathway in the immunopathogenesis and treatment of breast cancer, Biomed. Pharmacother. 108 (2018) 1415–1424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.177.
- [40] L. Song, M.A. Smith, P. Doshi, K. Sasser, W. Fulp, S. Altiok, E.B. Haura, Antitumor efficacy of the anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) antibody siltuximab in mouse xenograft models of lung cancer, J. Thorac. Oncol. 9 (2014) 974–982. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.000000000000193.
- [41] E. Beurel, R.S. Jope, Lipopolysaccharide-induced interleukin-6 production is controlled by glycogen synthase kinase-3 and STAT3 in the brain, J. Neuroinflammation. 6 (2009) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-9.
- [42] N.L. Sparkman, J.B. Buchanan, J.R.R. Heyen, J. Chen, J.L. Beverly, R.W. Johnson, Interleukin-6 facilitates lipopolysaccharide-induced disruption in working memory and expression of other proinflammatory cytokines in hippocampal neuronal cell layers, J. Neurosci. 26 (2006) 10709–10716. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3376-06.2006.
- [43] L. Forcina, C. Miano, B.M. Scicchitano, E. Rizzuto, M.G. Berardinelli, F. De Benedetti, L. Pelosi, A. Musarò, Increased Circulating Levels of Interleukin-6 Affect the Redox Balance in Skeletal Muscle, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2019 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3018584.
- [44] N. Koizumi, T. Yamaguchi, K. Kawabata, F. Sakurai, T. Sasaki, Y. Watanabe, T. Hayakawa, H. Mizuguchi, Fiber-Modified Adenovirus Vectors Decrease Liver Toxicity through Reduced IL-6 Production, J. Immunol. 178 (2007) 1767–1773. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.3.1767.
- [45] V. Kumar, J. Qin, Y. Jiang, R.G. Duncan, B. Brigham, S. Fishman, J.K. Nair, A. Akinc, S.A. Barros, P. V. Kasperkovitz, Shielding of lipid nanoparticles for siRNA delivery: Impact on physicochemical properties, cytokine induction, and efficacy,

Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. 3 (2014) e210. https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.61.

- [46] M. Martini, M.G. Testi, M. Pasetto, M.C. Picchio, G. Innamorati, M. Mazzocco, S. Ugel, S. Cingarlini, V. Bronte, P. Zanovello, M. Krampera, F. Mosna, T. Cestari, A.P. Riviera, N. Brutti, O. Barbieri, L. Matera, G. Tridente, M. Colombatti, S. Sartoris, IFN-γ-mediated upmodulation of MHC class I expression activates tumor-specific immune response in a mouse model of prostate cancer, Vaccine. 28 (2010) 3548–3557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.03.007.
- [47] F. Castro, A.P. Cardoso, R.M. Gonçalves, K. Serre, M.J. Oliveira, Interferongamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion, Front. Immunol. 9 (2018) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847.
- [48] L. Ni, J. Lu, Interferon gamma in cancer immunotherapy, Cancer Med. 7 (2018) 4509–4516. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.1700.
- [49] J.Y. Lee, K.E. Sullivan, Gamma interferon and lipopolysaccharide interact at the level of transcription to induce tumor necrosis factor alpha expression, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 2847–2852. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.5.2847-2852.2001.
- [50] Y.F. He, X.H. Wang, G.M. Zhang, H.T. Chen, H. Zhang, Z.H. Feng, Sustained lowlevel expression of interferon-γ promotes tumor development: Potential insights in tumor prevention and tumor immunotherapy, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 54 (2005) 891–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0654-1.
- [51] M. Mojic, K. Takeda, Y. Hayakawa, The dark side of IFN-γ: Its role in promoting cancer immunoevasion, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010089.
- [52] F.C. Lin, M. Karwan, B. Saleh, D.L. Hodge, T. Chan, K.C. Boelte, J.R. Keller, H.A. Young, IFN-γ causes aplastic anemia by altering hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell composition and disrupting lineage differentiation, Blood. 124 (2014) 3699–3708. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-549527.
- [53] D.L. Hodge, C. Berthet, V. Coppola, W. Kastenmüller, M.D. Buschman, P.M. Schaughency, H. Shirota, A.J. Scarzello, J.J. Subleski, M.R. Anver, J.R. Ortaldo, F. Lin, D.A. Reynolds, M.E. Sanford, P. Kaldis, L. Tessarollo, D.M. Klinman, H.A. Young, IFN-gamma AU-rich element removal promotes chronic IFN-gamma expression and autoimmunity in mice, J. Autoimmun. 53 (2014) 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2014.02.003.
- [54] M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.

- [55] R.B. KC, C. Kucharski, H. Uludag, Additive nanocomplexes of cationic lipopolymers for improved non-viral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 3972–3982. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB02101K.
- [56] C. for B.E. and R. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 21CFR640 - Additinal Standards For Human Blodd and Blood Products, (2020).
- [57] Z.D. Li, X.J. Mo, S. Yan, D. Wang, B. Xu, J. Guo, T. Zhang, W. Hu, Y. Feng, X.N. Zhou, Z. Feng, Multiplex cytokine and antibody profile in cystic echinococcosis patients during a three-year follow-up in reference to the cyst stages, Parasites and Vectors. 13 (2020) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-020-4003-9.
- [58] M. Schirmer, V. Kumar, M.G. Netea, R.J. Xavier, The causes and consequences of variation in human cytokine production in health, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 54 (2018) 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2018.05.012.
- [59] S. Plianwong, B. Thapa, R.B. Kc, C. Kucharski, T. Rojanarata, H. Uludağ, Enabling Combinatorial siRNA Delivery against Apoptosis-Related Proteins with Linoleic Acid and α-Linoleic Acid Substituted Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimines, Pharm. Res. 37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-2770-9.
- [60] H.M. Aliabadi, K.C.R. Bahadur, E. Bousoik, R. Hall, A. Barbarino, B. Thapa, M. Coyle, P. Mahdipoor, H. Uludağ, A systematic comparison of lipopolymers for siRNA delivery to multiple breast cancer cell lines: In vitro studies, Acta Biomater. 102 (2020) 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.036.
- [61] R. Kc, B. Thapa, A. Ubeda, X. Jiang, H. Uludağ, BCR-Abl Silencing by siRNA: A Potent Approach to Sensitize Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cells to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy., Stem Cells Dev. 28 (2019) 734–744. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2018.0196.
- [62] M.F. Cury-Boaventura, C. Pompéia, R. Curi, Comparative toxicity of oleic acid and linoleic acid on Jurkat cells, Clin. Nutr. 23 (2004) 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2003.12.004.
- [63] D. Meneksedag-Erol, R.B. Kc, T. Tang, H. Uludag, A Delicate Balance When Substituting a Small Hydrophobe onto Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine to Improve Its Nucleic Acid Delivery Efficiency, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 7 (2015) 24822–24832. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b07929.
- [64] T. Ramasamy, Z.S. Haidar, T.H. Tran, J.Y. Choi, J.H. Jeong, B.S. Shin, H.G. Choi, C.S. Yong, J.O. Kim, Layer-by-layer assembly of liposomal nanoparticles with PEGylated polyelectrolytes enhances systemic delivery of multiple anticancer drugs, Acta Biomater. 10 (2014) 5116–5127.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.08.021.

- [65] D.S. Shah, T. Sakthivel, I. Toth, A.T. Florence, A.F. Wilderspin, DNA transfection and transfected cell viability using amphipathic asymmetric dendrimers, Int. J. Pharm. 208 (2000) 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(00)00534-2.
- [66] D.M. Domański, B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, Influence of PAMAM dendrimers on human red blood cells, in: Bioelectrochemistry, 2004: pp. 189–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2003.09.023.
- [67] R.B. Sawant, S.K. Jathar, S.B. Rajadhyaksha, P.T. Kadam, Red cell hemolysis during processing and storage., Asian J. Transfus. Sci. 1 (2007) 47–51. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-6247.33446.
- [68] C. Zhang, Y. Zhao, E. Zhang, M. Jiang, D. Zhi, H. Chen, S. Cui, Y. Zhen, J. Cui, S. Zhang, Co-delivery of paclitaxel and anti-VEGF siRNA by tripeptide lipid nanoparticle to enhance the anti-tumor activity for lung cancer therapy, Drug Deliv. 27 (2020) 1397–1411. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2020.1827085.
- [69] Y.M. Thasneem, M.R. Rekha, S. Sajeesh, C.P. Sharma, Biomimetic mucin modified PLGA nanoparticles for enhanced blood compatibility, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 409 (2013) 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2013.07.004.
- [70] G. Suntharalingam, M.R. Perry, S. Ward, S.J. Brett, A. Castello-Cortes, M.D. Brunner, N. Panoskaltsis, Cytokine Storm in a Phase 1 Trial of the Anti-CD28 Monoclonal Antibody TGN1412, N. Engl. J. Med. 355 (2006) 1018–1028. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa063842.
- [71] R. Smolarczyk, T. Cichoń, A. Sochanik, S. Szala, Negligible induction of IFN-γ, IL-12 and TNF-α by DNA-PEI 750 kDa/albumin complexes, Cytokine. 29 (2005) 283– 287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2004.11.010.
- [72] S. Al-Lahham, H. Roelofsen, F. Rezaee, D. Weening, A. Hoek, R. Vonk, K. Venema, Propionic acid affects immune status and metabolism in adipose tissue from overweight subjects, Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 42 (2012) 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2362.2011.02590.x.
- [73] M. Hecker, N. Sommer, H. Voigtmann, O. Pak, A. Mohr, M. Wolf, I. Vadász, S. Herold, N. Weissmann, R.E. Morty, W. Seeger, K. Mayer, Impact of Short- and Medium-Chain Fatty Acids on Mitochondrial Function in Severe Inflammation, J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 38 (2014) 587–594. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148607113489833.
- [74] S. Joshi-Barve, S.S. Barve, K. Amancherla, L. Gobejishvili, D. Hill, M. Cave, P. Hote, C.J. McClain, Palmitic acid induces production of proinflammatory cytokine

interleukin-8 from hepatocytes, Hepatology. 46 (2007) 823-830. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21752.

- [75] H. Miao, L. Chen, L. Hao, X. Zhang, Y. Chen, Z. Ruan, H. Liang, Stearic acid induces proinflammatory cytokine production partly through activation of lactate-HIF1α pathway in chondrocytes, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13092.
- [76] R. Lappano, A. Sebastiani, F. Cirillo, D.C. Rigiracciolo, G.R. Galli, R. Curcio, R. Malaguarnera, A. Belfiore, A.R. Cappello, M. Maggiolini, The lauric acid-activated signaling prompts apoptosis in cancer cells, Cell Death Discov. 3 (2017) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.63.
- [77] W.S. Lim, M.S.Y. Gan, M.H.L. Ong, C.H. Chew, Lauric acid abolishes interferongamma (IFN-γ)-induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression in human macrophages, Asian Pacific J. Reprod. 4 (2015) 217–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjr.2015.06.005.
- [78] K.C. Remant Bahadur, H. Uludağ, A comparative evaluation of disulfide-linked and hydrophobically-modified PEI for plasmid delivery., J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 22 (2011) 873–92. https://doi.org/10.1163/092050610X496297.
- [79] A. Gautam, C.L. Densmore, J.C. Waldrep, Pulmonary cytokine responses associated with PEI-DNA aerosol gene therapy, Gene Ther. 8 (2001) 254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301369.
- [80] M.E. Bonnet, P. Erbacher, A.L. Bolcato-Bellemin, Systemic delivery of DNA or siRNA mediated by linear polyethylenimine (L-PEI) does not induce an inflammatory response, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 2972–2982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9693-1.
- [81] A. Beyerle, M. Irmler, J. Beckers, T. Kissel, T. Stoeger, Toxicity pathway focused gene expression profiling of PEI-based polymers for pulmonary applications, Mol. Pharm. 7 (2010) 727–737. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp900278x.
- [82] T. Cheng, J. Miao, D. Kai, H. Zhang, Polyethylenimine-Mediated CpG Oligodeoxynucleotide Delivery Stimulates Bifurcated Cytokine Induction, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 4 (2018) 1013–1018. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00049.
- [83] A.W. Li, M.C. Sobral, S. Badrinath, Y. Choi, A. Graveline, A.G. Stafford, J.C. Weaver, M.O. Dellacherie, T.-Y. Shih, O.A. Ali, J. Kim, K.W. Wucherpfennig, D.J. Mooney, A facile approach to enhance antigen response for personalized cancer vaccination, Nat. Mater. 17 (2018) 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-018-

0028-2.

[84] A. Alshamsan, S. Hamdy, J. Samuel, A.O.S. El-Kadi, A. Lavasanifar, H. Uludağ, The induction of tumor apoptosis in B16 melanoma following STAT3 siRNA delivery with a lipid-substituted polyethylenimine, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 1420– 1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.11.003.

F. REFERENCES CHAPTER 6

- [1] A. Vassilopoulos, C. Chisholm, T. Lahusen, H. Zheng, C.-X. Deng, A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from a Brca1-associated mouse model of breast cancer., Oncogene. 33 (2013) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.516.
- [2] S. Ibaragi, T. Shimo, N.M. Hassan, S. Isowa, N. Kurio, H. Mandai, S. Kodama, a Sasaki, Induction of MMP-13 Expression in Bone-metastasizing Cancer Cells by Type I Collagen through Integrin {alpha}1{beta}1 and {alpha}2{beta}1-p38 MAPK Signaling, Anticancer Res. 31 (2011) 1307–1313. https://doi.org/31/4/1307 [pii].
- M.B. Parmar, K.C. Remant Bahadur, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludag, Additive Polyplexes to Undertake siRNA Therapy against CDC20 and Survivin in Breast Cancer Cells, Biomacromolecules.
 19 (2018) 4193–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.8b00918.
- [4] G. Yan, V. Chen, X. Lu, S. Lu, A signal-based method for finding driver modules of breast cancer metastasis to the lung, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09951-2.
- [5] M.B. Parmar, D.N. Meenakshi Sundaram, R.B. Remant, R. Maranchuk, H. Montazeri Aliabadi, J.C. Hugh, R. Löbenberg, H. Uludağ, Combinational siRNA delivery using hyaluronic acid modified amphiphilic polyplexes against cell cycle and phosphatase proteins to inhibit growth and migration of triple-negative breast cancer cells, Acta Biomater. 66 (2018) 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.036.
- [6] B. Liu, Z. Li, Endoplasmic reticulum HSP90bl (gp96, grp94) optimizes B-cell function via chaperoning integrin and TLR but not immunoglobulin, Blood. 112 (2008) 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-143107.
- [7] Q. Peng, Z. Zhong, R. Zhuo, Disulfide cross-linked polyethylenimines (PEI) prepared via thiolation of low molecular weight PEI as highly efficient gene vectors, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 499–506. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc7003236.
- [8] M.A. Dobrovolskaia, P. Aggarwal, J.B. Hall, S.E. McNeil, Preclinical studies to understand nanoparticle interaction with the immune system and its potential effects on nanoparticle biodistribution., Mol. Pharm. 5 (2009) 487–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp800032f.
- [9] M. Schirmer, V. Kumar, M.G. Netea, R.J. Xavier, The causes and consequences of variation in human cytokine production in health, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 54 (2018) 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2018.05.012.
- [10] J. Mateo, J. Berlin, J.S. de Bono, R.B. Cohen, V. Keedy, G. Mugundu, L. Zhang, A. Abbattista, C. Davis, C. Gallo Stampino, H. Borghaei, A first-in-human study of the anti-α5β1 integrin monoclonal antibody PF-04605412 administered intravenously to patients with advanced solid tumors, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 74 (2014)

1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2576-8.

- [11] D. Lesniak, Y. Xu, J. Deschenes, R. Lai, J. Thoms, D. Murray, S. Gosh, J.R. Mackey, S. Sabri, B. Abdulkarim, β1-Integrin Circumvents the Antiproliferative Effects of Trastuzumab in Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2-Positive Breast Cancer, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 8620–8628. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1591.
- [12] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Doñate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S. a Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo., Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0100.
- [13] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen, Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours., Br. J. Cancer. 94 (2006) 1621–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603171.
- [14] M.H. Ross, A.K. Esser, G.C. Fox, A.H. Schmieder, X. Yang, G. Hu, D. Pan, X. Su, Y. Xu, D. V Novack, T. Walsh, G.A. Colditz, G.H. Lukaszewicz, E. Cordell, J. Novack, J.A.J. Fitzpatrick, D.L. Waning, K.S. Mohammad, T.A. Guise, G.M. Lanza, K.N. Weilbaecher, Bone-Induced Expression of Integrin β3 Enables Targeted Nanotherapy of Breast Cancer Metastases., Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 6299– 6312. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1225.
- [15] A. Bianchi-Smiraglia, S. Paesante, A. V. Bakin, Integrin β5 contributes to the tumorigenic potential of breast cancer cells through the Src-FAK and MEK-ERK signaling pathways, Oncogene. 32 (2013) 3049–3058. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.320.
- [16] M. Abdel-Ghany, H.C. Cheng, R.C. Elble, B.U. Pauli, The Breast Cancer β4 Integrin and Endothelial Human CLCA2 Mediate Lung Metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 25438–25446. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100478200.
- [17] A.M. Li, A.X. Tian, R.X. Zhang, J. Ge, X. Sun, X.C. Cao, Protocadherin-7 induces bone metastasis of breast cancer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 436 (2013) 486–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.131.
- [18] B. Thapa, R. Bahadur Kc, H. Uludağ, Novel targets for sensitizing breast cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis with siRNA delivery., Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31079.
- [19] T. Nishikata, M. Ishikawa, T. Matsuyama, K. Takamatsu, T. Fukuhara, Y. Konishi, Primary culture of breast cancer: A model system for epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells, Anticancer Res. 33 (2013) 2867–2874.
- [20] R. Edmondson, J.J. Broglie, A.F. Adcock, L. Yang, Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors, Assay Drug Dev. Technol. 12 (2014) 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573.

- [21] N. Santana-Codina, N. Santana-Codina, L. Muixí, R. Foj, R. Sanz-Pamplona, R. Sanz-Pamplona, M. Badia-Villanueva, A. Abramowicz, A. Marcé-Grau, A.M. Cosialls, J. Gil, I. Archilla, L. Pedrosa, J. Gonzalez, I. Aldecoa, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, A. Sierra, GRP94 promotes brain metastasis by engaging pro-survival autophagy, Neuro. Oncol. 22 (2020) 652–664. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noz198.
- [22] A. Shimomura, N. Yamamoto, S. Kondo, Y. Fujiwara, S. Suzuki, N. Yanagitani, A. Horiike, S. Kitazono, F. Ohyanagi, T. Doi, Y. Kuboki, A. Kawazoe, K. Shitara, I. Ohno, U. Banerji, R. Sundar, S. Ohkubo, E.M. Calleja, M. Nishio, First-in-Human Phase I Study of an Oral HSP90 Inhibitor, TAS-116, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors., Mol. Cancer Ther. 18 (2019) 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0831.
- [23] J.S. Damiano, L. a Hazlehurst, W.S. Dalton, Cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR) protects the K562 chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line from apoptosis induced by BCR/ABL inhibition, cytotoxic drugs, and gammairradiation., Leuk. Off. J. Leuk. Soc. Am. Leuk. Res. Fund, U.K. 15 (2001) 1232– 1239. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2402179.
- [24] C.J. Clarke, T.L. Holyoake, Preclinical approaches in chronic myeloid leukemia: from cells to systems, Exp. Hematol. 47 (2017) 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2016.11.005.
- [25] D. Nisakar, M. Vij, T. Pandey, P. Natarajan, R. Sharma, S. Mishra, M. Ganguli, Deciphering the Role of Chondroitin Sulfate in Increasing the Transfection Efficiency of Amphipathic Peptide-Based Nanocomplexes, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 5 (2019) 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00069.
- [26] M.F. Cury-Boaventura, C. Pompéia, R. Curi, Comparative toxicity of oleic acid and linoleic acid on Jurkat cells, Clin. Nutr. 23 (2004) 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2003.12.004.
- [27] W. Chen, M.C. Harbeck, W. Zhang, J.R. Jacobson, MicroRNA regulation of integrins, Transl. Res. 162 (2013) 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2013.06.008.
- [28] S.K. Pore, A. Choudhary, B. Rathore, A. Ganguly, P. Sujitha, C. Ganesh Kumar, S.B. Agawane, J.M. Kumar, V. Scaria, B. Pillai, R. Banerjee, Hsp90-targeted miRNA-liposomal formulation for systemic antitumor effect, Biomaterials. 34 (2013) 6804–6817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.05.054.

APPENDIX

A. APPENDIX CHAPTER 2



Figure 2.S1: Polymer screening: Integrin- β 1 silencing with siRNA delivery after 3 days of treatment. The integrin- β 1 levels (given by percentage of mean fluorescence intensity relative to no treatment group) were measured using labelled antibody against integrin- β 1. A polymer:siRNA (weight/weight) ratio of 4 with 40 nM of siRNA concentration was used. Significance compared to the no treatment cells * p \leq 0.01, (n=2).



Figure 2.S2: Scratch assay microscopic images: Microscopic images of scratches taken at 0 and 24 hours after treating with 1.2PEI-LA polymer at different siRNA concentrations for 2 days. Scale bar = $200 \ \mu m$



Figure 2.S3: Caspase-3 activity: Caspase-3 activity was measured by a fluorometric assay using the capase-3 substrate Ac-DEVD-AFC after 3 days of treatment with the polymer:siRNA complex. Fluorescence was detected at Ex: 400 nm and Em:505 nm.



Figure 2.S4: Floating cell number: The number of floating cells were counted after treating the cells with 1.2PEI-LA polymer/siRNA complex for 1 and 2 days.

B. APPENDIX CHAPTER 3



Figure 3.S1: Representative images of NT, CsiRNA and HSP90B1 treatment groups from the siRNA library containing 496 genes, using scratch assay. Migration inhibition was calculated relative to no treatment (NT) 24 hours after scratch formation.



Figure 3.S2: Microscopic images of scratch assay for 1:5:0.15 weight ratios of siRNA:polymer:HA. Effect of silencing ITGA4, ITGA6, ITGAX and HSP90B1 on migration inhibition with CsiRNA as negative control and ITGB1, CDC20 and BCL2L12 as positive controls. Scratch assay was performed after 2 days of siRNA treatment and images of scratches were captured at 0, 24 and 48 hours and the inhibition in migration was calculated using TScratch software.

C. APPENDIX CHAPTER 4



Figure 4.S1: Integrin- β 1 cell surface levels with Lipofectamine 2000/ITGB1 siRNA treatment. Integrin- β 1 silencing with Lipofectamine 2000/ITGB1 siRNA delivery at 2:1 wt/wt ratio evaluated by flow cytometry at two different siRNA concentrations 60 nM and 90 nM. The integrin- β 1 levels (given by percentage of mean fluorescence intensity relative to no treatment group) were measured after 3 days of siRNA treatment in K562. Control scrambled siRNA - CsiRNA (white bars), ITGB1 siRNA (black bars). Significant difference compared to CsiRNA treatment of each group * p \leq 0.05 (n=2).



Figure 4.S2: Survivin silencing with 1.2PEI-taLA6-ss polymer was evaluated by qRT-PCR with 60 nM of siRNA at 9:1 polymer/siRNA wt/wt ratio. Control scrambled siRNA -

CsiRNA (white bars), survivin siRNA (black bars). Significant reduction compared to CsiRNA treatment with each delivery agent $*p \le 0.05$.



Figure 4.S3: Treatment studies with Dasatinib and Imatinib. (A) K562-GFP cells were cultured without and with hBMSC and binding was carried for (i) 1 day, (ii) 3 days, and (iii) 5 days. DA treatment at 5 and 10 nM was accompanied for an additional four days of culture. Dead cell percentage was determined using trypan blue exclusion assay. (B) K562-WT cells were treated with polymer complexes of CsiRNA and ITGB1 siRNA alone and in combination with 300, 500 and 1000 nM of IM. Cell viability was measured by MTT assay after 5 days: 2 days of complex treatment and 3 days of IM treatment. Values are plotted relative to no-treatment group.

D. APPENDIX CHAPTER 5



Figure 5.S1: Cytokine mRNA levels with polymer/siRNA complexes at R:6 having 50nM of CsiRNA and blimp siRNA assessed by RT-qPCR after 24 hours of treatment for (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-6 and (C) IFN- γ .



Figure 5.S2: The correlation between different lipids and the batches of lipid substitution. The mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ assessed after 24 hours of treatment in Jurkat cell line using PEIs substituted with different lipids, complexed with 1µg of pDNA at R:5. (A) positive controls PMA/IO, 1.2PEI substituted with (B) PrA-Propionic acid, (C) CA-Caprylic acid, (D) PA-Palmitic acid, (E) Lau-Lauric acid, (F) St-Stearic acid, (G) Chol-Cholesterol, (H) LA-Linoleic acid, (I) tLA-thiol-linked linoleic acid (J) α LA-alpha linoleic acid, (K) t α LA-thiol-linked alpha linoleic acid and disulfide cross linked 2PEI substituted with (L) PrA-Propionic acid-ss, (M) CAA-Caproic acid-ss, (N) Lau-Lauric acid-ss, (O) St-Stearic acid-ss, (P) tLA-thiol linked Linoleic acid-ss, and (Q) t α LA-thiol linked alpha linoleic acid-ss, and linked alpha linoleic acid-ss.



Figure 5.S3: Cytokine protein levels assessed by ELISA after 24 hours of treatment in PBMC-9 with 1.2PEI-t α LA6: **A**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6, (iii) IFN- γ and 0.6PEI-Lau4: **B**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6, (iii) IFN- γ as controls. Polymer/pDNA complexes at R:5 and R:10 without and with PAA using 1µg of pDNA were used. Base polymers without lipid modifications were analyzed; 0.6PEI: **C**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 1.2PEI: **D**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ ; 2PEI: **E**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ , and PEI25: **F**- (i) TNF- α , (ii) IL-6 and (iii) IFN- γ .



Figure 5.S4: Average cytokine protein stimulation by NT-no treatment and 2 μ g of pDNA alone from PBMC-3 to 6 determined following 24 hours of treatment using ELISA.